

Tilburg University

Interior point methods and simulated annealing for nonsymmetric conic optimization

Badenbroek, Riley

Publication date: 2021

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication in Tilburg University Research Portal

Citation for published version (APA): Badenbroek, R. (2021). *Interior point methods and simulated annealing for nonsymmetric conic optimization*. CentER, Center for Economic Research.

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
 You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Interior Point Methods and Simulated Annealing for Nonsymmetric Conic Optimization

RILEY BADENBROEK



Interior Point Methods and Simulated Annealing for Nonsymmetric Conic Optimization

PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan Tilburg University op gezag van de rector magnificus, prof. dr. W.B.H.J. van de Donk, in het openbaar te verdedigen ten overstaan van een door het college voor promoties aangewezen commissie in de Aula van de Universiteit op

woensdag 24 februari 2021 om 16:00 uur

door

RILEY MICHIEL BADENBROEK

geboren te Rheden.

PROMOTIECOMMISSIE:

PROMOTOR:	prof. dr. Etienne de Klerk
COPROMOTOR:	dr. Nikolaus Schweizer
Overige leden:	prof. dr. Emile Aarts prof. dr. Nikhil Bansal prof. dr. Mirjam Dür dr. François Glineur prof. dr. Monique Laurent dr. Juan Vera Lizcano

Interior Point Methods and Simulated Annealing for Nonsymmetric Conic Optimization

Copyright © 2021 Riley Badenbroek

All rights reserved.

Acknowledgments

This thesis was written while I, like so many others, was working from home. For me, this time of relative solitude emphasized the value of human relationships. In particular, I would like to thank the following people for the ways in which they left their mark on my life.

I would first of all like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Etienne de Klerk. It still amazes me how he manages to excel at every part of his job, from conducting original research to engaging teaching and presenting. I can only hope that some of that rubbed off on me. It has been a pleasure to work with you; your empathy, kindness, and sense of humor made every meeting a joy. You always saw a way forward when I was about to lose hope. And I also thank you for your occasional words of wisdom about life itself.

I thank Nikolaus Schweizer for lending his considerable knowledge to this project, and I apologize for ignoring some of it. It is always a pleasure talking to you: you seamlessly combine enthusiasm for research with patience for the new kid.

Many thanks to Emile Aarts, Nikhil Bansal, Mirjam Dür, Monique Laurent, François Glineur, and Juan Vera Lizcano for the time and effort spent reading this thesis. Your comments showed both great attention to detail and a feeling for the bigger picture, which helped to significantly improve this thesis.

I would like to thank my fellow PhD students Andries, Felix, Frank, Jorgo, Lorenz, Melissa, Pepijn, Stefan, and Wouter for all our conversations about science, teaching, and life beyond that. To Daniel, Hao, and Oliver: you were excellent office mates, and I cherish the conversations we had whenever we needed a break. A special thanks to Ernst and Jop: we started our careers as Research Master students at the same time, and that first year was occasionally quite hard for me. It was great to be able to blow off steam with you.

I want to thank my old roommates Laura, Marc, and Matthijs for making our time living together both productive and enjoyable. Life as a student would not have been complete without Manuel, Roel, Valentijn, and Zeger, whose continued contact means a lot to me. I am grateful to Benke, Daan, Frank, Hannelore, Jessica, Julius, Martijn, Monique, Rick, Sean, Victor, and Wendel for many games, drinks, and laughs. For the same reasons, I want to thank Rik, Robert, and Sjoerd; I look forward to our next trip.

I thank Rachelle for being the best sister I could have hoped for. Spending time together always brings a smile to my face, no matter what we are doing. Thank you for reminding me that life is meant to be enjoyed. You are a dear friend, and I am glad we are siblings – this way, we will always be connected.

To my parents, I am eternally grateful for a happy childhood. Growing up without any concerns to speak of was the best gift you have ever given me. Thank you for always supporting me, regardless of what I want to do. No matter when and where the four of us are together, it always feels like home.

I thank my other relatives for all their support. You do not get to choose your family, and I feel lucky I ended up with this one. I would also like to thank Jolanda, Joshua, and Oscar here, since I've known them for so long they might as well be family.

Finally, I want to thank my grandparents. Not only did they encourage me to pursue a PhD, they also inspired me with their strength. If they could carry on in spite of everything life threw at them, then I could finish my research. For this reason, I dedicate this thesis to them.

Riley Badenbroek Tilburg, December 2020

Contents

Lis	t of l	Figures	ix
Lis	t of '	Fables	xi
Lis	t of A	Algorithms	xiii
No	tatio	n	xv
1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Interior Point Methods	2
	1.2	Hit-and-Run Sampling and Simulated Annealing	5
	1.3	Analytic Center Cutting Plane Methods	8
	1.4	Thesis Outline	8
	1.5	Contributions to the Literature	10
2	Prop	perties of Self-Concordant Barriers	13
	2.1	Derivatives and Self-Concordant Barriers	13
	2.2	The Conjugate and its Derivatives	17
	2.3	Self-Concordance of the Conjugate	21
	2.4	Conjugates of Barriers over Cones	23
3	A Si	mple Interior Point Method Using the Entropic Barrier	27
	3.1	Properties of the Entropic Barrier	29
	3.2	The Complexity Parameter of the Entropic Barrier for the Unit Ball	33
	3.3	Statement of a Simple Interior Point Method	34
	3.4	Analysis of a Simple Interior Point Method	37

4	Hit-	Hit-and-Run Sampling 4	
	4.1	Hit-and-Run and its Implementation	46
	4.2	Divergence of Probability Distributions and Log-Concavity	48
	4.3	Mixing Time	50
5	Арр	roximation Quality with Hit-and-Run	59
	5.1	Near-Independence for Random Walks	60
	5.2	Quality of Mean Approximation	66
	5.3	Quality of Covariance Approximation	71
6	Interior Point Method Using Hit-and-Run Sampling and the Entropic		
	Bar	rier	81
	6.1	Gradient Approximation	83
	6.2	Analysis of a Short-Step Method Using Hit-and-Run Sampling	90
7	Sim	ulated Annealing for Convex Optimization	99
	7.1	Statement of a Simulated Annealing Algorithm	101
	7.2	Proof of Convergence	104
	7.3	Complexity Analysis and Discussion	107
	7.4	Heuristic Adaptation Based on Experimental Results	110
8	An A	Analytic Center Cutting Plane Method	121
	8.1	Problem Statement and Solution Approach	121
	8.2	Membership of the Copositive Cone	124
	8.3	Approximating the Analytic Center	126
	8.4	Pruning Constraints	130
	8.5	Algorithm Statement	133
9	Nun	nerical Experiments	137
	9.1	Covariance and Mean Approximation with Hit-and-Run Sampling $% \mathcal{A}$.	138
	9.2	Separating from the 6×6 Completely Positive Cone	142
	9.3	Separating from the $d \times d$ Completely Positive Cone $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	146
10	An /	Algorithm for Nonsymmetric Conic Optimization	151
	10.1	The Homogeneous Model and its Central Path	152
	10.2	Algorithm Statement	157

	10.3	Scaling Matrix	0
	10.4	Properties of the Predictor	2
	10.5	Properties of the Corrector	6
	10.6	Complexity Analysis	8
11	Con	clusions and Future Work 17	3
Α	Fréc	het Derivatives for Self-Concordance 17	7
	A.1	Definition of Fréchet Derivatives	8
	A.2	Calculus Rules for Fréchet Derivatives	9
	A.3	Associations of Fréchet Derivatives	0
	A.4	Computing the Third Derivative	2
	A.5	Proof of Theorem 2.6	4
B	Spee	ctra of Boltzmann Covariance Matrices 19	1
С	Proc	ofs for the Nonsymmetric Conic Algorithm 19	7
	C.1	Scaling Matrix	7
	C.2	Properties of the Predictor	2
	C.3	Properties of the Corrector	1
Inc	lex	22	1
Bił	oliog	raphy 22	3

List of Figures

1.1	Three iterations of an interior point method to solve problem (1.1)
1.2	Three steps of hit-and-run sampling applied to the uniform distri-
	bution over $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x_1^2 + x_2^2 \le 1\}$
1.3	Three stages of simulated annealing to solve problem (1.1) 7
1.4	Three iterations of an analytic center cutting plane method to solve
	problem (1.1)
3.1	Numerical approximation of $\langle \theta, \Sigma(\theta) \theta \rangle$ for the Euclidean unit ball
	$\mathfrak{B}(0,1)$ in \mathbb{R}^n
6.1	Sketch of the dependencies of the algorithms in Chapter 6 82
7.1	Sketch of the dependencies of the algorithms in Chapter 7 100
7.2	Effect of sample size N and walk length ℓ on the final gap of Algo-
	rithm 7.1
7.3	Effect of sample size N and walk length ℓ on the final gap of Algo-
	rithm 7.2
7.4	Effect of sample size N and walk length ℓ on the final gap of Algo-
	rithm 7.3
9.1	Effect of sample size N and walk length ℓ on covariance approxi-
	mation quality over (9.1)
9.2	Running times required to find an approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}$ of the de-
	sired quality
9.3	Effect of sample size N and walk length ℓ on covariance approxi-
	mation quality over $[0,1]^n$

9.4	Effect of sample size N and walk length ℓ on mean approximation	
	quality over (9.1)	143
9.5 Number of oracle calls and execution times of Algorithm 8.5 fo		
	$d \times d$ test instances generated with Algorithm 9.1	149

List of Tables

3.1	Overview of the properties of the log-partition function and its conjugate, the entropic barrier	32
9.1	Objective value of solutions returned by Algorithm 7.2, the ellipsoid method, and Algorithm 8.5, applied to the normalized matrices from [9, Appendix B]. The termination criterion is an (expected) absolute gap of 10^{-4}	145
9.2	Calls to the oracle TESTCOPOSITIVE by Algorithm 7.2, the ellipsoid method, and Algorithm 8.5, applied to the normalized matrices from [9, Appendix B]. The termination criterion is an (expected)	
	absolute gap of 10 ⁻⁴	146
9.3	Calls to the oracle TESTCOPOSITIVE by the Ellipsoid method and	
	Algorithm 8.5, applied to the matrices from [9, Appendix B]. The	
	termination criterion is a relative gap of 10^{-6} .	147

List of Algorithms

3.1	A simple short-step algorithm using the entropic barrier f^* 37
4.1	The hit-and-run sampling procedure 47
6.1 6.2	Approximation routine for $\theta(x)$
	the entropic barrier
7.1	Algorithm by Kalai and Vempala [56] using temperature schedule of type introduced by Abernethy and Hazan [1]
7.2	An adaptation of Algorithm 7.1 that changes the walks' starting points
7.3	An adaptation of Algorithm 7.2 that changes the walks' directions . 118
8.1	Method for testing copositivity or finding deep cuts
8.2	Infeasible start Newton method for (8.7)129
8.3	A pruning method for the intersection of a ball and a polyhedron $$. 132
8.4 8.5	Analytic Center Cutting Plane method to solve (8.1)
	by solving (8.4)
9.1	A heuristic procedure to generate random matrices on the bound- ary of the doubly nonnegative cone
10.1	Algorithm for nonsymmetric conic optimization (based on Dahl and Andersen [30])

Notation

Sets

$\mathcal{L}(U \cdot V)$	the bounded linear operators from U to V
$\mathcal{L}(U, U \cdot V)$	the bounded multilinear operators from $U_1 \times \cdots \times U_n$ to V_n
$\mathcal{L}(0_1,, 0_m, V)$	the bounded multimetar operators from $O_1 \times \cdots \times O_m$ to V
\mathbb{R}^n	the <i>n</i> -dimensional vectors of reals
\mathbb{R}_+	the nonnegative reals
\mathbb{N}	the natural numbers
\mathbb{Z}	the integer numbers
\mathbb{S}^d	the $d \times d$ real symmetric matrices
\mathcal{CO}^d	the copositive matrices $\{A \in \mathbb{S}^d : x^\top A x \ge 0 \ \forall x \ge 0\}$
\mathcal{CP}^d	the completely positive matrices $\{A \in \mathbb{S}^d : A = BB^\top, B \ge 0\}$
S	a convex body
\mathcal{K}	a proper cone
\mathcal{K}°	polar cone { $s \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle x, s \rangle \le 0 \forall x \in \mathcal{K}$ } of \mathcal{K}
$\mathfrak{B}(z,r)$	open ball $\{y : y - z < r\}$ with radius $r > 0$
$\mathfrak{B}_{x}(z,r)$	open ball $\{y : y - z _x < r\}$ with radius $r > 0$
$\mathfrak{B}^*_x(z,r)$	open ball $\{y : y - z _x^* < r\}$ with radius $r > 0$
$[0,1]^n$	the hypercube $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : 0 \le x_i \le 1 \ \forall i \in \{1,, n\}\}$

Functions

f	a convex functional

- H Hessian of f
- T third derivative of f

f^*	conjugate $f^*(x) := \sup_{\theta} \{ \langle \theta, x \rangle - f(\theta) : \theta \in \text{dom } f \}$ of f
<i>g</i> *	gradient of f^*
H^*	Hessian of f^*
T^*	third derivative of f^*
dom f	effective domain $\{\theta : f(\theta) \in \mathbb{R}\}$ of f
$g_x(y)$	gradient with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_x$; equals $H(x)^{-1}g(y)$
$H_x(y)$	Hessian with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_x$; equals $H(x)^{-1}H(y)$
$g_x^*(y)$	conjugate gradient with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_x^*$; equals $H^*(x)^{-1}g^*(y)$
$H_x^*(y)$	conjugate Hessian with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_x^*$; equals $H^*(x)^{-1}H^*(y)$

Inner Products and Norms

$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_A$	inner product induced by <i>A</i>
$\ \cdot\ _A$	norm induced by A
$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_x$	inner product induced by $H(x)$
$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_x^*$	inner product induced by $H^*(x)$
$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_x^{-1}$	inner product induced by $H(x)^{-1}$
$\ \cdot\ _x$	norm induced by $H(x)$
$\ \cdot\ _x^*$	norm induced by $H^*(x)$
$\ \cdot\ _x^{-1}$	norm induced by $H(x)^{-1}$
A	operator norm $\max\{ Ax : x \le 1\}$ of the linear operator A

Linear Algebra

Ι	identity operator c.q. identity matrix					
е	all-ones vector					
$A^{ op}$	adjoint of the operator A with respect to $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle$					
$A \succeq B$	Löwner ordering $\langle x, Ax \rangle \ge \langle x, Bx \rangle$ for all x					
$\lambda_{\min}(A)$	smallest eigenvalue of A					
$\lambda_{\max}(A)$	largest eigenvalue of A					
v^k	$\begin{bmatrix} v_1^k & \cdots & v_n^k \end{bmatrix}^{\top}$ for $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$					

vec(A)	vector	$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} \end{bmatrix}$	A_{12}	A_{22}	A_{13}	A_{23}	•••	A_{dd}] ^{\top}	containing	the
	upper t	riangı	ılar el	lemer	ts of A	$A \in \mathbb{S}^{c}$	ł			
mat	inverse	of ve	2							

Interior Point Theory

$artheta_f$	complexity parameter of f
ϑ_{f^*}	complexity parameter of f^*
$z(\eta)$	minimizer of $x \mapsto \eta \langle c, x \rangle + f^*(x)$
<i>x</i>	shadow iterate $g^*(s) \in \mathcal{K}$
ŝ	shadow iterate $g(x) \in \mathcal{K}^{\circ}$
μ	complementarity gap $-\langle x,s \rangle/\vartheta_f$
μ'	extended complementarity gap $-(\langle x,s \rangle + \tau \kappa)/(\vartheta_f + 1)$
$ ilde{\mu}$	shadow complementarity gap $-\langle \tilde{x}, \tilde{s} \rangle / \vartheta_f$
$ ilde{\mu}'$	extended shadow complementarity gap $-[\langle \tilde{x}, \tilde{s} \rangle + 1/(\tau \kappa)]/(\vartheta_f +$
	1)
$O^*(\cdot)$	asymptotic complexity that disregards polylogarithmic factors

Measure and Probability Theory

$x(\theta)$	mean of the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $ heta$
$\Sigma(\theta)$	covariance of the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $ heta$
$\theta(x)$	parameter of the Boltzmann distribution whose mean is x
$\mathbb{P}\{\cdot\}$	probability measure
$\mathbb{E}[\cdot]$	expectation operator
$\mathbb{E}_{\varphi}[\phi(X)]$	expectation of $\phi(X)$, where X follows distribution φ
$\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\phi(X)]$	expectation of $\phi(X)$, where X follows a Boltzmann distribution
	with parameter $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$
$\mathcal{N}(0,\Sigma)$	normal distribution with mean 0 and covariance matrix Σ
\mathcal{B}^n	Borel σ -algebra on \mathbb{R}^n
$\mathcal{B}[0,1]$	Borel σ -algebra on [0, 1]
$\mathbb{1}_U(x)$	indicator function: 1 if $x \in U$, 0 otherwise

1

Introduction

Mathematical optimization is about making a best possible choice. A problem may have many feasible solutions, and we are interested in finding the best of these solutions. To be precise, we will try to minimize a certain objective function over a certain feasible set. How hard this is to do depends on the properties of the objective function and the feasible set. For instance, a linear objective function and a feasible set defined by linear inequalities yield a so-called *linear program*, which was the first problem type to receive much research interest. More generally, *convex programming* concerns the minimization of a convex objective function over a convex feasible set.

In this thesis, we analyze several classes of algorithms for convex programming, emphasizing both computational complexity and practical performance. Our focus is on interior point methods, simulated annealing algorithms, and analytic center cutting plane methods. This chapter provides a bird's-eye view of these algorithms.

1.1 Interior Point Methods

Linear programming became popular after Dantzig developed the simplex method in 1947, as he recalls in his account [31]. He recognized that it suffices to consider only the vertices of the feasible set: if one keeps moving from a vertex to an adjacent vertex with a better objective value, one eventually reaches an optimal solution. Armed with this method, researchers could find an optimal solution to large scale problems in – usually – very reasonable time. For this reason, the simplex method is still one of the most-used approaches for solving linear programming problems today. The method does have a major drawback though: on some instances, it takes a very long time to find an optimal solution. Researchers therefore tried to find algorithms that work in polynomial time on all instances.

The first polynomial-time algorithm for linear programming was given by Khachiyan [61] in 1979, who introduced an ellipsoid method for this problem. While this result was theoretically very important, it only outperformed the simplex method on specifically constructed families of instances.

A more competitive alternative was presented in 1984, when Karmarkar [59] introduced another polynomial-time algorithm to solve linear programming problems. Where the simplex method would travel between the vertices of the feasible set, Karmarkar's new algorithm would traverse the interior of the feasible set. This interior point method boasted performance that could rival the simplex method. But the ideas Karmarkar developed also gave rise to theoretical offspring: researchers such as Nesterov and Nemirovskii [85] recognized that an interior-point approach can be used to minimize a convex objective function over a convex set, a problem referred to as *convex programming*.

Let us illustrate the main idea behind (short-step) interior point methods with a simple example; a more formal introduction to this topic can be found in the textbook by Renegar [95]. Suppose we want to solve the convex programming problem

$$\min_{x \in \mathbb{R}^2} \{ x_1 : x_1^2 + x_2^2 \le 1 \}.$$
(1.1)

This requires a so-called *barrier* function for the feasible set $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x_1^2 + x_2^2 \le 1\}$. Informally, a barrier is a function that has the interior of the feasible set as its domain, tends to infinity as we approach the boundary of the feasible set, and is in some well-defined sense smooth. For the Euclidean ball, the function $x \mapsto -\log(1-x_1^2-x_2^2)$ suffices. The minimizer (0,0) of this function can be approximated with unconstrained minimization techniques such as Newton's method. We then add a positive multiple of the objective to the barrier – for the sake of simplicity, say we consider $x \mapsto x_1 - \log(1-x_1^2-x_2^2)$. If this addition does not change the function too much, the minimizer of the function also does not shift too much. Starting from our approximation of the previous minimizer (0,0), we can then again use unconstrained minimization techniques to approximate the minimizer of the new function $x \mapsto x_1 - \log(1-x_1^2-x_2^2)$. The weight on the objective is then increased, and this scheme is repeated a number of times. All the minimizers thus approximated lie on the curve

 $\left\{z(\eta): \eta > 0, \ z(\eta) \text{ is the minimizer of } x \mapsto \eta x_1 - \log(1 - x_1^2 - x_2^2)\right\},$

which is called the central path. See Figure 1.1 for an illustration.



Figure 1.1: Three iterations of an interior point method to solve problem (1.1)

Intuitively, increasing the weight on the objective function means the minimizer shifts towards an optimal solution of (1.1). Indeed, it can be shown that following the central path to a point near its end is sufficient to generate a nearoptimal solution to (1.1).

Whether a convex programming problem can be solved by interior point methods is therefore mainly determined by the availability of a barrier for the feasible set. In principle, such a barrier exists for every convex set that does not contain lines, as Nesterov and Nemirovskii [85] showed, but only certain sets have one that we know in closed form. These sets include the nonnegative orthant \mathbb{R}^n_+ that is so instrumental in linear programming, for which we can use the function $x \mapsto -\sum_{i=1}^n \log x_i$. As a generalization, one can use the function $X \mapsto -\log \det X$ as a barrier for the set of symmetric positive semidefinite matrices. And similar to what we saw above, $(t, x) \mapsto -\log(t^2 - ||x||^2)$ serves as a barrier for the second order cone $\{(t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} : ||x|| \le t\}$.

These three cones are all *symmetric*, meaning that they are closed, convex, self-dual with respect to the Euclidean c.q. trace inner product, and have a transitive automorphism group; see Jordan et al. [55] for a complete characterization of symmetric cones. For these cones, Nesterov and Todd [87, 88] introduced what became known as the Nesterov-Todd directions, which lead to successful implementations in e.g. SeDuMi [104] and MOSEK [78].

This thesis is mainly concerned with feasible sets that cannot be described by symmetric cones. Two examples are the exponential cone

$$\left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1 \ge x_2 e^{x_3/x_2}, x_2 > 0\right\} \cup \left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1 \ge 0, x_2 = 0, x_3 \le 0\right\},\$$

and, for any $t \in (0, 1)$, the three-dimensional power cone

$$\{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1^t x_2^{1-t} \ge |x_3|\}$$

The lack of symmetry in these cones means that solvers cannot use the Nesterov-Todd directions. The search for alternatives (see Chapter 10 for references) yielded the method described by Dahl and Andersen [30], which is also implemented in the commercial solver MOSEK 9 [78]. Dahl and Andersen developed their algorithm to work well in practice, and did not provide a running time analysis. In Chapter 10, we provide a theoretical foundation for their algorithm. But this algorithm does not cover all convex programing problems. There are convex sets for which no efficiently computable barrier exists, unless P = NP. One of those sets is the copositive cone, which consists of the symmetric matrices X such that $y^T X y \ge 0$ for all $y \ge 0$; see Motzkin [79] for the origins of copositivity. To use an interior point method to solve copositive programming problems, we will use a barrier whose derivatives we can approximate.

1.2 Hit-and-Run Sampling and Simulated Annealing

We do have a *membership oracle* for the copositive cone: we can test for any given matrix whether it is copositive (see Section 8.2), even though Murty and Kabadi [81] showed this problem is co-NP-complete. With such an oracle, we can use a Markov chain Monte Carlo method to generate samples from a probability distribution over the feasible set. In this thesis, we will use *hit-and-run sampling*, originally introduced by Smith [102] for the uniform distribution in 1984, and later generalized to absolutely continuous distributions by e.g. Bélisle et al. [11]. In short, this method picks a random line through the current iterate and intersects this line with the feasible set (if we only have a membership oracle, this intersection can be approximated by the bisection method). The next iterate is then drawn from the target distribution restricted to the chord. This is effectively a one-dimensional sampling problem, which is usually much easier than high-dimensional sampling. An illustration is given in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2: Three steps of hit-and-run sampling applied to the uniform distribution over $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x_1^2 + x_2^2 \le 1\}$

Sampling can be geared towards optimization in a number of ways. One of the more classical approaches is to use *simulated annealing*, which was first proposed by Kirkpatrick et al. [63] for combinatorial optimization, and later applied to convex programming by Kalai and Vempala [56]. In real-world annealing, a piece of metal is heated for a certain time, then slowly cooled to make it more workable. The simulated version of this process involves a family of distributions known as Boltzmann distributions. For the problem (1.1) and some temperature T > 0, simulated annealing looks at probability distributions whose density (with respect to the Lebesgue measure) is proportional to $(x_1, x_2) \mapsto \exp(-x_1/T)$ on the feasible set. The idea is to generate a sample from such a distribution, and then use that sample to generate a new sample from a distribution with a lower temperature. This is repeated until the temperature is sufficiently low, at which point most of the distribution's probability mass is concentrated near an optimal solution. The means of the considered distributions lie on the *heat path*, which is defined as

$$\left\{\frac{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} x e^{-\langle c,x\rangle/T} \,\mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} e^{-\langle c,x\rangle/T} \,\mathrm{d}x} : T > 0\right\},\,$$

where $\mathfrak{B}(0,1) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x_1^2 + x_2^2 \le 1\}$ is the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^2 . See Figure 1.3 for an illustration.

If one compares Figures 1.1 and 1.3, it seems the interior point method and the simulated annealing algorithm that we sketched follow the same path. Indeed, Abernethy and Hazan [1] showed that the heat path and the central path coincide for an interior point method that uses the *entropic barrier* by Bubeck and Eldan [21].

The entropic barrier is interesting because its derivatives have a stochastic interpretation. For instance, the Hessian of the entropic barrier at some x is the inverted covariance matrix of the Boltzmann distribution whose mean is x. This stochastic interpretation allows us to approximate the barrier's derivatives through sampling. With a sampling method such as hit-and-run, all we need is a membership oracle to approximate the gradient and Hessian of the entropic barrier, with which we can solve (1.1). This will be shown in Chapter 6 with the tools developed in Chapters 2 to 5.

Because of the close relation between interior point methods and simulated



Figure 1.3: Three stages of simulated annealing to solve problem (1.1)

annealing that Abernethy and Hazan [1] established, we can also critically analyze Kalai and Vempala's algorithm [56] with these same tools. This is the topic of Chapter 7.

Both of these methods – the interior point method from Chapter 6 and the simulated annealing algorithm by Kalai and Vempala [56] – can be used for optimization over the copositive cone. The number of oracle calls made by these methods is, as we will show, asymptotically bounded by a polynomial, even though the calls themselves correspond to an NP-hard problem. However, we will see that this number of oracle calls is still so large that these methods are not competitive with e.g. the ellipsoid method. We therefore also investigate an alternative that is significantly faster in practice, even if it lacks an analysis of its computational complexity.

1.3 Analytic Center Cutting Plane Methods

The minimizer of a barrier is known as its *analytic center*. The name already suggests that an analytic center is somehow a central point in the barrier's domain. This fact is used by a specific class of cutting plane algorithms known as *analytic center cutting plane methods*, due to Goffin and Vial [43]. In general, cutting plane algorithms maintain some outer approximation of the set of optimal solutions. They take a query point from inside this outer approximation – in the case of analytic center cutting plane methods, this is the approximation's analytic center. If the query point lies in the feasible set, any optimal solution has an objective value that is at least as good as the query point's, and this information can be used to shrink the outer approximation. Alternatively, if the query point can be separated from the feasible set, this also allows us to shrink the approximation. An example is shown in Figure 1.4.

Analytic center cutting plane methods turn out to perform quite well in practice; see Goffin and Vial [44, Section 6] and the references therein. We therefore propose such a method to solve copositive programming problems in Chapter 8. In Chapter 9, we compare this method to the alternatives we touched upon above, and find that it indeed performs relatively well. The main drawback is that we do not analyze the running time of our method: in designing an algorithm that performs well in practice, we make some design choices that would be difficult to analyze rigorously. These include taking deep cuts (which means that we often have to start approximating an analytic center from outside the barrier's domain) and pruning the least relevant constraints. Nevertheless, the empirical evidence should convince even a skeptical reader that out of the approaches we discuss, this one is the most promising in practice.

1.4 Thesis Outline

We recall the fundamentals of interior point theory in Chapter 2. This is largely a collection of results from the textbook by Renegar [95], although we add some details to his proofs. We use a different definition of a function's conjugate, but this has no consequences other than sign changes.

The entropic barrier of Bubeck and Eldan [21] is formally introduced in Chap-



Figure 1.4: Three iterations of an analytic center cutting plane method to solve problem (1.1)

ter 3, along with its most important properties. We then propose and analyze a short-step interior point method that uses this barrier, under the assumption that its derivatives can be computed exactly. The iteration complexity of this method turns out to be the same as that of short-step methods in the literature, e.g. Renegar [95]. The difficulty in using the entropic barrier therefore lies in using its approximate derivatives.

To approximate these derivatives, we will use hit-and-run sampling (see Smith [102], Bélisle et al. [11]). Building on work by Lovász and Vempala [71], it will be shown in Chapter 4 that one can generate samples that approximately follow a Boltzmann distribution, provided one has some information from a Boltzmann distribution close to it.

These samples are used in Chapter 5 to approximate the mean and covariance of a Boltzmann distribution. We carefully analyze the quality of such approximations when the samples are not exactly from the correct distribution, and not exactly independent, as is the case when using hit-and-run sampling. This analysis is conceptually similar to earlier work by Kannan et al. [58].

It is then possible to analyze a sampling-based short-step interior point method in Chapter 6. The main assumption on the feasible set is that it admits a membership oracle, such that this method is widely applicable.

As an alternative to interior point methods, we consider the simulated annealing algorithm by Kalai and Vempala [56] in Chapter 7. With the tools developed in Chapters 4 and 5, we can rigorously analyze this algorithm. Moreover, we propose some modifications to improve its practical performance.

In Chapter 8, we develop a method aimed solely at practical performance. This analytic center cutting plane method (see Goffin and Vial [43]) was designed to solve copositive programming problems, and does not come with a formal complexity guarantee.

The proposed methods will be compared against each other and the ellipsoid method in Chapter 9. The analytic center cutting plane method from Chapter 8 seems to be the most appealing in practice, and also seems to scale reasonably well.

Chapter 10 moves the scope to somewhat more structured problems: optimization problems over proper cones that admit a barrier with readily computable derivatives. The cones in question do not even have to be self-dual, though. An algorithm that works well in practice on these problems was presented by Dahl and Andersen [30], and we provide some theoretical foundation for this algorithm. In particular, we prove polynomial time convergence of a method that uses their scaling matrix, search direction, and neighborhood.

1.5 Contributions to the Literature

This thesis is based on the following articles:

- [7] R. Badenbroek and J. Dahl. An algorithm for nonsymmetric conic optimization inspired by mosek. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2003.01546*, 2020
- [8] R. Badenbroek and E. de Klerk. Complexity analysis of a samplingbased interior point method for convex optimization. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1811.07677*, 2018
- [9] R. Badenbroek and E. de Klerk. Simulated annealing with hit-and-run for convex optimization: rigorous complexity analysis and practical perspectives for copositive programming. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.02368*, 2019
- [10] R. Badenbroek and E. de Klerk. An analytic center cutting plane method to determine complete positivity of a matrix. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2006.05319*, 2020

These articles are used in the chapters of this thesis as follows:

Chapter 2	Background material
Chapter 3	Background material
Chapter 4	Based on [8, Sections 2.3 and 4]
Chapter 5	Based on [8, Sections 2.4 and 5]
Chapter 6	Improves on [8, Section 6]
Chapter 7	Based on [9, Sections 1.1, 4, 5.3, and 5.4] and [10, Section 1]
Chapter 8	[10, Sections 1 and 2] and [7, Section 1]
Chapter 9	Based on [9, Sections 5.1 and 5.2] and [10, Section 3]
Chapter 10	Based on [7], excluding the proofs from [7, Sections 4, 5, and 6]
Appendix A	Background material
Appendix B	[8, Section 3.1]
Appendix C	Based on the proofs from [7, Sections 4, 5, and 6]

2

Properties of Self-Concordant Barriers

In this chapter, we collect the foundations of the interior point method theory in the notation that will be used throughout the thesis. After defining the gradient and Hessian, we will discuss self-concordant barriers in Section 2.1. Next, we consider the conjugate function and its properties in Section 2.2, and show that conjugation preserves self-concordance in Section 2.3. Finally, in Section 2.4 we consider an important situation where conjugation also preserves the barrier property: when the domain of the barrier is a cone.

The results in this chapter are mostly standard tools from the field of interior point methods. Aside from rephrasing them in our notation, we add some details to the proofs from Renegar [95].

2.1 Derivatives and Self-Concordant Barriers

We start with some preliminary definitions, which follow the notation from Renegar [95]. We fix a reference inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on \mathbb{R}^n , which induces a norm $\|\cdot\|$ and a norm topology. For two linear operators *A* and *B*, we write $A \succeq B$ whenever $\langle x, Ax \rangle \ge \langle x, Bx \rangle$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Any self-adjoint, positive definite linear operator *A* induces a new inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_A$ by $\langle x, y \rangle_A := \langle x, Ay \rangle$. The norm induced by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_A$ will be denoted by $\| \cdot \|_A$. For any norm $\| \cdot \|$ on \mathbb{R}^n , the *operator norm* $\|A\|$ for a linear operator *A* is given by max{ $\|Ax\| : \|x\| \le 1$ }.

A *functional* is a function that maps into \mathbb{R} . The gradient and Hessian of some functional f will depend on the reference inner product.

Definition 2.1 ([95, page 6]). Let f be a functional such that dom f is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, f is *differentiable* at $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ if there exists a vector $g(\theta) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that

$$\lim_{\|\Delta\theta\|\to 0} \frac{f(\theta + \Delta\theta) - f(\theta) - \langle g(\theta), \Delta\theta \rangle}{\|\Delta\theta\|} = 0.$$

The vector $g(\theta)$ is called the *gradient* of f at θ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

Definition 2.2 ([95, page 9]). Let f be a functional such that dom f is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, f is *twice differentiable* if it is continuously differentiable at $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and there exists a bounded linear operator $H(\theta) : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ such that

$$\lim_{\|\Delta\theta\|\to 0} \frac{\|g(\theta + \Delta\theta) - g(\theta) - H(\theta)\Delta\theta\|}{\|\Delta\theta\|} = 0.$$

The linear operator $H(\theta)$ is called the *Hessian* of f at θ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

We denote the gradient and Hessian with respect to some other inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_A$ by g_A and H_A respectively, where A is a positive definite self-adjoint linear operator. It can be shown that $g_A(\theta) = A^{-1}g(\theta)$ and $H_A(\theta) = A^{-1}H(\theta)$, provided that the value of f does not depend on the chosen inner product (see e.g. Theorems 1.2.1 and 1.3.1 in Renegar [95]). For brevity, define the local inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta} := \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{H(\theta)}$ and the local norm $\| \cdot \|_{\theta} := \| \cdot \|_{H(\theta)}$ for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and let g_{θ} and H_{θ} be the gradient and Hessian of f with respect to the local inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta}$.

The class of self-concordant functions plays an important role in the theory of interior point methods. The change in the Hessians of these functions when taking a small step is bounded by the size of the step (as measured in the local norm). We use the definition by Renegar [95].

Definition 2.3 ([95, page 23]). Let f be a twice continuously differentiable, strictly convex functional such that dom f is an open and convex subset of \mathbb{R}^n .

- (i) $\theta_1 \in \operatorname{dom} f$.
- (ii) For all nonzero $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we have

$$1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0} \le \frac{\|\nu\|_{\theta_1}}{\|\nu\|_{\theta_0}} \le \frac{1}{1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0}},$$
(2.1)

or equivalently,

$$(1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})^2 H(\theta_0) \leq H(\theta_1) \leq \frac{1}{(1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})^2} H(\theta_0).$$
(2.2)

It can be seen that the sum of a self-concordant functional and a linear functional on \mathbb{R}^n must also be self-concordant, since the self-concordance of a functional is entirely determined by its Hessians.

One may expect that if the change in the Hessians of some function is bounded, something similar can be said about the inverse Hessians. An application of the following result from Horn and Johnson [53] shows that this is the case. Horn and Johnson's original proof concerns positive definite matrices, so we include a proof to show that their statement also holds in the setting of linear operators.

Lemma 2.4 ([53, Corollary 7.7.4(a)]). Let A, B be positive definite, self-adjoint linear operators from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R}^n . Then, $A \succeq B$ if and only if $B^{-1} \succeq A^{-1}$.

Proof. If $S : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is some invertible linear operator, then $\langle x, (A-B)x \rangle \ge 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ if and only if $\langle Sy, (A-B)Sy \rangle \ge 0$ for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Hence,

$$A \succeq B$$
 if and only if $S^{\top}AS \succeq S^{\top}BS$, (2.3)

where S^{\top} is the adjoint of *S*. Applying (2.3) with $S = A^{-1/2}$ shows that $A \succeq B$ is equivalent to $I \succeq A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2}$, that is, all eigenvalues of $A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2}$ are at most 1. The vector v is an eigenvector for $A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2}$ with eigenvalue λ if and only if $B^{1/2}A^{-1/2}v$ is an eigenvector for $B^{1/2}A^{-1}B^{1/2}$ with eigenvalue λ . Hence, all eigenvalues of $B^{1/2}A^{-1}B^{1/2}$ are also at most 1, meaning $I \succeq B^{1/2}A^{-1}B^{1/2}$. Another application of (2.3) with $S = B^{-1/2}$ completes the proof.

This lemma shows that (2.2) is equivalent to

$$(1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})^2 H(\theta_1)^{-1} \le H(\theta_0)^{-1} \le \frac{1}{(1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})^2} H(\theta_1)^{-1}, \quad (2.4)$$

and therefore (2.1) is equivalent to

$$1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0} \le \frac{\|\nu\|_{\theta_0}^{-1}}{\|\nu\|_{\theta_1}^{-1}} \le \frac{1}{1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0}},$$
(2.5)

where $\|\cdot\|_{\theta}^{-1}$ is the norm induced by $H(\theta)^{-1}$ for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

It should be noted that our definition of self-concordance is not the original one by Nesterov and Nemirovskii [85]. Their definition assumes the function f is three times differentiable, which we define first. To do so, we will use $\mathcal{L}(U; V)$ to denote the space of linear operators from the vector space U to the vector space V. The third derivative is a Fréchet derivative, just like the gradient and Hessian from Definitions 2.1 and 2.2. We refer the reader to Appendix A for details.

Definition 2.5 ((A.4) in Appendix A.4). Let *f* be a functional such that dom *f* is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, *f* is *three times differentiable* if it is twice continuously differentiable at $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and there exists a bounded linear operator $T(\theta)$: $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\lim_{\|\Delta\theta\|\to 0} \frac{\|H(\theta + \Delta\theta) - H(\theta) - T(\theta)\Delta\theta\|}{\|\Delta\theta\|} = 0,$$

where the norm in the numerator is the operator norm on $\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}^n)$. The linear operator $T(\theta)$ is called the *third derivative* of f at θ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

We are now ready to show that Definition 2.3 is equivalent to the definition of self-concordance by Nesterov and Nemirovskii [85], provided that f is three times continuously differentiable. This was originally shown by Renegar [95], but we provide some details on the proof in the appendix.

Theorem 2.6 ([95, Theorem 2.5.3]). Let f be a three times continuously differentiable, strictly convex functional such that dom f is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, f is self-concordant if and only if the following two properties hold:
- (i) For any sequence $\{\theta_k\} \subset \text{dom } f$ that converges to a point on the boundary of dom f, we have $f(\theta_k) \to \infty$.
- (ii) For any $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and $\Delta \theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the function $\phi(t) := f(\theta + t\Delta \theta)$ satisfies $\phi'''(t) \le 2\phi''(t)^{3/2}$ for all $t \in \text{dom } \phi$.

Proof. See Appendix A.

We end this section with another important concept from the theory of interior point methods: the complexity parameter. Some self-concordant functionals have such a parameter, and it often appears in the complexity analysis of interior point methods that rely on these functionals. We again use the definition by Renegar [95].

Definition 2.7 ([95, page 35]). A functional f is a *(self-concordant)* barrier if it is self-concordant and

$$\vartheta_f := \sup_{\theta \in \operatorname{dom} f} \|g_{\theta}(\theta)\|_{\theta}^2,$$

is finite. The value ϑ_f is called the *complexity parameter* of the barrier f.

The barrier property of *f* is often applied directly, that is, to upper bound $||g_{\theta}(\theta)||_{\theta}$ for some $\theta \in \text{dom } f$, or through the following result.

Theorem 2.8 ([95, Theorem 2.3.3]). Let f be a self-concordant barrier. Then, for any $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \text{dom } f$,

$$\langle g(\theta_0), \theta_1 - \theta_0 \rangle < \vartheta_f.$$

2.2 The Conjugate and its Derivatives

A function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ has a dual of sorts, called the conjugate function. It is invaluable for defining the entropic barrier (see Chapter 3) as well as primal-dual interior point methods. For the sake of consistency, we phrase the definition and properties of the conjugate in terms of \mathbb{R}^n , but these statements can easily be generalized to arbitrary Hilbert spaces.

Definition 2.9. Let f be a functional such that dom f is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, the *conjugate* of f is defined by

$$f^*(x) \coloneqq \sup_{\theta \in \operatorname{dom} f} \{ \langle \theta, x \rangle - f(\theta) \}.$$

In the remainder of this section, we establish some basic properties of the conjugate: its domain, gradient, and Hessian. In Section 2.3, we look at self-concordance of the conjugate.

Before we determine the domain of the conjugate function, let us fix some notation that we will use in the analysis. Denote the open ball with radius r around $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, as measured in the reference norm $\|\cdot\|$, by $\mathfrak{B}(\theta_0, r)$. Moreover, let $\mathfrak{B}_{\theta}(\theta_0, r)$ be the open ball with radius r around θ_0 , as measured in the local norm $\|\cdot\|_{\theta}$. Finally, let $\langle\cdot, \cdot\rangle_{\theta}^{-1}$ be the inner product induced by $H(\theta)^{-1}$, and $\|\cdot\|_{\theta}^{-1}$ the corresponding norm.

Our proof follows that of Renegar [95], although he uses a different definition of the conjugate.

Proposition 2.10 ([95, Proposition 3.3.3]). Let f be a twice continuously differentiable, strictly convex functional such that dom f is an open and convex subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, the gradient map $g : \text{dom } f \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is injective. If f is self-concordant, then

$$\operatorname{dom} f^* = \{g(\theta) : \theta \in \operatorname{dom} f\},\tag{2.6}$$

and dom f^* is open.

Proof. Suppose $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in \text{dom } f$ satisfy $g(\theta_1) = g(\theta_2) = x$. Then they both maximize the strictly concave function

$$\theta \mapsto \langle \theta, x \rangle - f(\theta),$$
 (2.7)

and hence $\theta_1 = \theta_2$, proving that g is injective. Moreover, because (2.7) has a maximizer θ_1 , we have $x = g(\theta_1) \in \text{dom } f^*$. In other words,

$$\{g(\theta): \theta \in \operatorname{dom} f\} \subseteq \operatorname{dom} f^*. \tag{2.8}$$

Next suppose $x \in \text{dom } f^*$. Then $f^*(x)$ is finite, and therefore (2.7) is bounded above. If f is self-concordant, Theorem 2.2.8 in Renegar [95] shows (2.7) has

a maximizer $\theta \in \text{dom } f$. This maximizer must satisfy $g(\theta) = x$, and we may therefore conclude that

$$\operatorname{dom} f^* \subseteq \{g(\theta) : \theta \in \operatorname{dom} f\}.$$

Combined with (2.8), we find (2.6).

Finally, we show that dom f^* is open if f is self-concordant via the suggestion in Renegar's proof. Let $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and consequently, $g(\theta) \in \text{dom } f^*$. Let $\Delta x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be a vector satisfying

$$|\Delta x||_{\theta}^{-1} < \frac{1}{4}.$$
 (2.9)

(In particular, all Δx in $\mathfrak{B}(0, \frac{1}{4}\lambda_{\min}(H(\theta)^{1/2}))$ satisfy (2.9), where $\lambda_{\min}(H(\theta)^{1/2})$ is the smallest eigenvalue of $H(\theta)^{1/2}$, which by assumption is positive.) Define $v = H(\theta)^{-1}\Delta x$, and observe that

$$\|v\|_{\theta} = \sqrt{\langle v, H(\theta)v \rangle} = \sqrt{\langle H(\theta)^{-1}\Delta x, \Delta x \rangle} = \|\Delta x\|_{\theta}^{-1} < \frac{1}{4}$$

Noting that $\frac{3t^2}{(1-t)^3} \leq 9t^2$ for $t \in [0, \frac{1}{4}]$, Proposition 2.2.10 in Renegar [95] shows that if $\|v\|_{\theta} \leq \frac{1}{4}$, then there exists a vector $u \in \mathfrak{B}_{\theta}(v, 9\|v\|_{\theta}^2)$ such that $\theta + u \in \text{dom } f$ and

$$g(\theta + u) = g(\theta) + \Delta x$$

Consequently, $g(\theta) + \Delta x \in \text{dom } f^*$, which shows $\text{dom } f^*$ is open.

Having established the domain of the conjugate f^* , our next goal is describing the gradient g^* and Hessian H^* of f^* . Before we can do that, we cite a general version of the inverse function theorem from Lang [66].

Theorem 2.11 ([66, Chapter I, Theorem 5.2]). Let V, W be normed vector spaces, and let $V' \subseteq V$ be an open subset of V. Let $\phi : V' \to W$ be a k times continuously differentiable mapping, where $k \ge 1$. If at some point $\theta \in V'$, the Fréchet derivative $D\phi(\theta)$ is an invertible linear operator, then ϕ has a k times continuously differentiable local inverse $\phi^{-1} : W' \to V$ in a neighborhood W' around $\phi(\theta)$, i.e.

$$\phi(\phi^{-1}(x)) = x \qquad \forall x \in W'.$$

We now establish relationships between the derivatives of f and f^* . Such relationships can be found for convex functionals under some mild conditions (see

Rockafellar [96, Corollary 23.5.1] and Crouzeix [29]), but we restrict ourselves to self-concordant functionals to keep the proof concise. We again follow the proof from Renegar [95], but provide some details on the application of Theorem 2.11.

Theorem 2.12 ([95, Theorem 3.3.4]). Let f be a self-concordant functional. Then, f^* is twice continuously differentiable. If moreover $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and x satisfy $x = g(\theta)$, then

$$g^{*}(x) = \theta$$
 and $H^{*}(x) = [H(\theta)]^{-1}$.

Proof. Proposition 2.10 shows that $g : \text{dom } f \to \text{dom } f^*$ is invertible. The first differential of g at $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ is the Hessian $H(\theta)$. Since it was assumed that $H(\theta)$ is positive definite for all $\theta \in \text{dom } f$, we see that $H(\theta)$ is invertible. Hence, Theorem 2.11 shows that, for any $\theta \in \text{dom } f$, g has a continuously differentiable inverse g^{-1} around $g(\theta)$. It is shown in Proposition 2.10 that $\text{dom } f^* = \{g(\theta) : \theta \in \text{dom } g\}$, and hence for any $x \in \text{dom } f^*$, the mapping $x \mapsto g^{-1}(x)$ is continuously differentiable.

Let us define $\theta(x) \coloneqq g^{-1}(x)$ for all $x \in \text{dom} f^*$. Since $g(\theta(x)) = x$, we have

$$f^*(x) = \langle \theta(x), x \rangle - f(\theta(x)), \qquad (2.10)$$

for all $x \in \text{dom} f^*$. We know that $x \mapsto \theta(x)$ is continuously differentiable, and therefore f^* is as well. To determine its derivative, we first differentiate $f_1^*(x) := \langle \theta(x), x \rangle$. Denote the Fréchet derivative of $\theta(x)$ by $D\theta(x)$, and the adjoint of $D\theta(x)$ by $(D\theta(x))^{\top}$. We then claim that the derivative of f_1^* is $g_1^*(x) = \theta(x) + (D\theta(x))^{\top}x$. To see this, note that

$$\lim_{\|\Delta x\|\downarrow 0} \frac{1}{\|\Delta x\|} |f_1^*(x + \Delta x) - f_1^*(x) - \langle g_1^*(x), \Delta x \rangle| \\
= \lim_{\|\Delta x\|\downarrow 0} \frac{1}{\|\Delta x\|} |\langle \theta(x + \Delta x), x + \Delta x \rangle - \langle \theta(x), x \rangle - \langle \theta(x) + (D\theta(x))^\top x, \Delta x \rangle| \\
= \lim_{\|\Delta x\|\downarrow 0} \frac{1}{\|\Delta x\|} |\langle \theta(x + \Delta x) - \theta(x), x + \Delta x \rangle - \langle x, D\theta(x)\Delta x \rangle| \\
= \lim_{\|\Delta x\|\downarrow 0} \frac{1}{\|\Delta x\|} |\langle \theta(x + \Delta x) - \theta(x) - D\theta(x)\Delta x, x \rangle| = 0.$$
(2.11)

Second, the derivative of $f_2^*(x) \coloneqq f(\theta(x))$ is given by the chain rule (see Theorem A.2) as the linear operator $g_2^*(x) = g(\theta(x)) \circ D\theta(x)$. Applying this operator to Δx gives

$$g_2^*(x)[\Delta x] = \langle g(\theta(x)), D\theta(x)\Delta x \rangle = \langle (D\theta(x))^\top g(\theta(x)), \Delta x \rangle,$$

so in vector form, we have $g_2^*(x) = (D\theta(x))^\top g(\theta(x)) = (D\theta(x))^\top x$. Combining this fact with (2.11) gives the derivative of (2.10) as

$$g^*(x) = \theta(x) + (D\theta(x))^{\top}x - (D\theta(x))^{\top}x = \theta(x).$$

Recall that $x \mapsto \theta(x)$ is continuously differentiable, so g^* is continuously differentiable. This shows that f^* is twice continuously differentiable. Differentiating the identity $g(\theta(x)) = x$ with respect to x using the chain rule (see e.g. Theorem A.2) gives $H(\theta(x))D\theta(x) = I$, showing

$$H^*(x) = D\theta(x) = H(\theta(x))^{-1}.$$

2.3 Self-Concordance of the Conjugate

Now that we have some information about the gradient and the Hessian of the conjugate, we can show that f^* is self-concordant if and only if f itself is self-concordant.

Before we do so, we extend our notation once more. Let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_x^*$ and $\| \cdot \|_x^*$ be the local inner product and local norm induced by $H^*(x)$, where $x \in \text{dom } f$. Moreover, let $\mathfrak{B}_x^*(y, r)$ be the open ball with radius r around a fixed $y \in \text{dom } f$, as measured in the local norm $\| \cdot \|_x^*$.

Theorem 2.13 ([95, Theorem 3.3.1]). Let f be a twice continuously differentiable, strictly convex functional such that dom f is an open and convex subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, f is self-concordant if and only if f^* is self-concordant.

Proof. The proof of the "only if" implication is the same as in Renegar [95], but again we provide some additional details. Pick any $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and $x \in \text{dom } f^*$ such that $g(\theta) = x$. By Theorem 2.12, we then have for all $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\langle y, z \rangle_x^* = \langle y, H^*(x)z \rangle = \langle y, H(\theta)^{-1}z \rangle = \langle H(\theta)^{-1}y, H(\theta)^{-1}z \rangle_{\theta}, \qquad (2.12)$$

and consequently,

$$\|y\|_{x}^{*} = \|H(\theta)^{-1}y\|_{\theta} = \|y\|_{\theta}^{-1}.$$
(2.13)

Assume f is self-concordant. By Theorem 2.5.2 in Renegar [95], if we show that

$$\mathfrak{B}_{x}^{*}(x,\frac{1}{4}) \subseteq \operatorname{dom} f^{*}, \qquad (2.14)$$

and

$$\limsup_{\|\Delta x\| \downarrow 0} \frac{\|I - H_x^*(x + \Delta x)\|_x^*}{\|\Delta x\|_x^*} \le 2,$$
(2.15)

where $H_x^*(x + \Delta x) := H^*(x)^{-1}H^*(x + \Delta x)$, then f^* is self-concordant.

Towards proving (2.14), let $\Delta x \in \mathfrak{B}_x^*(0, \frac{1}{4})$. Then by (2.13), Δx satisfies (2.9). By the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 2.10, there exists a

$$u \in \mathfrak{B}_{\theta}(H(\theta)^{-1}\Delta x, 9 \| H(\theta)^{-1}\Delta x \|_{\theta}^{2}),$$
(2.16)

such that $\theta + u \in \text{dom } f$ and $g(\theta + u) = g(\theta) + \Delta x$. Since $g(\theta + u)$ must lie in dom f^* and $g(\theta) = x$, we have that (2.14) holds. Moreover, (2.16) and (2.13) demonstrate that

$$\|u\|_{\theta} \le \|H(\theta)^{-1} \Delta x\|_{\theta} + 9\|H(\theta)^{-1} \Delta x\|_{\theta}^{2} = \|\Delta x\|_{x}^{*} + 9(\|\Delta x\|_{x}^{*})^{2}.$$
(2.17)

To prove (2.15), note that since $H(\theta)$ has full rank, and by application of (2.12) and (2.13),

$$\begin{split} \|I - H_x^*(x + \Delta x)\|_x^* &= \max_{w \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\langle H(\theta)w, [I - H_x^*(x + \Delta x)]H(\theta)w\rangle_x^*|}{(\|H(\theta)w\|_x^*)^2} \\ &= \max_{w \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\langle w, H(\theta)^{-1}[I - H_x^*(x + \Delta x)]H(\theta)w\rangle_\theta|}{\|w\|_\theta^2} \\ &= \|I - H(\theta)^{-1}H_x^*(x + \Delta x)H(\theta)\|_\theta. \end{split}$$

Using the expressions from Theorem 2.12 gives

$$\|I - H_x^*(x + \Delta x)\|_x^* = \|I - H(\theta)^{-1} H^*(x)^{-1} H^*(x + \Delta x) H(\theta)\|_{\theta}$$

= $\|I - H(\theta)^{-1} H(\theta) H(\theta + u)^{-1} H(\theta)\|_{\theta}$
= $\|I - H_{\theta}(\theta + u)^{-1}\|_{\theta}.$ (2.18)

Since f is self-concordant, Theorem 2.2.1 in Renegar [95] and (2.17) show

$$\|I - H_{\theta}(\theta + u)^{-1}\|_{\theta} \le \frac{1}{(1 - \|u\|_{\theta})^2} - 1 \le \frac{1}{(1 - \|\Delta x\|_x^* + 9(\|\Delta x\|_x^*)^2)^2} - 1.$$

Combined with (2.18), we thus find

$$\limsup_{\|\Delta x\| \downarrow 0} \frac{\|I - H_x^*(x + \Delta x)\|_x^*}{\|\Delta x\|_x^*} \le \limsup_{t \downarrow 0} \left(\frac{1}{t(1 - t + 9t^2)^2} - \frac{1}{t}\right) = 2,$$

where the equality follows from l'Hôpital's rule. This establishes (2.15) and thus f^* is self-concordant.

To prove the reverse implication, it suffices to note that $(f^*)^* = f$ by the Fenchel-Moreau theorem (f is proper, lower semi-continuous and convex).

2.4 Conjugates of Barriers over Cones

Theorem 2.13 shows that a function is self-concordant if and only if its conjugate is self-concordant too. The reader may wonder if such a relation also holds for the barrier property. In general, the answer is no. The entropic barrier – to be introduced in Chapter 3 – is one example where f is not a barrier, but f^* is. There is however an important case where f being a barrier implies f^* being a barrier: when f is logarithmically homogeneous. Let us first define this property as in Renegar [95], and then show the claim.

Definition 2.14 ([95, page 42]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ be a *proper cone*, i.e. a cone that is convex, closed, pointed, and full-dimensional. Then, a self-concordant barrier $f : \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K} \to \mathbb{R}$ is *logarithmically homogeneous* if for all $\theta \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and t > 0,

$$f(t\theta) = f(\theta) - \vartheta_f \log t. \tag{2.19}$$

We will often abbreviate 'logarithmically homogeneous self-concordant barrier' to '*LHSCB*'.

By computing the first and second derivative of both sides of (2.19) with respect to θ (see Theorem A.2 for the chain rule for Fréchet derivatives), we see that a LHSCB *f* satisfies

$$g(t\theta) = \frac{1}{t}g(\theta) \tag{2.20}$$

$$H(t\theta) = \frac{1}{t^2} H(\theta), \qquad (2.21)$$

for all $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and t > 0. Taking the derivative of (2.20) with respect to t shows $H(t\theta)\theta = -\frac{1}{t^2}g(\theta)$, implying for t = 1 that

$$\theta = -g_{\theta}(\theta). \tag{2.22}$$

We will now show that a LHSCB f has a conjugate that is also a LHSCB. Additionally, we will show that the complexity parameter of f^* , defined as

$$\vartheta_{f^*} \coloneqq \sup_{x \in \operatorname{dom} f^*} (\|g_x^*(x)\|_x^*)^2,$$

is equal to ϑ_f . We again largely follow the proof by Renegar [95], but providing a different argument that the interior of the polar cone is contained in $\{g(\theta) : \theta \in \text{dom } f\}$, and that f^* is logarithmically homogeneous.

Theorem 2.15 ([95, Theorem 3.3.1]). Let f be a LHSCB with dom $f = \text{int } \mathcal{K}$, where $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ is a proper cone. Then f^* is a LHSCB with domain $\text{int}(\mathcal{K}^\circ)$, where $\mathcal{K}^\circ := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle \theta, x \rangle \le 0 \ \forall \theta \in \mathcal{K} \}$. Moreover, $\vartheta_{f^*} = \vartheta_f$.

Proof. We first show that dom $f^* = int(\mathcal{K}^\circ)$. By Proposition 2.10, it suffices to show that $\{g(\theta) : \theta \in \text{dom } f\} = int(\mathcal{K}^\circ)$.

Pick any $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$. By Theorem 2.8, we have

$$\langle g(\theta_0), t\theta_1 - \theta_0 \rangle < \vartheta_f,$$

for any t > 0. Letting t tend to infinity, we see that $\langle g(\theta_0), \theta_1 \rangle \leq 0$, showing $g(\theta_0) \in \mathcal{K}^\circ$. Since $\{g(\theta) : \theta \in \text{dom } f\}$ is open by Proposition 2.10, we have $\{g(\theta) : \theta \in \text{dom } f\} \subseteq \text{int}(\mathcal{K}^\circ)$.

Conversely, pick an $x \in int(\mathcal{K}^\circ)$. We will argue that there exists a $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ such that $g(\theta) = x$, that is, the function $\phi(\theta) \coloneqq f(\theta) - \langle \theta, x \rangle$ has a minimizer. Since $x \in int(\mathcal{K}^\circ)$, it satisfies $\langle \theta, x \rangle < 0$ for all $\theta \in \mathcal{K}$, meaning there exists an $\alpha > 0$ such that

 $-\langle \theta, x \rangle \ge \alpha$ for all $\theta \in \mathcal{K}$ with $\|\theta\| = 1$.

For all $\theta \in int \mathcal{K}$ with $\|\theta\| = 1$ and t > 0, we therefore have by logarithmic homogeneity

$$\phi(t\theta) = f(t\theta) - \langle t\theta, x \rangle = f(\theta) - \vartheta_f \log t - t \langle \theta, x \rangle \ge \phi(\theta) - \vartheta_f \log t + \alpha(t-1).$$

In other words, there exists some $t^* > 1$ such that for all $t \ge t^*$, we have $\phi(t\theta) \ge \phi(\theta)$. We thus see that

$$\inf_{\theta} \{ \phi(\theta) : \theta \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K} \} = \inf_{\theta} \{ \phi(\theta) : \theta \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}, \|\theta\| \le t^* \}.$$
(2.23)

As a consequence of Theorem 2.6(i), there exists a closed inner approximation \mathcal{K}' of int \mathcal{K} such that the values of ϕ on int(\mathcal{K}) \ \mathcal{K}' are irrelevant for minimization. Consequently,

$$\inf_{\theta} \{ \phi(\theta) : \theta \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}, \|\theta\| \le t^* \} = \inf_{\theta} \{ \phi(\theta) : \theta \in \mathcal{K}', \|\theta\| \le t^* \},$$

which has a minimizer by Weierstrass' Theorem. Combined with (2.23), we see that ϕ has a minimizer on int \mathcal{K} , showing that $\operatorname{int}(\mathcal{K}^\circ) \subseteq \{g(\theta) : \theta \in \operatorname{dom} f\}$.

To show that f^* is a self-concordant barrier with complexity parameter ϑ_f , note that by Theorem 2.12 and (2.22),

$$\vartheta_{f^*} = \sup_{x \in \operatorname{dom} f^*} (\|g_x^*(x)\|_x^*)^2 = \sup_{\theta \in \operatorname{dom} f} \|\theta\|_{\theta}^2 = \sup_{\theta \in \operatorname{dom} f} \|g_\theta(\theta)\|_{\theta}^2 = \vartheta_f.$$

Finally, logarithmic homogeneity of f^* follows from the fact that for any $x \in \text{dom } f^*$ and t > 0,

$$f^{*}(tx) = \sup_{\substack{\theta \in \text{dom} f}} \left\{ \langle \theta, tx \rangle - f(\theta) + [f(t\theta) - f(t\theta)] \right\}$$
$$= \sup_{\substack{\theta \in \text{dom} f}} \left\{ \langle t\theta, x \rangle - f(t\theta) - \vartheta_{f} \log t \right\}$$
$$= f^{*}(x) - \vartheta_{f} \log t = f^{*}(x) - \vartheta_{f^{*}} \log t.$$

3

A Simple Interior Point Method Using the Entropic Barrier

In this chapter, we focus on a particular self-concordant barrier: the entropic barrier, as proposed by Bubeck and Eldan [21]. This barrier can be defined on any convex body, and its gradients and Hessians may be approximated through sampling. As we will see in later chapters, it is possible to generate sufficiently good samples using a technique called hit-and-run sampling, which only requires a membership oracle for the feasible set. Hence, the entropic barrier can be used for interior point methods on very general sets.

Before we continue, let us define this entropic barrier.

Definition 3.1. Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body. The *log-partition function* $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ associated with S is defined as

$$f(\theta) \coloneqq \log \int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

Its conjugate f^* is called the *entropic barrier*.

The derivatives of the log-partition function and the entropic barrier have an interpretation in terms of so-called Boltzmann distributions over the convex body S. Let us define these distributions first, and then discuss their relevance to the log-partition function and the entropic barrier.

Definition 3.2. Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then, the *Boltzmann distribution with parameter* θ is the probability distribution supported on S having density with respect to the Lebesgue measure proportional to $x \mapsto e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle}$.

As we will prove below, the gradient $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \operatorname{int} S$ of the log-partition function f assigns to each $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ the mean of the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ . On the other hand, the gradient $g^* : \operatorname{int} S \to \mathbb{R}^n$ of the entropic barrier f^* maps a point $x \in \operatorname{int} S$ to the $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that the mean of the Boltzmann distribution with the parameter θ is x. This interpretation can offer a bit of intuition why f^* is a barrier for S: as one lets $x \in \operatorname{int} S$ approach the boundary of S, the Boltzmann distribution that has mean x will have to concentrate more and more probability mass near the boundary of S. This will cause the norm of the parameter of the Boltzmann distribution, i.e. the norm of $g^*(x)$, to tend to infinity.

The name of the entropic barrier derives from the fact that, at some $x \in \text{int } S$, the entropic barrier equals the negative entropy of the Boltzmann distribution whose mean is x, as was shown by e.g. Wainwright and Jordan [109, Theorem 3.4(a)]. The negative entropy of a probability density $\phi : S \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is $\int_S \phi(y) \log \phi(y) dy$, but we will not use this concept – we mention it only for etymological reasons.

We provide an overview of the most important properties of the entropic barrier in Section 3.1. In Section 3.2, we consider the complexity parameter of this barrier for the Euclidean unit ball, which suggests there are convex bodies where this parameter is smaller than the number of variables. Section 3.3 proposes an interior point method tailored to the entropic barrier. We analyze this method in Section 3.4 under the idealistic assumption that we can compute the barrier's gradients and Hessians exactly. The next chapters will deal with the more realistic case that we have to use sampling to approximate these derivatives.

The analysis of a simplified method serves two purposes. First, it demonstrates that using the entropic barrier in itself does not significantly increase the algorithm's number of iterations. Instead, the number of oracle calls in later chapters is largely determined by the complexity of the sampling routines. Moreover, this analysis lays some of the foundations for the more realistic discussion in later chapters.

The properties of the entropic barrier are already known, although we derive the derivatives of the log-partition function more formally than in the existing literature. The proposed interior point method is new, even though it is closely related to an algorithm by De Klerk et al. [35]. The analysis of our method has also not appeared before, but it is largely traditional.

3.1 Properties of the Entropic Barrier

Before we summarize the most important properties of the entropic barrier, let us introduce a piece of notation. If ϕ is a measurable function whose domain is the convex body S, we define for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\phi(X)] := \frac{\int_{\mathcal{S}} \phi(x) e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x}.$$

In other words, $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\phi(X)]$ is the expected value of ϕ applied to a random variable X following a Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ . Note that we suppress the dependence on S; this should cause no confusion, as no other convex bodies will be introduced.

The following properties were originally shown by Klartag [64] and Bubeck and Eldan [21]. However, we derive the derivatives of the log-partition function more formally. Recall that the first, second, and third Fréchet derivatives of f at θ are denoted by $g(\theta)$, $H(\theta)$, and $T(\theta)$, respectively. Recall moreover that g^* denotes the gradient of f^* .

Proposition 3.3 ([64, Lemma 3.1], [21, Theorem 1]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let f and f^* be its associated log-partition function and entropic barrier, respectively. Then,

(i) $g(\theta)[w] = \langle \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], w \rangle$ for all $w \in \mathbb{R}^n$, or in vector notation, $g(\theta) = \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X]$, for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

- (*ii*) $H(\theta)[v, w] = \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], v \rangle \langle X \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], w \rangle]$ for all $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$.
- (iii) $T(\theta)[u, v, w] = \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], u \rangle \langle X \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], v \rangle \langle X \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], w \rangle]$ for all $u, v, w \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$.
- (iv) f is self-concordant with dom $f = \mathbb{R}^n$.
- (v) f^* is self-concordant with dom $f^* = \operatorname{int} S$.
- (vi) The function g is a bijection from \mathbb{R}^n to int S, and g^* is its inverse.

Proof. (i): Let $\tilde{f}(\theta) := \exp(f(\theta)) = \int_{S} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} dx$ such that $f(\theta) = \log(\tilde{f}(\theta))$. By the chain rule (see Theorem A.2), we have for all $\theta, w \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$,

$$g(\theta)[w] = \frac{1}{\tilde{f}(\theta)}\tilde{g}(\theta)[w] = \frac{\tilde{g}(\theta)[w]}{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x},$$

where $\tilde{g}(\theta)$ is the gradient of \tilde{f} at θ . It therefore remains to show that $\tilde{g}(\theta)[w] = \int_{S} \langle w, x \rangle e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} dx$. Indeed,

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \lim_{\|w\|\downarrow 0} \frac{|\tilde{f}(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta) - \int_{\mathcal{S}} \langle w, x \rangle e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x|}{\|w\|} \\ &= \lim_{\|w\|\downarrow 0} \frac{\left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(e^{\langle w, x \rangle} - 1 - \langle w, x \rangle \right) e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x \right|}{\|w\|} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathcal{S}} \lim_{\|w\|\downarrow 0} \frac{\left| e^{\langle w, x \rangle} - 1 - \langle w, x \rangle \right|}{\|w\|} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x = 0, \end{split}$$

where the second inequality is due to the dominated convergence theorem and the upper bound is equal to zero because $e^t - 1 - t = o(t^2)$.

(ii): Using the quotient rule from Theorem A.4, we find for all $\theta, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$H(\theta)[\nu] = \frac{1}{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} dx} \tilde{H}(\theta)[\nu] - \frac{1}{\left(\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} dx\right)^2} \tilde{g}(\theta)[\nu] \tilde{g}(\theta),$$

where $\tilde{H}(\theta)$ is the Hessian of \tilde{f} at θ . We claim that, for any $w \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\tilde{H}(\theta)[v, w] =$

 $\int_{\mathcal{S}} \langle v, x \rangle \langle w, x \rangle e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x, \text{ since}$

$$0 \leq \lim_{\|\nu\|\downarrow 0} \max_{w:\|w\|=1} \frac{\left|\tilde{g}(\theta+\nu)[w] - \tilde{g}(\theta)[w] - \int_{\mathcal{S}} \langle \nu, x \rangle \langle w, x \rangle e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x\right|}{\|\nu\|}$$
$$= \lim_{\|\nu\|\downarrow 0} \max_{w:\|w\|=1} \frac{\left|\int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(e^{\langle \nu, x \rangle} - 1 - \langle \nu, x \rangle\right) \langle w, x \rangle e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x\right|}{\|\nu\|}$$
$$\leq \int_{\mathcal{S}} \lim_{\|\nu\|\downarrow 0} \frac{\left|e^{\langle \nu, x \rangle} - 1 - \langle \nu, x \rangle\right|}{\|\nu\|} \|x\| e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

where we now also use the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the boundedness of S to apply the dominated convergence theorem. In conclusion,

$$H(\theta)[v,w] = \frac{1}{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} dx} \tilde{H}(\theta)[v,w] - \frac{1}{\left(\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} dx\right)^{2}} \tilde{g}(\theta)[v] \tilde{g}(\theta)[w]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X, v \rangle \langle X, w \rangle] - \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X, v \rangle] \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X, w \rangle]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], v \rangle \langle X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], w \rangle].$$

(iii): Can be shown in a way similar to (ii).

(iv): We check the conditions of Theorem 2.6 for f. First, by definition the domain of f is \mathbb{R}^n , which has no boundary. The first condition therefore holds vacuously. Second, it follows from Bubeck and Eldan [21, Lemma 2] that for any $\theta, u \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], u \rangle^{3}] \le 2 \big(\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], u \rangle] \big)^{3/2}$$

By (ii) and (iii), this statement is equivalent to $T(\theta)[u, u, u] \le 2(H(\theta)[u, u])^{3/2}$ for all $\theta, u \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Hence, Lemma A.8 shows that the second condition of Theorem 2.6 also holds, proving that f is self-concordant.

(v): It was shown by Klartag [64, Lemma 3.1] that $\{g(\theta) : \theta \in \mathbb{R}^n\} = \operatorname{int} S$. Since *f* is self-concordant, Proposition 2.10 proves that dom $f^* = \operatorname{int} S$, and Theorem 2.13 proves f^* is self-concordant.

(vi): By Proposition 2.10, g is injective. The bijection is established through Klartag's result [64, Lemma 3.1] that $\{g(\theta) : \theta \in \mathbb{R}^n\} = \operatorname{int} S$. Theorem 2.12 shows g^* is the inverse of g.

The results (i) and (ii) above show that the derivatives of the log-partition function *f* have a stochastic interpretation. The gradient $g(\theta)$ corresponds to the

expected value of a Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ , and $H(\theta)$ is the covariance operator of the same distribution. For this reason, we will use where appropriate the notation

$$x(\theta) \coloneqq g(\theta)$$
 and $\Sigma(\theta) \coloneqq H(\theta)$, where $f(\theta) = \log \int_{S} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} dx$.

By Proposition 3.3(vi), g^* and g are each other's inverses. Hence, if f is the logpartition function, g^* assigns to each $x \in \text{int } S$ the $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $g(\theta) = x$. We therefore also introduce the notation

$$\theta(x) \coloneqq g^*(x), \text{ where } f(\theta) = \log \int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} dx$$

A summary of the notation and properties of the log-partition function and its conjugate is presented in Table 3.1.

	Log-partition function f	Entropic barrier f^*
Function	$f(\theta) = \log \int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \mathrm{d}x$	$f^*(x) = \sup_{\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n} \{ \langle \theta, x \rangle - f(\theta) \}$
Gradient	$g(\theta) = \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X] = x(\theta)$	$g^*(x) = \theta(x)$ such that $g(\theta(x)) = x$
Hessian	$H(\theta) = \Sigma(\theta)$	$H^*(x) = H(g^*(x))^{-1} = \Sigma(\theta(x))^{-1}$
Domain	$\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$	$x \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{S}$

Table 3.1: Overview of the properties of the log-partition function and its conjugate, the entropic barrier

So far we have seen that the entropic barrier is a self-concordant functional with domain int S. As its name suggests though, the entropic barrier is moreover a barrier in the sense of Definition 2.7, as shown by Bubeck and Eldan [21].

Theorem 3.4 ([21, Theorem 1]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let f^* be its associated entropic barrier. Then, f^* is a self-concordant barrier on S with complexity parameter

$$\vartheta_{f^*} \leq \left(1 + 100\sqrt{\log(n)/n}\right)n,$$

for $n \ge 80$.

The proof of this theorem depends on the fact that by Proposition 3.3(vi) and Theorem 2.12,

$$\begin{split} \vartheta_{f^*} &= \sup_{x \in \operatorname{dom} f^*} (\|g_x^*(x)\|_x^*)^2 \\ &= \sup_{x \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{S}} \langle g^*(x), H^*(x)^{-1} g^*(x) \rangle \\ &= \sup_{\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n} \langle g^*(g(\theta)), H^*(g(\theta))^{-1} g^*(g(\theta)) \rangle \\ &= \sup_{\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n} \langle \theta, \Sigma(\theta) \theta \rangle = \sup_{\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n} \|\theta\|_{\theta}^2, \end{split}$$
(3.1)

such that the bound on ϑ_{f^*} can be established through a careful analysis of the variance along the direction θ of the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ . For instance, it can be shown that if S is the hypercube $[0,1]^n$ in \mathbb{R}^n , the complexity parameter satisfies $\vartheta_{f^*} = n$. For general domains S, such an analysis goes somewhat outside the scope of this thesis, so we refer the reader to Bubeck and Eldan [21]. They use technical log-concavity arguments to show that $\langle \theta, \Sigma(\theta) \theta \rangle$ can be upper bounded by the variance of a certain normal random variable. The constants in Theorem 3.4 are not fundamental to their proof.

It is worth noting that ϑ_{f^*} will only be used as an upper bound. If the value of ϑ_{f^*} is unknown, it is therefore allowed to replace ϑ_{f^*} by its upper bound from Theorem 3.4.

The entropic barrier has some interesting applications. For instance, we use it to derive a non-trivial lower bound on the spectrum of $\Sigma(\theta)$ for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ in Appendix B.

3.2 The Complexity Parameter of the Entropic Barrier for the Unit Ball

Although we did not prove Theorem 3.4 for general convex bodies, we will consider (3.1) for the special case where int $S = \mathfrak{B}(0, 1)$, the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^n , and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the Euclidean inner product. This choice is interesting because numerical evidence presented below suggests that $\vartheta_{f^*} = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)$. For n > 1, this is, to our knowledge, the only set where it is suspected that $\vartheta_{f^*} < n$, i.e. where the bound

in Theorem 3.4 is significantly off. (Note that $\vartheta_{f^*} = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)$ would still be significantly worse than the complexity parameter 1 of the logarithmic barrier for the unit ball.) It follows from (3.1) that

$$\vartheta_{f^*} = \sup_{\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n} \mathbb{E}_{\theta} [\langle X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta} [X], \theta \rangle^2] = \sup_{\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left\{ \mathbb{E}_{\theta} [\langle X, \theta \rangle^2] - \langle \mathbb{E}_{\theta} [X], \theta \rangle^2 \right\}$$

For every $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, there exists a rotation matrix Q with $|\det Q| = 1$ such that $\langle \theta, Qy \rangle = ||\theta||y_1$ for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Using the fact that the volume of an (n-1)-dimensional ball with radius r is r^{n-1} times some factor depending only on n, we see that

$$\langle \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], \theta \rangle = \frac{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} \langle \theta, x \rangle e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x}$$

= $\frac{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} \|\theta\| y_1 e^{\|\theta\| y_1} \, \mathrm{d}y}{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} e^{\|\theta\| y_1} \, \mathrm{d}y} = \frac{\int_{-1}^{1} \|\theta\| y_1 \left(\sqrt{1-y_1^2}\right)^{n-1} e^{\|\theta\| y_1} \, \mathrm{d}y_1}{\int_{-1}^{1} \left(\sqrt{1-y_1^2}\right)^{n-1} e^{\|\theta\| y_1} \, \mathrm{d}y_1}.$

The final expression cannot be computed in closed form, but it can be approximated numerically for fixed *n* and $\|\theta\|$. Similarly,

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X, \theta \rangle^{2}] = \frac{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} \langle \theta, x \rangle^{2} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x}{\int_{B_{n}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}x}$$
$$= \frac{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} \|\theta\|^{2} y_{1}^{2} e^{\|\theta\|y_{1}} \, \mathrm{d}y}{\int_{\mathfrak{B}(0,1)} e^{\|\theta\|y_{1}} \, \mathrm{d}y} = \frac{\int_{-1}^{1} \|\theta\|^{2} y_{1}^{2} \left(\sqrt{1-y_{1}^{2}}\right)^{n-1} e^{\|\theta\|y_{1}} \, \mathrm{d}y_{1}}{\int_{-1}^{1} \left(\sqrt{1-y_{1}^{2}}\right)^{n-1} e^{\|\theta\|y_{1}} \, \mathrm{d}y_{1}}.$$

Numerical approximation of $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X, \theta \rangle^2] - \langle \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], \theta \rangle^2]$ for different values of n and $\|\theta\|$ using Matlab's integral function yields Figure 3.1, which suggests that $\vartheta_{f^*} = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)$.

3.3 Statement of a Simple Interior Point Method

With the main properties of the entropic barrier established, let us show that this barrier could be used to solve convex optimization problems. To be precise, we will consider the problem

$$\min_{x\in\mathcal{S}}\langle c,x\rangle,\tag{3.2}$$

Approximation of $\langle \theta, \Sigma(\theta) \theta \rangle$ n = 1n = 25 n = 3n = 44 n = 5n = 63 n = 7n = 82 n = 9n = 101 0 0 50 100 150 200 250 $\|\theta\|$

Figure 3.1: Numerical approximation of $\langle \theta, \Sigma(\theta) \theta \rangle$ for the Euclidean unit ball $\mathfrak{B}(0,1)$ in \mathbb{R}^n

where $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a convex body, and $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$. There are a number of self-concordant barriers that we could define over S, such as the entropic barrier or the universal barrier from Nesterov and Nemirovskii [85]. The main problem is that the derivatives of these barriers can usually not be computed in closed form. The derivatives of the universal barrier at $x \in S$ could be approximated through sampling from the polar set $\{v \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle v, y - x \rangle \leq 1 \forall y \in S\}$. However, the derivatives of the entropic barrier can be approximated through sampling directly from S, which is more attractive if we only have a membership oracle for S. In this chapter, we will assume for simplicity's sake that we can compute the gradients and Hessians of the entropic barrier exactly.

One might argue that under this assumption, one could simply cite the analysis from any short-step interior point method (such as Section 2.4.2 in Renegar [95]). To make our analysis more realistic, we will not use the standard Newton step. The reason we would be interested in this change is the following: short-step

interior point methods start with an approximate minimizer to

$$f_n^*(x) \coloneqq \eta \langle c, x \rangle + f^*(x),$$

for some $\eta > 0$, then increase η by a fixed factor to η_+ , and take a (usually Newton) step to find an approximate minimizer to $f_{\eta_+}^*$, and so on. In case of the entropic barrier, the Newton step at $x \in \text{dom } f^*$ to minimize f_{η}^* would be

$$-H^{*}(x)^{-1}[\eta c + g^{*}(x)] = -\Sigma(\theta(x))[\eta c + \theta(x)].$$
(3.3)

In reality, we usually do not know $\theta(x)$, so it will have to be approximated. Likewise, $\Sigma(\theta)$ is generally unknown for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and will therefore also have to be approximated. Both these approximations introduce errors, and the composition of these errors in $\Sigma(\theta(x))$ is inconvenient to analyze. Abernethy and Hazan [1, Appendix D] therefore propose to use the Hessian at

$$z(\eta) \coloneqq \underset{x \in \text{dom} f^*}{\arg\min} f^*_{\eta}(x) = \underset{x \in \text{dom} f^*}{\arg\min} \{ \eta \langle c, x \rangle + f^*(x) \},$$

the minimizer of f_{η}^* . Since this minimizer satisfies $0 = \eta c + g^*(z(\eta))$, Theorem 2.12 shows

$$z(\eta) = g(-\eta c) = x(-\eta c). \tag{3.4}$$

Then, the following step could be used instead of (3.3):

$$-H^{*}(z(\eta))^{-1}[\eta c + g^{*}(x)] = -H(-\eta c)[\eta c + g^{*}(x)]$$

= $-\Sigma(-\eta c)[\eta c + \theta(x)].$ (3.5)

In this case, the parameter of the Boltzmann distribution for which we need to approximate the covariance is known exactly.

In the remainder of this chapter, we will show that the step (3.5) can be used in a short-step method that converges in polynomial time. However, we will not (necessarily) take the full step (3.5). Instead, we will scale the step (3.5) by a damping parameter $\gamma \in [\frac{4}{5}, 1]$ to

$$-\gamma H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}[\eta c + g^*(x)] = -\gamma \Sigma(-\eta c)[\eta c + \theta(x)], \qquad (3.6)$$

and prove that the method still works. The reason is again due to the particular properties of the entropic barrier. Because in reality we cannot compute the gradient or Hessian of the entropic barrier exactly, they will only be known up to some error. De Klerk et al. [35] analyze the performance of the step (3.6) for a particular γ when the Hessian and gradient contain errors. Our purpose is to analyze the step (3.6) if it is known exactly. This will bridge the gap between [35] and a classical short-step method that would use (3.3). As we will see, using (3.6) instead of (3.3) does not make solving the problem (3.2) significantly harder.

The short-step interior point method we will analyze is given in Algorithm 3.1. Note that we assume to know a starting point near the analytic curve $\{z(\eta) : \eta > 0\}$, which is known as the *central path*. Given any point in the interior of S, such a starting point can be computed using a short-step method similar to Algorithm 3.1, see Renegar [95, pages 47-48].

Algorithm 3.1 A simple short-step algorithm using the entropic barrier f^*			
Input:	entropic barrier f^* over a convex body $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$;		
	objective $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$;		
	optimality tolerance $\varepsilon > 0$;		
	$\eta_0 > 0$ and $x_0 \in \operatorname{int} S$ such that $\ x_0 - z(\eta_0)\ _{z(\eta_0)}^* \le \frac{1}{6}$.		
Output:	$x_k \in S$ such that $\langle c, x_k \rangle \le \min_{x \in S} \langle c, x \rangle + \varepsilon$.		
1: $k \leftarrow 0$			
2: while	$e \frac{7}{6} \vartheta_{f^*} / \eta_k > \varepsilon \operatorname{do}$		
3: η_k	$ \boldsymbol{\kappa}_{t+1} \leftarrow \eta_0 (1 + 1/(16\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}))^{k+1} $		
4: Pie	ck a $\gamma_k \in \left[\frac{4}{5}, 1\right]$		
5: <i>x</i> _k	$x_{k+1} \leftarrow x_k - \gamma_k H^*(z(\eta_{k+1}))^{-1}[\eta_{k+1}c + g^*(x_k)]$		
6: k •	$\leftarrow k + 1$		
7: return x _k			

3.4 Analysis of a Simple Interior Point Method

One of the starting conditions for Algorithm 3.1 is $||x_0-z(\eta_0)||_{z(\eta_0)}^* \le \frac{1}{6}$. The bulk of our argument will be dedicated to proving $||x_k-z(\eta_k)||_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \frac{1}{6}$ for all iterations k. It will then follow that for sufficiently high k, the point x_k is near-optimal.

The following lemma, based on Renegar [95], will be central to the analysis of the distance to the central path.

Lemma 3.5 (Based on [95, Theorem 2.2.1]). Let f^* be a self-concordant functional. Then, for all $z \in \text{dom } f^*$, $y \in \mathfrak{B}_z(z, 1)$ and $\gamma \in (0, 1]$,

$$\left\|I - \gamma H_z^*(y)\right\|_z^* \le \frac{1}{\gamma(1 - \|y - z\|_z^*)^2} - 1.$$

Proof. Let $\lambda_1 \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_n$ denote the eigenvalues of $H_z^*(y)$ (with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_z^*$). Since the eigenvalues of $I - \gamma H_z^*(y)$ are $1 - \gamma \lambda_i$, where $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| I - \gamma H_{z}^{*}(y) \right\|_{z}^{*} &= \max\{\gamma \lambda_{n} - 1, 1 - \gamma \lambda_{1}\} \\ &\leq \max\{\gamma \lambda_{n} - 1, \frac{1}{\gamma \lambda_{1}} - 1\} \\ &= \max\{\gamma \| H_{z}^{*}(y) \|_{z}^{*} - 1, \frac{1}{\gamma} \| H_{z}^{*}(y)^{-1} \|_{z}^{*} - 1\}. \end{split}$$

The inequality follows from the fact that if $1 - \gamma \lambda_1 \ge \gamma \lambda_n - 1$, then we must have $2\gamma \lambda_1 \le \gamma (\lambda_1 + \lambda_n) \le 2$, and hence $\gamma \lambda_1 \le 1$. The result now follows from Equation (2.1) in Renegar [95].

We can now analyze the progress made to the next minimizer $z(\eta_{k+1})$ of $f_{\eta_{k+1}}^*$ by the step in Line 5 in Algorithm 3.1.

Lemma 3.6 (Based on [95, Theorems 1.6.2 and 2.2.3]). Let f^* be a self-concordant functional with minimizer z, and let $x \in \mathfrak{B}_z(z, 1)$. Define $x_+ = x - \gamma H^*(z)^{-1}g^*(x)$ for some $\gamma \in (0, 1]$. Then,

$$\|x_{+}-z\|_{z}^{*} \leq \|x-z\|_{z}^{*} \left[\frac{1}{\gamma(1-\|x-z\|_{z}^{*})}-1\right].$$

Proof. Since $g^*(z) = 0 = g_z^*(z)$,

$$\|x_{+} - z\|_{z}^{*} = \|x - z - \gamma g_{z}^{*}(x)\|_{z}^{*} = \|x - z - \gamma [g_{z}^{*}(x) - g_{z}^{*}(z)]\|_{z}^{*}$$

Using $H_z^*(z) = I$, it follows from the fundamental theorem of calculus (see e.g. Theorem 1.5.6 in Renegar [95]) that

$$\|x_{+} - z\|_{z}^{*} = \left\|x - z - \gamma \int_{0}^{1} H_{z}^{*}(z + t(x - z))[x - z] dt\right\|_{z}^{*}$$
$$= \left\|\int_{0}^{1} \left[I - \gamma H_{z}^{*}(z + t(x - z))\right][x - z] dt\right\|_{z}^{*}$$
$$\leq \|x - z\|_{z}^{*} \int_{0}^{1} \left\|I - \gamma H_{z}^{*}(z + t(x - z))\right\|_{z}^{*} dt.$$

We then invoke Lemma 3.5 to show that

$$\|x_{+}-z\|_{z}^{*} \leq \|x-z\|_{z}^{*} \int_{0}^{1} \left[\frac{1}{\gamma(1-t\|x-z\|_{z}^{*})^{2}} - 1\right] \mathrm{d}t,$$

which completes the proof.

Observe that if $\gamma = 1$ and $||x - z||_z^* < \frac{1}{2}$, then $||x_+ - z||_z^* < ||x - z||_z^*$, meaning that we get closer to the minimizer in the *z*-norm by taking the step from *x* to *x*₊.

We see that the step in Line 5 in Algorithm 3.1 can be used to approximate the minimizer $z(\eta_{k+1})$ of $f_{\eta_{k+1}}^*$, provided we start close enough to $z(\eta_{k+1})$. Since our running assumption is that we have an x_k close to $z(\eta_k)$, it suffices to bound the distance between $z(\eta_{k+1})$ and $z(\eta_k)$. The next result provides a way to relate the distance between $z(\eta_{k+1})$ and $z(\eta_k)$ to the distance between $-\eta_{k+1}c$ and $-\eta_kc$ (which we know about, since we control the difference between η_{k+1} and η_k). We first state the result in general terms, and then derive a corollary about the minimizers.

Proposition 3.7. Let f be a self-concordant functional, and let $x, y \in \text{dom } f^*$. If $||y - x||_x^* < 1$,

$$\|g^{*}(y) - g^{*}(x)\|_{g^{*}(x)} \le \frac{\|y - x\|_{x}^{*}}{1 - \|y - x\|_{x}^{*}}.$$
(3.7)

Similarly, if $||g^*(y) - g^*(x)||_{g^*(x)} < 1$,

$$\|y - x\|_{x}^{*} \leq \frac{\|g^{*}(y) - g^{*}(x)\|_{g^{*}(x)}}{1 - \|g^{*}(y) - g^{*}(x)\|_{g^{*}(x)}}.$$
(3.8)

Proof. Assuming $||y - x||_x^* < 1$, we will show (3.7). By Theorem 2.12,

$$\|g^{*}(y) - g^{*}(x)\|_{g^{*}(x)} = \|g^{*}(y) - g^{*}(x)\|_{H^{*}(x)^{-1}} = \|g^{*}_{x}(y) - g^{*}_{x}(x)\|_{x}^{*}$$

Since f is self-concordant, f^* is also self-concordant by Theorem 2.13. We can therefore invoke the fundamental theorem of calculus (see e.g. Theorem 1.5.6 in

 \square

Renegar [95]) and Theorem 2.2.1 from Renegar [95] to show

$$\begin{split} \|g^*(y) - g^*(x)\|_{g^*(x)} &= \|g^*_x(y) - g^*_x(x)\|_x^* \\ &= \left\| \int_0^1 H^*_x(x + t[y - x])[y - x] dt \right\|_x^* \\ &\leq \|y - x\|_x^* \int_0^1 \left\| H^*_x(x + t[y - x]) \right\|_x^* dt \\ &\leq \|y - x\|_x^* \int_0^1 \frac{1}{(1 - t\|y - x\|_x^*)^2} dt = \frac{\|y - x\|_x^*}{1 - \|y - x\|_x^*}, \end{split}$$

which proves (3.7). The relation (3.8) can be derived in the same manner by interchanging *x* and $g^*(x)$, *y* and $g^*(y)$, and *f* and f^* .

As a consequence, the following can now be said about the distance between $z(\eta_{k+1})$ and $z(\eta_k)$.

Corollary 3.8. Let f^* be a self-concordant barrier, and fix $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $\eta > 0$ and $\eta_+ = (1 + \beta / \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})\eta$ for some $\beta \in [0, 1)$. Assume $z(\eta)$ and $z(\eta_+)$ are well defined. Then,

$$\|z(\eta_+) - z(\eta)\|_{z(\eta)}^* \le \frac{\beta}{1-\beta}$$

Proof. By (3.4) and Theorem 2.12, we have $g^*(z(\eta)) = -\eta c$ and $g^*(z(\eta_+)) = -\eta_+ c$. Hence, by (3.8),

$$\|z(\eta_{+}) - z(\eta)\|_{z(\eta)}^{*} \leq \frac{\|g^{*}(z(\eta_{+})) - g^{*}(z(\eta))\|_{g^{*}(z(\eta))}}{1 - \|g^{*}(z(\eta_{+})) - g^{*}(z(\eta))\|_{g^{*}(z(\eta))}} = \frac{\|(\eta_{+} - \eta)c\|_{-\eta c}}{1 - \|(\eta_{+} - \eta)c\|_{-\eta c}}$$

By our choice of η_+ and (3.1),

$$\|(\eta_{+}-\eta)c\|_{-\eta c} = \frac{\eta_{+}-\eta}{\eta}\|-\eta c\|_{-\eta c} = \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}}\|-\eta c\|_{-\eta c} \le \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}}\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}} = \beta, \quad (3.9)$$

which completes the proof.

Let us combine Lemma 3.6 and Corollary 3.8 to show that the distance to the central path remains below $\frac{1}{6}$ after taking the step in Line 5 of Algorithm 3.1.

Lemma 3.9. Let f^* be a self-concordant barrier, and fix $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $\eta > 0$ and $\eta_+ = (1 + \beta / \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})\eta$ for $\beta = \frac{1}{16}$. Assume $z(\eta)$ and $z(\eta_+)$ are well defined. Let $x \in \text{dom } f^*$ such that $||x - z(\eta)||_{z(\eta)}^* \le \delta = \frac{1}{6}$, and define

$$x_+ \coloneqq x - \gamma H^*(z(\eta_+))^{-1}[\eta_+ c + g^*(x)],$$

where $\gamma \in [\frac{4}{5}, 1]$. Then,

$$||x_+ - z(\eta_+)||_{z(\eta_+)}^* \le \delta.$$

Proof. Since $\beta < \frac{1}{2}$, Corollary 3.8 shows $||z(\eta) - z(\eta_+)||_{z(\eta)}^* < 1$. Application of self-concordance (2.1) thus shows

$$\begin{aligned} \|x - z(\eta_{+})\|_{z(\eta_{+})}^{*} &\leq \frac{\|x - z(\eta_{+})\|_{z(\eta)}^{*}}{1 - \|z(\eta) - z(\eta_{+})\|_{z(\eta)}^{*}} \\ &\leq \frac{\|x - z(\eta)\|_{z(\eta)}^{*} + \|z(\eta) - z(\eta_{+})\|_{z(\eta)}^{*}}{1 - \|z(\eta) - z(\eta_{+})\|_{z(\eta)}^{*}} \\ &\leq \frac{\delta + \beta/(1 - \beta)}{1 - \beta/(1 - \beta)} = \frac{1}{4}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, Lemma 3.6 shows

$$\begin{split} \|x_{+} - z(\eta_{+})\|_{z(\eta_{+})}^{*} &\leq \|x - z(\eta_{+})\|_{z(\eta_{+})}^{*} \left\lfloor \frac{1}{\gamma(1 - \|x - z(\eta_{+})\|_{z(\eta_{+})}^{*})} - 1 \right\rfloor \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4} \left[\frac{1}{\gamma(1 - \frac{1}{4})} - 1 \right] \leq \frac{1}{6} = \delta, \end{split}$$

where the final inequality holds for all $\gamma \geq \frac{4}{5}$.

Algorithm 3.1 thus stays close to the central path. The main thing left to show is that following the central path eventually yields a near-optimal solution. As the following result from Renegar [95] demonstrates, this will be the case for sufficiently large values of η .

Lemma 3.10 ([95, pages 44-45]). Let f^* be a self-concordant barrier, and fix $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $\eta > 0$, and assume $z(\eta)$ is well defined. Let $x \in \text{dom } f^*$ such that $||x - z(\eta)||_{z(\eta)}^* \leq \delta$ for some $\delta \geq 0$. Then,

$$\langle c, x \rangle \leq \operatorname{val} + \frac{(1+\delta)\vartheta_{f^*}}{\eta},$$

where val := $\min_{x \in S} \langle c, x \rangle$.

Proof. We have $g^*(z(\eta)) = -\eta c$, and therefore Theorem 2.8 shows that for all $y \in \text{dom } f^*$,

$$\langle c, z(\eta) \rangle - \langle c, y \rangle = \frac{\langle g^*(z(\eta)), y - z(\eta) \rangle}{\eta} < \frac{\vartheta_{f^*}}{\eta}.$$

Consequently,

$$\langle c, z(\eta) \rangle \le \operatorname{val} + \vartheta_{f^*} / \eta.$$
 (3.10)

For a point $x \in \text{dom } f^*$ such that $||x-z(\eta)||_{z(\eta)}^* \leq \delta$, we therefore have by Cauchy-Schwarz,

$$\langle c, x \rangle \leq \langle c, z(\eta) \rangle + \langle H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}c, x - z(\eta) \rangle_{z(\eta)}^*$$

$$\leq \operatorname{val} + \frac{\vartheta_{f^*}}{\eta} + \delta \| H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}c \|_{z(\eta)}^*.$$
 (3.11)

To bound $||H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}c||_{z(\eta)}^*$, note that for any $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $0 \le t < 1/||v||_{z(\eta)}^*$, it holds that $z(\eta) - tv \in \text{dom } f^*$. Hence, val $\le \langle c, z(\eta) \rangle - \langle c, v \rangle / ||v||_{z(\eta)}^*$. For $v = H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}c$, this inequality shows

$$\langle c, z(\eta) \rangle - \operatorname{val} \geq \frac{\langle c, \nu \rangle}{\|\nu\|_{z(\eta)}^*} = \frac{\langle c, H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}c \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle c, H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}c \rangle}} = \|H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}c\|_{z(\eta)}^*.$$

Combined with (3.11) and (3.10), the above shows that for all $x \in \text{dom } f^*$ such that $||x - z(\eta)||_{z(\eta)}^* \leq \delta$,

$$\langle c, x \rangle \leq \operatorname{val} + \frac{\vartheta_{f^*}}{\eta} + \delta(\langle c, z(\eta) \rangle - \operatorname{val}) \leq \operatorname{val} + \frac{(1+\delta)\vartheta_{f^*}}{\eta}.$$

We end this section by proving that $O(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}\log(\vartheta_{f^*}/\varepsilon))$ steps suffice for Algorithm 3.1 to reach an ε -optimal solution. The analysis largely follows Renegar [95].

Proposition 3.11 ([95, pages 45-47]). After

$$k \le 17\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}} \log\left(\frac{7\vartheta_{f^*}}{6\varepsilon\eta_0}\right) + 1 = O\left(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}} \log\left(\frac{\vartheta_{f^*}}{\varepsilon\eta_0}\right)\right)$$
(3.12)

iterations, Algorithm 3.1 will return a solution $x_k \in S$ *with* $\langle c, x_k \rangle \leq \text{val} + \varepsilon$ *, where* $\text{val} := \min_{x \in S} \langle c, x \rangle$.

Proof. Repeated application of Lemma 3.9 shows that $||x_k - z(\eta_k)||_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \frac{1}{6}$ for all iterations k of Algorithm 3.1. By Lemma 3.10, the proof will be completed by showing that the number of iterations k before $\frac{7}{6}\vartheta_{f^*}/\eta_k \le \varepsilon$ satisfies (3.12). In other words, we are looking for the smallest solution k to

$$\frac{7\vartheta_{f^*}}{6\varepsilon} \leq \eta_0 \left(1 + \frac{1}{16\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}}\right)^k.$$

The smallest k that satisfies this inequality is

$$k = \left| \frac{\log\left(\frac{7\vartheta_{f^*}}{6\varepsilon\eta_0}\right)}{\log\left(1 + \frac{1}{16\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}}\right)} \right| \le 17\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}\log\left(\frac{7\vartheta_{f^*}}{6\varepsilon\eta_0}\right) + 1,$$

where the inequality uses $\vartheta_{f^*} \ge 1$.

Let us briefly summarize this chapter. Due to the properties of the entropic barrier outlined in Section 3.1, we argued in Section 3.3 that a short-step method using this barrier and the standard Newton step would be inconvenient to analyze. Instead, we proposed Algorithm 3.1, where the main difference with a textbook short-step method is the step in Line 5. However, as we saw above, the worst-case complexity for Algorithm 3.1 is the same as for traditional short-step methods, see e.g. Renegar [95, page 47]. In this sense, the entropic barrier does not yet present any difficulties that lead to a worse complexity for a short-step method.

Of course, there is one problem we sidestepped in this chapter: we generally do not have access to the derivatives of the entropic barrier, and they will have to be approximated by sampling. This is the topic of the next few chapters. In Chapter 4, we will introduce the sampling technique of our choice: hit-and-run sampling. Chapter 5 shows how this sampling technique can be used to approximate the mean and covariance matrix of a Boltzmann distribution to a desired accuracy. These tools are used in Chapter 6 to analyze a short-step method using the entropic barrier where the derivatives are approximated using hit-and-run sampling.

Hit-and-Run Sampling

As we saw in the last chapter, the gradient and Hessian of the entropic barrier have a stochastic interpretation. If we want to use this barrier in practice, we will need to find a way to (approximately) compute its gradient and Hessian. Since these derivatives are not known in closed form for general domains S, the most promising approach is sampling. We therefore want to generate samples from some Boltzmann distribution over a convex body S with a given parameter $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

In this chapter, we explore how this can be done with a technique called hitand-run sampling, to be defined in Section 4.1. In order to analyze this procedure, we collect some background material from probability and measure theory in Section 4.2. The chapter concludes in Section 4.3 with an analysis of the *mixing time* for hit-and-run applied to the Boltzmann distribution. In other words, we will investigate how many hit-and-run steps are necessary to find a point that approximately follows the desired Boltzmann distribution.

The chapter largely follows Sections 2.3 and 4 from Badenbroek and De Klerk [8]. Lemma 4.10 and Corollary 4.13 replace [8, Lemmas 4.4 and 4.6], leading to

a simpler statement of Theorem 4.14.

4.1 Hit-and-Run and its Implementation

The procedure we will use to generate samples is called *hit-and-run* sampling. This random walk was introduced for the uniform distribution by Smith [102] and later generalized to absolutely continuous distributions (see for example Bélisle et al. [11]). It was shown by Lovász [70] that, after preprocessing, hit-and-run sampling can generate an approximately uniformly distributed point from $O^*(n^3)$ membership oracle calls, where O^* suppresses polylogarithmic terms in the problem parameters. Lovász and Vempala [72] later showed that hit-and-run sampling can also be used to generate a point that approximately follows a Boltzmann distribution, while using $O^*(n^3)$ oracle calls after preprocessing. The mixing time for hit-and-run sampling is attractive compared to alternatives such as the ball walk, as argued in the survey by Vempala [107]. We will use the version of hit-and-run sampling in Algorithm 4.1, based on Lovász and Vempala [71].

This procedure samples a random direction D_i from a normal distribution $\mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$ with mean 0 and covariance matrix Σ (we will see some good choices of Σ later). The next iterate X_i is then sampled from the desired distribution restricted to the line through X_{i-1} in the direction D_i , intersected with S. Effectively, this reduces a high-dimensional sampling problem to a sequence of one-dimensional sampling problems.

We continue with some comments on the implementation of Algorithm 4.1. If S is a set which is easy to work with, such as a polyhedron, Line 5 may be implemented in closed form. For general sets for which only a membership oracle is known, one can use the bisection method to efficiently approximate the end points of the line segment. If we are using hit-and-run sampling to solve an optimization problem over S, the tolerance in this approximation could be a fraction of the optimality tolerance. Thus, the number of calls to the membership oracle by Algorithm 4.1 would be $O^*(\ell)$. After compensating the optimality tolerance for the inaccuracy in the end points of the line segments, we are (in the worst case) in the setting where we can compute the end point of the line segments exactly. To prevent such trivial complications, we will assume that the end points of the

Algorithm 4.1 The hit-and-	run sampling procedure
----------------------------	------------------------

Input: convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$;	
--	--

function $\phi : S \to \mathbb{R}_+$ proportional to the probability density with respect to the Lebesgue measure of the distribution to sample from (i.e. the target distribution);

covariance matrix $\Sigma \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$;

starting point $x \in S$;

number of hit-and-run steps ℓ .

Output: X_{ℓ} following a distribution close to the distribution induced by ϕ .

- 1: $X_0 \leftarrow x$
- 2: Sample directions $D_1, ..., D_\ell$ i.i.d. from a $\mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$ -distribution
- 3: Sample $P_1, ..., P_\ell$ i.i.d. from a uniform distribution over [0, 1], independent from $D_1, ..., D_\ell$
- 4: for $i \in \{1, ..., \ell\}$ do
- 5: Determine end points Y_i and Z_i of the line segment $S \cap \{X_{i-1} + tD_i : t \in \mathbb{R}\}$
- 6: Find $s \in [0, 1]$ such that $\int_0^s \phi(Y_i + t(Z_i Y_i)) dt = P_i \int_0^1 \phi(Y_i + t(Z_i Y_i)) dt$

7:
$$X_i \leftarrow Y_i + s(Z_i - Y_i)$$

8: return X_{ℓ}

line segments can be computed exactly, and that Algorithm 4.1 always uses $O^*(\ell)$ oracle calls.

For the sake of completeness, let us illustrate how Line 6 in Algorithm 4.1 could be implemented if the target distribution were a Boltzmann distribution over S with parameter $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$. In other words, we are looking for the $s \in [0, 1]$ such that

$$\int_0^s e^{\langle \theta, Y_i + t(Z_i - Y_i) \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}t = P_i \int_0^1 e^{\langle \theta, Y_i + t(Z_i - Y_i) \rangle} \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

This condition can equivalently be written as

$$\frac{e^{\langle \theta, Y_i + s(Z_i - Y_i) \rangle} - e^{\langle \theta, Y_i \rangle}}{\langle \theta, Z_i - Y_i \rangle} = P_i \frac{e^{\langle \theta, Z_i \rangle} - e^{\langle \theta, Y_i \rangle}}{\langle \theta, Z_i - Y_i \rangle},$$

which has solution

$$s = \frac{\log((1-P_i)e^{\langle \theta, Y_i \rangle} + P_i e^{\langle \theta, Z_i \rangle}) - \langle \theta, Y_i \rangle}{\langle \theta, Z_i - Y_i \rangle}$$

4.2 Divergence of Probability Distributions and Log-Concavity

To analyze the mixing time of hit-and-run applied to a Boltzmann distribution, we need some more theory. We want to define Radon-Nikodym derivatives, a generalization of probability density functions. Such a derivative is guaranteed to exist under two conditions: absolute continuity and σ -finiteness. We first define absolute continuity.

Definition 4.1. Let (S, \mathcal{F}) be a measurable space, and let φ and ψ be measures on this space. Then, φ is *absolutely continuous* with respect to ψ if $\psi(A) = 0$ implies $\varphi(A) = 0$ for all $A \in \mathcal{F}$. We write this property as $\varphi \ll \psi$.

Next, we call a positive measure φ on the measurable space $(S, \mathcal{F}) \sigma$ -finite if S can be covered by countably many measurable sets with finite measure. In particular, if $\varphi(S)$ is finite, it is σ -finite by definition.

With these two concepts defined, we can state the Radon-Nikodym theorem, which provides conditions under which the Radon-Nikodym derivatives exist. Although it was originally proven on general measurable spaces by Nikodym [91, Theorem IV], we cite the version from Billingsley [15].

Theorem 4.2 ([15, Theorem 32.2]). Let (S, \mathcal{F}) be a measurable space, and let φ and ψ be positive, σ -finite measures on (S, \mathcal{F}) such that $\varphi \ll \psi$. Then, there exists a measurable function $\phi : S \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that for all $A \in \mathcal{F}$,

$$\varphi(A) = \int_A \phi \, \mathrm{d}\psi.$$

Such a function ϕ is called a Radon-Nikodym derivative of φ with respect to ψ , and is denoted by $d\varphi/d\psi$ or $\frac{d\varphi}{d\psi}$.

Note that if one lets $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ and ψ be the Lebesgue measure in the theorem above, then the Radon-Nikodym derivative of a probability measure φ is simply the familiar probability density function.

One reason for introducing the Radon-Nikodym derivative is that it is used in our first measure of divergence between probability distributions: the L_2 -norm.

Definition 4.3. Let (S, \mathcal{F}) be a measurable space. Let φ and ψ be two probability distributions over this space, such that $\varphi \ll \psi$. Then, the L_2 -norm of φ with respect to ψ is

$$\|\varphi/\psi\| \coloneqq \int_{\mathcal{S}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi}{\mathrm{d}\psi} \,\mathrm{d}\varphi = \int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi}{\mathrm{d}\psi}\right)^2 \mathrm{d}\psi.$$

To provide some more insight into this definition, we remark that if $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and φ and ψ have probability densities ϕ_{φ} and ϕ_{ψ} , respectively, with respect to the Lebesgue measure, it can be shown that

$$\|\varphi/\psi\| = \int_{\mathcal{S}} \frac{\phi_{\varphi}(x)}{\phi_{\psi}(x)} \phi_{\varphi}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

The second way in which we will measure distance between probability distributions is by total variation distance.

Definition 4.4. Let (S, \mathcal{F}) be a measurable space. For two probability distributions φ and ψ over this space, their *total variation distance* is

$$\|\varphi - \psi\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \coloneqq \sup_{A \in \mathcal{F}} |\varphi(A) - \psi(A)|$$

A useful property of the total variation distance is that it allows coupling of random variables, as the following lemma from Levin et al. [68] asserts.

Lemma 4.5 (e.g. [68, Proposition 4.7]). Let *X* be a random variable on *S* with distribution φ , and let ψ be a different probability distribution on *S*. If $\|\varphi - \psi\|_{TV} = p$, we can construct another random variable *Y* on *S* distributed according to ψ such that $\mathbb{P}\{X = Y\} = 1 - p$.

Another reason to introduce Radon-Nikodym derivatives is that they admit a convenient interpretation of log-concave measures. We will use the definition from Saumard and Wellner [98], which defines such measures on (\mathbb{R}^n , \mathcal{B}^n), where \mathcal{B}^n is the Borel σ -algebra.

Definition 4.6 ([98, Definitions 2.1 and 2.4, Theorem 2.7]). A positive measure φ on $(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathcal{B}^n)$ is *log-concave* if for all $A, B \in \mathcal{B}^n$ and $t \in (0, 1)$,

$$\varphi(tA + (1-t)B) \ge \varphi(A)^t \varphi(B)^{1-t}, \tag{4.1}$$

where $tA + (1 - t)B := \{tx + (1 - t)y : x \in A, y \in B\}$. Moreover, a function $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is *log-concave* if for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $t \in (0, 1)$,

$$\phi(tx+(1-t)y) \ge \phi(x)^t \phi(y)^{1-t}.$$

(In other words, if the function ϕ is strictly positive, then it is log-concave if and only if $x \mapsto \log(\phi(x))$ is concave.)

The definition (4.1) of a log-concave probability distribution does not immediately offer a lot of intuition. It is thus convenient to note that log-concave probability distributions have a log-concave probability density function, and vice versa. Formally, a probability measure on $(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathcal{B}^n)$ with full-dimensional support is logconcave if and only if it admits a log-concave Radon-Nikodym derivative with respect to the Lebesgue measure (see Saumard and Wellner [98, Theorem 2.7]). In particular, any Boltzmann distribution over a convex body is log-concave. As a matter of fact, Boltzmann distributions lie at the boundary of all log-concave distributions, since the logarithm of their densities is linear.

A considerable body of literature surrounds log-concave probability distributions, a small part of which we will use. For instance, as we will see later, the tails of log-concave distributions contain relatively little probability mass. Another property is that the level sets of log-concave probability density functions are convex (see e.g. Section 3.5 in Boyd and Vandenberghe [19]). Let us define these sets for general probability density functions.

Definition 4.7. Let $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a probability density function supported on $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. Then, the *level set* of (the distribution with density) ϕ with probability $p \in (0, 1)$ is $\{x \in S : \phi(x) \ge t_p\}$, where t_p is chosen such that the integral of ϕ over this set equals p.

4.3 Mixing Time

With these preliminaries established, we can start our analysis of the mixing time of hit-and-run. To approximate the derivatives of the entropic barrier, we should be able to generate samples from a Boltzmann distribution with parameter $\theta_1 \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Because we are interested in a short-step interior point method, we may

assume that we already have reasonable approximations of $\Sigma(\theta_0)$ for some θ_0 close to θ_1 (this section will use the notation summarized in Table 3.1 on page 32.). Our goal for this section is to find a walk length ℓ such that after ℓ steps, the hit-and-run sample approximately follows the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 .

The following theorem from Lovász and Vempala [71] is the starting point of our analysis. We use $\mathbb{E}_{\psi}[\phi(X)]$ to refer to the expectation of $\phi(X)$, where *X* follows the distribution ψ .

Theorem 4.8 ([71, Theorem 1.1]). Let ψ be a log-concave probability distribution supported on a convex body $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and let p > 0. Consider a hit-and-run random walk as in Algorithm 4.1 with respect to the target distribution ψ from a random starting point with distribution φ supported on S. Assume that the following holds:

(i) the level set of ψ with probability $\frac{1}{8}$ contains a ball of radius v with respect to $\|\cdot\|$;

(ii)
$$\frac{d\varphi}{d\psi}(x) \leq \overline{M}$$
 for all $x \in S \setminus A$ for some set $A \subseteq S$ with $\varphi(A) \leq p$;

(iii)
$$\mathbb{E}_{\psi}[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\psi}[X]\|^2] \leq \Upsilon^2$$
.

Let φ^{ℓ} be the distribution of the current hit-and-run point after ℓ steps of hit-and-run sampling applied to ψ , where the directions are chosen from a $\mathcal{N}(0, I)$ -distribution. Then, after

$$\ell = \left\lceil 10^{30} \frac{n^2 \Upsilon^2}{v^2} \log^2 \left(\frac{2\bar{M}n\Upsilon}{vp} \right) \log^3 \left(\frac{2\bar{M}}{p} \right) \right\rceil,$$

hit-and-run steps, we have $\|\varphi^{\ell} - \psi\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \leq p$.

Suppose that rather than (ii), we know $\|\varphi/\psi\| \le M$, i.e. $\int_{\mathcal{S}} \frac{d\varphi}{d\psi}(x) d\varphi(x) \le M$. If $A = \{x \in \mathcal{S} : \frac{d\varphi}{d\psi}(x) > M/p\}$, then

$$M \ge \int_{A} \frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi}{\mathrm{d}\psi}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\varphi(x) \ge \frac{M}{p}\varphi(A),$$

and thus we have $\varphi(A) \leq p$. (This construction was also applied by Lovász and Vempala [72, page 10].) We can therefore set $\overline{M} = M/p$ in the theorem. If one additionally applies a transformation $x \mapsto \Sigma^{-1/2} x$ to S for some invertible matrix Σ before Theorem 4.8 is applied, we arrive at the following corollary.

Corollary 4.9 ([8, Corollary 4.2]). Let ψ be a log-concave probability distribution supported on a convex body $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and let p > 0. Consider a hit-and-run random walk as in Algorithm 4.1 with respect to the target distribution ψ from a random starting point with distribution φ supported on S. Assume that the following holds for some invertible matrix Σ :

- (i) the level set of ψ with probability $\frac{1}{8}$ contains a ball of radius v with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}$;
- (ii) $\|\varphi/\psi\| \leq M$;
- (iii) $\mathbb{E}_{\psi}\left[\|X \mathbb{E}_{\psi}[X]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}^2\right] \leq \Upsilon^2.$

Let φ^{ℓ} be the distribution of the hit-and-run point after ℓ steps of hit-and-run sampling applied to ψ , where the directions are drawn from a $\mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$ -distribution. Then, after

$$\ell = \left\lceil 10^{30} \frac{n^2 \Upsilon^2}{v^2} \log^2 \left(\frac{2Mn\Upsilon}{vp^2} \right) \log^3 \left(\frac{2M}{p^2} \right) \right\rceil,\tag{4.2}$$

hit-and-run steps, we have $\|\varphi^{\ell} - \psi\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \leq p$.

In the remainder of this section, we aim to show that the conditions of Corollary 4.9 are satisfied if φ and ψ are Boltzmann distributions with parameters θ_0 and θ_1 , respectively, such that $\|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0}$ is sufficiently small. Note that Kalai and Vempala [56] only show these conditions to be satisfied if θ_0 and θ_1 are collinear. In studying interior point methods, we are also interested in (small) deviations from the central path, so it is important to know that the mixing conditions can be shown to hold for these cases. We remind the reader that it was shown in Proposition 3.3(iv) that the log-partition function is self-concordant, a fact that will be used frequently below. In fact, one might say that this self-concordance alone implies the conditions of Corollary 4.9 holding for Boltzmann distributions.

We begin with Condition (i) from Corollary 4.9. It is different from [8, Lemma 4.4] in that it does not use the $\|\cdot\|_{x(\theta)}^*$ -norm. This will simplify the statement of Theorem 4.14.

Lemma 4.10. Let f be the log-partition function associated with a convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $q \in (0, 1)$ and $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0} < 1$. Let $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$
be the density of the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 over S. Let L be the level set of ϕ with probability q. Then, L contains a closed $\|\cdot\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}$ -ball with radius

$$\frac{q}{e} \left(1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0} \right).$$

Proof. It follows from Lemma 5.13 in Lovász and Vempala [74] that *L* contains a $\|\cdot\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}}$ -ball with radius q/e. In other words, there exists some $z \in L$ such that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\|y - z\|_{\theta_1}^{-1} \leq q/e$ it holds that $y \in L$. Thus, for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\|y - z\|_{\theta_0}^{-1} \leq (1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})q/e$, (2.5) shows

$$\|y-z\|_{\theta_1}^{-1} \leq \frac{\|y-z\|_{\theta_0}^{-1}}{1-\|\theta_1-\theta_0\|_{\theta_0}} \leq \frac{q}{e},$$

which proves that all such *y* lie in *L*.

Next, we prove upper and lower bounds on the L_2 norm of two Boltzmann distributions. This corresponds to Condition (ii) in Corollary 4.9.

Lemma 4.11 ([8, Lemma 4.5]). Let f be the log-partition function associated with a convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Let φ_0 and φ_1 be Boltzmann distributions supported on Swith parameters θ_0 and θ_1 respectively. Then, if $\|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0} < 1$,

$$\|\varphi_0/\varphi_1\| \leq \frac{\exp(-2\|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})}{(1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})^2}.$$

Proof. For ease of notation, let $\theta \coloneqq \theta_0$ and $u \coloneqq \theta_1 - \theta_0$. By definition,

$$\|\varphi_{0}/\varphi_{1}\| = \mathbb{E}_{\theta_{0}}\left[\frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi_{0}}{\mathrm{d}\varphi_{1}}(X)\right] = \int_{\mathcal{S}} \frac{e^{\langle 2\theta, x \rangle}}{e^{\langle \theta+u, x \rangle}} \,\mathrm{d}x \frac{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta+u, x \rangle} \,\mathrm{d}x}{\left(\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \,\mathrm{d}x\right)^{2}} \\ = \frac{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta-u, x \rangle} \,\mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta-u, x \rangle} \,\mathrm{d}x} \frac{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta+u, x \rangle} \,\mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{\langle \theta, x \rangle} \,\mathrm{d}x}.$$
(4.3)

The key observation is that the natural logarithm of (4.3) equals

$$f(\theta + u) - f(\theta) + f(\theta - u) - f(\theta)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \langle g(\theta + tu), u \rangle dt - \int_{0}^{1} \langle g(\theta - tu), u \rangle dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \left\langle g(\theta) + \int_{0}^{1} H(\theta + stu)(tu) ds, u \right\rangle dt$$

$$- \int_{0}^{1} \left\langle g(\theta) + \int_{0}^{1} H(\theta - stu)(-tu) ds, u \right\rangle dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} t \int_{0}^{1} \langle H(\theta + stu)u, u \rangle ds dt + \int_{0}^{1} t \int_{0}^{1} \langle H(\theta - stu)u, u \rangle ds dt, \quad (4.4)$$

where we used the fundamental theorem of calculus twice. By the second inequality in (2.1),

$$\langle H(\theta + stu)u, u \rangle = \|u\|_{\theta + stu}^2 \le \frac{\|u\|_{\theta}^2}{(1 - st\|u\|_{\theta})^2},$$

and the same upper bound holds for $\langle H(\theta - stu)u, u \rangle$. Then, (4.4) can be bounded above by

$$2\int_0^1 t \int_0^1 \frac{\|u\|_{\theta}^2}{(1-st\|u\|_{\theta})^2} \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t = -2[\|u\|_{\theta} + \ln(1-\|u\|_{\theta})],$$

which is nonnegative for $0 \le ||u||_{\theta} < 1$. Since (4.4) is the natural logarithm of (4.3),

$$\|\varphi_0/\varphi_1\| \le \exp(-2[\|u\|_{\theta} + \ln(1 - \|u\|_{\theta})]) = \frac{\exp(-2\|u\|_{\theta})}{(1 - \|u\|_{\theta})^2}.$$

The bound in this lemma are more general than the ones used in Kalai and Vempala [56, Lemma 4.4]. They consider the case where $\theta_1 = (1 + t)\theta_0$ for some $t \in (-1, 1)$. By using the log-concavity of the Boltzmann distribution, they show

$$\|\varphi_0/\varphi_1\| \le \frac{1}{(1+t)^n (1-t)^n},\tag{4.5}$$

where φ_0 and φ_1 are Boltzmann distributions with parameters θ_0 and θ_1 , respectively. This bound may outperform Lemma 4.11, but that comes at the cost of generality.

Finally, we show that Condition (iii) in Corollary 4.9 holds. The first step is computing the expression $\mathbb{E}[||X - \mathbb{E}[X]||_{\Sigma^{-1}}^2]$ for random variables *X* with covariance Σ . (We state this result separately because we will refer to it later.)

Lemma 4.12. Let X be a random variable in \mathbb{R}^n with covariance operator Σ , i.e. $\Sigma[v, w] = \mathbb{E}[\langle X - \mathbb{E}[X], v \rangle \langle X - \mathbb{E}[X], w \rangle]$ for all $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|X - \mathbb{E}[X]\right\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}^2\right] = n.$$

Proof. Since Σ is a positive definite linear operator, it has a spectral decomposition given by an orthonormal basis $v_1, ..., v_n \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and positive reals $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n$ such that

$$\Sigma w = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \langle v_i, w \rangle v_i$$
 and $\Sigma^{-1} w = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\lambda_i} \langle v_i, w \rangle v_i$

for all $w \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Consequently,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E} \Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}[X]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}^2 \Big] &= \mathbb{E} \Big[\langle X - \mathbb{E}[X], \Sigma^{-1}[X - \mathbb{E}[X]] \rangle \Big] \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{\lambda_i} \mathbb{E} \Big[\langle X - \mathbb{E}[X], \nu_i \rangle^2 \Big] = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{\lambda_i} \Sigma[\nu_i, \nu_i]. \end{split}$$

The proof is completed by noting that $\Sigma[v_i, v_i] = \lambda_i$ for all *i*.

Condition (iii) in Corollary 4.9 can now be satisfied by an application of selfconcordance. The following is more general than [8, Lemma 4.6], since it does not assume the reference inner product is Euclidean.

Corollary 4.13. Let f be the log-partition function associated with a convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. For all $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0} < 1$,

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta_1} \Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1} [X] \|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}^2 \Big] \le \frac{n}{(1 - \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0})^2}.$$

Proof. By (2.4), $\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1} \preceq (1 - \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0})^{-2} \Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}$, showing

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta_1}\Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1}[X]\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}^2\Big] \le \frac{1}{(1 - \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0})^2} \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1}\Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1}[X]\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}}^2\Big].$$

The claim thus follows from Lemma 4.12.

It is interesting to compare the upper bound in Corollary 4.13 with the one Kalai and Vempala [56] arrive at through a near-isotropy argument. It is shown by [56, Lemmas 4.2 and 4.3] that

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta_{1}}\Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_{1}}[X]\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{0})^{-1}}^{2}\Big] \leq 16n \|\varphi_{1}/\varphi_{0}\| \max_{\nu \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\mathbb{E}_{\theta_{0}}\Big[\langle \nu, X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_{0}}[X]\rangle_{\Sigma(\theta_{0})^{-1}}^{2}\Big]}{\|\nu\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{0})^{-1}}^{2}},$$
(4.6)

where μ_0 and μ_1 are Boltzmann distributions with parameters θ_0 and θ_1 , respectively. Observe that for all $\nu \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\frac{\mathbb{E}_{\theta_0}\left[\langle \Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}\nu, X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_0}[X]\rangle^2\right]}{\|\nu\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}^2} = \frac{\langle \Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}\nu, \Sigma(\theta_0)\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}\nu\rangle}{\|\nu\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}^2} = 1,$$

and therefore the right hand side of (4.6) is just $16n \|\varphi_1/\varphi_0\|$. If we upper bound this norm by Lemma 4.11, we find

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta_1} \Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1} [X] \|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}^2 \Big] \le \frac{16n \exp(-2\|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_1})}{(1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_1})^2}.$$
(4.7)

By the second inequality in (2.1), we have

$$\frac{n}{(1-\|\theta_0-\theta_1\|_{\theta_0})^2} \leq \frac{n}{\left(1-\frac{\|\theta_0-\theta_1\|_{\theta_1}}{1-\|\theta_0-\theta_1\|_{\theta_1}}\right)^2} \leq \frac{16n\exp(-2\|\theta_1-\theta_0\|_{\theta_1})}{(1-\|\theta_1-\theta_0\|_{\theta_1})^2},$$

where the second inequality holds for $\|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_1} \le 0.438$. In this case, the bound in Corollary 4.13 is stronger than (4.7). Alternatively, if $\theta_0 = (1 + t)\theta_1$ for some $t \in (-1, 1)$, (4.5) shows that (4.6) can be bounded by

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta_1}\Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1}[X]\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}^2\Big] \le \frac{16n}{(1+t)^n (1-t)^n}.$$
(4.8)

Since (3.1) shows $\|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0} = t \|\theta_0\|_{\theta_0} \le t \sqrt{\vartheta}$, the upper bound from Corollary 4.13 is better than (4.8) as long as $t \sqrt{\vartheta} < 1$.

Let us now summarize the results from this section. Since Lemma 4.10 and Corollary 4.13 differ from the results in [8], the following theorem is also different from [8, Theorem 4.7]. **Theorem 4.14.** Let f be the log-partition function associated with a convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Suppose $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfy $\Delta \theta := \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0} < 1$. Pick $\epsilon \ge 0$ and p > 0, and suppose we have an invertible matrix $\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)$ such that

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1} \preceq \Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1} \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1}.$$
(4.9)

Consider a hit-and-run random walk as in Algorithm 4.1 applied to the Boltzmann distribution φ_1 with parameter θ_1 from a random starting point drawn from a Boltzmann distribution φ_0 with parameter θ_0 . Let φ^{ℓ} be the distribution of the hit-and-run point after ℓ steps of hit-and-run sampling applied to φ_1 , where the directions are drawn from a $\mathcal{N}(0, \widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0))$ -distribution. Then, after

$$\ell = \left\lceil 10^{30} \frac{64e^2 n^3 (1+\epsilon)^2}{(1-\Delta\theta)^4} \log^2 \left(\frac{16n\sqrt{n}\sqrt{1+\epsilon}e^{1-2\Delta\theta}}{p^2 (1-\Delta\theta)^4} \right) \log^3 \left(\frac{2e^{-2\Delta\theta}}{p^2 (1-\Delta\theta)^2} \right) \right\rceil$$
(4.10)

hit-and-run steps, we have $\|\varphi^{\ell} - \varphi_1\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \leq p$.

Proof. We will apply Corollary 4.9 with respect to $\hat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)$. To do this, we use Lemmas 4.10 and 4.11 and Corollary 4.13 to find values of v, M, and Υ such that the conditions of Corollary 4.9 are satisfied.

By Lemma 4.10, the level set of ψ with probability $\frac{1}{8}$ contains a $\|\cdot\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}$ -ball with radius $\frac{1}{8e}(1-\|\theta_0-\theta_1\|_{\theta_0})$. Denote the center of this ball by $z \in S$. Then, for all $y \in S$ with $\|y-z\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1}} \leq \frac{1}{8e\sqrt{1+\epsilon}}(1-\|\theta_0-\theta_1\|_{\theta_0})$, it can be seen from (4.9) that

$$\|y - z\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}} \le \sqrt{1 + \epsilon} \|y - z\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1}} \le \frac{1}{8\epsilon} (1 - \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0}),$$

and thus *y* lies in the level set. Therefore, the level set of ψ with probability $\frac{1}{8}$ contains a $\|\cdot\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1}}$ -ball with radius

$$\frac{1 - \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0}}{8e\sqrt{1 + \epsilon}} \eqqcolon \upsilon.$$

Moreover, by Lemma 4.11,

$$\|\varphi_0/\varphi_1\| \le \frac{\exp(-2\|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})}{(1 - \|\theta_1 - \theta_0\|_{\theta_0})^2} =: M.$$

Finally, (4.9) and Corollary 4.13 show

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1} \Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1} [X] \|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1}}^2 \Big] &\leq (1 + \epsilon) \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1} \Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta_1} [X] \|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}^2 \Big] \\ &\leq \frac{n(1 + \epsilon)}{(1 - \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0})^2} =: \Upsilon^2. \end{split}$$

With the values of v, M, and Υ defined above, Corollary 4.9 proves the result. \Box

5

Approximation Quality with Hit-and-Run

Last chapter's main result, Theorem 4.14, showed that hit-and-run sampling could be used to generate samples from distributions close to a desired Boltzmann distribution. This is a step in the right direction: remember that our goal is to approximate the gradients and Hessians of the entropic barrier, which have an interpretation in terms of the mean and covariance of certain Boltzmann distributions. In this chapter, we will investigate how many hit-and-run samples and steps are needed to approximate the mean and covariance of a Boltzmann distribution.

There are however two complicating factors. First, the hit-and-run samples do not follow the target distribution, but rather a probability distribution close to it. (This is already apparent from Theorem 4.14.) Second, it is not hard to imagine that the distribution of the end point of a hit-and-run random walk depends on its starting point. Hence, two hit-and-run random walks sharing a starting point will not be independent. We can therefore only generate samples that do not follow the target distribution and are not independent. For these reasons, a careful analysis is needed.

We start in Section 5.1 by quantifying the dependence between different hit-

and-run samples. Combined with Theorem 4.14, we then have the tools to analyze how well the mean of a number of hit-and-run samples approximates the mean of the target distribution. This is the topic of Section 5.2. An analysis with a similar goal for the covariance will follow in Section 5.3.

This chapter is based on Sections 2.4 and 5 from Badenbroek and De Klerk [8]. The major contribution of this chapter is the generalization of those results to arbitrary inner products, not simply the Euclidean one. Moreover, we include formal proofs of Lemma 5.7 and Corollary 5.8, which were lacking in the literature.

5.1 Near-Independence for Random Walks

The end point of a random walk such as hit-and-run depends on the starting point of the walk, but as the walk length increases, this dependence starts to vanish. We will use the notion of near-independence to quantify this, as in e.g. Lovász and Vempala [73].

Definition 5.1 ([73, Section 3.2]). Let p > 0. Two random variables *X* and *Y* taking values in measurable space (S, F) are *near-independent* or *p-independent* if for all $A, B \in F$,

$$|\mathbb{P}\{X \in A \land Y \in B\} - \mathbb{P}\{X \in A\}\mathbb{P}\{Y \in B\}| \le p.$$

Before we can analyze the near-independence of starting and end points of a random walk, we need the formal machinery of Markov kernels (see for instance Heidergott and Hordijk [50]). Intuitively, a Markov kernel assigns to any point in S a probability distribution over S. Its analogue for discrete space Markov chains is a transition probability matrix.

Definition 5.2 ([50, Definition 1]). Let (S, \mathcal{F}) be a measurable space, and let $\mathcal{B}[0,1]$ be the Borel σ -algebra over [0,1]. A *Markov kernel* is a map $Q: S \times \mathcal{F} \rightarrow [0,1]$ with the properties

(i) For every x ∈ S, the map B → Q(x,B) for B ∈ F is a probability measure on (S, F);

(ii) For every $B \in \mathcal{F}$, the map $x \mapsto Q(x, B)$ for $x \in S$ is $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{B}[0, 1])$ -measurable.

Since $Q(x, \cdot)$ is a measure for any fixed $x \in S$, we can integrate a function ϕ over S with respect to this measure. This integral will be denoted by $\int_{S} \phi(y)Q(x, dy)$. We emphasize again that for any $x \in S$, this expression is just a Lebesgue integral.

Suppose the Markov kernel Q corresponds to one step of a random walk, i.e. after one step from $x \in S$, the probability of ending up in $B \in \mathcal{F}$ is Q(x, B). The probability that after $m \ge 2$ steps a random walk starting at $x \in S$ ends up in $B \in \mathcal{F}$ is then given by

$$Q^{m}(x,B) := \int_{\mathcal{S}} Q(y,B)Q^{m-1}(x,\mathrm{d}y),$$

where $Q^1 := Q$. Another interpretation of $Q^m(x, B)$ is the probability of a random walk ending in *B*, conditional on the random starting point *X* of the walk taking value *x*. If moreover the starting point of the random walk is not fixed, but follows a probability distribution φ , then the end point of the random walk after *m* steps follows distribution φQ^m , defined by

$$(\varphi Q^m)(B) := \int_{\mathcal{S}} Q^m(x,B) \,\mathrm{d}\varphi(x),$$

for all $B \in \mathcal{F}$.

The following lemma connects total variation distance to near-independence. It will ensure that if the distribution of the end point *Y* of a random walk approaches some fixed desired distribution ψ , then the start point *X* of this random walk and *Y* are near-independent. The conditions of this lemma may appear to be somewhat mysterious. The reason we chose them is that they coincide with the hit-and-run mixing conditions from Corollary 4.9. Thus, the upcoming lemma can be used to show that – under certain conditions – a hit-and-run sample is near-independent from its starting point.

A similar relation was established by Lovász and Vempala [73], but we will use a version that does not assume *Y* follows the desired distribution ψ .

Lemma 5.3 ([73, Lemma 4.3(a)]). *Fix a probability distribution* ψ *over a set* S, and let Q be a Markov kernel on S. Let $\ell : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{N}$ be a function such that for any

 $\overline{M} \ge 0$, $\overline{p} > 0$ and any distribution $\overline{\varphi}$ satisfying $\overline{\varphi} \ll \psi$ and $\|\overline{\varphi}/\psi\| \le \overline{M}$, it holds that

$$\|\bar{\varphi}Q^{\ell(\bar{M}/\bar{p}^2)} - \psi\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \leq \bar{p}.$$

Let $M \ge 0, p > 0$, and let φ be a distribution such that $\varphi \ll \psi$ and $\|\varphi/\psi\| \le M$. If X is a random variable with distribution φ , and Y is a random variable with distribution conditional on X = x given by $Q^{\ell(M/p^2)}(x, \cdot)$ for any $x \in S$, then X and Y are 3p-independent.

Proof. Let *A* and *B* be measurable subsets of *S*. As noted in Lovász and Vempala [73, relation (4)], one has the elementary relation

$$\begin{split} & |\mathbb{P}\{Y \in B \land X \in A\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y \in B\}\mathbb{P}\{X \in A\}| \\ & = |\mathbb{P}\{Y \in B \land X \notin A\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y \in B\}\mathbb{P}\{X \notin A\}|. \end{split}$$

We may therefore assume $\mathbb{P}{X \in A} = \varphi(A) \ge \frac{1}{2}$.

The marginal distribution of *Y* satisfies

$$\mathbb{P}\{Y \in B\} = \int_{\mathcal{S}} Q^{\ell(M/p^2)}(x, B) \,\mathrm{d}\varphi(x) = \varphi Q^{\ell(M/p^2)}(B). \tag{5.1}$$

Consider the restriction φ_A of φ to *A*, scaled to be a probability measure. Then,

$$\mathbb{P}\{Y \in B | X \in A\} = \frac{\mathbb{P}\{Y \in B \land X \in A\}}{\mathbb{P}\{X \in A\}}$$
$$= \frac{\int_{A} Q^{\ell(M/p^{2})}(x, B) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi(x)}{\varphi(A)}$$
$$= \int_{S} Q^{\ell(M/p^{2})}(x, B) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi_{A}(x)$$
$$= \varphi_{A} Q^{\ell(M/p^{2})}(B).$$
(5.2)

Since $\varphi(A) \ge \frac{1}{2}$, we have $\frac{d\varphi_A}{d\varphi}(x) \le 2$ for φ -almost all $x \in S$. Then,

$$\|\varphi_A/\psi\| = \int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi_A}{\mathrm{d}\psi}\right)^2 \mathrm{d}\psi = \int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi_A}{\mathrm{d}\varphi}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi}{\mathrm{d}\psi}\right)^2 \mathrm{d}\psi \le 4\|\varphi/\psi\| \le 4M.$$

Therefore, $\|\varphi_A Q^{\ell(M/p^2)} - \psi\|_{\text{TV}} = \|\varphi_A Q^{\ell(4M/(2p)^2)} - \psi\|_{\text{TV}} \le 2p$ by assumption. Since $\|\varphi/\psi\| \le M$, we also have $\|\varphi Q^{\ell(M/p^2)} - \psi\|_{\text{TV}} \le p$ by assumption. Hence, by combining (5.1) and (5.2) with the triangle inequality and Definition 4.4, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} &|\mathbb{P}\{Y \in B | X \in A\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y \in B\} | \\ &= \left| \varphi_A Q^{\ell(M/p^2)}(B) - \varphi Q^{\ell(M/p^2)}(B) \right| \\ &\leq \left| \varphi_A Q^{\ell(M/p^2)}(B) - \psi(B) \right| + \left| \psi(B) - \varphi Q^{\ell(M/p^2)}(B) \right| \\ &\leq \|\varphi_A Q^{\ell(M/p^2)} - \psi\|_{\mathrm{TV}} + \|\varphi Q^{\ell(M/p^2)} - \psi\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \\ &\leq 2p + p = 3p. \end{aligned}$$

Multiplying both sides of the outermost inequality by $\mathbb{P}{X \in A}$ shows

$$|\mathbb{P}\{Y \in B \land X \in A\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y \in B\}\mathbb{P}\{X \in A\}| \le 3p\mathbb{P}\{X \in A\} \le 3p,$$

which completes the proof.

Having shown that the start and end point of a random walk are near-independent, we continue by proving the near-independence of the result of two independent random walks with the same random starting point. Note that the randomness of the common starting point is the issue here: if the starting point were fixed, the end points of the two random walks would be independent.

This analysis is important if we are going to generate many hit-and-run samples to approximate the derivatives of the entropic barrier. The reader may wonder why; there are more practically appealing alternatives, such as starting a random walk from the end point of the previous random walk. However, Kalai and Vempala [56] use a common starting point, and we aim to analyze their algorithm in Chapter 7. As we will see, this choice only leads to a deterioration of the nearindependence by a constant factor, which will not influence the computational complexity of algorithms based on hit-and-run sampling in this thesis.

Lemma 5.4 ([8, Lemma 2.17]). Let Y_1 and Y_2 be random variables that are both *p*-independent of a random variable *X*, all supported on a set *S*. Assume that Y_1 and Y_2 are conditionally independent given *X* and that for all measurable events $\{Y_1 \in A\}$ and $\{Y_2 \in B\}$, the following sets are measurable:

$$\{x \in \mathcal{S} : \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X = x\} \ge \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\}\},\$$
$$\{x \in \mathcal{S} : \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B | X = x\} \ge \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\}\}.$$

 \square

Then, Y_1 and Y_2 are 2p-independent.

Proof. Denote the probability distribution of *X* by φ . We want to bound the following term.

$$\begin{aligned} &|\mathbb{P}\{Y_{1} \in A \land Y_{2} \in B\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_{1} \in A\}\mathbb{P}\{Y_{2} \in B\}| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} (\mathbb{P}\{Y_{1} \in A \land Y_{2} \in B | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_{1} \in A\}\mathbb{P}\{Y_{2} \in B\}) d\varphi \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} (\mathbb{P}\{Y_{1} \in A | X\}\mathbb{P}\{Y_{2} \in B | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_{1} \in A\}\mathbb{P}\{Y_{2} \in B\}) d\varphi \right|, \end{aligned}$$
(5.3)

where the last equality holds by the conditional independence of Y_1 and Y_2 . We will use the identity ab-cd = (a-c)(b-d)+(a-c)d+(b-d)c, where $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}$. Selecting $a = \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X = x\}$, $b = \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B | X = x\}$, $c = \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\}$, and $d = \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\}$ allows us to expand (5.3) in an obvious manner. The triangle inequality then gives

$$\left| \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A \land Y_2 \in B\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\} \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} (\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\}) (\mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\}) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi \right|$$
(5.4)

$$+ \left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} (\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\}) \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\} \, \mathrm{d}\varphi \right|$$
(5.5)

$$+ \left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} (\mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\}) \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \,\mathrm{d}\varphi \right|.$$
(5.6)

We will upper bound each of these terms.

For (5.4), we can use Hölder's inequality as follows.

$$\left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \right) \left(\mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\} \right) d\varphi \right|$$

$$\leq \sqrt{\int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \right)^2 d\varphi} \int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\} \right)^2 d\varphi. \quad (5.7)$$

Define

$$C := \{ x \in \mathcal{S} : \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X = x\} \ge \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \}.$$

Since both $\mathbb{P}{Y_1 \in A | X = x}$ and $\mathbb{P}{Y_1 \in A}$ lie in [0, 1] for all $x \in S$, the square of their difference can be upper bounded by their absolute difference. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathcal{S}} \left(\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \right)^2 \mathrm{d}\varphi \\ &\leq \int_{\mathcal{S}} \left| \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \right| \mathrm{d}\varphi \\ &= \int_{C} \left(\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \right) \mathrm{d}\varphi + \int_{\mathcal{S} \setminus C} \left(\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} \right) \mathrm{d}\varphi \\ &= \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A \wedge X \in C\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \mathbb{P}\{X \in C\} \\ &+ \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} \mathbb{P}\{X \notin C\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A \wedge X \notin C\} \leq 2p, \end{split}$$

since X and Y_1 are *p*-independent. Because the same holds for $\mathbb{P}{Y_2 \in B | X = x}$ and $\mathbb{P}{Y_2 \in B}$ for all $x \in S$, (5.7) is upper bounded by 2p.

For (5.5), observe that

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} (\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\}) \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\} \, \mathrm{d}\varphi \right| \\ &= \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\} \left| \int_{\mathcal{S}} (\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A | X\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\}) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi \right| \\ &= \mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\} \, |\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\}| = 0. \end{split}$$

The same clearly holds for (5.6). Hence,

$$|\mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A \land Y_2 \in B\} - \mathbb{P}\{Y_1 \in A\}\mathbb{P}\{Y_2 \in B\}| \le 2p.$$

The measurability condition in this result holds for sufficiently detailed σ -algebras, and we will quietly assume it holds in the remainder of this thesis.

Recall that Lemma 5.3 can be used to show that a hit-and-run sample is nearindependent from its starting point. By applying Lemma 5.4, the next result shows that two hit-and-run samples with a common starting point are also nearindependent.

Theorem 5.5 ([8, Lemma 4.3]). Let ψ be a log-concave probability distribution supported on a convex body $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and let p > 0. Suppose the conditions of Corollary 4.9 are satisfied for some Σ , v, M, and Υ . Let X be a random variable with distribution φ supported on S. Consider two hit-and-run random walks as in Algorithm 4.1, applied to ψ , both starting from the realization of X, where all D_i and P_i in one random walk are independent of all D_i and P_i in the other random walk. Let the number of steps ℓ of both walks be given by (4.2), and call the resulting end points Y_1 and Y_2 . Then, Y_1 and Y_2 are 6p-independent.

Proof. Let *Q* be the Markov kernel of a hit-and-run step, where directions are chosen from $\mathcal{N}(0, \Sigma)$, and the iterates are drawn from ψ restricted to appropriate line segments, as defined in Algorithm 4.1. Note that the only dependence of (4.2) on *M* and *p* is through the fraction M/p^2 . Thus, the conditions in Lemma 5.3 are satisfied. It follows that *X* and *Y*₁ are 3*p*-independent, and *X* and *Y*₂ are 3*p*-independent. Since the D_i and P_i in the random walks are independent, *Y*₁ and *Y*₂ are conditionally independent given *X*. Therefore, Lemma 5.4 shows the result.

Since Theorem 4.14 was essentially an application of Corollary 4.9 to Boltzmann distributions, Theorem 5.5 also applies to this setting. For ease of reference, we state this result below.

Corollary 5.6 ([8, Lemma 4.8]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let p > 0. Let $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that the conditions of Theorem 4.14 are satisfied for some ϵ and $\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)$. Let X be a random variable following a Boltzmann distribution supported on S with parameter θ_0 . Consider two hit-and-run random walks as in Algorithm 4.1, applied to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 , both starting from the realization of X, where all D_i and P_i in one random walk are independent of all D_i and P_i in the other random walk. Let the number of steps ℓ of both walks be given by (4.10), and call the resulting end points Y_1 and Y_2 . Then, Y_1 and Y_2 are 6p-independent.

5.2 Quality of Mean Approximation

Now that we know that two hit-and-run samples with the same starting point are near-independent, we can start to analyze how well the mean of a number of hit-and-run samples approximates the mean of the target Boltzmann distribution. This analysis requires us to consider the expectation of the inner product of two near-independent random variables. As a stepping stone, we first consider onedimensional random variables.

It is well known that the expectation of the product of two *independent* random variables is the product of their expectations. The next lemma shows that this almost holds for near-independent random variables. Kannan et al. [58] first stated this result, but their proof contains errors. (In general $\mathbb{E}[X] \neq \int_{-a}^{a} \mathbb{P}\{X > x\} dx$ and $\mathbb{E}[XY] \neq \int_{-a}^{a} \int_{-b}^{b} \mathbb{P}\{X > x, Y > y\} dx dy$.)

Lemma 5.7 (Based on [58, Lemma 2.7]). Let X and Y be p-independent random variables in \mathbb{R} such that $|X| \le a$ and $|Y| \le b$ almost surely. Then,

$$|\mathbb{E}[XY] - \mathbb{E}[X]\mathbb{E}[Y]| \le 4pab.$$

Proof. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ be the probability space on which *X* and *Y* are defined. Define

$$X^+(\omega) := \max\{0, X(\omega)\}$$
 and $X^-(\omega) := \max\{0, -X(\omega)\},$

and similar for *Y*, for all $\omega \in \Omega$. We then have $X = X^+ - X^-$ and $Y = Y^+ - Y^-$, such that

$$X(\omega)Y(\omega) = X^{+}(\omega)Y^{+}(\omega) - X^{-}(\omega)Y^{+}(\omega) - X^{+}(\omega)Y^{-}(\omega) + X^{-}(\omega)Y^{-}(\omega),$$
(5.8)

for all $\omega \in \Omega$. Noting that

$$X^{+}(\omega) = \int_{0}^{X^{+}(\omega)} \mathrm{d}x = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{1}_{\{(\bar{\omega},\bar{x}):\bar{x}< X^{+}(\bar{\omega})\}}(\omega,x) \mathrm{d}x,$$

we can write the expectation of the first term on the right hand side of (5.8) as

$$\mathbb{E}[X^{+}Y^{+}] = \int_{\Omega} X^{+}(\omega)Y^{+}(\omega)d\mathbb{P}(\omega)$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{1}_{\{(\bar{\omega},\bar{x},\bar{y}):\bar{x}< X^{+}(\bar{\omega}),\bar{y}< Y^{+}(\bar{\omega})\}}(\omega,x,y)dx dy d\mathbb{P}(\omega).$$

Since the integrand is nonnegative, Tonelli's theorem shows we can change the

order of integration. Hence,

$$\mathbb{E}[X^+Y^+] = \int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty \int_\Omega \mathbb{1}_{\{(\bar{\omega},\bar{x},\bar{y}):\bar{x}< X^+(\bar{\omega}),\bar{y}< Y^+(\bar{\omega})\}}(\omega,x,y) \, d\mathbb{P}(\omega) \, dx \, dy$$
$$= \int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty \mathbb{P}\{X^+ > x, Y^+ > y\} \, dx \, dy$$
$$= \int_0^b \int_0^a \mathbb{P}\{X > x, Y > y\} \, dx \, dy.$$

Following a similar approach, one can show that $\mathbb{E}[X^+] = \int_0^a \mathbb{P}\{X > x\} dx$ and $\mathbb{E}[Y^+] = \int_0^b \mathbb{P}\{Y > y\} dy$. By the near-independence property of *X* and *Y*, we therefore have

$$|\mathbb{E}[X^+Y^+] - \mathbb{E}[X^+]\mathbb{E}[Y^+]| \le pab.$$

The other terms in (5.8) can be handled similarly. In conclusion,

$$|\mathbb{E}[XY] - \mathbb{E}[X]\mathbb{E}[Y]| = |\mathbb{E}[(X^{+} - X^{-})(Y^{+} - Y^{-})] - \mathbb{E}[X^{+} - X^{-}]\mathbb{E}[Y^{+} - Y^{-}]|$$

\$\le 4pab.\$

Now we can generalize this result to higher dimensions.

Corollary 5.8. Let X and Y be p-independent random variables in \mathbb{R}^n such that $||X|| \leq a$ and $||Y|| \leq b$ almost surely. Let $e_1, ..., e_n$ be an orthonormal basis for \mathbb{R}^n with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, and assume $x \mapsto \langle x, e_k \rangle$ is measurable for all $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Then,

$$|\mathbb{E}[\langle X, Y \rangle] - \langle \mathbb{E}[X], \mathbb{E}[Y] \rangle| \le 4npab.$$

Proof. We have $X = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \langle X, e_k \rangle e_k$ and $Y = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \langle Y, e_k \rangle e_k$, such that

$$\mathbb{E}[\langle X, Y \rangle] = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\langle X, e_k \rangle \langle Y, e_k \rangle] \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \mathbb{E}[X], \mathbb{E}[Y] \rangle = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}[\langle X, e_k \rangle] \mathbb{E}[\langle Y, e_k \rangle].$$

By Lemma 3.5 in Lovász and Vempala [73], $\langle X, e_k \rangle$ and $\langle Y, e_k \rangle$ are *p*-independent for all *k*. Almost surely, $|\langle X, e_k \rangle| \le ||X|| \le a$ and $|\langle X, e_k \rangle| \le ||Y|| \le b$ by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. Applying Lemma 5.7 thus shows

$$\begin{split} |\mathbb{E}[\langle X, Y \rangle] - \langle \mathbb{E}[X], \mathbb{E}[Y] \rangle| &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} |\mathbb{E}[\langle X, e_k \rangle \langle Y, e_k \rangle] - \mathbb{E}[\langle X, e_k \rangle] \mathbb{E}[\langle Y, e_k \rangle]| \\ &\leq 4npab. \end{split}$$

As with Lemma 5.4, the measurability condition in this result holds for sufficiently detailed σ -algebras. We will quietly assume it holds in the remainder of this thesis.

As a final tool for our analysis of the mean estimate, we remark that for random variables *Y* and *Z* taking values in a set S and a function ϕ on S,

$$\mathbb{E}[\phi(Y)] = \mathbb{E}[\phi(Z)] + \mathbb{E}[\phi(Y) - \phi(Z)]$$

= $\mathbb{E}[\phi(Z)] + \mathbb{E}[\phi(Y) - \phi(Z)|Y \neq Z]\mathbb{P}\{Y \neq Z\}.$ (5.9)

We are ready to analyze the quality of the mean estimate. The general approach is the same as in [8, Theorem 5.1], except that we use a general inner product here. Moreover, the differences between Theorem 4.14 and [8, Theorem 4.7] also lead to a slightly simpler statement of the mixing conditions. We remind the reader of the notation summarized in Table 3.1 on page 32.

Theorem 5.9. Let f be the log-partition function associated with a convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Assume S is contained in a ball with radius R > 0. Suppose $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfy $\Delta \theta := \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0} < 1$. Let $\rho > 0$, $\epsilon \ge 0$, and $q \in (0, 1]$, and suppose we have an invertible matrix $\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)$ such that

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1} \preceq \Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1} \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1}.$$

Pick

$$N \ge \frac{2n}{q\rho^2} \quad and \quad p \le \frac{q \min\{1, \rho^2\} \min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_1))\}}{204n \max\{1, R^2\}}.$$
 (5.10)

Let X be a random starting point drawn from a Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_0 . Let $Y^1, ..., Y^N$ be the end points of N hit-and-run random walks applied to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 having starting point X, where the directions are drawn from a $\mathcal{N}(0, \widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0))$ -distribution, and each walk has length ℓ given by (4.10). (Note that ℓ depends on ϵ , n, p, and $\Delta \theta$.) Then, the empirical mean $\widehat{x}(\theta_1) := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} Y^j$ satisfies

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\|\widehat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}} \le \rho\right\} \ge 1 - q.$$
(5.11)

Proof. Theorem 4.14 ensures that the distributions of the samples $Y^1, ..., Y^N$ all have a total variation distance to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 of

at most *p*. By Corollary 5.6, the samples are pairwise 6*p*-independent. It therefore remains to be shown that *N* pairwise 6*p*-independent samples with total variation distance to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 of at most *p* are enough to guarantee (5.11).

We start by investigating an expression resembling the variance of $\hat{x}(\theta_1)$ in the norm induced by $\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}$:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|\widehat{x}(\theta_{1}) - x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2}\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\left\langle\frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\left(Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})\right), \frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\left(Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})\right)\right\rangle_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}\right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{N^{2}}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})\right\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2}\right]$$
(5.12)

$$+\frac{1}{N^2}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\sum_{k\neq j}\mathbb{E}\Big[\big\langle Y^j - x(\theta_1), Y^k - x(\theta_1)\big\rangle_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}}\Big]$$
(5.13)

To bound (5.12), note Lemma 4.5 guarantees that for each Y^j there exists a Z^j following the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 such that $\mathbb{P}\{Y^j \neq Z^j\} \leq p$. Using (5.9), we have for all $j \in \{1, ..., N\}$,

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\|Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2} \Big] \\\leq \mathbb{E}\Big[\|Z^{j} - x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2} \Big] + p \Big(\max_{y \in S} \|y - x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2} - 0 \Big) \\\leq n + p(2R)^{2} \lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}) = n + \frac{4pR^{2}}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))},$$
(5.14)

where the final inequality also uses Lemma 4.12.

To bound (5.13), note that since Y^j and Y^k are 6p-independent for all $j \neq k$, so are $Y^j - x(\theta_1)$ and $Y^k - x(\theta_1)$. Moreover, $\|Y^j - x(\theta_1)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}} \leq 2R\sqrt{\lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1})}$ for all j. By Corollary 5.8, we therefore have for all $j \neq k$,

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\big\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1})\big\rangle_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}\Big] \\
\leq \big\langle \mathbb{E}\big[Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})\big], \mathbb{E}\big[Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1})\big]\big\rangle_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}} + 4n(6p)(2R)^{2}\lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}) \\
= \big\langle \mathbb{E}\big[Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})\big], \mathbb{E}\big[Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1})\big]\big\rangle_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}} + \frac{96npR^{2}}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))}.$$
(5.15)

Using Lemma 4.5 and (5.9) in the same manner as before, we get for all j,

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \mathbb{E} \left[Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}) \right] \right\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}} \\ & \leq \left\| \mathbb{E} \left[Z^{j} - x(\theta_{1}) \right] \right\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}} + p \left(\max_{y \in \mathcal{S}} \|y - x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}} - 0 \right) \\ & \leq 0 + \frac{2pR}{\sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))}}. \end{split}$$

Hence, (5.15) shows

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\left\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1})\right\rangle_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}\Big] \leq \frac{4p^{2}R^{2}}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))} + \frac{96npR^{2}}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))}$$

Combined with (5.12), (5.13), and (5.14), we thus find

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\Big[\|\widehat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}}^2\Big] &\leq \frac{n}{N} + \frac{4pR^2}{N\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_1))} + \frac{4p^2R^2}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_1))} + \frac{96npR^2}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_1))} \\ &\leq q\rho^2, \end{split}$$

where the second inequality uses the values of *N* and ρ from (5.10). The proof is completed by applying Markov's inequality:

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\|\widehat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}}^2 > \rho^2\right\} \le \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\|\widehat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}}^2\right]}{\rho^2} \le q. \qquad \Box$$

This theorem requires a lower bound on $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_1))$, the smallest eigenvalue of $\Sigma(\theta_1)$. We refer the reader to Appendix B for such a bound.

5.3 Quality of Covariance Approximation

Above, we saw how well the mean of a number of hit-and-run samples approximates the mean of a Boltzmann distribution. The next step is performing a similar analysis for the covariance. If $Y^1, ..., Y^N$ are random variables, we define the associated empirical covariance as the linear operator $\hat{\Sigma}$ satisfying

$$\widehat{\Sigma}\nu \coloneqq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \langle Y^{j}, \nu \rangle Y^{j} - \left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \langle Y^{j}, \nu \rangle\right) \left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} Y^{j}\right), \quad (5.16)$$

for all $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$. (Note that for the Euclidean inner product, this is simply the empirical covariance matrix.)

Our analysis will require a bound on the fourth moment of a log-concave random variable with identity covariance.

Lemma 5.10 ([8, Theorem 5.3]). Let X be a log-concave random variable on \mathbb{R}^n with covariance operator Σ , i.e. $\Sigma[v,w] = \mathbb{E}[\langle X - \mathbb{E}[X], v \rangle \langle X - \mathbb{E}[X], w \rangle]$ for all $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Assume $x \mapsto ||x||_{\Sigma^{-1}}$ is measurable. Then,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|X - \mathbb{E}[X]\right\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}^4\right] \le 65n^2.$$

Proof. Let $Y \coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} ||X - \mathbb{E}[X]||_{\Sigma^{-1}}$, and note that its distribution is log-concave by the measurability assumption and the log-concavity definition (4.1). Then, Lemma 4.12 shows $\mathbb{E}[Y^2] = \frac{1}{n} \mathbb{E}[||X - \mathbb{E}[X]||_{\Sigma^{-1}}^2] = 1$. Therefore, Lemma 5.7 in Lovász and Vempala [74] shows that for all t > 1,

$$\mathbb{P}\{Y > t\} \le e^{1-t}.\tag{5.17}$$

(See also Lemma 3.3 in Lovász and Vempala [73].) Hence,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X - \mathbb{E}[X]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}^4\right] = n^2 \mathbb{E}[Y^4] = n^2 \int_0^\infty \mathbb{P}\{Y^4 > s\} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

By a change of variables $s = t^4$ and (5.17), we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X - \mathbb{E}[X]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}^{4}\right] = n^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}\{Y^{4} > t^{4}\} 4t^{3} dt$$
$$\leq n^{2} \int_{0}^{1} 4t^{3} dt + n^{2} \int_{1}^{\infty} 4t^{3} e^{1-t} dt = 65n^{2}.$$

For some $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\xi > 0$, the next theorem analyzes when the empirical covariance $\hat{\Sigma}$ approximates $\Sigma(\theta)$ in the sense that $\frac{1}{1+\xi}\hat{\Sigma} \leq \Sigma(\theta) \leq (1+\xi)\hat{\Sigma}$. It is worth noting that by Lemma 2.4,

$$\frac{1}{1+\xi}\widehat{\Sigma} \preceq \Sigma(\theta) \preceq (1+\xi)\widehat{\Sigma} \quad \text{if and only if} \quad \frac{1}{1+\xi}\widehat{\Sigma}^{-1} \preceq \Sigma(\theta)^{-1} \preceq (1+\xi)\widehat{\Sigma}^{-1}.$$

In other words, the next theorem also guarantees that the inverse of $\hat{\Sigma}$ is a good approximation of the inverse of $\Sigma(\theta)$.

The major differences between this theorem and [8, Theorem 5.3] are the fact this theorem holds for general inner products and has a slightly different result (5.19). This difference also leads to different constants in (5.18), though the overall complexity does not change. Finally, the differences between Theorem 4.14 and [8, Theorem 4.7] lead to a slightly simpler statement of the mixing conditions.

Theorem 5.11. Let f be the log-partition function associated with a convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Assume S is contained in a ball with radius R > 0, and that $x \mapsto \langle x, v \rangle \langle x, w \rangle$ is a measurable function on S for any $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Suppose $\theta_0, \theta_1 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfy $\Delta \theta := \|\theta_0 - \theta_1\|_{\theta_0} < 1$. Let $\epsilon \ge 0$ and $\xi, q \in (0, 1]$, and suppose we have an invertible matrix $\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)$ such that

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1} \preceq \Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1} \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_0)^{-1}.$$

Pick

$$N \ge \frac{475n^2}{q\xi^2} \quad and \quad p \le \frac{q\xi^2 \min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_1))^2\}}{48450n^2 \max\{1, R^4\}}.$$
 (5.18)

Let X be a random starting point drawn from a Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_0 . Let $Y^1, ..., Y^N$ be the end points of N hit-and-run random walks applied to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 having starting point X, where the directions are drawn from a $\mathcal{N}(0, \hat{\Sigma}(\theta_0))$ -distribution, and each walk has length ℓ given by (4.10). (Note that ℓ depends on ϵ , n, p, and $\Delta \theta$.) Then, the empirical mean $\hat{\Sigma} \approx \Sigma(\theta_1)$ as defined in (5.16) satisfies

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\frac{1}{1+\xi}\widehat{\Sigma} \preceq \Sigma(\theta_1) \preceq (1+\xi)\widehat{\Sigma}\right\} \ge 1-q.$$
(5.19)

Proof. By the argument also used in the proof of Theorem 5.9, $Y^1, ..., Y^N$ are pairwise 6p-independent samples, each with a distribution that has total variation distance to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 of at most p. As before, define $\hat{x}(\theta_1) := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} Y^i$.

The remainder of this proof follows an approach similar to Theorem 5.11 from Kannan et al. [58], although their result only applies to the uniform distribution and the Euclidean inner product. We want to prove that with probability at least

1 - q,

$$\frac{1}{1+\xi} \le \frac{\langle \nu, \widehat{\Sigma}\nu \rangle}{\|\nu\|_{\theta_1}^2} \le 1+\xi \qquad \forall \nu \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(5.20)

It is elementary to show $\langle v, \widehat{\Sigma}v \rangle = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \langle Y^j - x(\theta_1), v \rangle^2 - \langle \widehat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1), v \rangle^2$, so (5.20) is equivalent to the condition that for all $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\frac{1}{1+\xi} + \frac{\langle \hat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1), \nu \rangle^2}{\|\nu\|_{\theta_1}^2} \le \frac{\sum_{j=1}^N \langle Y^j - x(\theta_1), \nu \rangle^2}{N \|\nu\|_{\theta_1}^2} \le 1+\xi + \frac{\langle \hat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1), \nu \rangle^2}{\|\nu\|_{\theta_1}^2}.$$
(5.21)

To ease notation, let *P* be the linear operator such that

$$P\nu := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \langle Y^j - x(\theta_1), \nu \rangle (Y^j - x(\theta_1)) \qquad \forall \nu \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (5.22)

Noting that the left hand side of (5.21) can be upper bounded using Theorem 5.9, and the right hand side can be lower bounded by $1 + \xi$, the condition (5.21) boils down to showing $\langle v, Pv \rangle / ||v||_{\theta_1}^2 \approx 1$ for all $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Equivalently, we would like to show that $\langle v, (\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P - I)v \rangle_{\theta_1} / ||v||_{\theta_1}^2 \approx 0$ for all v. If $\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P$ has eigenvalues $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n$ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta_1}$, we are thus interested in showing that $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n \approx 1$. One way to accomplish this is by noting

$$\max_{\nu \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\langle \nu, (\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P - I)\nu \rangle_{\theta_{1}}|}{\|\nu\|_{\theta_{1}}^{2}} = \max_{i} |\lambda_{i} - 1|$$
$$= \sqrt{\max_{i} \{(\lambda_{i} - 1)^{2}\}}$$
$$\leq \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\lambda_{i} - 1)^{2}},$$
(5.23)

so it suffices to bound the trace of $(\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P - I)^2$ from above with high probability. To apply Markov's inequality, we will thus look for an upper bound on

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{tr}\left(\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P\right)\right] - 2\mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{tr}\left(\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P\right)\right] + n.$$
(5.24)

Let us start with the second term in (5.24), since it is the easiest to bound. If $v_1, ..., v_n$ are the orthonormal eigenvectors corresponding to the eigenvalues $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n$ of $\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P$ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta_1}$, we have

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P\right) = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i = \sum_{i=1}^n \langle v_i, \Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}Pv_i \rangle_{\theta_1} = \sum_{i=1}^n \langle v_i, Pv_i \rangle.$$

Using the definition (5.22) of P,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P\right) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), \sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle \Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1} [Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})], v_{i} \rangle_{\theta_{1}} v_{i} \right\rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} ||Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})||_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2},$$

where we used the fact that the second line contains a decomposition of the vector $\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}[Y^j - x(\theta_1)]$ in the basis $\nu_1, ..., \nu_n$ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta_1}$. To bound the expectation of this term, note that by Lemma 4.5, there exists for each Y^j a Z^j following the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_1 such that $\mathbb{P}\{Y^j \neq Z^j\} \leq p$. It then follows from (5.9) and Lemma 4.12 that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{tr}\left(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P\right)\right] \geq \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N} \|Z^{j} - x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2}\right] - p \max_{y \in \mathcal{S}} \|y - x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2}$$
$$\geq n - p(2R)^{2} \lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}), \tag{5.25}$$

where the final inequality uses the assumption that S is contained in a ball with radius R.

We continue by upper bounding the first term in (5.24). We have, by definition of the trace,

$$\operatorname{tr}(\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P) = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n \|\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}Pv_i\|_{\theta_1}^2$$

Again using the definition (5.22) of P,

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{tr}\left(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P\right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\| \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1} [Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})] \right\|_{\theta_{1}}^{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{N^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}) \rangle_{\theta_{1}}^{-1}. \end{aligned}$$

We can get rid of the outer summation by noting that it decomposes the vector $\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}[Y^k - x(\theta_1)]$ in the basis $v_1, ..., v_n$ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta_1}$:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle$$

= $\left\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), \sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle v_{i} \right\rangle$
= $\left\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), \sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle \Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1} [Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1})], v_{i} \rangle_{\theta_{1}} v_{i} \right\rangle$
= $\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}) \rangle_{\theta_{1}}^{-1}.$

Therefore,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{N^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}) \rangle_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{N^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{N} ||Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1})||_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{4}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{N^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{k \neq j} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \right)^{2}.$$

$$(5.26)$$

To upper bound the expectation of (5.26), we use (5.9) and Lemma 5.10 as

follows:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{N^{2}}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\|Y^{j}-x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{4}\right] \\
\leq \frac{1}{N^{2}}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\mathbb{E}\left[\|Z^{j}-x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{4}\right] + \frac{p}{N}\max_{y\in\mathcal{S}}\|y-x(\theta_{1})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{4} \\
\leq \frac{65n^{2}}{N} + \frac{p(2R)^{4}\lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1})^{2}}{N}.$$
(5.28)

To upper bound the expectation of (5.27), we use Lemma 5.7 to find that, for any $j \neq k$,

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle\right)^{2}\right] \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{l=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}\left[\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle\right] \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{l=1}^{n} \mathbb{E}\left[\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle\right] \mathbb{E}\left[\langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle\right] \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{l=1}^{n} 4(6p) \left(\max_{y \in \mathcal{S}} |\langle y - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle y - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle|\right)^{2}. \end{split}$$

By (5.9) and the triangle inequality,

$$\begin{split} & \left| \mathbb{E} \left[\langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[\langle Z^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Z^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle \right] \right| \\ & \leq p \left| \max_{y, z \in \mathcal{S}} \left\{ \langle y - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle y - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle - \langle z - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle z - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle \right\} \right| \\ & \leq p \max_{y, z \in \mathcal{S}} \left\{ \left| \langle y - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle y - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle \right| + \left| \langle z - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle z - x(\theta_{1}), v_{l} \rangle \right| \right\} \\ & \leq 2p \max_{y \in \mathcal{S}} \left\| y - x(\theta_{1}) \right\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}}^{2} \leq 2p(2R)^{2} \lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}). \end{split}$$

It was shown in Proposition 3.3(ii) that $\mathbb{E}[\langle Z^j - x(\theta_1), v_i \rangle \langle Z^j - x(\theta_1), v_l \rangle] = \Sigma(\theta_1)[v_i, v_l]$. Because v_i and v_l are orthonormal with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta_1}$, we have

that $\mathbb{E}[\langle Z^j - x(\theta_1), v_i \rangle \langle Z^j - x(\theta_1), v_l \rangle]$ is one if i = l and zero otherwise. We conclude that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle \langle Y^{k} - x(\theta_{1}), v_{i} \rangle\right)^{2}\right]$$

$$\leq n\left(1 + 2p(2R)^{2} \lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1})\right)^{2} + n(n-1)\left(2p(2R)^{2} \lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1})\right)^{2} + 4n^{2}(6p)\left((2R)^{2} \lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1})\right)^{2}.$$

Combining this bound on the expectation of (5.27) with the bound (5.28) on the expectation of (5.26) yields

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\Big[\operatorname{tr}\Big(\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P\Sigma(\theta_{1})^{-1}P\Big)\Big] \\ & \leq \frac{65n^{2}}{N} + \frac{p(2R)^{4}}{N\,\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))^{2}} + \frac{N(N-1)}{N^{2}} \bigg[n\bigg(1 + \frac{2p(2R)^{2}}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))}\bigg)^{2} \\ & + n(n-1)\bigg(\frac{2p(2R)^{2}}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))}\bigg)^{2} + 4n^{2}(6p)\bigg(\frac{(2R)^{2}}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_{1}))}\bigg)^{2}\bigg] \\ & \leq n + 0.1451q\xi^{2}, \end{split}$$

for the values of N and p from (5.18). (The constant 0.1451 above is exact.) Together with (5.25), this yields an upper bound on (5.24) of

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{tr}\left((\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}P - I)^2\right)\right] \le 0.1451q\xi^2 + 2p\frac{(2R)^2}{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_1))} \le 0.1453q\xi^2.$$

By (5.23) and Markov's inequality, we therefore have

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\max_{w\in\mathbb{R}^n}\frac{|\langle w, (P-\Sigma(\theta_1))w\rangle|}{\|w\|_{\theta_1}^2} > \frac{7}{18}\xi\right\} \le \left(\frac{18}{7\xi}\right)^2 0.1453q\xi^2 \le 0.9608q.$$

Applying Theorem 5.9 for $\rho = \frac{1}{3}\xi$ shows that for the values of *N* and *p* in (5.18),

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\|\widehat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}} > \frac{1}{3}\xi\right\} \le \frac{2q\xi^2}{475\rho^2} = \frac{18}{475}q \le 0.0379q.$$

Since $0.9608q + 0.0379q \le q$,

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\max_{w\in\mathbb{R}^n}\frac{|\langle w, (P-\Sigma(\theta_1))w\rangle|}{\|w\|_{\theta_1}^2} \leq \frac{7}{18}\xi \wedge \|\widehat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}} \leq \frac{1}{3}\xi\right\} \geq 1-q.$$

It remains to prove that in this high-probability event, (5.21) holds. To show the left inequality in (5.21), we first remark that for all $\xi \in (0, 1]$, $\frac{1}{1+\xi} + \frac{1}{9}\xi^2 \le 1 - \frac{7}{18}\xi$. Then, we have for all $\nu \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{1+\xi} + \frac{\langle \hat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1), v \rangle^2}{\|v\|_{\theta_1}^2} &\leq \frac{1}{1+\xi} + \|\hat{x}(\theta_1) - x(\theta_1)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_1)^{-1}}^2 \\ &\leq \frac{1}{1+\xi} + \frac{1}{9}\xi^2 \leq 1 - \frac{7}{18}\xi \\ &\leq \frac{\langle v, \Sigma(\theta_1)v \rangle}{\|v\|_{\theta_1}^2} - \max_{w \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\langle w, (P - \Sigma(\theta_1))w \rangle|}{\|w\|_{\theta_1}^2} \\ &\leq \frac{\langle v, Pv \rangle}{\|v\|_{\theta_1}^2} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^N \langle Y^j - x(\theta_1), v \rangle^2}{N\|v\|_{\theta_1}^2}. \end{split}$$

Finally, the right inequality in (5.21) follows from

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} \langle Y^{j} - x(\theta_{1}), \nu \rangle^{2}}{N \|\nu\|_{\theta_{1}}^{2}} &\leq \frac{\langle \nu, \Sigma(\theta_{1})\nu \rangle}{\|\nu\|_{\theta_{1}}^{2}} + \max_{w \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\langle w, (P - \Sigma(\theta_{1}))w \rangle|}{\|w\|_{\theta_{1}}^{2}} \\ &\leq 1 + \frac{7}{18}\xi \leq 1 + \xi + \frac{\langle \widehat{x}(\theta_{1}) - x(\theta_{1}), \nu \rangle^{2}}{\|\nu\|_{\theta_{1}}^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

As before, the measurability condition in this theorem is satisfied for detailed σ -algebras, and we will assume it holds in the remainder of this thesis.

The tools we developed in this chapter are useful if one wants to analyze sampling-based optimization algorithms. In the next chapters, we will look at two of those. Chapter 6 proposes an interior point method that uses hit-and-run sampling to approximate the derivatives of the entropic barrier. After that, we rigorously analyze Kalai and Vempala's simulated annealing algorithm [56] in Chapter 7.

6

Interior Point Method Using Hit-and-Run Sampling and the Entropic Barrier

We have seen how we can use hit-and-run sampling to approximate the mean and covariance of a Boltzmann distribution to a desired accuracy. The reason for our interest in these objects was that they relate to the derivatives of the entropic barrier. In Chapter 3, we assumed that we could compute these derivatives exactly. This was of course unrealistic, so we relax that assumption in this chapter. As such, we will need the results from Chapter 5 to guarantee that our approximations of the barrier's derivatives are sufficiently accurate.

In Section 6.1, we propose an algorithm to approximate the gradient of the entropic barrier at a given point. This algorithm only uses hit-and-run sampling, and can therefore be implemented on any convex body for which a membership oracle is known. With this method, we state a short-step interior point method that only uses hit-and-run sampling in Section 6.2. As we will see, its asymptotic complexity will be the same as that of Kalai and Vempala's algorithm from Chapter 7. We sketch the relationship between the algorithms in this chapter and those

in the preceding chapters in Figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1: Sketch of the dependencies of the algorithms in Chapter 6

This chapter improves Section 6 from Badenbroek and De Klerk [8]. In Line 6 of Algorithm 6.2 below, we included a test that was not present in [8]. This test allows us to use constants for various parameters that depended on the problem dimension in [8]. As a result, here we get a significantly better asymptotic complexity for our short-step method than in [8]. Moreover, the results below apply to arbitrary inner products.

Let us first recall the setting from Section 3.3. The problem we consider is

(3.2), that is,

$$\min_{x \in S} \langle c, x \rangle, \tag{6.1}$$

where $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a convex body, and $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Let f and f^* be the log-partition function and the entropic barrier associated with S, respectively. (See Table 3.1 on page 32 for a summary of the notation involving these functions.) For any $\eta > 0$, define

$$f_{\eta}^{*}(x) \coloneqq \eta \langle c, x \rangle + f^{*}(x), \tag{6.2}$$

and denote its minimizer by $z(\eta)$, that is, $g^*(z(\eta)) = -\eta c$. We also saw that $H^*(z(\eta)) = \Sigma(-\eta c)^{-1}$. We want to use the step (3.6), which was

$$-\gamma H^*(z(\eta))^{-1}[\eta c + g^*(x)] = -\gamma \Sigma(-\eta c)[\eta c + \theta(x)], \qquad (6.3)$$

for some $\gamma \in [0, 1]$ to approximate the minimizer of f_n^* .

6.1 Gradient Approximation

We cannot compute $\Sigma(-\eta c)$ and $\theta(x)$ directly, so we will use sampling-based approximations. The approximation of $\Sigma(-\eta c)$ in (6.3) is conceptually straightforward: we generate a number of hit-and-run samples from the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $-\eta c$ and compute the empirical covariance. How to approximate $\theta(x)$ for some $x \in \operatorname{int} S$ may be less apparent.

We will use the suggestion from Abernethy and Hazan [1, Appendix D], which involves minimizing a certain functional. For our target $x \in \text{int } S$, we introduce the functional

$$\phi(\theta) \coloneqq f(\theta) - \langle \theta, x \rangle. \tag{6.4}$$

Note that the minimizer of ϕ is $\theta(x)$ and that the Hessian of ϕ is equal to the Hessian of f. Hence, we are interested in approximating the minimizer of a convex function ϕ . This will be done with respect to the inner product induced by $\Sigma(-\eta c)$ because we need an approximation $\hat{\theta}(x)$ of $\theta(x)$ such that $\|\hat{\theta}(x) - \theta(x)\|_{-\eta c}$ is small, in order to analyze (6.3). The gradient of ϕ at $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{-\eta c}$ is $\Sigma(-\eta c)^{-1}[x(\theta)-x]$, which we can approximate if we have good enough estimates of $\Sigma(-\eta c)^{-1}$ and $x(\theta)$. With this approximate gradient, we can apply the results from De Klerk et al. [35] to approximate the minimizer $\theta(x)$ of ϕ .

The following lemma combines some results from [35]. It shows that even with the mean and covariance approximations from Chapter 5, we can make progress to the minimizer $\theta(x)$ of (6.4) for a given $x \in S$. The parameter $\bar{\theta}$ is introduced below to fix an inner product. In the next section, we will set $\bar{\theta} = -\eta c$ for some $\eta > 0$.

Lemma 6.1. Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let f be its associated log-partition function. Let $\theta_0, \bar{\theta} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $x \in S$. Let $\delta < 1$ such that $\|\theta_0 - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}}, \|\theta(x) - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \leq \delta$. Let $\epsilon \geq 0$, and assume we have an approximation $\hat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})$ of $\Sigma(\bar{\theta})$ such that

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta}) \preceq \Sigma(\bar{\theta}) \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta}).$$
(6.5)

Moreover, let $\rho \ge 0$, and suppose we have an approximation $\hat{x}(\theta)$ of $x(\theta)$ for which it is known that $\|\hat{x}(\theta_0) - x(\theta_0)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}} \le \rho$. Assume $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfies

$$\frac{\rho\sqrt{1+\epsilon}}{(1-\delta)\|x(\theta_0)-x\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1}}} \le \alpha \le \frac{2(1-\delta)^4}{(1+\epsilon)^2 + (1-\delta)^4}.$$
(6.6)

Let $\theta_1 \coloneqq \theta_0 - \gamma \widehat{\Sigma}(\overline{\theta})^{-1}[\widehat{x}(\theta_0) - x]$, where

$$\gamma = \frac{2(1-\delta)^2(1+\epsilon)}{(1-\alpha)[(1+\epsilon)^2 + (1-\delta)^4]} - \frac{\alpha(1+\epsilon)}{(1-\alpha)(1-\delta)^2}$$

Then,

$$\|\theta_1 - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} \le \left(\frac{(1+\epsilon)^2 - (1-\delta)^4}{(1+\epsilon)^2 + (1-\delta)^4} + \alpha\right) \|\theta_0 - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})}.$$

Proof. Let ϕ be as in (6.4). Note that the minimizer of ϕ is $\theta(x)$ and that the Hessian of ϕ is equal to the Hessian of f. It follows from (6.5) and Lemma 2.4 that the approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}(\overline{\theta})^{-1}[\widehat{x}(\theta_0) - x]$ for the gradient of ϕ at θ_0 with respect to the inner product induced by $\widehat{\Sigma}(\overline{\theta})$ satisfies

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1} [\widehat{x}(\theta_0) - x] - \widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1} [x(\theta_0) - x] \right\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} &= \|\widehat{x}(\theta_0) - x(\theta_0)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1}} \\ &\leq \sqrt{1 + \epsilon} \|\widehat{x}(\theta_0) - x(\theta_0)\|_{\Sigma(\bar{\theta})^{-1}} \\ &\leq \frac{\sqrt{1 + \epsilon}}{1 - \delta} \|\widehat{x}(\theta_0) - x(\theta_0)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}}, \end{split}$$

where the final inequality used $\|\theta_0 - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \leq \delta$ and (2.5). Since by assumption $\|\hat{x}(\theta_0) - x(\theta_0)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_0)^{-1}} \leq \rho$,

$$\left\|\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1}[\widehat{x}(\theta_0) - x] - \widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1}[x(\theta_0) - x]\right\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} \le \alpha \left\|x(\theta_0) - x\right\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1}}.$$

Hence, α is a relative bound on the error in the approximation of the gradient.

By the assumption that $\|\theta_0 - \overline{\theta}\|_{\overline{\theta}}, \|\theta(x) - \overline{\theta}\|_{\overline{\theta}} \leq \delta$, it holds for both $\theta \in \{\theta_0, \theta(x)\}$ that

$$\langle \nu, \widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1}\Sigma(\theta)\nu\rangle_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} = \|\nu\|_{\theta}^{2} \leq \frac{\|\nu\|_{\bar{\theta}}^{2}}{(1-\|\theta-\bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}})^{2}} \leq \frac{1+\epsilon}{(1-\delta)^{2}} \langle \nu, I\nu\rangle_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})},$$

that is, the eigenvalues of the Hessian of ϕ at θ with respect to the inner product induced by $\widehat{\Sigma}(\overline{\theta})$ are bounded above by $(1+\epsilon)/(1-\delta)^2$. Similarly, we can derive the lower bound $(1-\delta)^2/(1+\epsilon)$ on this spectrum.

As noted in the proof of Theorem 5.4 in De Klerk et al. [35], the result on convergence to the minimizer from Theorem 5.3 in [35] only requires bounds on the Hessians of ϕ at θ_0 and the minimizer $\theta(x)$, and not necessarily at θ_1 . The claim thus follows from Theorem 5.3 in [35].

At a first glance, the presence of $||x(\theta_0) - x||_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\overline{\theta})^{-1}}$ in (6.6) may seem troublesome. If this norm were very small, it would be hard to satisfy the inequality (6.6). Fortunately, we do not have to proceed with our approximate gradient descent algorithm when this norm is small: if $x(\theta_0) \approx x$, then θ_0 is a good approximation of $\theta(x)$.

This idea is formalized in Algorithm 6.1. The algorithm requires, among others, a target $x \in S$ and an initial guess $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and tries to find a θ_i near θ_0 such that $\|\theta_i - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}}$ is smaller than some bound κ with high probability. The approach is to minimize (6.4) by approximating its gradient with hit-and-run sampling. Note that we fix various constants – this will be convenient when we refer to Algorithm 6.1 later.

The following theorem provides conditions under which Algorithm 6.1 returns a θ_i such that $\|\theta_i - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} \le \kappa$ with probability at least 1 - q for a small value of $q \in (0, 1]$. The core of the proof is a repeated application of Lemma 6.1. This result is loosely based on [8, Theorem 6.1], but here we provide more elegant bounds.

Algorithm 6.1 Approximation routine for $\theta(x)$

- **Input:** convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ contained in a ball with radius $R \ge 1$; log-partition function f and entropic barrier f^* associated with S; target $x \in \text{int } S$, starting point $\theta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and reference point $\bar{\theta} \in \mathbb{R}^n$; real K such that $\|\theta_0 - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} \le K = \frac{1}{8}$ and tolerance $\kappa = \frac{1}{100}$; approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})$ of $\Sigma(\bar{\theta})$ satisfying (6.5) for $\epsilon = \frac{1}{100}$; real $\delta = \frac{1}{4}$ such that $(1 + \epsilon)K + \|\theta(x) - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \le \delta$; sample \overline{X} from the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $\bar{\theta}$; number of iterations m; damping parameter γ ; number of samples N; number of hit-and-run steps ℓ . **Output:** θ_i such that $\|\theta_i - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} \le \kappa$ with high probability.
- 1: for $i \in \{0, ..., m-1\}$ do
- 2: Generate $Y_1, ..., Y_N$ by applying hit-and-run sampling to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_i , starting the walk from \overline{X} , taking ℓ steps, drawing directions from $\mathcal{N}(0, \hat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta}))$ -distribution
- 3: Compute sample mean: $\hat{x}(\theta_i) \leftarrow \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} Y_j$

4: **if**
$$\|\widehat{x}(\theta_i) - x\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\overline{\theta})^{-1}} \le \frac{5}{12}\kappa(1-\delta)^2/\sqrt{1+\epsilon}$$
 then

- 5: return θ_i
- 6: **else**

7:
$$\theta_{i+1} \leftarrow \theta_i - \gamma \widehat{\Sigma}(\overline{\theta})^{-1}[\widehat{x}(\theta_i) - x]$$

8: return θ_m

Theorem 6.2. Consider the setting of Algorithm 6.1. Let $q \in (0, 1]$, and

$$m = \left[\frac{\log(\kappa / [K(1+\epsilon)])}{\log\left(\frac{(1+\epsilon)^2 - (1-\delta)^4}{(1+\epsilon)^2 + (1-\delta)^4} + \frac{1+\epsilon}{5(1-\delta)^2}\right)} \right],$$
(6.7)

$$N = \left\lceil \frac{288nm}{q(1-\delta)^2 \kappa^2} \right\rceil,\tag{6.8}$$

$$p = \frac{q(1-\delta)^4 \kappa^2}{29376nR^2} \left(\frac{1}{16}\right) \left(\frac{1}{\max\{1, 4R\|\bar{\theta}\|\}}\right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)), \qquad (6.9)$$

and let ℓ be as in (4.10). (Note that ℓ depends on ϵ , n, p, and $\Delta \theta \coloneqq \delta$.) Finally,

set

$$\gamma = \frac{10(1-\delta)^4(1+\epsilon)}{[5(1-\delta)^2 - (1+\epsilon)][(1+\epsilon)^2 + (1-\delta)^4]} - \frac{(1+\epsilon)^2}{(1-\delta)^2 [5(1-\delta)^2 - (1+\epsilon)]}.$$

With these inputs, Algorithm 6.1 returns a θ_i with

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\|\theta_i - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} \le \kappa\right\} \ge 1 - q.$$

Proof. We will apply Lemma 6.1 to every iteration *i* of Algorithm 6.1 until termination.

The first condition we will investigate is $\|\theta_i - \overline{\theta}\|_{\overline{\theta}} \leq \delta$. This holds for i = 0, since

$$\begin{split} \|\theta_0 - \theta\|_{\bar{\theta}} &\leq \|\theta_0 - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} + \|\theta(x) - \theta\|_{\bar{\theta}} \\ &\leq K + \|\theta(x) - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \\ &\leq \delta. \end{split}$$

The remainder of this proof will show that $\|\theta_{i+1} - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} \leq \|\theta_i - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})}$ for all *i*, meaning that we make progress to the minimizer. Using this inequality repeatedly, we will see that for all *i*,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\theta_{i+1} - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} &\leq \|\theta_{i+1} - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} + \|\theta(x) - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \\ &\leq \sqrt{1 + \epsilon} \|\theta_{i+1} - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} + \|\theta(x) - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \\ &\leq \sqrt{1 + \epsilon} \|\theta_0 - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} + \|\theta(x) - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \\ &\leq (1 + \epsilon) \|\theta_0 - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} + \|\theta(x) - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \\ &\leq (1 + \epsilon)K + \|\theta(x) - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \leq \delta. \end{aligned}$$
(6.10)

To find an approximation $\hat{x}(\theta_i)$ of $x(\theta_i)$ such that $\|\hat{x}(\theta_i) - x(\theta_i)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_i)^{-1}} \leq \rho$ (with high probability), we can use Theorem 5.9. Since we already have $\|\theta_i - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}} \leq \delta = \Delta \theta$, it remains to state a lower bound on $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_i))$. It follows from (2.2) that $\Sigma(\theta_i) \succeq (1 - \|\theta_i - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}})^2 \Sigma(\bar{\theta}) \succeq (1 - \delta)^2 \Sigma(\bar{\theta})$, so

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_i)) = \min_{\nu: \|\nu\|=1} \langle \nu, \Sigma(\theta_i)\nu \rangle \ge (1-\delta)^2 \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\bar{\theta})).$$

Hence, an application of Theorem B.3 shows

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_i)) \geq \frac{1}{16} (1-\delta)^2 \left(\frac{1}{\max\{1, 4R \|\bar{\theta}\|\}}\right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)).$$

We then apply Theorem 5.9 to see that $\mathbb{P}\{\|\widehat{x}(\theta_i) - x(\theta_i)\|_{\Sigma(\theta_i)^{-1}} \le \rho\} \ge 1 - q/m$, where $\rho = \frac{1}{12}(1-\delta)\kappa$. Below, we assume that

$$\|\widehat{x}(\theta_{i}) - x(\theta_{i})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{i})^{-1}} \leq \frac{1}{12}(1-\delta)\kappa \qquad \forall i \in \{0, ..., m-1\},$$
(6.11)

and show that this leads to a successful termination of the algorithm. Thus, the success probability of Algorithm 6.1 will be at least 1-q.

Algorithm 6.1 distinguishes the following two cases in Lines 4 and 6:

(a) $\|\widehat{x}(\theta_i) - x\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\tilde{\theta})^{-1}} \le \frac{5}{12}\kappa(1-\delta)^2/\sqrt{1+\epsilon};$ (b) $\|\widehat{x}(\theta_i) - x\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\tilde{\theta})^{-1}} > \frac{5}{12}\kappa(1-\delta)^2/\sqrt{1+\epsilon}.$

Let us first show that the algorithm's termination in Case (a) is successful. Applying the first inequality in (2.1), (6.10), and Proposition 3.7, it can be seen that

$$\|\theta_{i} - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} \leq \frac{\|\theta_{i} - \theta(x)\|_{\theta_{i}}}{1 - \|\theta_{i} - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}}} \leq \frac{\|\theta_{i} - \theta(x)\|_{\theta_{i}}}{1 - \delta} \leq \frac{\|x(\theta_{i}) - x\|_{x(\theta_{i})}^{*}}{(1 - \delta)\left(1 - \|x(\theta_{i}) - x\|_{x(\theta_{i})}^{*}\right)}.$$

By the triangle inequality, the assumption (6.11), self-concordance, and (6.10),

$$\begin{split} \|x(\theta_{i}) - x\|_{x(\theta_{i})}^{*} &\leq \|x(\theta_{i}) - \widehat{x}(\theta_{i})\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{i})^{-1}} + \|\widehat{x}(\theta_{i}) - x\|_{\Sigma(\theta_{i})^{-1}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{12}(1 - \delta)\kappa + \frac{\|\widehat{x}(\theta_{i}) - x\|_{\Sigma(\bar{\theta})^{-1}}}{1 - \|\theta_{i} - \bar{\theta}\|_{\bar{\theta}}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{12}(1 - \delta)\kappa + \frac{\sqrt{1 + \epsilon}\|\widehat{x}(\theta_{i}) - x\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})^{-1}}}{1 - \delta} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{12}(1 - \delta)\kappa + \frac{5}{12}(1 - \delta)\kappa = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \delta)\kappa, \end{split}$$

where the final inequality uses Case (a). Hence, in Case (a), we have

$$\|\theta_{i} - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} \leq \frac{\frac{1}{2}(1-\delta)\kappa}{(1-\delta)[1-\frac{1}{2}(1-\delta)\kappa]} < \frac{\frac{1}{2}(1-\delta)\kappa}{(1-\delta)[1-\frac{1}{2}]} = \kappa,$$

so indeed Algorithm 6.1 terminates successfully.

Next, we will show that in Case (b), we make a certain amount of progress towards $\theta(x)$ by executing Line 7 in Algorithm 6.1. In Case (b), we can satisfy (6.6) by picking

$$\alpha = \frac{1+\epsilon}{5(1-\delta)^2}.$$
Lemma 6.1 therefore shows that for all i,

$$\|\theta_{i+1} - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} \leq \left(\frac{(1+\epsilon)^2 - (1-\delta)^4}{(1+\epsilon)^2 + (1-\delta)^4} + \frac{1+\epsilon}{5(1-\delta)^2}\right) \|\theta_i - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})}.$$

With m as in (6.7), we therefore get

$$\begin{split} \|\theta_m - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} &\leq \sqrt{1 + \epsilon} \|\theta_m - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} \\ &\leq \sqrt{1 + \epsilon} \frac{\kappa}{(1 + \epsilon)K} \|\theta_0 - \theta(x)\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(\bar{\theta})} \\ &\leq (1 + \epsilon) \frac{\kappa}{(1 + \epsilon)K} \|\theta_0 - \theta(x)\|_{\bar{\theta}} \leq \kappa, \end{split}$$

so after *m* iterations in Case (b), Algorithm 6.1 also terminates successfully. \Box

We conclude this section with a few words on the complexity of Algorithm 6.1 for the configuration in Theorem 6.2. The number of oracle calls is determined by the number of hit-and-run steps, which is $O^*(mN\ell)$. Note that the expression (6.7) for *m* depends only on constants, so m = O(1). It follows from (6.8) that N = O(n/q). Finally, the complexity of the walk length (4.10) is

$$\ell = O\left(\frac{n^3}{(1-\Delta\theta)^4}\log^2\left(\frac{n\sqrt{n}e^{1-2\Delta\theta}}{p^2(1-\Delta\theta)^4}\right)\log^3\left(\frac{e^{-2\Delta\theta}}{p^2(1-\Delta\theta)^2}\right)\right),\tag{6.12}$$

which, for fixed $\Delta \theta$ and the value of *p* from (6.9), yields

$$\ell = O^* \left(n^3 \left(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}} \right)^5 \log^5 \left(\frac{1}{\min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^2\}} \right) \right).$$

In conclusion, the number of oracle calls by Algorithm 6.1 for the configuration in Theorem 6.2 is

$$O^*(mN\ell) = O^*\left(\frac{n^4\vartheta_{f^*}^{2.5}}{q}\log^5\left(\frac{1}{\min\{1,\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^2\}}\right)\right).$$
 (6.13)

If $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ were the Euclidean inner product, the value of p in (6.9) could be made more explicit by replacing $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))$ with its lower bound from Lemma B.2. Then, the number of oracle calls by Algorithm 6.1 for the configuration in Theorem 6.2 would be $O^*(n^4\vartheta_{f^*}^{2.5}/q) = O^*(n^{6.5}/q)$ by Theorem 3.4.

6.2 Analysis of a Short-Step Method Using Hit-and-Run Sampling

Let us now specify the main short-step interior point method in detail. It will depend on a parameter $\delta^* = \frac{1}{10}$ and a maximum failure probability q^* . The reader should keep in mind that the parameters with an asterisk pertain to the method using the entropic barrier f^* , while the parameters $\delta = \frac{1}{4}$ and q used earlier in this chapter concern a method using f. With this notation, we hope to distinguish parameters that have similar functions in different algorithms, and that have different values.

Our short-step method is initialized with an $x_0 \in S$ and $\eta_0 > 0$ such that $||x_0 - z(\eta_0)||_{z(\eta_0)}^* \leq \delta^*$. Moreover, we assume to have an approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_0 c)$ of $\Sigma(-\eta_0 c)$ such that

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_0 c) \preceq \Sigma(-\eta_0 c) \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_0 c), \tag{6.14}$$

for some $\epsilon > 0$. Finally, we also need a sample X_0 from the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $-\eta_0 c$.

In every iteration k, we can start several hit-and-run random walks from a sample X_{k-1} from the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $-\eta_{k-1}c$. With these hit-and-run samples, we can create an approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)$ of $\Sigma(-\eta_k c)$, where $\eta_k > \eta_{k-1}$. Using a result from Chapter 5, we can then show that with high probability

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c) \preceq \Sigma(-\eta_k c) \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c).$$
(6.15)

We also generate X_k , and use it in a call to Algorithm 6.1 to approximate the gradient $\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})$ of $f_{\eta_k}^*$ at x_{k-1} . This approximation $\eta_k c + \hat{\theta}(x_{k-1})$ is such that $\|\hat{\theta}(x_{k-1}) - \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c}$ is small. With these two ingredients, we can take a step of the type (6.3) to $x_k = x_{k-1} - \gamma \hat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)[\eta_k c + \hat{\theta}(x_{k-1})]$ for some $\gamma \in [0, 1]$.

Let us first show that this step is close to (6.3) in a well defined sense. To simplify the notation, we drop the function arguments and subscripts in the lemma below. The reasoning is essentially the same as in De Klerk et al. [35], but they use slightly different assumptions.

Lemma 6.3 (Based on [35, Theorem 7.6 and Corollary 7.7]). Let $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$, and $c, \theta, \hat{\theta} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $\hat{\Sigma}$ and Σ be self-adjoint linear operators such that

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma} \preceq \Sigma \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma},$$

for some $\epsilon \geq 0$. Then,

$$\|\widehat{\Sigma}[\eta c + \widehat{\theta}] - \Sigma[\eta c + \theta]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}} \le (1 + \epsilon) \|\widehat{\theta} - \theta\|_{\Sigma} + \sqrt{2\epsilon(1 + \epsilon)} \|\eta c + \theta\|_{\Sigma}$$

Proof. By the triangle inequality,

$$\|\widehat{\Sigma}[\eta c + \widehat{\theta}] - \Sigma[\eta c + \theta]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}} \le \|\widehat{\Sigma}[\eta c + \widehat{\theta} - (\eta c + \theta)]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}} + \|(\widehat{\Sigma} - \Sigma)[\eta c + \theta]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}.$$
(6.16)

The first norm on the right hand side of (6.16) equals $\|\widehat{\Sigma}[\widehat{\theta} - \theta]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}$, which can be bounded by

$$\|\widehat{\Sigma}[\widehat{\theta}-\theta]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}} \leq \sqrt{1+\epsilon} \|\widehat{\Sigma}[\widehat{\theta}-\theta]\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}^{-1}} = \sqrt{1+\epsilon} \|\widehat{\theta}-\theta\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}} \leq (1+\epsilon) \|\widehat{\theta}-\theta\|_{\Sigma},$$

where the first inequality uses Lemma 2.4. The second norm on the right hand side of (6.16) can be bounded by noting that its square satisfies

$$\begin{split} \|(\widehat{\Sigma} - \Sigma)[\eta c + \theta]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}^2 &= \|\widehat{\Sigma}[\eta c + \theta]\|_{\Sigma^{-1}}^2 - 2\|\eta c + \theta\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}}^2 + \|\eta c + \theta\|_{\Sigma}^2 \\ &\leq (1 + \epsilon)\|\eta c + \theta\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}}^2 - 2\|\eta c + \theta\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}}^2 + (1 + \epsilon)\|\eta c + \theta\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}}^2 \\ &= 2\epsilon\|\eta c + \theta\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}}^2 \\ &\leq 2\epsilon(1 + \epsilon)\|\eta c + \theta\|_{\Sigma}^2, \end{split}$$

where the first inequality also uses Lemma 2.4.

We see that the distance between the approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)[\eta_k c + \widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})]$ and the true gradient $\Sigma(-\eta_k c)[\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})]$ depends in part on $\|\widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1}) - \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c}$, which can be made smaller than or equal to $\kappa = \frac{1}{100}$ with high probability by Theorem 6.2. The results from De Klerk et al. [35] however require this distance to be upper bounded by a multiple of $\|\Sigma(-\eta_k c)[\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})]\|_{z(\eta_k)}^* = \|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c}$. Therefore, the short-step method we propose below in Algorithm 6.2 tests if $\|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c}$ is sufficiently large before taking a step. Alternatively, if $\|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c}$ were very small, we would already have $x_{k-1} \approx z(\eta_k)$, so we do not need to take a step.

 \square

Algorithm 6.2 Short-step interior point method using hit-and-run sampling and the entropic barrier

Input: convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ contained in a ball with radius $R \ge 1$; log-partition function f and entropic barrier f^* associated with S; normalized (with respect to $\|\cdot\|$) objective $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$; optimality tolerance $\varepsilon \in (0, 2R]$; reals $\eta_0 > 0$ and $\delta^* = \frac{1}{10}$, and $x_0 \in S$ such that $\|x_0 - z(\eta_0)\|_{z(\eta_0)}^* \le \delta^*$; approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_0 c)$ of $\Sigma(-\eta_0 c)$ satisfying (6.14) for $\epsilon = \frac{1}{100}$; sample X_0 from the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $-\eta_0 c$; growth parameter $\beta = \frac{1}{100}$; number of iterations m; damping parameter γ ; number of samples N; number of hit-and-run steps ℓ .

Output: $x_m \in S$ such that $\langle c, x_m \rangle - \min_{x \in S} \langle c, x \rangle \leq \varepsilon$ with high probability.

1: for $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$ do

2:
$$\eta_k \leftarrow \eta_0 (1 + \beta / \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})^k$$

3: Generate $Y_{1k}, ..., Y_{Nk}$ and X_k by applying hit-and-run sampling to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $-\eta_k c$, starting the walk from X_{k-1} , taking ℓ steps, drawing directions from $\mathcal{N}(0, \widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_{k-1}c))$ -distribution

4:
$$\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)\nu \leftarrow \frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^N \langle Y_{jk}, \nu \rangle Y_{jk} - \frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^N \langle Y_{jk}, \nu \rangle \left(\frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^N Y_{jk}\right) \quad \forall \nu \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

5: Generate $\hat{\theta}(x_{k-1})$ through Algorithm 6.1 with the settings in Theorem 6.2 and $q = \frac{1}{2}q^*/m$, $\bar{\theta} = -\eta_k c$, $\theta_0 = -\eta_{k-1}c$, $\overline{X} = X_k$

6: **if**
$$\|\eta_k c + \widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)} \leq \frac{1}{30}$$
 then

- 7: $x_k \leftarrow x_{k-1}$
- 8: **else**

$$\varphi: \qquad x_k \leftarrow x_{k-1} - \gamma \widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c) [\eta_k c + \widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})]$$

10: return x_m

The test in Line 6 of Algorithm 6.2 was not present in [8]. There, we always executed Line 9, so $\|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c}$ had to be bounded away from zero. This complicated the algorithm's analysis, because various parameters had to be dependent on the problem dimension. Not only is Algorithm 6.2 easier to analyze, but the asymptotic number of oracle calls is also better. The following theorem provides parameters for which Algorithm 6.2 terminates successfully with high

probability.

Theorem 6.4. Consider the setting of Algorithm 6.2. Let $q^* \in (0, 1]$, and

$$m = \left\lceil \frac{\log\left((1+\delta^*)\vartheta_{f^*}/(\varepsilon\eta_0)\right)}{\log\left(1+\beta/\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}\right)} \right\rceil,\tag{6.17}$$

$$N = \left| \frac{969n^2m}{q^*\epsilon^2} \right|,\tag{6.18}$$

$$p = \frac{q^* \epsilon^2}{98838n^2 m R^4} \left(\frac{1}{256}\right) \left(\frac{\epsilon}{4R(1+\delta^*)(1+\beta)\vartheta_{f^*}}\right)^{8\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^2\},$$
(6.19)

and let ℓ be as in (4.10). (Note that ℓ depends on ϵ , n, p, and $\Delta \theta = \beta$.) Finally, set

$$\gamma = \frac{2(\frac{871}{980})^2}{0.4219[1 + (\frac{871}{980})^4]} - \frac{0.5781}{0.4219(\frac{871}{980})^2} \approx 0.5712.$$

With these inputs, Algorithm 6.2 returns a solution x_m with

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\langle c, x_m \rangle - \min_{x \in \mathcal{S}} \langle c, x \rangle \le \varepsilon\right\} \ge 1 - q^*.$$

Proof. Our goal is to prove that, with high probability, $||x_k - z(\eta_k)||_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \delta^*$ in each iteration $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$. The result will then follow from Lemma 3.10 if we note that

$$\eta_m = \eta_0 \left(1 + \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \right)^m \ge \frac{(1 + \delta^*) \vartheta_{f^*}}{\varepsilon}.$$

To show that $||x_k - z(\eta_k)||_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \delta^*$ for all k, it will be convenient to assume that all approximations $\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)$ satisfy (6.15), and that all calls to Algorithm 6.1 are successful. We first show that this happens with high probability in iteration k, provided we have a $\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_{k-1}c)$ satisfying (6.15) and an x_{k-1} such that $||x_{k-1} - z(\eta_{k-1})||_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^* \le \delta^*$.

We consider the conditions of Theorem 5.11 to assert that $\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)$ satisfies (6.15) with high probability. Observe first of all that

$$\|-\eta_k c + \eta_{k-1} c\|_{-\eta_{k-1} c} \le \beta, \tag{6.20}$$

by (3.9). Noting that for any k,

$$\eta_k \leq \eta_m = \eta_0 \left(1 + \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \right)^m \leq \frac{(1 + \delta^*)\vartheta_{f^*}}{\varepsilon} \left(1 + \frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \right) \leq \frac{(1 + \delta^*)(1 + \beta)\vartheta_{f^*}}{\varepsilon},$$

we have by Theorem B.3 and the assumption that ||c|| = 1,

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(-\eta_k c)) &\geq \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{\max\{1, 4R \| - \eta_k c \|\}} \right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)) \\ &\geq \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{4R(1+\delta^*)(1+\beta)\vartheta_{f^*}} \right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)). \end{split}$$

Hence, Theorem 5.11 shows that

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c) \preceq \Sigma(-\eta_k c) \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)\right\} \ge 1 - \frac{25q^*}{51m}.$$

Moreover, X_k is equal to a random variable following the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $-\eta_k c$ with probability at least $1 - p \ge 1 - \frac{1}{102}q^*/m$ by Theorem 4.14.

Moving on to Line 5 in Algorithm 6.2, we will verify the conditions for Theorem 6.2. To see that $\| -\eta_{k-1}c - \theta(x_{k-1}) \|_{-\eta_k c} \leq K$, note that by the selfconcordance of f, (6.20) and Proposition 3.7,

$$\begin{split} \| -\eta_{k-1}c - \theta(x_{k-1}) \|_{-\eta_k c} &\leq \frac{\| -\eta_{k-1}c - \theta(x_{k-1}) \|_{-\eta_{k-1}c}}{1 - \| -\eta_k c + \eta_{k-1}c \|_{-\eta_{k-1}c}} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{1 - \beta}\right) \frac{\| z(\eta_{k-1}) - x_{k-1} \|_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^*}{1 - \| z(\eta_{k-1}) - x_{k-1} \|_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^*} \\ &\leq \frac{\delta^*}{(1 - \beta)(1 - \delta^*)} = \frac{100}{891} \\ &\leq K = \frac{1}{8}. \end{split}$$

Moreover, we should have $(1 + \epsilon)K + \| - \eta_k c - \theta(x_{k-1}) \|_{-\eta_k c} \le \delta$. To this end, note that

$$\begin{split} \| -\eta_k c - \theta(x_{k-1}) \|_{-\eta_k c} &\leq \| -\eta_{k-1} c - \theta(x_{k-1}) \|_{-\eta_k c} + \| -\eta_k c + \eta_{k-1} c \|_{-\eta_k c} \\ &\leq \frac{100}{891} + \frac{\| -\eta_k c + \eta_{k-1} c \|_{-\eta_{k-1} c}}{1 - \| -\eta_k c + \eta_{k-1} c \|_{-\eta_{k-1} c}} \\ &\leq \frac{100}{891} + \frac{\beta}{1 - \beta} = \frac{109}{891}. \end{split}$$

Then $(1+\epsilon)K + \|-\eta_k c - \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c} \le 0.2486 \le \delta = \frac{1}{4}$. The success probability of each call to Algorithm 6.1 is therefore at least $1-q = 1-\frac{1}{2}q^*/m$ by Theorem 6.2.

Below, we assume that

$$\|\widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1}) - \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c} \le \kappa \coloneqq \frac{1}{100} \quad \forall k \in \{1, ..., m\},$$
(6.21)

and

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c) \preceq \Sigma(-\eta_k c) \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c) \qquad \forall k \in \{1, ..., m\}.$$
(6.22)

and show that this leads to a successful termination of the algorithm. Thus, the success probability of Algorithm 6.2 will be at least $1-q^*$.

Algorithm 6.2 distinguishes the following two cases in Lines 6 and 8:

- (a) $\|\eta_k c + \widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)} \le \frac{1}{30};$
- (b) $\|\eta_k c + \widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)} > \frac{1}{30}.$

Let us first show that in Case (a), we have $||x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)||_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \delta^*$, in which case we could take $x_k = x_{k-1}$. By Proposition 3.7, and the fact that $\theta(z(\eta_k)) = -\eta_k c$,

$$\|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \frac{\|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c}}{1 - \|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c}}.$$

By the triangle inequality and assumptions (6.21) and (6.22), we have in Case (a),

$$\begin{aligned} \|\eta_{k}c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_{k}c} &\leq \|\eta_{k}c + \hat{\theta}(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_{k}c} + \|\hat{\theta}(x_{k-1}) - \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_{k}c} \\ &\leq \sqrt{1+\epsilon} \|\eta_{k}c + \hat{\theta}(x_{k-1})\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_{k}c)} + \kappa \\ &\leq \frac{1}{30}\sqrt{1+\epsilon} + \kappa = \frac{1}{30}\sqrt{1.01} + \frac{1}{100} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2}\delta^{*} = \frac{1}{20}. \end{aligned}$$

Because $\delta^* = \frac{1}{10}$, we therefore have

$$\|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \frac{\frac{1}{2}\delta^*}{1 - \frac{1}{2}\delta^*} = \frac{\frac{1}{2}\delta^*}{\frac{19}{20}} < \delta^*.$$

Now, let us suppose we are in Case (b), such that we take the step in Line 9. To prove that after this step, we again have $||x_k - z(\eta_k)||_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \delta^*$, we should first

bound the initial distance $||x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)||_{z(\eta_k)}^*$. By the self-concordance of f^* and Corollary 3.8,

$$\|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \frac{\|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^*}{1 - \|z(\eta_{k-1}) - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^*} \le \frac{\|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^*}{1 - \beta/(1 - \beta)}.$$

Using Corollary 3.8 once more, along with the induction hypothesis that $||x_{k-1} - z(\eta_{k-1})||_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^* \leq \delta^*$ yields

$$\|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_k)}^* \le \frac{\|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_{k-1})\|_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^* + \|z(\eta_{k-1}) - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_{k-1})}^*}{1 - \beta/(1 - \beta)} \le \frac{\delta^* + \beta/(1 - \beta)}{1 - \beta/(1 - \beta)} = \frac{109}{980}.$$
(6.23)

To invoke the results from De Klerk et al. [35], we need an upper bound on the relative error in our estimate $\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)[\eta_k c + \widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})]$ of the gradient of $f_{\eta_k}^*$ with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{z(\eta_k)}^*$ at x_{k-1} . Using the assumption (6.22), it follows from Lemma 6.3 that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)[\eta_k c + \widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})] - \Sigma(-\eta_k c)[\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})]\|_{z(\eta_k)}^* \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon)\kappa + \sqrt{2\epsilon(1+\epsilon)} \|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c} \end{aligned}$$

In Case (b), we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{30} < \|\eta_k c + \widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})\|_{\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_k c)} \\ &\leq \sqrt{1+\epsilon} \left(\|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c} + \|\widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1}) - \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c} \right) \\ &\leq \sqrt{1+\epsilon} \left(\|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c} + \kappa \right), \end{split}$$

that is,

$$\|\eta_k c + \theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_k c} > \frac{1}{30\sqrt{1+\epsilon}} - \kappa = \frac{1}{3\sqrt{101}} - \frac{1}{100}.$$

Consequently, we can express the bound on the relative error in the gradient es-

timate as

$$\begin{split} \|\widehat{\Sigma}(-\eta_{k}c)[\eta_{k}c+\widehat{\theta}(x_{k-1})] - \Sigma(-\eta_{k}c)[\eta_{k}c+\theta(x_{k-1})]\|_{z(\eta_{k})}^{*} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{(1+\epsilon)\kappa}{\|\eta_{k}c+\theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_{k}c}} + \sqrt{2\epsilon(1+\epsilon)}\right)\|\eta_{k}c+\theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_{k}c} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{(1+\epsilon)\kappa}{\frac{1}{3\sqrt{101}} - \frac{1}{100}} + \sqrt{2\epsilon(1+\epsilon)}\right)\|\eta_{k}c+\theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_{k}c} \\ &\leq 0.5781\|\eta_{k}c+\theta(x_{k-1})\|_{-\eta_{k}c}. \end{split}$$
(6.24)

As noted in the proof of Theorem 5.4 in De Klerk et al. [35], the result on convergence to the minimizer from Theorem 5.3 in [35] only requires bounds on the Hessians with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{z(\eta_k)}^*$ of $f_{\eta_k}^*$ at x_{k-1} and the minimizer $z(\eta_k)$, and not necessarily at x_k . Since $H_{z(\eta_k)}^*(z(\eta_k)) = I$, it remains to note that by (6.23), we have for all $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\langle v, H_{z(\eta_k)}^*(x_{k-1})v \rangle_{z(\eta_k)}^* = (\|v\|_{x_{k-1}}^*)^2$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{\|v\|_{z(\eta_k)}^*}{1 - \|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_k)}^*}\right)^2 \leq \left(\frac{980}{871}\right)^2 (\|v\|_{z(\eta_k)}^*)^2,$$

and similarly $\langle v, H_{z(\eta_k)}^*(x_{k-1})v \ge \left(\frac{871}{980}\right)^2 (\|v\|_{z(\eta_k)}^*)^2$. It thus follows from Theorem 5.3 in [35], (6.24), and (6.23) that

$$\begin{split} \|x_k - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_k)}^* &\leq \left(\frac{1 - \left(\frac{871}{980}\right)^4}{1 + \left(\frac{871}{980}\right)^4} + 0.5781\right) \|x_{k-1} - z(\eta_k)\|_{z(\eta_k)}^* \\ &\leq (0.8097)\frac{109}{980} \\ &\leq \delta^* = \frac{1}{10}. \end{split}$$

We end this chapter with a complexity analysis of Algorithm 6.2 with the configuration from Theorem 6.4. To find an asymptotic bound on the value of *m* in (6.17), note that for fixed $\beta > 0$,

$$\frac{1}{\log\left(1+\beta/\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}\right)} = O\left(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}\right),$$

such that $m = O^*(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})$. Then, the number of samples in (6.18) satisfies $N = O^*(n^2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}/q^*)$. The complexity of the walk length is given by (6.12), which for the value of p from (6.19) is

$$\ell = O^* \left(n^3 \left(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}} \right)^5 \log^5 \left(\frac{1}{\min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^4\}} \right) \right).$$

In conclusion, the total number of oracle calls by Line 3 in Algorithm 6.2 with the configuration from Theorem 6.4 is

$$O^{*}(mN\ell) = O^{*}\left(\frac{n^{5}\vartheta_{f^{*}}^{3.5}}{q^{*}}\log^{5}\left(\frac{1}{\min\{1,\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^{4}\}}\right)\right).$$
(6.25)

The other potential bottleneck is Line 5, which calls Algorithm 6.1 m times. By (6.13), the number of oracle calls in this line is

$$O^{*}\left(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^{*}}} \frac{n^{4} \vartheta_{f^{*}}^{2.5}}{q} \log^{5}\left(\frac{1}{\min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^{2}\}}\right)\right)$$
$$= O^{*}\left(\frac{n^{4} \vartheta_{f^{*}}^{3.5}}{q^{*}} \log^{5}\left(\frac{1}{\min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^{2}\}}\right)\right)$$

for $q = \frac{1}{2}q^*/m$. Since $\vartheta_{f^*} = O(n)$ by Theorem 3.4, the factor (6.25) dominates the number of oracle calls in Algorithm 6.2. We have thus shown the following.

Theorem 6.5. Consider Algorithm 6.2 with the configuration from Theorem 6.4. The number of oracle calls by this algorithm is

$$O^* \left(\frac{n^5 \vartheta_{f^*}^{3.5}}{q^*} \log^5 \left(\frac{1}{\min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^4\}} \right) \right) \\= O^* \left(\frac{n^{8.5}}{q^*} \log^5 \left(\frac{1}{\min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^4\}} \right) \right).$$

If $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ were the Euclidean inner product, the value of p in (6.19) could be made more explicit by replacing $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))$ with its lower bound from Lemma B.2. Then, the number of oracle calls would be

$$O^*\left(\frac{n^5\vartheta_{f^*}^{3.5}}{q^*}\right) = O^*\left(\frac{n^{8.5}}{q^*}\right).$$

Simulated Annealing for Convex Optimization

The approximation quality tools from Chapter 5 have wider applications than just the interior point method from Chapter 6. In this chapter, we look at a different method: the simulated annealing algorithm by Kalai and Vempala [56]. This algorithm was recently connected to the field of interior point methods by Abernethy and Hazan [1]. They showed that the means of the Boltzmann distributions that the simulated annealing algorithm encounters lie on the central path of an interior point method using the entropic barrier, such as the one in Chapter 6. Exploiting this connection, they propose a new temperature schedule for the simulated annealing algorithm that depends on the entropic barrier's complexity parameter, not on the problem dimension.

Our purpose in this chapter is to analyze the complexity of Kalai and Vempala's algorithm using Abernethy and Hazan's temperature schedule. This exercise is relevant because, in their original paper, Kalai and Vempala only sketch a crucial proof (i.e. [56, Theorem 4.2]). Abernethy and Hazan's improved temperature

schedule leans on this analysis, and therefore also lacks a rigorous foundation. With the tools developed in previous chapters, we can give a formal analysis. Moreover, we propose some heuristic modifications to the algorithm, and verify that they improve the algorithm's numerical performance.

We introduce Kalai and Vempala's algorithm with Abernethy and Hazan's temperature scheme in Section 7.1. Section 7.2 shows that this algorithm returns a solution that is near-optimal with high probability. In Section 7.3 we analyze the algorithm's complexity, and compare it with Kalai and Vempala's original analysis [56]. Section 7.4 features a numerical experiment, based on which we propose some heuristic changes to the algorithm. We sketch the relationship between the algorithms in this chapter and those in the preceding chapters in Figure 7.1.



Figure 7.1: Sketch of the dependencies of the algorithms in Chapter 7

This chapter is based on Sections 1.1, 4, 5.3, and 5.4 from Badenbroek and De Klerk [9]. Background material on the completely positive cone (to be defined

in Section 7.4) was taken from the introduction of Badenbroek and De Klerk [10]. Aside from some minor differences due to changes in previous chapters, the main change in this chapter compared to [9] is that we perform the analysis with respect to arbitrary inner products. For the sake of concreteness, the convergence and complexity results will also be stated for the Euclidean inner product as corollaries.

The reader may wish to take note of the notation summarized in Table 3.1 on page 32.

7.1 Statement of a Simulated Annealing Algorithm

Kalai and Vempala's algorithm [56] aims to solve problem (3.2), that is,

$$\min_{x\in\mathcal{S}}\langle c,x\rangle,\tag{7.1}$$

where $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a convex body, through *simulated annealing*. Simulated annealing was originally introduced for combinatorial optimization problems by Kirkpatrick et al. [63]. The method is named after the annealing process from metallurgy where a metal is first heated for a while, and then slowly cooled to improve its physical properties. Simulated annealing borrows a temperature parameter from annealing, and decreases this temperature over the course of the process. The temperature signifies the randomness in the process in some sense. It was shown by Hajek [49] that simulated annealing on finite sets converges to the global optimum if one takes an exponentially long cooling schedule, even for non-convex problems. Furthermore, simulated annealing has good empirical performance as well and is often used as a heuristic in practice, see Kirkpatrick [62]. For a survey, we refer to Bertsimas et al. [14].

In each iteration k of Kalai and Vempala's algorithm [56], the temperature T_k is lowered. Then, hit-and-run samples are generated whose target distribution is the Boltzmann distribution with parameter $\theta_k = -c/T_k$. These random walks use an approximation $\hat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1})$ of $\Sigma(\theta_{k-1})$ to generate search directions. With these samples, an approximation $\hat{\Sigma}(\theta_k)$ of $\Sigma(\theta_k)$ is formed, which will then be used in the next iteration. As k grows sufficiently large, so does the norm of θ_k . The Boltzmann distributions with parameter θ_k will then concentrate more and more probability mass close to the set of optimal solutions to (7.1). For sufficiently

large *k*, any sample from such a Boltzmann distribution is near-optimal with high probability.

One thing that needs further clarification is how to decrease the temperature in each iteration. In their original paper, Kalai and Vempala [56] show that their algorithm returns a near-optimal solution with high probability for the temperature update

$$T_k = \left(1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\right) T_{k-1},\tag{7.2}$$

in $m = O^*(\sqrt{n})$ iterations. Abernethy and Hazan [1] propose the alternative temperature update

$$T_k = \left(1 - \frac{1}{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}}\right) T_{k-1},\tag{7.3}$$

where ϑ_{f^*} is the complexity parameter of the entropic barrier over the convex body S. Abernethy and Hazan show that (7.3) leads to $m = O^*(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})$ iterations. By Theorem 3.4, we have $\vartheta_{f^*} \le n + o(n)$ in general, but it is not currently known if $\vartheta_{f^*} < n$ for any convex bodies. (We presented numerical evidence in Figure 3.1 that suggests $\vartheta_{f^*} = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)$ for the Euclidean unit ball in \mathbb{R}^n , but did not prove this formally.) In particular, the temperature update (7.3) only improves on (7.2) if $\vartheta_{f^*} < \frac{1}{16}n$, which is not known to hold for any convex body. We therefore consider a variation on the temperature schedule (7.3) suggested by Abernethy and Hazan, namely

$$T_{k} = \left(1 - \frac{1}{\beta \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^{*}}}}\right) T_{k-1} \quad \text{for some} \quad \beta > 1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^{*}}}}, \tag{7.4}$$

which corresponds to (7.3) when $\beta = 4$, but gives larger temperature reductions when $\beta < 4$. We will refer to (7.4) as Abernethy-Hazan-type temperature updates. If $\vartheta_{f^*} < n$, this may result in a larger temperature decrease than the Kalai and Vempala [56] scheme (7.2), for a suitable choice of the parameter β .

The algorithm by Kalai and Vempala [56] that uses a temperature schedule of the type introduced by Abernethy and Hazan [1] is given in Algorithm 7.1.

One might wonder how to generate a good estimate $\widehat{\Sigma}(0)$ of the uniform covariance matrix $\Sigma(0)$ to start Algorithm 7.1. The "rounding the body" procedure from Lovász and Vempala [73] is suitable for this purpose. It is shown by Theorem **Algorithm 7.1** Algorithm by Kalai and Vempala [56] using temperature schedule of type introduced by Abernethy and Hazan [1]

- **Input:** convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ contained in a ball with radius $R \ge 1$; log-partition function f and entropic barrier f^* associated with S; normalized (with respect to $\|\cdot\|$) objective $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$; optimality tolerance $\varepsilon \in (0, 2R]$; approximation $\hat{\Sigma}(0)$ of $\Sigma(0)$ satisfying $\frac{1}{2}\hat{\Sigma}(0)^{-1} \le \Sigma(0)^{-1} \le 2\hat{\Sigma}(0)^{-1}$; $x_0 \in S$ drawn from the uniform distribution over S; number of iterations m; growth parameter $\beta > 1 + 1/\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}$; number of samples N; number of hit-and-run steps ℓ . **Output:** $X_m \in S$ such that $\langle c, X_m \rangle - \min_{x \in S} \langle c, x \rangle \le \varepsilon$ with high probability.
 - 1: $X_0 \leftarrow x_0$
- 2: $\theta_0 \leftarrow 0$
- 3: $T_0 \leftarrow 2\beta R$
- 4: for $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$ do
- 5: $T_k \leftarrow \left(1 1/(\beta \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})\right) T_{k-1}$
- 6: $\theta_k \leftarrow -c/T_k$
- 7: Generate $Y_{1k}, ..., Y_{Nk}$ and X_k by applying hit-and-run sampling to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_k , starting the walk from X_{k-1} , taking ℓ steps, drawing directions from a $\mathcal{N}(0, \widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1}))$ -distribution

8:
$$\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_k) \nu \leftarrow \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \langle Y_{jk}, \nu \rangle Y_{jk} - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \langle Y_{jk}, \nu \rangle \left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N Y_{jk}\right) \quad \forall \nu \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

9: return X_m

5.3 in [73] that this procedure returns a $\widehat{\Sigma}(0)$ for which

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\frac{1}{2}\widehat{\Sigma}(0) \leq \Sigma(0) \leq 2\widehat{\Sigma}(0)\right\} \geq 1 - \frac{1}{n}.$$

By Lemma 2.4, $\frac{1}{2}\widehat{\Sigma}(0) \leq \Sigma(0) \leq 2\widehat{\Sigma}(0)$ if and only if $\frac{1}{2}\widehat{\Sigma}(0)^{-1} \leq \Sigma(0)^{-1} \leq 2\widehat{\Sigma}(0)^{-1}$, so the starting condition for Algorithm 7.1 can be satisfied by the "rounding the body" procedure. The number of calls to the membership oracle for this procedure is $O^*(n^4)$. As we will see in Section 7.3, this number of oracle calls will be overshadowed by the oracle calls from Algorithm 7.1.

7.2 Proof of Convergence

Suppose we could show that hit-and-run sampling mixes with the target distribution in each iteration of Algorithm 7.1. Then, it would suffice to argue that the final iterate X_m is near-optimal with high probability. Keeping Markov's inequality in mind, this near-optimality can be shown if the expected objective value of a random variable following a low-temperature distribution is close to the optimal value. This is the topic of the next lemma. It was established by Kalai and Vempala [56] for linear functions, and extended from linear to convex functions by De Klerk and Laurent [32].

Lemma 7.1 ([32, Corollary 1]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body. For any convex functional $\phi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and temperature T > 0, we have

$$\frac{\int_{\mathcal{S}} \phi(x) e^{-\phi(x)/T} \,\mathrm{d}x}{\int_{\mathcal{S}} e^{-\phi(x)/T} \,\mathrm{d}x} \le nT + \min_{x \in \mathcal{S}} \phi(x).$$

The main step in the analysis of Algorithm 7.1 is thus to show that we maintain a good approximation $\hat{\Sigma}(\theta_k)$ of $\Sigma(\theta_k)$ for all k, to guarantee that the hit-and-run sampling continues to work in all iterations. This analysis was done with respect to the Euclidean inner product in [9, Theorem 14], but here we do it for arbitrary inner products.

Theorem 7.2. Consider the setting of Algorithm 7.1. Let $\Delta \theta = \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}/(\beta \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}-1)$, $q \in (0,1]$,

$$m = \left[\frac{\log\left(q\varepsilon/(4\beta nR)\right)}{\log\left(1 - 1/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})\right)}\right],\tag{7.5}$$

$$N = \left\lceil \frac{969n^2m}{q} \right\rceil,\tag{7.6}$$

$$p = \frac{q}{98838mn^2 R^4} \left(\frac{1}{256}\right) \left(\frac{q\varepsilon}{16nR}\right)^{8\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^2\},$$
(7.7)

and let ℓ be as in (4.10). (Note that ℓ depends on $\epsilon = 1$, n, p, and $\Delta \theta$.) With these inputs, Algorithm 7.1 returns a solution X_m with

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\langle c, X_m \rangle - \min_{x \in \mathcal{S}} \langle c, x \rangle \le \varepsilon\right\} \ge 1 - q.$$

Proof. Throughout all iterations *k* of Algorithm 7.1, we want to maintain the conditions that X_k is equal to a sample from the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_k , and

$$\frac{1}{2}\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_k)^{-1} \preceq \Sigma(\theta_k)^{-1} \preceq 2\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_k)^{-1},$$
(7.8)

with a certain high probability. We assume that these conditions hold in iteration k - 1, and we will show that they then also hold for iteration k with high probability.

First, let us show that the conditions of Theorem 4.14 are satisfied. For k = 1, (B.1) in Appendix B shows

$$\|\theta_1-\theta_0\|_{\theta_0}=\frac{\|c\|_0}{T_1}\leq \frac{2R}{T_1}=\frac{2R}{2\beta R\left(1-1/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})\right)}=\Delta\theta.$$

For all k > 1, our choice of θ_k and (3.1) yield

$$\|\theta_{k} - \theta_{k-1}\|_{\theta_{k-1}} = \left(\frac{T_{k-1}}{T_{k}} - 1\right) \|\theta_{k-1}\|_{\theta_{k-1}} \le \left(\frac{1}{1 - 1/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})} - 1\right) \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}} = \Delta\theta.$$

Therefore, for any $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$, Theorem 4.14 and Lemma 4.5 show that with probability at least 1-p, X_k is equal to a random variable drawn from a Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_k .

Next, we will apply Theorem 5.11 with $\xi = 1$ to show $\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_k)$ is a good approximation of $\Sigma(\theta_k)$. For that, we need a lower bound on $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_k))$, such as the one given by Theorem B.3:

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_k)) \geq \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{\max\{1, 4R \| \theta_k \|\}} \right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)).$$

To upper bound $\|\theta_k\|$, note that

$$m \leq \frac{\log(q\varepsilon/(2nR))}{\log(1-1/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}))} + 1,$$

such that for all $k \leq m$,

$$\|\theta_k\| \leq \|\theta_m\| = \frac{\|c\|}{T_m} = \frac{1}{R(1-1/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}))^m} \leq \frac{2n}{(1-1/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}))q\varepsilon}$$

Since $\vartheta_{f^*} \ge 1$ for any self-concordant barrier f^* (see Nesterov and Nemirovskii [85]), it holds for any $\beta > 1 + 1/\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}} \ge 2/\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}$ that

$$\frac{1}{1 - 1/(\beta \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})} < \frac{1}{1 - \frac{1}{2}} = 2.$$

Hence, $\|\theta_k\| \leq 4n/(q\varepsilon)$ and

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_k)) \ge \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{q\varepsilon}{16nR} \right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)).$$

It follows that the chosen values for *N* and *p* satisfy

$$N \ge \frac{475n^2}{(\frac{25}{51}q/m)} \quad \text{and} \quad p \le \frac{(\frac{25}{51}q/m)\min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta_k))^2\}}{48450n^2\max\{1, R^4\}},$$

such that Theorem 5.11 shows that (7.8) holds in iteration *k* with probability at least $1 - \frac{25}{51}q/m$.

By induction, X_m is equal to a random variable drawn from a Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_m and (7.8) holds for k = m with probability at least

$$1 - m\left(p + \frac{25q}{51m}\right) \ge 1 - m\left(\frac{q}{102m} + \frac{25q}{51m}\right) = 1 - \frac{1}{2}q,$$

by the union bound. In this event, Markov's inequality and Lemma 7.1 show

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\langle c, X_m \rangle - \min_{x \in \mathcal{S}} \langle c, x \rangle > \varepsilon\right\} \le \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\langle c, X_m \rangle - \min_{x \in \mathcal{S}} \langle c, x \rangle\right]}{\varepsilon} \le \frac{nT_m}{\varepsilon} \le \frac{1}{2}q, \quad (7.9)$$

where the final inequality uses the chosen value of m as follows:

$$T_m = 2\beta R \left(1 - \frac{1}{\beta \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \right)^m \le 2\beta R \frac{q\varepsilon}{4\beta nR} = \frac{q\varepsilon}{2n}.$$

This result is still phrased in terms of an arbitrary inner product, and the value of p depends on this inner product. If we were to restrict ourselves to the Euclidean inner product, we could use the lower bound on $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))$ from Lemma B.2 to make the value of p more explicit. The following result is essentially [9, Theorem 14] with slightly different constants.

Corollary 7.3. Consider the setting of Algorithm 7.1, and let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the Euclidean inner product. Assume S contains a ball with radius r > 0. Let $q \in (0,1]$, $\Delta \theta = \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}-1)$,

$$\begin{split} m &= \left\lceil \frac{\log\left(q\varepsilon/(4\beta nR)\right)}{\log\left(1 - 1/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})\right)} \right\rceil,\\ N &= \left\lceil \frac{969n^2m}{q} \right\rceil,\\ p &= \frac{q}{98838mn^2R^4} \left(\frac{1}{256}\right) \left(\frac{q\varepsilon}{16nR}\right)^{8\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \min\left\{1, \frac{1}{16}\left(\frac{r}{n+1}\right)^4\right\}, \end{split}$$

and let ℓ be as in (4.10). (Note that ℓ depends on $\epsilon = 1$, n, p, and $\Delta \theta$.) With these inputs, Algorithm 7.1 returns a solution X_m with

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\langle c, X_m \rangle - \min_{x \in \mathcal{S}} \langle c, x \rangle \le \varepsilon\right\} \ge 1 - q.$$

7.3 Complexity Analysis and Discussion

We saw that for some combination of inputs, Algorithm 7.1 returns a solution which is near-optimal with high probability. Let us now consider the number of membership oracle calls required for this configuration. As we saw in Section 4.1, the number of oracle calls for one hit-and-run walk is $O^*(\ell)$. Hence, Algorithm 7.1 uses $O^*(mN\ell)$ oracle calls.

First, let us look at the number of iterations from (7.5). Since

$$\frac{-1}{\log\left(1-1/(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})\right)} = O(\beta\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}),$$

we have $m = O^*(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})$ for fixed β . Next, the number of samples from (7.6) satisfies $N = O^*(n^2 m/q) = O^*(n^2 \sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}/q)$.

Finally, we bound the number of hit-and-run steps used in Theorem 7.2. For the $\Delta\theta$ from Theorem 7.2 and the value of *p* from (7.7), (6.12) shows

$$\ell = O^* \left(n^3 \left(\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}} \right)^5 \log^5 \left(\frac{1}{\min\{1, \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^4\}} \right) \right).$$

In particular, Lemma B.2 shows that $\ell = O^*(n^3 \vartheta_{f^*}^{2.5})$ for the Euclidean inner product.

Summarizing, the total number of oracle calls by Algorithm 7.1 is

$$O^{*}(mN\ell) = O^{*}\left(\frac{n^{5}\vartheta_{f^{*}}^{3.5}}{q}\log^{5}\left(\frac{1}{\min\{1,\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^{4}\}}\right)\right)$$
$$= O^{*}\left(\frac{n^{8.5}}{q}\log^{5}\left(\frac{1}{\min\{1,\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))^{4}\}}\right)\right),$$

where we used Theorem 3.4. For the Euclidean inner product in particular, the total number of oracle calls is $O^*(n^5\vartheta_{f^*}^{3.5}/q) = O^*(n^{8.5}/q)$.

Kalai and Vempala [56, Theorem 2.1] claim that the number of oracle calls made by their algorithm is $O^*(n^{4.5})$. The complexity $O^*(n^5\vartheta_{f^*}^{3.5}/q)$ shown above is worse because Kalai and Vempala use the following corollary to a theorem by Rudelson [97].

Theorem 7.4 ([56, Theorem A.1]). Let ψ be a logconcave probability distribution over \mathbb{R}^n with mean 0 and identity covariance, and let $\xi > 0, t > 1$. Then, there exists a number N with

$$N = O\left(\frac{nt^2}{\xi^2}\log^2(n/\xi^2)\max\{t,\log n\}\right),$$
(7.10)

such that for N independent samples $X_1, ..., X_N$ from ψ we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N}X_{j}X_{j}^{\top}-I\right\|^{t}\right] \leq \xi^{t}.$$

This theorem cannot be directly applied in the setting of Algorithm 7.1 for three reasons: the hit-and-run samples do not follow the target distribution ψ , the samples are not independent, and ψ does not have mean 0 and identity covariance. As we have seen in Theorem 4.14, the samples are drawn from a distribution that has total variation distance p > 0 to ψ . Moreover, the samples were shown to be 6*p*-independent by Corollary 5.6. Finally, to apply Theorem 7.4 to a Boltzmann distribution with parameter $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ over a convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, we should apply the transformation $y \mapsto \Sigma(\theta)^{-1/2}(y - x(\theta))$ to S to make the mean 0 and the covariance the identity. Consequently, the transformed body is not necessarily contained in a ball with radius *R* anymore; in the worst case, the radius of the new enclosing ball depends on the smallest eigenvalue of $\Sigma(\theta)$. Since we do not have a better bound on this eigenvalue than Theorem B.3 (or Corollary B.4 for the Euclidean inner product), the diameter of $\Sigma(\theta)^{-1/2}(S - x(\theta))$ may be exponential in *n*. The suggestions by Kalai and Vempala to prove a statement similar to Theorem 7.4 in the hit-and-run setting require a bound on this diameter. If this bound grows exponentially in *n*, then *p* should decrease exponentially in *n* to compensate (see for instance Kannan et al. [58, Lemma 2.7 and the proof of Theorem 5.9]). Such a small *p* would contribute a polynomial factor of *n* to the final algorithm complexity.

While Kalai and Vempala claim that Theorem 7.4 can be extended to the hitand-run setting without significantly changing (7.10), a formal proof is not given. In particular, it is not shown how the relaxation of the independence assumption can be aligned with Rudelson's proof, and how to bound the diameter of the transformed body $\Sigma(\theta)^{-1/2}(S - x(\theta))$. Assuming these issues can be overcome, Kalai and Vempala show the following.

Theorem 7.5 ([56, Theorem 4.2]). Let $t \ge 0$. With $N = O^*(t^3n)$ samples per iteration in each of *m* iterations, the approximations $\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1})$ of $\Sigma(\theta_{k-1})$ generated by Algorithm 7.1 satisfy

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\frac{1}{160}\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1}) \preceq \Sigma(\theta_k) \preceq 160\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1}) \qquad \forall k \in \{1, ..., m\}\right\} \ge 1 - \frac{m}{2^t}$$

If $\frac{1}{160}\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1}) \leq \Sigma(\theta_k) \leq 160\widehat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1})$ for all k, hit-and-run sampling mixes in all iterations. Kalai and Vempala are thus able to pick $t = O(\log(m/q))$, and can therefore claim $N = O^*(n)$. We find in Theorem 5.11 that $N = O(n^2/(q/m))$ samples are required, which is $O^*(n\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}/q) = O^*(n^{1.5}/q)$ worse than Kalai and Vempala's result.

Moreover, by considering the diameter of $\Sigma(\theta)^{-1/2}(S - x(\theta))$, we let p decrease quadratically in $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta))$. Since the best lower bound on $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta))$ we have is exponential in ϑ_{f^*} , we introduce a factor of $\vartheta_{f^*}^{2.5}$ in the algorithm complexity. If a lower bound on $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta))$ were found that was not exponential in ϑ_{f^*} , then the algorithm complexity would improve by a factor $\vartheta_{f^*}^{2.5}$.

Together, these factors explain the gap of size $O^*(n^4/q)$ between our analysis and Kalai and Vempala's.

7.4 Heuristic Adaptation Based on Experimental Results

We see that Algorithm 7.1 and Algorithm 6.2 from Chapter 6 have the same asymptotic complexity. That being said, each iteration from Algorithm 7.1 poses less work than an iteration from Algorithm 6.2. After all, most of the computational effort in Algorithm 7.1 is spent on approximating a covariance operator, while Algorithm 6.2 also approximates a gradient. If we want to find an algorithm that performs well in practice, it thus makes sense to start with Algorithm 7.1.

Running Algorithm 7.1 as stated immediately raises a problem: the number of hit-and-run steps ℓ in (4.10) contains a factor 10^{30} . For practical problems, the ℓ in (4.10) is thus too large to take this many hit-and-run steps. We therefore need to investigate the number of steps ℓ and samples N that suffice to run Algorithm 7.1 successfully in practice.

To introduce our test problem, let \mathbb{S}^d denote the space of real symmetric $d \times d$ matrices. Fix $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ to the Euclidean inner product on \mathbb{R}^n , and to the trace inner product on \mathbb{S}^d . We define the *completely positive cone* $C\mathcal{P}^d \subset \mathbb{S}^d$ as

$$\mathcal{CP}^d := \{BB^\top : B \ge 0, B \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times k} \text{ for some } k\}.$$

Many properties of this cone are summarized in the book by Berman and Shaked-Monderer [12].

Completely positive matrices play an important role in optimization. For instance, by a theorem of Motzkin and Straus [80] (see also De Klerk and Pasechnik [33]), the stability number of a graph can be formulated as an optimization problem with linear objective and linear constraints over the completely positive cone (or its dual cone). A seminal result by Burer [24] shows that – under mild assumptions – binary quadratic problems can also be reformulated as optimization problems over the completely positive cone. Other applications build on the work by Kemperman and Skibinsky [60], who found that $C\mathcal{P}^d$ equals

$$\left\{\int xx^{\top} d\varphi(x) : \varphi \text{ is a finite-valued nonnegative measure supported on } \mathbb{R}^d_+\right\}.$$

This equality has spawned a large number of applications in distributionally robust optimization, e.g. Natarajan et al. [83] and Kong et al. [65] (see Li et al. [69] for a survey).

Unfortunately, testing if a matrix is completely positive is NP-hard, as Dickinson and Gijben [38] showed. Several approaches to this testing problem exist in the literature. Jarre and Schmallowsky [54] propose an augmented primal-dual method that provides a certificate if $X \in CP^d$ by solving a sequence of secondorder cone problems. However, their algorithm converges slowly if X is on the boundary of CP^d , and the regularization they propose to solve this is computationally expensive.

An obvious way to verify that X is completely positive is to find a factorization $X = BB^{\top}$ where $B \ge 0$. Several authors have done this for specific matrix structures, see Dickinson and Dür [37], Bomze [16], and the references therein. For general matrices, factorization methods have been proposed by Nie [89], and Sponsel and Dür [103], but these methods do not perform well on bigger matrices. Groetzner and Dür [46] develop an alternating projection scheme that does scale well, but is not guaranteed to find a factorization for a given completely positive matrix. The method struggles in particular for matrices near the boundary of the completely positive cone. Another heuristic method based on projection is given by Elser [40]. Sikirić et al. [100] can find a rational factorization whenever it exists, although the running time is hard to predict.

To actually optimize over the completely positive cone is even harder. Bomze et al. [18] suggest a factorization heuristic with promising numerical performance. A more naive approach to solving completely positive optimization problems is to replace the cone CP^d with a tractable outer approximation, such as the cone of *doubly nonnegative* matrices (i.e. the symmetric positive semidefinite matrices with nonnegative elements). After optimizing over this outer approximation, one could then strengthen the approximation by the technique in Chapter 8 – an idea also mentioned in e.g. Sponsel and Dür [103] and Berman et al. [13].

We will, for some $C \in S^d$, focus on the following relaxation to a completely positive optimization problem:

$$\inf_{X} \{ \langle C, X \rangle : \| \operatorname{vec}(X) \| \le 1, X \ge 0, X \ge 0 \},$$
(7.11)

where vec(*X*) vectorizes $X = [X_{ij}] \in \mathbb{S}^d$ as

$$\operatorname{vec}(X) := \begin{bmatrix} X_{11} & X_{12} & X_{22} & X_{13} & X_{23} & \cdots & X_{dd} \end{bmatrix}^{\top}$$

that is, $\operatorname{vec}(X)$ contains the upper triangular part of the matrix X. This simple problem can be seen as the relaxation of $\inf_X\{\langle C, X \rangle : \|\operatorname{vec}(X)\| \le 1, X \in C\mathcal{P}^d\}$, which tests if C is in the dual cone of $C\mathcal{P}^d$ or not. Since we place a nonnegativity constraint on every element of the matrix X, the Newton system in every interior point iteration is of size $O(d^2 \times d^2)$, which quickly leads to impractical computation times (see e.g. Burer [25]). Checking membership of the feasible set of (7.11) can however still be done in $O(d^3)$ operations.

Since \mathbb{S}^d is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{d(d+1)/2}$, we can also consider our optimization over \mathbb{S}^d as an optimization over $\mathbb{R}^{d(d+1)/2}$. To do that, define mat : $\mathbb{R}^{d(d+1)/2} \to \mathbb{S}^d$ to be the inverse of vec, and let mat^{\top} : $\mathbb{S}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d(d+1)/2}$ be the adjoint of mat. Problem (7.11) is then equivalent to

$$\operatorname{val} := \inf_{x} \left\{ \left\langle \operatorname{mat}^{\top}(C), x \right\rangle : \|x\| \le 1, x \ge 0, \operatorname{mat}(x) \ge 0 \right\}.$$
(7.12)

We will run Algorithm 7.1 on the problem (7.12) for $d \in \{5, 10, 15, 20\}$. Let $n = \frac{1}{2}d(d+1)$. To generate an instance for the problem (7.12), we draw a random vector $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$ from the multivariate normal distribution $\mathcal{N}(0, I)$, and let $C = t \max(c)$ where *t* is chosen such that $\| \max^{\mathsf{T}}(C) \| = 1$. Because we do not know ϑ_{f^*} exactly, and Theorem 3.4 only yields an upper bound for $n \ge 80$, Line 5 in Algorithm 7.1 will be replaced by Kalai and Vempala's [56] original update $T_k \leftarrow (1 - 1/\sqrt{n})$. We set $\varepsilon = 10^{-3}$, $q = 10^{-1}$, R = 1, $\beta = 2$, and

$$m = \left\lceil \frac{\log(q\varepsilon/(8nR))}{\log(1 - 1/\sqrt{n})} \right\rceil.$$

We let $X = dI + ee^{\top} \in \mathbb{S}^d$ and take $x = t \operatorname{vec}(X)$, where *e* is the all-ones vector, and *t* is chosen such that $||x|| = \frac{1}{2}$. From this point, we first apply hit-and-run sampling with respect to the uniform distribution to generate an approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}(0)$ of $\Sigma(0)$. The mean of the samples this required will serve as x_0 in Algorithm 7.1.

The optimal value val of the problem in (7.12) can be computed with MOSEK 9 [78]. If X_m is the solution returned by Algorithm 7.1, we display the optimality gap $\langle \text{mat}^{\top}(C), X_m \rangle - \text{val}$ for different choices of N and ℓ in Figure 7.2. The values of N and ℓ are chosen such that the runtime of Algorithm 7.1 is still reasonable. Moreover, if we are going to draw hit-and-run directions from $\mathcal{N}(0, \hat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1}))$, we need a Cholesky factorization of $\hat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1})$. This requires the empirical covariance to be positive definite, which can only happen if $N \ge n$.



Figure 7.2: Effect of sample size *N* and walk length ℓ on the final gap of Algorithm 7.1

Figure 7.2 shows that

$$\ell = 4n \quad \text{and} \quad N = 6n \tag{7.13}$$

would be a decent heuristic choice in the context of Algorithm 7.1. With these values of ℓ and N, Algorithm 7.1 returns a near-optimal solution in our experiments.

To see if we can improve upon this performance by Algorithm 7.1, we propose the following modifications to Algorithm 7.1:

- 1. As a starting point for the first random walk in some iteration k, use the sample mean from iteration k 1. While this significantly changes the distribution of the starting point, it concentrates more probability mass around the mean of the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_{k-1} , such that the starting point of the random walk is likely already close to the mean of the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_k . In a similar vein, we return the mean of the samples in the final iteration, not just one sample. This will not change the expected objective value of the final result, and will therefore also not affect the probabilistic guarantee that we derived in (7.9) by Markov's inequality. However, using the mean does reduce the variance in the final solution.
- 2. Divide the number of samples that have to be drawn in some iteration k over \mathcal{P} threads. Within each thread, start each random walk from the end point of the previous random walk. The idea here is that the random samples as a whole will then exhibit less dependence, thus improving the approximation quality of the empirical distribution. Note that each thread can be run in parallel, which we need in a method that would be faster than Algorithm 7.1: the sampling in Algorithm 7.1 can also be done in parallel, because each walk in a certain iteration has the same starting point.

These changes should improve the performance of the algorithm. For the sake of clarity, this modified version of Kalai and Vempala's algorithm is outlined in Algorithm 7.2.

With this modified algorithm, we repeat the experiment involving (7.12) using $\mathcal{P} = 8$ threads, and

$$m = \left\lceil \frac{\log(q\varepsilon/(4nR))}{\log(1 - 1/\sqrt{n})} \right\rceil$$
(7.14)

iterations. The results can be seen in Figure 7.3.

Figure 7.3 shows Algorithm 7.2 performs somewhat better than Algorithm 7.1. First, we see in Figure 7.3 that larger sample sizes will in the end lead to near-optimal solutions. This is more desirable than the behavior observed in Figure 7.2,

Algorithm 7.2 An adaptation of Algorithm 7.1 that changes the walks' starting points

Input: convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ contained in a ball with radius $R \ge 1$; normalized (with respect to $\|\cdot\|$) objective $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$; number of samples N; number of hit-and-run steps ℓ ; number of iterations m; number of threads \mathcal{P} that divides N (for simplicity); starting point $x_0 \in S$.

Output: $X_m \in S$ such that $\langle c, X_m \rangle - \min_{x \in S} \langle c, x \rangle$ is small with high probability. 1: for $i \in \{1, ..., P\}$ do

- 2: **for** $j \in \{1, ..., N/P\}$ **do**
- 3: Generate $Y_{(i-1)N/\mathcal{P}+j,0}$ by applying hit-and-run sampling to the uniform distribution over S, starting the walk from x_0 if j = 1 and otherwise from $Y_{(i-1)N/\mathcal{P}+j-1,0}$, taking ℓ steps, drawing directions from a $\mathcal{N}(0, I)$ -distribution

4:
$$X_0 \leftarrow \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} Y_{j0}$$

5: $T_0 \leftarrow 4R$
6: for $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$ do
7: $T_k \leftarrow (1 - 1/\sqrt{n}) T_{k-1}$
8: $\theta_k \leftarrow -c/T_k$
9: for $i \in \{1, ..., \mathcal{P}\}$ do
10: for $j \in \{1, ..., \mathcal{N}/\mathcal{P}\}$ do
11: Generate $Y_{(i-1)N/\mathcal{P}+j,k}$ by applying hit-and-run sampling to the
Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_k , starting the walk from
 X_{k-1} if $j = 1$ and otherwise from $Y_{(i-1)N/\mathcal{P}+j-1,k}$, taking ℓ steps,
drawing directions from a $\mathcal{N}(0, \hat{\Sigma}(\theta_{k-1}))$ -distribution
12: $X_k \leftarrow \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} Y_{jk}$
13: $\hat{\Sigma}(\theta_k) \nu \leftarrow \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \langle Y_{jk}, \nu \rangle Y_{jk} - \langle X_k, \nu \rangle X_k$ $\forall \nu \in \mathbb{R}^n$
14: return X_m

where increases in the sample size do not ensure convergence if the walk length ℓ is too small. We attribute this improvement to the walks no longer having a



Figure 7.3: Effect of sample size *N* and walk length ℓ on the final gap of Algorithm 7.2

common starting point. For low walk lengths in particular, this change should lead to less dependence among the samples, and hence to a better approximation of the covariance.

What's more, the optimality gaps at termination of Algorithm 7.2 seem to be more tightly grouped around $10^{-4} = q\varepsilon$ than in Figure 7.2. (Note that $q\varepsilon$ is exactly the size we would like the expected gap to have to guarantee that the gap is smaller than ε with probability 1-q by Markov's inequality.) This bahavior is likely caused by our returning the mean of our final collection of samples rather than one particular sample.

Despite these improvements, the number of hit-and-run steps and samples required to find a near-optimal solution did not change drastically compared to Figure 7.2. It seems (7.13) is still a good heuristic for the number of steps and samples.

There is one more modification that we will investigate. So far we have used hit-and-run sampling to approximate a distribution's covariance, only to then draw directions from a distribution with that same covariance. We could also draw directions directly from the centered samples from the previous iteration, eliminating the need to approximate some distribution's covariance. This idea is formalized in Algorithm 7.3.

Repeating the experiment that gave us Figure 7.3 now yields Figure 7.4. Note that we no longer require $N \ge n$, because we do not approximate a covariance matrix which should have full rank.

The results in Figure 7.4 are similar to Figure 7.3, except that Algorithm 7.3 can be run for more values of *N*. This additional flexibility does not lead to superior performance, though: for N < n, Algorithm 7.3 does not converge to a near-optimal solution. Since the performance of Algorithm 7.3 for $N \ge n$ appears similar to that of Algorithm 7.2, we propose to use Algorithm 7.2 with the values of *N* and ℓ from (7.13) in further experiments. In Chapter 9, this algorithm will be compared with alternative approaches to assess its competitiveness.

Algorithm 7.3 An adaptation of Algorithm 7.2 that changes the walks' directions

Input: convex body $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ contained in a ball with radius $R \ge 1$; normalized (with respect to $\|\cdot\|$) objective $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$; number of samples N; number of hit-and-run steps ℓ ; number of iterations m; number of threads \mathcal{P} that divides N (for simplicity); starting point $x_0 \in S$.

Output: $X_m \in S$ such that $\langle c, X_m \rangle - \min_{x \in S} \langle c, x \rangle$ is small with high probability.

- 1: for $i \in \{1, ..., P\}$ do
- 2: **for** $j \in \{1, ..., N/P\}$ **do**
- 3: Generate $Y_{(i-1)N/\mathcal{P}+j,0}$ by applying hit-and-run sampling to the uniform distribution over S, starting the walk from x_0 if j = 1 and otherwise from $Y_{(i-1)N/\mathcal{P}+j-1,0}$, taking ℓ steps, drawing directions from a $\mathcal{N}(0, I)$ -distribution

4:
$$X_0 \leftarrow \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N Y_{j0}$$

- 5: $T_0 \leftarrow 4R$
- 6: for $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$ do
- 7: $T_k \leftarrow \left(1 1/\sqrt{n}\right) T_{k-1}$

8:
$$\theta_k \leftarrow -c/T_k$$

- 9: **for** $i \in \{1, ..., \mathcal{P}\}$ **do**
- 10: **for** $j \in \{1, ..., N/P\}$ **do**
- 11: Generate Y_{(i-1)N/P+j,k} by applying hit-and-run sampling to the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ_k, starting the walk from X_{k-1} if j = 1 and otherwise from Y_{(i-1)N/P+j-1,k}, taking ℓ steps, drawing directions uniformly from {Y_{1,k-1} X_{k-1},..., Y_{N,k-1} X_{k-1}}
 12: X_k ← ¹/_N Σ^N_{j=1} Y_{jk}

13: return X_m



Figure 7.4: Effect of sample size *N* and walk length ℓ on the final gap of Algorithm 7.3

8

An Analytic Center Cutting Plane Method

In the previous two chapters, we have seen two sampling-based optimization algorithms. For the algorithm by Kalai and Vempala [56], we also proposed some changes to improve its numerical performance. In this chapter we introduce another algorithm that is aimed specifically at practical performance. The method we propose will be compared with an adaptation of Kalai and Vempala's algorithm and the ellipsoid method in Chapter 9.

This chapter is based on Sections 1 and 2 from Badenbroek and De Klerk [10], with only minor differences. Some information on symmetric cones is taken from the introduction of Badenbroek and Dahl [7].

8.1 Problem Statement and Solution Approach

Because we focus on practical computations, we only use the Euclidean inner product on \mathbb{R}^n and the trace inner product on \mathbb{S}^d in this chapter. The goal we have in mind is optimization over the *copositive cone* \mathcal{CO}^d , the dual of the completely

positive cone \mathcal{CP}^d . This cone is defined as

$$\mathcal{CO}^d := \left\{ X \in \mathbb{S}^d : y^\top X y \ge 0 \text{ for all } y \in \mathbb{R}^d_+ \right\}.$$

The application that we will focus on is separation from the completely positive cone. Separating a given doubly nonnegative matrix from the completely positive cone means that we can strengthen the relaxation (7.11) and reoptimize (this scheme is mentioned in e.g. Sponsel and Dür [103] and Berman et al. [13]). Burer and Dong [26] proposed a method to generate such a cut for 5×5 matrices. Sponsel and Dür [103] suggested an algorithm based on simplicial partition. Nevertheless, finding a cutting plane for the completely positive matrices is still listed as an open problem by Berman et al. [13].

Several approaches to copositive optimization exist in the literature. Bundfuss and Dür [22, 23] use polyhedral inner and outer approximations based on simplicial partitions that are refined in regions interesting to the optimization. Hierarchies of inner approximations of the copositive cone are proposed by Parrilo [92], De Klerk and Pasechnik [33] (see also Bomze and De Klerk [17]) and Peña et al. [93]. Yıldırım [113] proposes polyhedral outer approximations of the copositive cone, and analyzes the gap to the inner approximations by De Klerk and Pasechnik [33]. Lasserre [67] proposes a spectrahedral hierarchy of outer approximations of CO^d . Perhaps most closely related to our work is the cuttingplane approach by Anstreicher et al. [4], although they do not implement their algorithms, and use a different separation oracle for the copositive cone.

Our approach is to use an *analytic center cutting plane method*. Analytic center cutting plane methods were first introduced by Goffin and Vial [43] (see [44] for a survey by the same authors, or Boyd et al. [20]). The advantage of analytic center cutting plane methods is that the number of iterations scales reasonably with the problem dimension. For instance, Goffin et al. [45] find that the number of iterations is $O^*(n^2/\varepsilon^2)$, where *n* is the number of variables and ε is the desired accuracy. In every iteration of our algorithm, the main computational effort is solving a mixed integer linear program (MILP) whose size does not change throughout the algorithm's run.

Analytic center cutting plane methods can be used to solve optimization problems of the form

$$\min_{x\in\mathcal{S}}c^{\top}x,\tag{8.1}$$

where $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and S is a convex body for which we know a separation oracle. In other words, given some point $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, one should be able to determine if $x \in S$ or not, and moreover, if $x \notin S$, we must be able to generate a halfspace \mathcal{H} such that $S \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ but $x \notin \mathcal{H}$.

The idea behind analytic center cutting plane methods is to have a tractable outer approximation of the optimal set of (8.1). We will use one of the form

$$Q = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \|x\|^2 \le R^2, \ a_i^\top x \le b_i \ \forall i = 1, ..., M \right\},$$
(8.2)

where $a_1^{\top}, ..., a_M^{\top}$ are the rows of a matrix *A*, *b* is a vector with elements $b_1, ..., b_M$, and R > 0. Assuming Q is non-empty, the self-concordant barrier

$$\Phi(x) \coloneqq -\log(R^2 - \|x\|^2) - \sum_{i=1}^M \log(b_i - a_i^\top x)$$
(8.3)

has a unique minimizer called the *analytic center*, because its domain Q is bounded (see Corollary 2.3.6 in Renegar [95]). Of course, a more traditional outer approximation would be a polyhedron $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : Ax \leq b\}$ that is known to be bounded. We decided against this approach for reasons of numerical stability (more details in Section 8.5).

In every iteration k, one approximates the minimizer x_k of Φ . One of two things will happen. If x_k does not lie in S, we use a separating hyperplane to remove x_k from Q. If x_k lies in S, x_k is feasible for (8.1). Hence any optimal solution must have an objective value that is at least as good as $c^{\top}x_k$. Any optimal solution will therefore lie in the halfspace $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : c^{\top}x \leq c^{\top}x_k\}$, and one may thus restrict the outer approximation to this halfspace.

The problem we will look at for some fixed $C \in \mathbb{S}^d$ is

$$\min_{x} \{ \langle C, \operatorname{mat}(x) \rangle : \|x\|^2 \le 1, \operatorname{mat}(x) \in \mathcal{CO}^d \}.$$
(8.4)

If $x \in \mathbb{R}^{d(d+1)/2}$ is an optimal solution to (8.4), then $C \in C\mathcal{P}^d$ if and only if $\langle C, \max(x) \rangle \ge 0$. Note that the ball constraint in (8.4) is also present in the outer approximation (8.2), so it will suffice to generate linear inequalities to approximate the constraint $\max(x) \in C\mathcal{O}^d$.

There are three remaining questions we have to answer before we can solve (8.4):

- 1. How will we generate separating hyperplanes for the constraint $mat(x) \in CO^d$?
- 2. How do we compute the analytic center of the outer approximation?
- 3. How can one prune constraints that do not have a large influence on the location of the analytic center?

These three questions will be answered in Sections 8.2, 8.3, and 8.4, respectively. Then, we state our algorithm in Section 8.5 and wrap up with some remarks concerning its complexity.

8.2 Membership of the Copositive Cone

It should be noted that determining if a matrix X lies in CO^d is co-NP-complete, see Murty and Kabadi [81]. The classical copositivity test is due to Gaddum [42], but his procedure requires performing a test for all principal minors of a matrix, which does not scale well to larger d. Nie et al. [90] have proposed an algorithm based on semidefinite programming that terminates in finite time, although the actual computation time is hard to predict. Anstreicher [5] shows that copositivity can be tested by solving an MILP, building on work by Dickinson [36]. See Hiriart-Urruty and Seeger [51] for a review of the properties of copositive matrices.

Our chosen method of testing if a matrix *X* is copositive is similar to Anstreicher's. Our method also solves an MILP, and also admits a $y \ge 0$ such that $y^{\top}Xy < 0$ if *X* is not copositive. The main difference is that our method derives from Xia et al. [110] instead of Dickinson [36].

Note that $X \in \mathbb{S}^d$ is copositive if and only if

$$\min_{y} \{ y^{\top} X y : e^{\top} y = 1, y \ge 0 \},$$
(8.5)

where e is the all-ones vector, is nonnegative. It was shown by Xia et al. [110] that the value of (8.5) is equal to the optimal value of the following mixed integer
linear program:

$$\begin{array}{c} \min_{y,w,\sigma,v} - \sigma \\ \text{subject to } Xy + \sigma e - v = 0 \\ e^{\top}y = 1 \\ 0 \le y_i \le w_i \qquad \forall i \in \{1, ..., d\} \\ 0 \le v_i \le 2d(1 - w_i) \max_{k,l} |X_{kl}| \quad \forall i \in \{1, ..., d\} \\ w_i \in \{0, 1\} \qquad \forall i \in \{1, ..., d\}, \end{array} \right\}$$
(8.6)

and that any optimal *y* from (8.6) is also an optimal solution for (8.5). If the optimal value of (8.6) is nonnegative, then *X* is copositive. If the optimal value of (8.6) is negative, then an optimal solution $y \ge 0$ from (8.6) admits the halfspace $\mathcal{H} = \{X' \in \mathbb{S}^d : y^\top X' y \ge 0\}$ such that $\mathcal{CO}^d \subset \mathcal{H}$ but $X \notin \mathcal{H}$.

This test for matrix copositivity is attractive to use in practice. Gaddum's method [42] is already outperformed by the above method for very small matrices, and our method scales considerably better. The method by Nie et al. [90] can also become too slow for our purposes at moderate matrix dimensions. Anstreicher's recent method [5] also solves an MILP, which we expect to perform similarly to (8.6).

In theory, we can therefore determine if a matrix is copositive by solving one MILP. In practice however, a solver may return a solution $(\hat{y}, \hat{w}, \hat{\sigma}, \hat{\nu})$ to (8.6) where $\hat{y}^{\top}\hat{\nu} > 0$, violating the complementarity condition. This is caused by numerical tolerances allowing a solution with $\hat{w} \notin \{0,1\}^d$, which mostly seems to occur if X has low rank (or is close to a low rank matrix). To find the optimal solution if this occurs, we fix w to the element-wise rounded value ROUND (\hat{w}) of \hat{w} . If the resulting problem is still feasible, we can compare its complementary solution with the solution to the model for $w \in \{0,1\}^d \setminus \{\text{ROUND}(\hat{w})\}$. If the constraint $w = \text{ROUND}(\hat{w})$ does make the problem infeasible, we know that any optimal solution will have $w \in \{0,1\}^d \setminus \{\text{ROUND}(\hat{w})\}$. The details of this procedure are given in Algorithm 8.1, where val (\mathcal{M}) denotes the objective value of the optimal solution returned by the solver when solving the model \mathcal{M} .

8.3 Approximating the Analytic Center

Now that we saw how to generate cuts for the copositive cone, we turn our attention to the second question: how to approximate the analytic center of our outer approximation. This was defined as the minimizer of the function Φ in (8.3). Since Φ can only be evaluated at x where $||x||^2 < R^2$ and Ax < b, we will use an infeasible-start Newton method to approximate its minimizer. Similar to Boyd et al. [20, Section 2], one can reformulate the problem of computing the analytic center of Q as

$$\inf_{x,\pi,s} \left\{ -\log(\pi) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \log(s_i) : \pi \le R^2 - \|x\|^2, s \le b - Ax \right\},\tag{8.7}$$

which has Lagrangian

$$L(x, \pi, s, \lambda, \Lambda) := -\log(\pi) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \log(s_i) + \lambda(\pi - R^2 + ||x||^2) + \Lambda^{\top}(s - b + Ax).$$

For some vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with all elements unequal to zero, and some integer $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, let $v^k := \begin{bmatrix} v_1^k & \cdots & v_n^k \end{bmatrix}^\top$. The gradient of the Lagrangian can then be written as

$$DL(x, \pi, s, \lambda, \Lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} 2\lambda x + A^{\top} \Lambda \\ -\pi^{-1} + \lambda \\ -s^{-1} + \Lambda \\ \pi - R^2 + ||x||^2 \\ s - b + Ax \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.8)

For the sake of completeness, let us show that it suffices to compute a stationary point of the Lagrangian.

Proposition 8.1 ([10, Proposition 1]). Let $A \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times n}$ have rows $a_1^{\top}, ..., a_M^{\top}$, and let $b \in \mathbb{R}^M$, and R > 0. Let Q be as defined in (8.2), and assume that it has nonempty interior. Then, z is the analytic center of Q if and only if there exist $\pi, s, \lambda, \Lambda > 0$ such that $DL(z, \pi, s, \lambda, \Lambda) = 0$.

Proof. Because Q is bounded and has a nonempty interior, it has an analytic center (see e.g. Corollary 2.3.6 in Renegar [95]), and problem (8.7) has an optimal solution. The nonempty interior of Q also guarantees the existence of a Slater point of (8.7). Since (8.7) is convex, Slater's condition shows that a feasible solution (z, π ,s) is optimal if and only if it satisfies the KKT conditions: there should exist λ , Λ such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} 2\lambda z + A^{\top}\Lambda \\ -\pi^{-1} + \lambda \\ -s^{-1} + \Lambda \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad \begin{array}{l} \lambda(\pi - R^2 + \|z\|^2) = 0, \\ \Lambda^{\top}(s - b + Az) = 0, \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{l} \pi \le R^2 - \|z\|^2, \\ s \le b - Az, \\ \lambda, \Lambda \ge 0. \end{array}$$

Since $\lambda = \pi^{-1} > 0$ and $\Lambda = s^{-1} > 0$, the claim follows.

Let us compute the Newton step $(\Delta x, \Delta \pi, \Delta s, \Delta \lambda, \Delta \Lambda)$ to approximate a stationary point of *L*. We find that

$$D^{2}L(x,\pi,s,\lambda,\Lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} 2\lambda I & 0 & 0 & 2x & A^{\top} \\ 0 & \pi^{-2} & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \text{Diag}(s^{-2}) & 0 & I \\ 2x^{\top} & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ A & 0 & I & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (8.9)

Thus, using the expressions (8.8) and (8.9), we see that the Newton step is the solution to

$$0 = \begin{bmatrix} 2\lambda x + A^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda \\ -\pi^{-1} + \lambda \\ -s^{-1} + \Lambda \\ \pi - R^{2} + \|x\|^{2} \\ s - b + Ax \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 2\lambda I & 0 & 0 & 2x & A^{\mathsf{T}} \\ 0 & \pi^{-2} & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \text{Diag}(s^{-2}) & 0 & I \\ 2x^{\mathsf{T}} & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ A & 0 & I & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta x \\ \Delta \pi \\ \Delta s \\ \Delta \lambda \\ \Delta \Lambda \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.10)

We could solve this system directly, but it is more efficient to note that the last conditions imply

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \lambda = -\lambda + \pi^{-1} - \pi^{-2} \Delta \pi \\ \Delta \Lambda = -\Lambda + s^{-1} - \text{Diag}(s^{-2}) \Delta s \\ \Delta \pi = -\pi + R^2 - \|x\|^2 - 2x^\top \Delta x \\ \Delta s = -s + b - Ax - A \Delta x \end{cases}$$

$$(8.11)$$

which means the entire Newton step can be expressed in terms of Δx . The first *n* equations of the Newton system (8.10) are thus

$$-2\lambda x - A^{\top}\Lambda = 2\lambda\Delta x + 2x\Delta\lambda + A^{\top}\Delta\Lambda$$

= $2\lambda\Delta x + 2x[\pi^{-1} - \lambda - \pi^{-2}\Delta\pi] + A^{\top}[s^{-1} - \Lambda - \text{Diag}(s^{-2})\Delta s]$
= $2\lambda\Delta x + 2x[\pi^{-1} - \lambda - \pi^{-2}(-\pi + R^2 - ||x||^2 - 2x^{\top}\Delta x)]$
+ $A^{\top}[s^{-1} - \Lambda - \text{Diag}(s^{-2})(-s + b - Ax - A\Delta x)],$

or equivalently,

$$\begin{bmatrix} 2\lambda I + \frac{4}{\pi^2} x x^{\top} + A^{\top} \operatorname{Diag}(s^{-2})A \end{bmatrix} \Delta x$$

= $\frac{R^2 - \|x\|^2 - 2\pi}{\pi^2} 2x + A^{\top} \operatorname{Diag}(s^{-2})(b - Ax - 2s).$ (8.12)

After solving this system for Δx , we can compute the other components of the Newton step through equations (8.11). Now that it is clear how one can compute the Newton step for problem (8.7), we propose Algorithm 8.2 to solve (8.7).

Algorithm 8.2 Infeasible start Newton method for (8.7) convex body $Q = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x||^2 \le R^2, Ax \le b\}$, where $A \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times n}$ and Input: $b \in \mathbb{R}^M$: starting point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$; maximum number of iterations m = 50; gradient norm tolerance $\rho = 10^{-8}$. **Output:** Approximation x_k of the analytic center of Q. 1: $k \leftarrow 1$ 2: $\pi_0 \leftarrow \begin{cases} R^2 - \|x_0\|^2 & \text{if } R^2 - \|x_0\|^2 > 0 \\ 1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ 3: $(s_0)_i \leftarrow \begin{cases} b_i - a_i^\top x_0 & \text{if } b_i - a_i^\top x_0 > 0\\ 1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ for all $i \in \{1, ..., M\}$ 4: $\lambda_0 \leftarrow 1$ 5: $\Lambda_0 \leftarrow 0$ 6: while k < m do Compute Δx_k from (8.12) 7: Compute $(\Delta \pi_k, \Delta s_k, \Delta \lambda_k, \Delta \Lambda_k)$ from (8.11) 8: $t_k \leftarrow \min\{1, 0.9 \sup\{t \ge 0 : \pi_k + t\Delta \pi_k \ge 0, s_k + t\Delta s_k \ge 0, \lambda_k + t\Delta \lambda_k \ge 0\}\}$ 9: $\phi_k(t) := \|DL(x_k + t\Delta x_k, \pi_k + t\Delta \pi_k, s_k + t\Delta s_k, \lambda_k + t\Delta \lambda_k, \Lambda_k + t\Delta \Lambda_k)\|$ 10: if $\phi_k(0) \leq \rho$ and $\Lambda_k \geq 0$ and $(\phi_k(t_k) \geq \phi_k(0) \text{ or } k = m)$ then 11: **return** x_k with success status 12: 13: $k \leftarrow k+1$ 14: **return** x_k with failure status

Let us make a few observations about this algorithm. First, note that if $\lambda > 0$, the matrix $2\lambda I + 4\pi^{-2}xx^{\top} + A^{\top} \operatorname{Diag}(s^{-2})A$ is positive definite, and hence invertible. Thus, as long as $\lambda > 0$, the system (8.12) will have a (unique) solution Δx .

Second, the value for *t* in Line 9 of Algorithm 8.2 is chosen such that after the update, π , *s*, and λ will all remain positive. In principle, the value 0.9 could be

replaced by any real number from (0, 1). Note that we are not requiring that Λ remains positive in all iterations: numerical evidence suggests that the method is more likely to succeed if some elements of Λ are allowed to be negative in some iterations. Nevertheless, Algorithm 8.2 only returns a success status if the final Λ is nonnegative.

Third, the algorithm returns the current solution x with success status in two cases. In either case, the current solution should approximately be a stationary point of the Lagrangian, i.e. the norm of $DL(x, \pi, s, \lambda, \Lambda)$ has to be small, and we should have $\Lambda \ge 0$. Moreover, one of two conditions should hold. If the algorithm is in iteration m, we can return the current, approximately stationary point. Alternatively, if adding t times the Newton step leads to a larger norm of the Lagrangian gradient, we also return the current point. In other words, we keep taking Newton steps if it leads to a smaller gradient norm, and we are not yet in the final iteration. The reason to do so is that Newton's method converges very rapidly when the current point is near the optimum. By running just a few more iterations, we get a solution with much higher accuracy.

Finally, compared to the algorithm in Boyd et al. [20, Section 2], Algorithm 8.2 does not use backtracking line search. The reason is that for problem (8.7), the norm of the Lagrangian gradient does not seem to decrease monotonically during the algorithm's run. In fact, the norm of this gradient usually first decreases to the order 10^{0} , then increases slightly to the order 10^{1} , before decreasing rapidly to the order 10^{-8} . If one does backtracking line search on *t* to ensure that in every iteration the norm of the gradient decreases, the values of *t* can become very small (say, of the order 10^{-9}). Then, the number of iterations required to achieve convergence would be impractically large.

8.4 Pruning Constraints

The next question we should answer is how we can prune constraints from our outer approximation (8.2). Pruning is often used to reduce the number of constraints defining the outer approximation, which keeps the computational effort per iteration stable. Moreover, the linear system (8.12) will quickly become ill-conditioned if no constraints are dropped.

The idea we use is the same as in Boyd et al. [20, Section 3]. Since Φ is selfconcordant, the *Dikin ellipsoid* around the analytic center z of Q is contained in Q, that is,

$$\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : (x-z)^\top D^2 \Phi(z) (x-z) \le 1\} \subseteq \mathcal{Q},$$
(8.13)

where

$$D^{2}\Phi(z) = \frac{2}{R^{2} - ||z||^{2}}I + \frac{4}{(R^{2} - ||z||^{2})^{2}}zz^{\top} + \sum_{i=1}^{M}\frac{1}{(b_{i} - a_{i}^{\top}z)^{2}}a_{i}a_{i}^{\top}.$$
 (8.14)

Moreover, it will be shown at the end of this section that for our outer approximation Q it holds that

$$Q \subseteq \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : (x-z)^\top D^2 \Phi(z) (x-z) \le (M+2)^2\}.$$
(8.15)

Hence, following Boyd et al. [20], we define the relevance measure

$$\chi_i \coloneqq \frac{b_i - a_i^{\top} z}{\sqrt{a_i^{\top} D^2 \Phi(z)^{-1} a_i}},\tag{8.16}$$

for all linear constraints $i \in \{1, ..., M\}$. By (8.13), all χ_i are at least one. Moreover, it follows from (8.15) that if $\chi_i \ge M + 2$, the corresponding constraint is certainly redundant.

With this in mind, we propose Algorithm 8.3 to prune linear constraints from Q. Note that the ball constraint $||x||^2 \le R^2$ is never pruned.

As an alternative to Algorithm 8.3, one might consider dropping $M - M_{\text{max}}$ constraints, possibly keeping some redundant constraints. The reason we do not adopt this strategy is that we noticed Algorithm 8.3 leads to slightly better numerical performance on our test sets.

We finish this section with a proof of the relation (8.15). It will use a result on *symmetric cones*, which are closed convex self-dual cones with a transitive automorphism group. Güler [47] proved that symmetric cones are the same as self-scaled cones, a class of cones better known to the optimization community at the time. In 1934, Jordan et al. [55] showed there are five irreducible symmetric cones (up to isomorphism), only two of which are used for optimization in practice: the second-order cone, and the cone of symmetric positive semidefinite matrices. Since linear programming is a special case of semidefinite programming, it can also be written as an optimization problem over a symmetric cone. Algorithm 8.3 A pruning method for the intersection of a ball and a polyhedron

Input: convex body $Q = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x||^2 \le R^2, Ax \le b\}$, where $A \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times n}$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}^M$; analytic center *z* of *Q*; maximum number of linear inequalities $M_{\text{max}} = 4n$.

Output: A convex body Q defined by at most M_{max} linear inequalities.

1: **if**
$$M > n$$
 then

- 2: Compute χ_i as in (8.16) for $i \in \{1, ..., M\}$
- 3: Remove all constraints $a_i^{\top} x \le b_i$ with $\chi_i \ge M + 2$ from Q
- 4: **if** Q still contains more than M_{max} linear inequalities **then**
- 5: Remove the constraints $a_i^{\top} x \le b_i$ with the largest values of χ_i from Q such that M_{max} remain

6: return Q

Proposition 8.2 ([10, Proposition 2]). Let $A \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times n}$ have rows $a_1^{\top}, ..., a_M^{\top}$, and let $b \in \mathbb{R}^M$, and R > 0. Let Q be as defined in (8.2), and assume that it has nonempty interior. Define Φ as in (8.3), and let z be its minimizer. Then, for any $x \in \text{dom } \Phi$, we have

$$(x-z)^{\top}D^{2}\Phi(z)(x-z) \leq (M+2)^{2}.$$

Proof. Define the barrier function

$$f(t, x, s) := -\log(t^2 - ||x||^2) - \sum_{i=1}^{M} \log(s_i),$$

whose domain is a symmetric cone. The barrier parameter ϑ_f of f satisfies $\vartheta_f \le M + 2$ (see for instance Renegar [95, Theorem 2.3.1]). Note that any $x \in \text{dom } \Phi$ if and only if $(R, x, b - Ax) \in \text{dom } f$. We will first show that the gradient of f at (R, z, b - Az) is orthogonal to (R, x, b - Ax) - (R, z, b - Az) = (0, x - z, A(z - x)). The claim will then follow from a property of symmetric cones.

The gradient of f is

$$g(t,x,s) \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} -2t/(t^2 - ||x||^2) \\ 2x/(t^2 - ||x||^2) \\ -s^{-1} \end{bmatrix},$$

so it follows that

$$g(R,z,b-Az)^{\top} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ x-z\\ A(z-x) \end{bmatrix} = \frac{2z^{\top}(x-z)}{R^2 - \|z\|^2} - \sum_{i=1}^{M} \frac{a_i^{\top}(z-x)}{b_i - a_i^{\top} z}.$$
 (8.17)

Because *z* is the minimizer of the convex function Φ , we have

$$0 = D\Phi(z) = \frac{2}{R^2 - ||z||^2} z + \sum_{i=1}^{M} \frac{1}{b_i - a_i^{\top} z} a_i,$$

which implies that (8.17) is zero. Therefore, Theorem 3.5.9 in Renegar [95] shows that

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0\\ x-z\\ A(z-x) \end{bmatrix} \stackrel{'}{\overset{}} H(R,z,b-Az) \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ x-z\\ A(z-x) \end{bmatrix} \leq \vartheta_{f}^{2}, \quad (8.18)$$

where *H* is the Hessian of *f*. It is not hard to see that H(t, x, s) equals

$$\frac{1}{(t^2 - \|x\|^2)^2} \begin{bmatrix} 2t^2 + \|x\|^2 & -4tx^\top & 0\\ -4tx^\top & 2(t^2 - \|x\|^2)I + 4xx^\top & 0\\ 0 & 0 & (t^2 - \|x\|^2)^2 \operatorname{Diag}(s^{-2}) \end{bmatrix}.$$

In other words, (8.18) is equivalent to

$$(x-z)^{\top} \left[\frac{2}{R^2 - \|z\|^2} I + \frac{4}{(R^2 - \|z\|^2)^2} z z^{\top} \right] (x-z) + \sum_{i=1}^M \frac{(a_i^{\top}(z-x))^2}{(b_i - a_i^{\top} z)^2} \le \vartheta_f^2,$$

which proves the claim, since the left hand side is $(x-z)^{\top}D^2\Phi(z)(x-z)$ by (8.14), and $\vartheta_f \leq M + 2$.

8.5 Algorithm Statement

Recall that we are developing an analytic center cutting plane method to check complete positivity of a matrix, by solving an optimization problem over the copositive cone. Now that we have answered the major questions surrounding such a method, we move on to our final method. We start with a quite general analytic center cutting plane method, and then add a wrapper function that performs the complete positivity check. The reason for making this split is that it makes our code easy to extend when solving other copositive optimization problems for which a bound on the norm of an optimal solution is known. We state our proposed analytic center cutting plane method to solve (8.1) in Algorithm 8.4.

We continue the algorithm even if we cannot find the analytic center to high accuracy. Late in the algorithm's run, the system (8.12) often becomes ill-conditioned. This is to be expected, since as Algorithm 8.4 progresses, the outer approximation Q_k becomes smaller and smaller. The distance from the analytic center to the linear constraints also goes to zero, but not at the same pace for every constraint. We may arrive in a situation where $b_i - a_i^{\top} x_k$ is of the order 10^{-4} for some constraints *i*, and of the order 10^{-8} for other constraints. This causes a considerable spread in the eigenvalues of the matrix in (8.12).

If the analytic center is not known to a decent accuracy, the pruning procedure in Algorithm 8.3 may remove constraints that are actually very important to the definition of Q_k . One could of course still run the pruning function using the inaccurate analytic center approximation. However, because the problems in the analytic center computation only occur late in the algorithm's run, pruning or not pruning with the inaccurate approximation does not seem to have a major impact on total runtime.

Algorithm 8.4 is a (relatively) general analytic center cutting plane method. The problem (8.4) can be solved by calling Algorithm 8.4 with the right arguments, as is done by Algorithm 8.5.

Our aim in this chapter has been to propose an algorithm with good practical performance. This is why we placed emphasis on a robust copositivity check, constraint pruning, and efficient computation of the analytic center. However, such an algorithm does not lend itself well to a formal complexity analysis. For instance, to the best of our knowledge, the only analysis in the literature of an analytic center cutting plane method with constraint pruning is due to Atkinson and Vaidya [6]. Although the number of constraints in their algorithm is technically bounded by a polynomial of n, this bound is so large as to be uninteresting in practice.

The analysis that perhaps comes closest to covering our algorithm is the survey by Goffin and Vial [44], who find a polynomial number of iterations for an analytic center cutting plane method with deep cuts. Their method only uses linear

Algorithm 8.4 Analytic Center Cutting Plane method to solve (8.1)
Input: objective $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$;
oracle function ORACLE : $\mathbb{R}^n \to \{\text{TRUE}\} \cup \{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : a^\top x \leq b\} : a \in \mathbb{R}^n \}$
$\mathbb{R}^n, b \in \mathbb{R}$ };
radius $R > 0$;
optimality tolerance $\varepsilon = 10^{-6}$.
Output: A feasible solution x_* for which RELGAP $(c, x_*, Q_k) \le \varepsilon$. \triangleright See Line 18
1: function ACCP(c , ORACLE, R)
2: $\mathcal{Q}_1 \leftarrow \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : x ^2 \le R^2\}$
3: $x_0 \leftarrow 0$
4: $k \leftarrow 1$
5: while the best feasible solution so far x_* has RELGAP $(c, x_*, Q_k) > \varepsilon$ do
6: Generate approximation x_k of the analytic center of Q_k through Algo-
rithm 8.2, starting from x_{k-1}
7: If Algorithm 8.2 terminated with a failure status then
8: Check if $x_k \in \text{int } Q_k$. If not, throw an error.
9: else
10: Prune constraints from Q_k through Algorithm 8.3, assuming x_k is the analytic center of Q_k
11: if ORACLE (x_k) returns TRUE then
12: $\mathcal{Q}_{k+1} \leftarrow \mathcal{Q}_k \cap \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : c^\top x / \ c\ \le c^\top x_k / \ c\ \}$
13: else \triangleright ORACLE (x_k) returns a halfspace
14: $\mathcal{H}_k = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : a_k^\top x \le b_k\}$ is the halfspace returned by ORACLE (x_k)
15: $\mathcal{Q}_{k+1} \leftarrow \mathcal{Q}_k \cap \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : a_k^\top x / \ a_k\ \le b_k / \ a_k\ \}$
16: $k \leftarrow k+1$
17: return the best feasible solution found x_*
18: function RelGAP(c, x_*, Q)
$19: l \leftarrow \min_{x} \{ c^{\top} x : x \in \mathcal{Q} \}$
20: return $(c^{\top}x_* - l)/(1 + \min\{ c^{\top}x_* , l \})$

constraints, and does not prune cuts. Moreover, the method of recovering a feasible solution after adding a deep cut is different from the infeasible start Newton method we use. **Algorithm 8.5** A wrapper function to determine if a matrix is completely positive by solving (8.4)

Input: $C \in \mathbb{S}^d$ for which we want to determine if $C \in C\mathcal{P}^d$ or not. **Output:** $X \in C\mathcal{O}^d$ such that $\langle C, X \rangle$ is approximately equal to (8.4). 1: $c \leftarrow \text{mat}^\top(C)$ 2: $R \leftarrow 1$ 3: $ORACLE(x) \leftarrow TESTCOPOSITIVE(mat(x))$ 4: **return** mat(ACCP(c, ORACLE, R))

Nevertheless, we compared our method numerically to Goffin and Vial's, and found that our method exhibits somewhat better numerical performance on our test set. In particular, Goffin and Vial's method struggles earlier to approximate the analytic center. Whereas we could solve the problems in our test set up to a relative gap of 10^{-6} , Goffin and Vial's method sometimes failed to recover a point in the feasible set when the relative gap was still of the order 10^{-5} . The condition number of their linear systems had become very large at this point, explaining the inaccuracy. At this level of the relative gap, the condition number of the system (8.12) in our algorithm was somewhat lower.

In short, while our method is not covered by a formal complexity analysis, we do prefer it over other algorithms in the literature for numerical reasons. The Julia implementation is available at https://github.com/rileybadenbroek/CopositiveAnalyticCenter.jl.

9

Numerical Experiments

So far, we have described three methods for optimization in the separation oracle setting: Algorithms 6.2, 7.2, and 8.4. In this chapter, we will compare these methods through numerical experiments. As a benchmark, we also include the ellipsoid method by Yudin and Nemirovski [114] in our experiments. Because of the applied nature of this chapter, below $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ refers to the Euclidean inner product on \mathbb{R}^n , and to the trace inner product on \mathbb{S}^d .

In Section 9.1, we establish that the high-quality covariance and mean approximations that Algorithm 6.2 needs take an impractical amount of time to generate. We proceed by comparing the remaining methods – Algorithms 7.2 and 8.4 – with the ellipsoid method in Section 9.2. It will be shown that Algorithm 7.2 requires significantly more oracle calls than Algorithm 8.4 or even the ellipsoid method. On the other hand, Algorithm 8.4 compares favorably to the ellipsoid method. Section 9.3 shows that Algorithm 8.4 also scales very reasonably.

This chapter is based on Sections 5.1 and 5.2 in Badenbroek and De Klerk [9] and Section 3 from Badenbroek and De Klerk [10]. The numerical results are slightly different from [9] because we use another test problem for the sake of

harmonization of this thesis (in [9], we used a different mapping from \mathbb{S}^d to \mathbb{R}^n than the operator vec). This does not affect our conclusions though.

9.1 Covariance and Mean Approximation with Hit-and-Run Sampling

The short-step interior point method Algorithm 6.2 required the approximation of certain covariance matrices and means by hit-and-run sampling. Let us investigate how well this works in practice. We will test this on the feasible set of (7.12), that is,

$$\left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{d(d+1)/2} : \|x\| \le 1, x \ge 0, \max(x) \ge 0\right\},\tag{9.1}$$

where $d \in \{5, 10, 15, 20\}$. The membership test for this set is generally faster than that from Section 8.2 for the copositive cone, making it the more attractive option for this experiment.

First, we generate an approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}_0$ of the covariance matrix of the uniform distribution over (9.1) with hit-and-run sampling. This will use 20,000 hitand-run samples with walk length 50,000, where the directions are drawn from $\mathcal{N}(0,I)$. We let $X = \frac{1}{4}(dI + ee^{\top})/d^2 \in \mathbb{S}^d$ and take $x = \operatorname{vec}(X)$ as the starting point for all random walks.

Then, the experiment is repeated for $N \leq 20,000$ samples with walk length $\ell \leq 50,000$. We refer to these estimates as $\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}$. We would like to see for which $\epsilon \geq 0$ we have

$$\frac{1}{1+\epsilon}\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell} \preceq \widehat{\Sigma}_0 \preceq (1+\epsilon)\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}.$$

Note that (2.3) shows that this condition is equivalent to

$$\widehat{\Sigma}_0^{-1/2} \widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell} \widehat{\Sigma}_0^{-1/2} - I \preceq \epsilon I \quad \text{and} \quad \widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}^{-1/2} \widehat{\Sigma}_0 \widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}^{-1/2} - I \preceq \epsilon I.$$

Because similar matrices have the same eigenvalues, the smallest $\epsilon \ge 0$ that satisfies this condition is

$$\widehat{\epsilon}(N,\ell) \coloneqq \max\left\{\lambda_{\max}(\widehat{\Sigma}_0^{-1}\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}-I), \lambda_{\max}(\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}^{-1}\widehat{\Sigma}_0-I)\right\}.$$

The result is shown in Figure 9.1, where the covariance matrices are of size $n \times n$, that is, $\frac{1}{2}d(d+1) \times \frac{1}{2}d(d+1)$.



Figure 9.1: Effect of sample size *N* and walk length ℓ on covariance approximation quality over (9.1)

One major conclusion from Figure 9.1 is that the trajectory towards zero is relatively slow. To show that simply adding more samples with higher walk lengths will in practice not be feasible, we present the running times required to estimate a covariance matrix at the desired accuracy in Figure 9.2. Specifically, this figure shows the running times of the "efficient" combinations of N and ℓ : these are the combinations of *N* and ℓ plotted in Figure 9.1 for which there are no *N'* and ℓ' such that $\hat{\epsilon}(N', \ell') \leq \hat{\epsilon}(N, \ell)$ and the running time for *N'* and ℓ' is lower than for *N* and ℓ . (The computer used has an Intel i7-6700 CPU with 16 GB RAM, and the code used eight threads.) Figure 9.2 shows that, even at low dimensions, approximating the covariance matrix to high accuracy will take an unpractical amount of time.



Figure 9.2: Running times required to find an approximation $\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}$ of the desired quality

To show that the slow trajectory towards zero in Figure 9.1 is a result of covariance estimation's fundamental difficulty, we consider a simpler problem. We will approximate the covariance matrix of the uniform distribution over the hypercube $[0, 1]^n$ in \mathbb{R}^n . Note that the true covariance matrix of this distribution is known to be $\frac{1}{12}I$.

We will use hit-and-run with varying walk lengths and sample sizes to generate samples from the uniform distribution over $[0,1]^n$. The resulting covariance matrices $\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}$ will be compared with the true covariance $\frac{1}{12}I$ (comparing with a covariance estimate based on hit-and-run samples as in Figure 9.1 yields roughly the same image). The analogue of $\hat{\epsilon}(N, \ell)$ would be

$$\widehat{\xi}(N,\ell) := \max\left\{\lambda_{\max}(12\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}-I), \lambda_{\max}(\frac{1}{12}\widehat{\Sigma}_{N,\ell}^{-1}-I)\right\}.$$

The result is shown in Figure 9.3.



Figure 9.3: Effect of sample size *N* and walk length ℓ on covariance approximation quality over $[0, 1]^n$

Figure 9.3 shows a pattern similar to that of Figure 9.1: as the problem size increases, the walk length should increase with the sample size to ensure the

estimate is as good as the sample size can guarantee. More importantly though, hit-and-run sampling does not perform significantly worse than true sampling. The problem is that approximating a covariance matrix to high accuracy – which we need for our interior point method – appears to be fundamentally hard.

Besides approximating covariance matrices, the interior point method from Chapter 6 also approximates means of certain distributions. One would expect this to be an easier problem: for instance, the number of samples required in Theorem 5.9 is linear in *n*, whereas that in Theorem 5.11 is quadratic in *n*. With the same samples that were used to create Figure 9.1, we create a mean estimate \hat{x}_0 based on 20,000 hit-and-run samples with walk length 50,000. Then, for $N \leq$ 20,000 samples with walk length $\ell \leq$ 50,000, we create the mean estimate $\hat{x}_{N,\ell}$. Using the approximation $\hat{\Sigma}_0$ of the uniform covariance matrix from the previous section, we compute $\|\hat{x}_0 - \hat{x}_{N,\ell}\|_{\hat{\Sigma}_0^{-1}}$ and plot the results in Figure 9.4.

The results are comparable to those in Figures 9.1 and 9.2. It will take an impractical amount of time before the mean estimate approximates the true mean to high accuracy.

The conclusions above raise some questions about the practical viability of a sampling-based interior point method. The sampling would have to be parallelized massively to a get accurate approximations of the entropic barrier's derivatives in reasonable time. This is unlikely to be an attractive strategy. We therefore shift our focus to the other algorithms we discussed: the heuristic adaptation of Kalai and Vempala's algorithm (Algorithm 7.2), and the analytic center cutting plane method (Algorithm 8.4).

9.2 Separating from the 6 × 6 Completely Positive Cone

We will test our most promising algorithms, Algorithms 7.2 and 8.4, on instances of problem (8.4). After all, Algorithm 8.4 was developed with this problem in mind. To provide a benchmark, we will also solve the instances of problem (8.4) with the ellipsoid method from Yudin and Nemirovski [114].

We will use 6×6 doubly nonnegative matrices as test instances for (8.4). The reason for this choice of size is as follows. It has been known for decades that the doubly nonnegative cone coincides with CP^d for $d \le 4$, as shown by Maxfield



Figure 9.4: Effect of sample size *N* and walk length ℓ on mean approximation quality over (9.1)

and Minc [77]. Burer and Dong [26] proposed a method to separate matrices from CP^5 which solves five optimization problems over the tractable CO^4 . This makes d = 6 the smallest size for which no algorithm is currently known that can separate from the completely positive cone in reasonable time.

We are interested in matrices on the boundary of the 6×6 doubly nonneg-

ative cone. (Randomly generating matrices in the interior of the 6×6 doubly nonnegative cone very often yields completely positive matrices, making separation irrelevant.) The extreme rays of this cone are described by Ycart [111, Proposition 6.1]. We generate random instances from the class of matrices described under case 3, graph 4 in Proposition 6.1 in [111]. These matrices are (up to permutation of the indices) doubly nonnegative matrices $C = [C_{ii}]$ with rank 3 satisfying $C_{i,i+1} = 0$ for $i \in \{1, ..., 5\}$. To generate such a matrix, we draw the elements of two vectors $v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{R}^6$ and the first element $(v_3)_1 \in \mathbb{R}$ of a vector $v_3 \in \mathbb{R}^6$ from a Poisson distribution with rate 1, and multiply each of these elements by -1 with probability $\frac{1}{2}$. The remaining elements of v_3 are then chosen such that $C = \sum_{k=1}^{3} v_k v_k^{\top}$ satisfies $C_{i,i+1} = 0$ for $i \in \{1, ..., 5\}$. This procedure is repeated if the matrix C is not doubly nonnegative, or if BARON 15 [105] could find a nonnegative matrix $B \in \mathbb{R}^{6 \times 9}$ such that $C = BB^{\top}$ in less than 30 seconds (for the cases where such a decomposition could be found, BARON terminated in less than a second). Thus, we are left with doubly nonnegative matrices for which it cannot quickly be shown that they are completely positive.

Ten of such random matrices are given in Appendix B in Badenbroek and De Klerk [9]. After scaling these matrices *C* such that $|| \max^{\top}(C) || = 1$, we run Algorithm 7.2 on these instances of problem (8.4). We let $X = \frac{1}{2}I/d \in \mathbb{S}^d$ and take $x_0 = \operatorname{vec}(X)$ as the starting point for this algorithm. The number of samples *N* and hit-and-run steps ℓ is given by (7.13), and the number of iterations is

$$m = \left\lceil \frac{\log(10^{-4}/n)}{\log(1-1/\sqrt{n})} \right\rceil,$$

similar to (7.14). Note that for this m, the expected absolute gap in the final iteration is at most 10^{-4} . Not only does this gap coincide with that in Section 7.4, it is also large enough to guarantee that Algorithm 7.2 terminates within reasonable time.

We also ran Algorithm 8.5 (which calls Algorithm 8.4) on these matrices. However, the termination criterion in Algorithm 8.4 is phrased in terms of the relative gap, not the absolute gap. To allow for a fair comparison, we replace Line 5 in Algorithm 8.4 by the condition that the best feasible solution so far x_* satisfies

$$c^{\top}x_* - \min_{x \in \mathcal{Q}_k} c^{\top}x > 10^{-4}.$$

Finally, we also applied the ellipsoid method of Yudin and Nemirovski [114] to (8.4). The termination criterion for the ellipsoid method is similar to that for Algorithm 8.4, i.e. the absolute gap can be at most 10^{-4} . The only difference is that in the case of the ellipsoid method, the lower bound is computed through minimization over the current ellipsoid, not over some outer approximation Q. We record the objective values of the solutions returned by these three algorithms in Table 9.1.

Instance	Algorithm 7.2	Ellipsoid method	Algorithm 8.5
extremal_rand_1	-0.00810	-0.00813	-0.00809
extremal_rand_2	-0.02112	-0.02116	-0.02111
extremal_rand_3	-0.03954	-0.03957	-0.03953
extremal_rand_4	-0.01027	-0.01031	-0.01027
extremal_rand_5	-0.00656	-0.00659	-0.00656
extremal_rand_6	-0.04473	-0.04476	-0.04472
extremal_rand_7	-0.02512	-0.02516	-0.02512
extremal_rand_8	-0.07365	-0.07368	-0.07364
extremal_rand_9	-0.04800	-0.04803	-0.04800
extremal_rand_10	-0.03030	-0.03033	-0.03029

Table 9.1: Objective value of solutions returned by Algorithm 7.2, the ellipsoid method, and Algorithm 8.5, applied to the normalized matrices from [9, Appendix B]. The termination criterion is an (expected) absolute gap of 10^{-4} .

It can be seen that all methods return a solution with approximately the same objective value. In particular, the randomized Algorithm 7.2 consistently returns a near-optimal solution. However, the number of calls to TESTCOPOSITIVE differs significantly between the algorithms, as can be seen in Table 9.2.

The reason to report this number of calls is that the oracle performs the theoretically intractable part of these methods: testing if a matrix is copositive. All other parts of the three methods complete in polynomial time for each oracle call. Hence, to get the best performance for larger matrices, one would like to minimize the number of oracle calls. It is clear from Table 9.2 that Algorithm 7.2 is significantly slower than the ellipsoid method, which in turn is outperformed by

Instance	Algorithm 7.2	Ellipsoid method	Algorithm 8.5
extremal_rand_1	6,684,932	2544	77
extremal_rand_2	6,739,177	2857	83
extremal_rand_3	6,811,093	3263	85
extremal_rand_4	6,627,005	2503	74
extremal_rand_5	6,599,481	2430	73
extremal_rand_6	6,809,453	3306	86
extremal_rand_7	6,726,332	2995	85
extremal_rand_8	6,897,368	3642	93
extremal_rand_9	6,847,610	3434	91
extremal_rand_10	6,714,194	2959	79

Table 9.2: Calls to the oracle TESTCOPOSITIVE by Algorithm 7.2, the ellipsoid method, and Algorithm 8.5, applied to the normalized matrices from [9, Appendix B]. The termination criterion is an (expected) absolute gap of 10^{-4} .

Algorithm 8.5. We conclude that Algorithm 7.2 is not going to be a competitive approach to solving convex programming problems.

Let us finish this section by arguing that Algorithm 8.5 can also solve problem (8.4) to somewhat higher accuracy. We now run Algorithm 8.5 on the matrices from Appendix B in Badenbroek and De Klerk [9] (without scaling them) until the original termination criterion in Algorithm 8.4 is met: the relative gap should be at most 10^{-6} . For the sake of comparison, we also run the ellipsoid method until the relative gap is at most 10^{-6} , where the lower bound is again computed through minimization over the current ellipsoid. The number of oracle calls these methods required is given in Table 9.3. Note that Algorithm 8.5 still requires significantly fewer oracle calls than the ellipsoid method.

9.3 Separating from the $d \times d$ Completely Positive Cone

To investigate how Algorithm 8.5 scales, we also generated test instances in higher dimensions. To the best of our knowledge, a complete characterization of the extremal rays of the $d \times d$ doubly nonnegative cone is unknown for d > 6. (See

Instance	Ellipsoid method	Algorithm 8.5
extremal_rand_1	8560	171
extremal_rand_2	8030	167
extremal_rand_3	8598	166
extremal_rand_4	7910	164
extremal_rand_5	8546	193
extremal_rand_6	8184	167
extremal_rand_7	9119	191
extremal_rand_8	8126	169
extremal_rand_9	8318	176
extremal_rand_10	7950	161

Table 9.3: Calls to the oracle TESTCOPOSITIVE by the Ellipsoid method and Algorithm 8.5, applied to the matrices from [9, Appendix B]. The termination criterion is a relative gap of 10^{-6} .

the corollary to Theorem 3.1, and Propositions 5.1 and 6.1 in Ycart [111] for the extremal matrices for $d \le 6$.) Hence, we use a semidefinite programming heuristic to find doubly nonnegative matrices in these dimensions which are not completely positive.

The matrices used in Section 9.2 are 6×6 doubly nonnegative matrices *C* with rank 3 and the entries $C_{i,i+1} = 0$ for all $i \in \{1, ..., 5\}$. This pattern of zeros can of course be extended to higher dimensions, but the low rank criterion is not tractable in semidefinite programming. The standard trick to find a low-rank solution – which we also adopt – is to minimize the trace of the matrix variable, see for instance Fazel et al. [41] and the references therein. To create a $d \times d$ test instance, we thus run the procedure in Algorithm 9.1.

The objective in Line 3 of Algorithm 9.1 includes two terms: the term tr *C* to get a low-rank solution, and the term $\frac{1}{2}d||C-R||$ to get a solution close to our random matrix *R*. Without this last term, the optimal solution of the problem would be the zero matrix. The weight $\frac{1}{2}d$ was chosen because numerical experiments suggested this weight leads to solutions with low rank, but not rank zero, for the dimensions in our test set. The solution C_* computed in Line 3 by interior point

Algorithm 9.1 A heuristic procedure to generate random matrices on the boundary of the doubly nonnegative cone

- **Input:** Dimension *d* of a random matrix $C \in \mathbb{S}^d$ to generate.
- 1: $R_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ is a matrix whose elements are samples from a standard normal distribution
- 2: $R \leftarrow |R_0| + |R_0|^{\top}$, where $|R_0| = [|(R_0)_{ij}|]$ is the element-wise absolute value
- 3: Let C_* be an (approximately) optimal solution to

$$\begin{split} \inf_{C} \operatorname{tr} C &+ \frac{1}{2} d \| C - R \| \\ \text{subject to } C_{i,i+1} &= 0 \qquad & \forall i \in \{1, ..., d-1\} \\ C &\succeq 0, C \geq 0. \end{split}$$

4: for $j \in \{1, ..., 10\}$ do

- 5: Set all eigenvalues of C_* smaller than 10^{-6} to zero
- 6: Set all elements of C_* smaller than 10^{-4} to zero

7: return $C_* / \|C_*\|$

methods still lies in the interior of the doubly nonnegative cone. To project this solution to the boundary of the doubly nonnegative cone, we run Lines 4 to 6. One could think of these lines as an alternating projection method to find a point close to the intersection of the boundaries of the positive semidefinite cone and the cone of nonnegative matrices.

For each $d \in \{6,7,8,9,10,15,20,25\}$, we generated ten test instances with Algorithm 9.1. Such an instance *C* is only included in the final test set if Algorithm 8.5 returns an *X* such that $\langle C,X \rangle < -0.01$, which was almost always the case. In those few cases where $\langle C,X \rangle \ge -0.01$, a new instance was generated. Hence, we end up with ten $d \times d$ doubly nonnegative matrices that are not completely positive, for each $d \in \{6,7,8,9,10,15,20,25\}$. These instances are also available online at https://github.com/rileybadenbroek/ CopositiveAnalyticCenter.jl/tree/master/test.

Algorithm 8.5 is applied to each of these instances, and the total number of calls to TESTCOPOSITIVE is reported in Figure 9.5 alongside the total running time (as before, we used a computer an Intel i7-6700 CPU and 16 GB RAM). We do

not report these results as in Table 9.3 since there are 80 instances, and running the ellipsoid method for all of them would take too much time. We moreover sketch two functions, $d \mapsto 7d^{5/3}$ and $d \mapsto 0.0002d^5$, that roughly approximate the number of oracle calls and execution time, respectively. (The values 7, $\frac{5}{3}$, 0.0002, and 5 of the coefficients and exponents are found by rounding the results of a regression, and have no particular meaning.) The execution time grows rapidly with d, but this is not unexpected: every oracle call solves at least one mixed integer linear program whose size depends on d, which is theoretically intractable.



Figure 9.5: Number of oracle calls and execution times of Algorithm 8.5 for the $d \times d$ test instances generated with Algorithm 9.1

In conclusion, we have seen in Chapters 6 and 7 that a sampling based interior point method and a simulated annealing algorithm work in theory. In practice though, they do not even seem like viable alternatives to the ellipsoid method. The analytic center cutting plane method from Chapter 8 outperforms all of these approaches, and also scales very reasonably. In particular, the number of oracle calls to test matrix copositivity grows roughly like $O(d^2)$ for $d \times d$ matrices. We have therefore made some computational progress on an open problem formulated by Berman et al. [13]. It is worthwhile to recall that this algorithm can be applied to any copositive optimization problem, as long as an upper bound on the norm of the optimal solution is known. The implementation of the analytic center cutting plane method from Chapter 8 is available at https: //github.com/rileybadenbroek/CopositiveAnalyticCenter.jl.

An Algorithm for Nonsymmetric Conic Optimization

The copositive cone is an example of a nonsymmetric cone. The main reason it was hard to optimize over the copositive cone is not the lack of symmetry – instead, the problem is that no self-concordant barrier with easily computable derivatives is known for this cone. Fortunately, certain other nonsymmetric cones do admit such a barrier.

A broader class of cones than the symmetric cones can be found by dropping the self-duality requirement: the resulting convex cones with a transitive automorphism group are called homogeneous (see Vinberg [108] for an example of a homogeneous cone that is not self-dual). Although Chua [27] showed that each optimization problem over a homogeneous cone can be rewritten as a semidefinite optimization problem, Chua [28] also proposed algorithms to exploit this structure directly. A larger class of cones is formed by the hyperbolicity cones, which Güler [48] showed contains the homogeneous cones. Moreover, Güler also proposed methods to solve optimization problems over these cones. In this chapter, we consider an even broader class: proper cones that admit a logarithmically homogeneous self-concordant barrier (LHSCB). Interesting examples of such cones include the exponential cone

$$\left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1 \ge x_2 e^{x_3/x_2}, x_2 > 0\right\} \cup \left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1 \ge 0, x_2 = 0, x_3 \le 0\right\}$$

and, for any $t \in (0, 1)$, the three-dimensional power cone

$$\left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x_1^t x_2^{1-t} \ge |x_3|\right\}.$$

Many convex optimization problems occurring in practice can be modeled using these two cones and the (symmetric) second-order and semidefinite cones. For example, Lubin et al. [75] show that all convex problems from the MINLPLIB2 library can be expressed in this manner.

Dahl and Andersen [30] describe a method which is implemented in MOSEK 9 [78] that works very well on practical problems of this form. In this chapter, we aim to provide some theoretical foundation for their algorithm. Practical implementations will always differ from theoretical algorithms, so we focus on particular elements of Dahl and Andersen's algorithm: their scaling matrix, search direction, and neighborhood. With these ingredients, we will define an algorithm for nonsymmetric conic optimization that approximately solves the so-called homogeneous model in polynomial time.

This chapter is based on Badenbroek and Dahl [7], but here we define the dual problem in terms of the polar cone instead of the dual cone. (The conjugate of a cone's logarithmically homogeneous barrier, as defined in Chapter 2, has the polar cone as its domain.) This change only leads to a number of sign changes, and does not fundamentally change the results. We also derive Lemma 10.7 in a slightly more elegant manner than [7, Lemma 8], though this does not change the algorithm's complexity.

10.1 The Homogeneous Model and its Central Path

We will consider the problem

$$\inf_{x} \{ \langle c, x \rangle : Ax = b, x \in \mathcal{K} \}, \tag{10.1}$$

and its dual

$$\sup_{y,s} \left\{ \langle b, y \rangle : s = A^{\top} y - c, s \in \mathcal{K}^{\circ} \right\},$$
(10.2)

where $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $A \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times n}$, $b \in \mathbb{R}^M$, $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is a proper cone, and

$$\mathcal{K}^{\circ} \coloneqq \{ s \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \langle x, s \rangle \le 0 \; \forall x \in \mathcal{K} \}$$

is its polar cone. We assume that we have a LHSCB f for \mathcal{K} with complexity parameter ϑ_f . As shown by Theorem 2.15, f^* is then a LHSCB for \mathcal{K}° with complexity parameter $\vartheta_{f^*} = \vartheta_f$. We remind the reader that we use g and H to denote the gradient and Hessian of f, and g^* and H^* to denote the gradient and Hessian of f^* , respectively.

The approaches we have seen until now are primal-only methods. However, researchers found that for linear optimization, primal-dual interior point methods generally outperformed their primal-only or dual-only counterparts. Naturally, they tried to extend these primal-dual methods to convex conic optimization. A major breakthrough in this area is due to Nesterov and Todd [87, 88], who introduced search directions for symmetric cones that perform well in practice. However, the Nesterov-Todd directions are defined at a primal-dual feasible point. Hence, given an optimization problem, one still needs to find such a feasible point, if it even exists. To circumvent this issue, Ye et al. [112] introduced a homogeneous model (also known as a self-dual embedding) for linear programming. Two major advantages of this homogeneous model are that no strictly feasible starting point is required, and that the algorithm can generate certificates for primal or dual infeasibility. Generalizations of this homogeneous model were proposed by e.g. Luo et al. [76], De Klerk et al. [34], Potra and Sheng [94], and Andersen and Ye [3].

To solve (10.1) and (10.2) with a homogeneous model, we define the linear operator

$$G(y, x, \tau, s, \kappa) := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A & -b \\ -A^{\top} & 0 & c \\ b^{\top} & -c^{\top} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} y \\ x \\ \tau \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ s \\ \kappa \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then, the solutions to the homogeneous self-dual model are

$$\left\{ (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa) \in \mathbb{R}^M \times \mathcal{K} \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathcal{K}^\circ \times \mathbb{R}_- : G(y, x, \tau, s, \kappa) = 0 \right\},$$
(10.3)

and they have the following properties (see e.g. Skajaa and Ye [101, Lemma 1]):

- 1. $\langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa = 0;$
- 2. If $\tau > 0$, then x/τ is an optimal solution to (10.1) and $(y,s)/\tau$ is an optimal solution to (10.2);
- If κ < 0, then either ⟨b, y⟩ > 0 or ⟨c, x⟩ < 0, or both. If ⟨b, y⟩ > 0, (10.1) is infeasible. If ⟨c, x⟩ < 0, (10.2) is infeasible.

In other words, finding an element of the set (10.3) where $\tau > 0$ or $\kappa < 0$ suffices to solve the primal-dual pair (10.1) and (10.2). We will therefore interpret $G(y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ as the residual associated with the solution (y, x, τ, s, κ) , which we would like to be the zero vector.

Assume we have initial points $x_0 \in \text{int } \mathcal{K}$ and $s_0 \in \text{int } \mathcal{K}^\circ$, such that $x_0 = g^*(s_0)$, and hence $s_0 = g(x_0)$ by Theorem 2.12. Dahl and Andersen [30] choose x_0 and s_0 , along with y_0 , τ_0 , and κ_0 satisfying

$$x_0 = s_0 = g(x_0) = g^*(s_0), \quad y_0 = 0, \quad \tau_0 = 1, \quad \kappa_0 = -1,$$
 (10.4)

which admits a solution for the five cones that MOSEK 9 supports. Note that (2.22) implies that for logarithmically homogeneous f and $x \in \text{dom } f$,

$$H(x)x = -g(x)$$
 and $\langle x, g(x) \rangle = -\vartheta_f.$ (10.5)

One of the perks of the choice (10.4) is therefore that $-\langle x_0, s_0 \rangle = \langle -x_0, g(x_0) \rangle = \vartheta_f$, meaning that the initial complementarity is known. We define the central path for the homogeneous model as the $(y, x, \tau, s, \kappa) \in \mathbb{R}^M \times \mathcal{K} \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathcal{K}^\circ \times \mathbb{R}_-$ for which there exists a $t \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\begin{cases}
G(y, x, \tau, s, \kappa) = tG(y_0, x_0, \tau_0, s_0, \kappa_0) \\
x = tg^*(s) \\
s = tg(x) \\
\kappa\tau = -t.
\end{cases}$$
(10.6)

Informally, the condition $G(y, x, \tau, s, \kappa) = tG(y_0, x_0, \tau_0, s_0, \kappa_0)$ encodes that the residual norm should decrease as *t* decreases, and the other conditions assure the "centrality" of the solution.

Before we discuss how to measure proximity to this central path, we introduce some notation. To emphasize that $g(x) \in \mathcal{K}^\circ$ for all $x \in int \mathcal{K}$ and $g^*(s) \in \mathcal{K}$ for all $s \in int \mathcal{K}^\circ$, we define the *shadow iterates*

$$\tilde{s} \coloneqq g(x)$$
 and $\tilde{x} \coloneqq g^*(s)$,

when $x \in \text{int } \mathcal{K}$ and $s \in \text{int } \mathcal{K}^{\circ}$. We can then define the (shadow) complementarity gap as

$$\mu \coloneqq -\frac{\langle x, s \rangle}{\vartheta_f} \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{\mu} \coloneqq -\frac{\langle \tilde{x}, \tilde{s} \rangle}{\vartheta_f} \ge 0.$$
(10.7)

As noted by Tunçel [106, Lemma 4.1], Nesterov and Todd [88, Remark 1] showed that for any $x \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and $s \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, we have

$$\mu\tilde{\mu} \ge 1,\tag{10.8}$$

with equality if and only if $x = \mu \tilde{x}$ (and hence $s = \mu \tilde{s}$).

Since any element of (10.3) satisfies $(x, \tau) \in \mathcal{K} \times \mathbb{R}_+$ and $(s, \kappa) \in \mathcal{K}^{\circ} \times \mathbb{R}_-$, it will prove useful to extend our barriers f and f^* to the domains $\mathcal{K} \times \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\mathcal{K}^{\circ} \times \mathbb{R}_-$, respectively. A straightforward way to do this is to define

$$f'(x,\tau) \coloneqq f(x) - \log(\tau),$$

a $(\vartheta_f + 1)$ -LHSCB for $\mathcal{K} \times \mathbb{R}_+$. With the inner product $\langle (x, \tau), (s, \kappa) \rangle = \langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa$, the conjugate of f' is

$$(f')^*(s,\kappa) = f^*(s) - \log(-\kappa) - 1,$$

which is a $(\vartheta_f + 1)$ -LHSCB for $\mathcal{K}^{\circ} \times \mathbb{R}_{-}$. For these cones and barriers, the quantities analogous to (10.7) are

$$\mu' := -\frac{\langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa}{\vartheta_f + 1} \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{\mu}' := -\frac{\langle \tilde{x}, \tilde{s} \rangle + 1/(\tau \kappa)}{\vartheta_f + 1} \ge 0.$$

Because $\mathcal{K} \times \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\mathcal{K}^{\circ} \times \mathbb{R}_-$ are each other's polar cones, the inequality (10.8) carries over to this setting. To be explicit, we must have $\mu' \tilde{\mu}' \ge 1$, with equality if and only if (x, τ) equals

$$\mu' D(f')^*(s,\kappa) = \begin{bmatrix} \mu' g^*(s) \\ -\mu'/\kappa \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mu' \tilde{x} \\ -\mu'/\kappa \end{bmatrix},$$

in which case we also have $s = \mu'\tilde{s}$. Thus, if $\mu'\tilde{\mu}' = 1$, the centrality conditions in (10.6) are satisfied for $t = \mu'$. Since in general $\mu'\tilde{\mu}' \ge 1$, we could define a neighborhood of the central path as the points satisfying $\alpha\mu'\tilde{\mu}' \le 1$ for some $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. For the sake of simplicity, Dahl and Andersen [30, Section 3] instead assume

$$\frac{\alpha}{\tau\kappa}\frac{\langle x,s\rangle + \tau\kappa}{\vartheta_f + 1} \le 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha \langle \tilde{x}, \tilde{s} \rangle \frac{\langle x,s\rangle + \tau\kappa}{\vartheta_f + 1} \le \vartheta_f, \tag{10.9}$$

which implies $\alpha \mu' \tilde{\mu}' \leq 1$ for any $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. Some other useful properties of the assumptions (10.9) are given in the next lemma.

Lemma 10.1. Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Let $x \in \text{int } \mathcal{K}$, $s \in \text{int } \mathcal{K}^\circ$, $\tau > 0$, and $\kappa < 0$. Assume $\tau \kappa \leq -\alpha \mu'$ and $\alpha \mu' \tilde{\mu} \leq 1$ for some $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. Then,

$$\frac{\mu}{2-\alpha} \le \mu' \le \frac{\mu}{\alpha}.$$

Proof. Since $-\tau \kappa \geq \alpha \mu'$, it holds that

$$\mu' = \frac{\mu \vartheta_f}{\vartheta_f + 1} - \frac{\tau \kappa}{\vartheta_f + 1} \geq \frac{\mu \vartheta_f}{\vartheta_f + 1} + \frac{\alpha \mu'}{\vartheta_f + 1},$$

which shows

$$\mu' \ge \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{\vartheta_f + 1}\right)^{-1} \frac{\mu \vartheta_f}{\vartheta_f + 1} = \frac{\mu \vartheta_f}{\vartheta_f + 1 - \alpha} \ge \frac{\mu}{2 - \alpha},$$

where the last inequality uses $\vartheta_f \ge 1$. To prove the second part of the claim, we use the assumption that $\alpha \tilde{\mu} \mu' \le 1$. By (10.8), we have $\tilde{\mu} \ge 1/\mu$, and thus

$$1 \ge \alpha \tilde{\mu} \mu' \ge \frac{\alpha \mu'}{\mu}.$$

Thus, for high values of α , we have $\mu \approx \mu'$ under the assumptions (10.9), and therefore $x \approx \mu \tilde{x}$ and $s \approx \mu \tilde{s}$. We will often refer to the distance between x and $\mu \tilde{x}$, and between s and $\mu \tilde{s}$, so we introduce the following shorthand notation:

$$\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} := x - \mu \tilde{x} \quad \text{and} \quad \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} := s - \mu \tilde{s}.$$

10.2 Algorithm Statement

Nesterov et al. [86] provide a complexity analysis of a class of algorithms to solve the homogeneous model for convex conic optimization, where the cones do not have to be symmetric. However, in the nonsymmetric case the size of the linear systems to be solved doubles compared to the symmetric case, increasing the computation time by a factor of eight.

A more recent approach by Nesterov [84] splits each iteration in two phases. In the correction phase, a strictly feasible primal-dual pair and an associated scaling point are computed. These are used in the prediction phase to find a primaldual direction that is approximately tangential to the central path. This algorithm has the drawback that it assumes the existence of a strictly feasible primal-dual point, and requires a strictly feasible primal starting point.

Skajaa and Ye [101] built on these two methods by proposing an algorithm that solves the homogeneous model and only uses the primal barrier, which means the size of the linear systems is the same as in the symmetric case. While theoretically attractive, this algorithm still requires centering steps. Serrano [99] proposed a variant of Skajaa and Ye's algorithm that no longer uses centering steps, and implements this for the exponential cone in the ECOS solver.

For two points x and s in a symmetric cone, we can always find a scaling point w such that the Hessian of the cone's barrier at w maps x to -s and the gradient at -s to the gradient at x. Moreover, the Hessian at w is bounded by the Hessians at x and -s when x and -s lie close to the central path. For a general convex cone, we can define a similar scaling which maps x to -s, but generally not the gradient at -s to the gradient at x. Thus, the main hurdle in generalizing the Nesterov-Todd directions to nonsymmetric cones is to find a mapping from x to -s and the gradient at -s to the gradient at x, and to ensure that this mapping is in some sense close to the primal and dual Hessians to guarantee polynomial-time convergence. Tuncel [106] proposed to form a such scaling matrix by low-rank updates to an arbitrary positive definite matrix. Myklebust and Tuncel [82] provide explicit bounds on the scaling matrix if the current iterates x and s lie close to the central path.

Dahl and Andersen [30] expand on the ideas from Skajaa and Ye [101], but define their search direction using the scaling matrices analyzed by Tunçel [106] and Myklebust and Tunçel [82]. The resulting algorithm is implemented in MOSEK 9 for the exponential and three-dimensional power cones.

We now proceed to the statement of the algorithm that will be analyzed in the remainder of this chapter. At the start of every iteration, we assume the following holds for some fixed $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [0, 1)$.

(A1) $x \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and $s \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^{\circ}$

(A2) $\tau \kappa \leq -\alpha \mu'$

(A3) $\tau > 0$ and $\kappa < 0$

(A4) $\alpha \mu' \tilde{\mu} \leq 1$

(A5) $\|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x} \leq \delta$.

Note that (A1) to (A4) are also imposed by MOSEK [30, Section 3]. Assumption (A5) is important to "sandwich" the primal-dual scaling matrix used by MOSEK.

Every iteration consists of two phases. In the first phase, we apply a simplified version of the search direction used in Dahl and Andersen [30]. The second phase consists of taking one corrector step to return to the assumptions (A1) to (A5). For the sake of brevity, let us collect all variables in a vector $z := (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$.

The first phase is started by computing a scaling matrix

$$W \coloneqq \mu H(x) + \frac{ss^{\top}}{\vartheta_f \mu} - \frac{\mu \tilde{s} \tilde{s}^{\top}}{\vartheta_f} - \frac{\zeta^{\mathrm{D}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{D}})^{\top}}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle} - \frac{\mu [H(x)\tilde{x} + \tilde{\mu}\tilde{s}][H(x)\tilde{x} + \tilde{\mu}\tilde{s}]^{\top}}{\|\tilde{x}\|_x^2 - \vartheta_f \tilde{\mu}^2}.$$
(10.10)

We refer to W as a scaling matrix because it is serves a similar purpose as the scaling point does for symmetric cones. Most importantly, we have

$$Wx = -s$$
 and $W\tilde{x} = -\tilde{s}$.

Dahl and Andersen [30, Section 5] derive a Cholesky factorization of W, thereby showing W is positive definite.

The scaling matrix *W* is used in the definition of the search direction in this first phase. The search direction consists of two parts: an affine direction Δz^{aff}

and a centering direction Δz^{cen} . The affine direction is the solution Δz^{aff} to

$$G(\Delta z^{\text{aff}}) = -G(z) \tag{10.11a}$$

$$\tau \Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \kappa \Delta \tau^{\text{aff}} = -\tau \kappa \tag{10.11b}$$

$$W\Delta x^{\rm aff} - \Delta s^{\rm aff} = s. \tag{10.11c}$$

It follows from (10.11a) that moving in the direction Δz^{aff} decreases the norm of the residual, which amounts to progress in solving the self-dual homogeneous model. The centering direction Δz^{cen} is the solution to

$$G(\Delta z^{\text{cen}}) = G(z) \tag{10.12a}$$

$$\tau \Delta \kappa^{\rm cen} + \kappa \Delta \tau^{\rm cen} = -\mu' \tag{10.12b}$$

$$W\Delta x^{\rm cen} - \Delta s^{\rm cen} = -\mu'\tilde{s}.$$
 (10.12c)

We see from (10.12a) that moving in direction Δz^{cen} increases the norm of the residual, but it serves to keep us close to the central path. We will combine these two directions to get the search direction in the first phase: for some $\rho \in [0, 1]$ to be fixed later, let

$$\Delta z^{\text{pred}} \coloneqq \Delta z^{\text{aff}} + \rho \Delta z^{\text{cen}}. \tag{10.13}$$

Then, for some $\gamma \in (0, 1]$ also to be fixed later, we update *z* to the new iterate

$$z_{+} := z + \gamma \Delta z^{\text{pred}} = z + \gamma (\Delta z^{\text{aff}} + \varrho \Delta z^{\text{cen}}).$$
(10.14)

After this predictor phase, we will need a corrector to ensure (A4) and (A5) hold. To define it, we will compute a scaling matrix similar to (10.10) defined as

$$W_{+} \coloneqq \mu_{+}H(x_{+}) + \frac{s_{+}s_{+}^{\top}}{\vartheta_{f}\mu_{+}} - \frac{\mu_{+}\tilde{s}_{+}\tilde{s}_{+}^{\top}}{\vartheta_{f}} - \frac{\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}(\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{D}})^{\top}}{\langle\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}},\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}\rangle} - \frac{\mu_{+}[H(x_{+})\tilde{x}_{+} + \tilde{\mu}_{+}\tilde{s}_{+}][H(x_{+})\tilde{x}_{+} + \tilde{\mu}_{+}\tilde{s}_{+}]^{\top}}{\|\tilde{x}_{+}\|_{x_{+}}^{2} - \vartheta_{f}\tilde{\mu}_{+}^{2}},$$
(10.15)

where all quantities with a subscript "+" follow their original definition, but computed for the iterate z_+ instead of z. The corrector Δz_+^{cor} is the solution to

$$G(\Delta z_+^{\rm cor}) = 0 \tag{10.16a}$$

$$\tau_+ \Delta \kappa_+^{\rm cor} + \kappa_+ \Delta \tau_+^{\rm cor} = 0 \tag{10.16b}$$

$$W_{+}\Delta x_{+}^{\rm cor} - \Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor} = s_{+} - \mu_{+}\tilde{s}_{+}.$$
 (10.16c)

It can be seen from (10.16a) that Δz_+^{cor} does not change the residuals, so the progress made by the predictor is maintained. (Skajaa and Ye [101] also use a corrector that satisfies (10.16a), but they take, in our notation, $\tau_+^2 \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}} + \mu'_+ \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}} = -\kappa_+ \tau_+^2 - \mu'_+ \tau_+$ and $\mu'_+ H(x_+) \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}} - \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} = s_+ - \mu'_+ \tilde{s}_+$ instead of (10.16b) and (10.16c).) We take one full corrector step to arrive at

$$z_{++} \coloneqq z_+ + \Delta z_+^{\rm cor}.$$

This z_{++} will be the starting point for the next iteration.

The algorithm in this section is summarized in Algorithm 10.1.

Algorithm 10.1 Algorithm for nonsymmetric conic optimization (based on Dahl and Andersen [30])

predictor step size $\gamma \in (0, 1]$; Input: centering parameter $\rho \in [0, 1]$; optimality tolerance $\varepsilon > 0$. **Output:** a solution *z* where $\mu' \leq \varepsilon$ and $||G(z)|| \leq \varepsilon ||G(z_0)||$ 1: $z \leftarrow z_0 = (y_0, x_0, \tau_0, s_0, \kappa_0)$ as in (10.4) 2: while $\mu' > \varepsilon$ or $||G(z)|| > \varepsilon ||G(z_0)||$ do Compute scaling matrix W as in (10.10) 3: Find the solution Δz^{aff} to (10.11a) to (10.11c), and the solution Δz^{cen} to 4: (10.12a) to (10.12c) $z_+ \leftarrow z + \gamma \Delta z^{\text{pred}} = z + \gamma (\Delta z^{\text{aff}} + \rho \Delta z^{\text{cen}})$ 5: Compute scaling matrix W_+ as in (10.15) 6: Find the solution Δz_{+}^{cor} to (10.16a) to (10.16c) 7: $z \leftarrow z_{++} = z_+ + \Delta z_+^{\text{cor}}$ 8: 9: return z

In the remainder of this chapter, we will give the outline of our analysis. The more technical proofs are deferred to Appendix C.

10.3 Scaling Matrix

The scaling matrix *W* is formed by low-rank updates to $\mu H(x)$. We would like that $W \approx \mu H(x)$ and $W \approx \frac{1}{\mu} H^*(s)^{-1}$ to derive further properties of Algorithm 10.1.
This section is concerned with finding positive scalars u^{P} , l^{P} , u^{D} , and l^{D} such that

$$l^{\mathrm{P}}\mu H(x) \leq W \leq u^{\mathrm{P}}\mu H(x) \text{ and } \frac{l^{\mathrm{D}}}{\mu} H^{*}(s)^{-1} \leq W \leq \frac{u^{\mathrm{D}}}{\mu} H^{*}(s)^{-1}, \quad (10.17)$$

and similarly, positive scalars $u_{+}^{\rm P},\,l_{+}^{\rm P},\,u_{+}^{\rm D},\,{\rm and}\,\,l_{+}^{\rm D}$ such that

$$l_{+}^{P}\mu_{+}H(x_{+}) \leq W_{+} \leq u_{+}^{P}\mu_{+}H(x_{+}) \text{ and } \frac{l_{+}^{D}}{\mu_{+}}H^{*}(s_{+})^{-1} \leq W_{+} \leq \frac{u_{+}^{D}}{\mu_{+}}H^{*}(s_{+})^{-1}.$$
(10.18)

For instance, Myklebust and Tunçel [82, Theorem 6.8] derive such bounds for a different scaling matrix than the one by Dahl and Andersen [30] under the condition $||s - \mu \tilde{s}||_s^* \leq 1/64$. Note that through Lemma 2.4, (10.17) would also give us bounds on W^{-1} in terms of $\frac{1}{\mu}H(x)^{-1}$ and $\mu H^*(s)$, and (10.18) would give bounds on W_+^{-1} in terms of $\frac{1}{\mu_+}H(x_+)^{-1}$ and $\mu_+H^*(s_+)$.

The bounds on the scaling matrix can be derived with the help of the following relation between Löwner orderings and operator norms.

Proposition 10.2 ([7, Lemma 2]). Let $P, Q \in \mathbb{S}^n$ where $P \succ 0$, and $\epsilon > 0$. Then, $\|P^{-1}Q - I\|_P \le \epsilon$ if and only if $(1 - \epsilon)P \le Q \le (1 + \epsilon)P$.

Proof. Assume $||P^{-1}Q - I||_P \le \epsilon$. To show $Q - (1 - \epsilon)P \ge 0$, it suffices to note that

$$\begin{split} \inf_{\|u\|_{P}=1} \langle u, (Q-(1-\epsilon)P)u \rangle &\geq \inf_{\|u\|_{P}=1} \langle u, (Q-P)u \rangle + \inf_{\|u\|_{P}=1} \langle u, \epsilon Pu \rangle \\ &\geq \inf_{\|u\|_{P}=1} - \|u\|_{P} \|(Q-P)u\|_{P^{-1}} + \inf_{\|u\|_{P}=1} \epsilon \|u\|_{P}^{2} \\ &= -\sup_{\|u\|_{P}=1} \|(P^{-1}Q-I)u\|_{P} + \epsilon \\ &\geq -\epsilon + \epsilon = 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore, $\inf_{\|u\|_{P} \leq 1} \langle u, (Q - (1 - \epsilon)P)u \rangle \geq 0$ as well. Proving $(1 + \epsilon)P - Q \geq 0$ can be done similarly.

Next, assume $(1 - \epsilon)P \leq Q \leq (1 + \epsilon)P$, i.e. $-\epsilon P \leq Q - P \leq \epsilon P$. Hence, for any $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $||u||_P \leq 1$, we have $|\langle u, (Q - P)u \rangle| \leq \epsilon$. Using a transformation $v = P^{-1/2}u$,

$$\epsilon \ge \sup_{u \ne 0} \frac{|\langle u, (Q-P)u \rangle|}{\|u\|_{P}^{2}} = \sup_{v \ne 0} \frac{|\langle v, P^{-1/2}(Q-P)P^{-1/2}v \rangle|}{\|v\|^{2}}$$

It is well known (see e.g. Horn and Johnson [52, Property 1.2.9]) that the supremum on the right hand side is attained at some eigenvector of $P^{-1/2}(Q-P)P^{-1/2}$ with norm one. Hence,

$$\epsilon \geq \sup_{\nu \neq 0} \frac{\|\nu\| \|P^{-1/2}(Q-P)P^{-1/2}\nu\|}{\|\nu\|^2} = \sup_{u \neq 0} \frac{\|P^{-1}(Q-P)u\|_P}{\|u\|_P} = \|P^{-1}Q - I\|_P. \quad \Box$$

We are now ready to derive bounds on *W* as in (10.17), roughly following the approach by Myklebust and Tunçel [82]. We make the assumption $\|\zeta^{P}\|_{x} \leq 0.18226$ to ensure that all denominators in these bounds are positive.

Theorem 10.3 ([7, Theorem 1]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Let $x \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and $s \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, and assume $\|\zeta^p\|_x \leq 0.18226$. Let W be defined as in (10.10). Then, the assumptions (10.17) are satisfied with values

$$l^{\mathrm{P}} = 1 - \epsilon - \xi, \quad u^{\mathrm{P}} = 1 + \epsilon + \xi, \quad l^{\mathrm{D}} = l^{\mathrm{P}} (1 - \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x})^{2}, \quad u^{\mathrm{D}} = \frac{u^{\mathrm{P}}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x})^{2}},$$

where

$$\begin{split} \epsilon &\coloneqq \frac{1}{\vartheta_f} \bigg(\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x + \frac{\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3} \bigg) \bigg(\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x + \frac{\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3} + 2\sqrt{\vartheta_f} \bigg) \\ \xi &\coloneqq \frac{2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x} \left(\frac{4\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3} + 2\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x + \frac{\left(\frac{3\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3} + \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x\right)^2}{\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x \left(1 - \frac{3\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3}\right) \bigg). \end{split}$$

Proof. See Appendix C.

Of course, bounds on W_+ in terms of $\mu_+ H(x_+)$ and $\frac{1}{\mu_+}H^*(s_+)$ can also be found using Theorem 10.3 by replacing $\|\zeta^P\|_x$ by $\|\zeta^P_+\|_{x_+}$ in the definition of ϵ and ξ .

10.4 Properties of the Predictor

Now that we know that the scaling matrix W is approximately equal to $\mu H(x)$ and $\frac{1}{\mu}H^*(s)^{-1}$, we shift our focus to the predictor direction that it defines. We start with some simple properties of the predictor, followed by an upper bound on the local norm of the predictor. Thus, we will be able to derive sufficient conditions for (A1)

ъ

to hold after the predictor step. We then consider what happens to assumptions (A2) and (A3). It turns out we do not need to consider (A4), so we conclude with an analysis of (A5).

As we noted in Section 10.2, the affine direction Δz^{aff} decreases the norm of the residuals, and the centering direction Δz^{cen} increases it. Dahl and Andersen [30, Lemma 3] show by how much the residuals decrease, and what the value of μ'_+ is. For the sake of completeness, we prove this result using our notation, and we moreover show that $\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}}$ is zero.

Lemma 10.4 ([7, Lemma 5]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z = (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ such that (A1) and (A3) hold, and let $\gamma, \varrho \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, the following properties hold:

(i)
$$G(z + \gamma \Delta z^{\text{pred}}) = (1 - \gamma (1 - \varrho))G(z)$$

(*ii*) $\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} = 0$

(iii)
$$\mu'_{+} = (1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho))\mu'$$
, or equivalently, $\langle x + \gamma \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s + \gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + (\tau + \gamma \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}})(\kappa + \gamma \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}}) = (1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho))[\langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa].$

Proof. See Appendix C.

Let us now consider what happens to (A1) after the predictor step. A question that needs answering is how big the local norms of the primal and dual predictors Δx^{pred} and Δs^{pred} can be. Without an upper bound on the norm of these predictors, it might be that taking the step from z to z_+ yields an $x_+ \notin \text{int } \mathcal{K}$ or $s_+ \notin \text{int } \mathcal{K}^\circ$.

Theorem 10.5 ([7, Theorem 2]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z = (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ such that (A1) to (A5) hold for some $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [0, 1)$. Let $l^P, u^D > 0$ be bounds such that (10.17) holds, and let $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, the primal and dual predictors Δx^{pred} and Δs^{pred} satisfy

$$\|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_{W}^{2} + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^{2} \leq \mu' \left[\vartheta_{f}\left(1 - 2\varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{\alpha}\right) + 1 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha - \varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{2\alpha}\right],\tag{10.19}$$

and

$$l^{\mathsf{P}} \|\Delta x^{\mathsf{pred}}\|_{x}^{2} + \frac{1}{u^{\mathsf{D}}} (\|\Delta s^{\mathsf{pred}}\|_{s}^{*})^{2} \leq \frac{1}{\alpha} \left[\vartheta_{f} \left(1 - 2\varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{\alpha} \right) + 1 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha - \varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{2\alpha} \right].$$
(10.20)

Proof. See Appendix C.

We want to remark that both that the coefficient of ϑ_f and the constant term in (10.19) and (10.20) are nonnegative for all $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. Concerning the coefficient, since $\varrho^2 \ge 0$, $\varrho^2/\alpha \ge \varrho^2$ for all $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. Then,

$$1 - 2\varrho + \varrho^2 / \alpha \ge 1 - 2\varrho + \varrho^2 = (\varrho - 1)^2 \ge 0.$$
 (10.21)

Next, we show that the constant terms in (10.19) and (10.20) are nonnegative. To see this, it suffices to show $\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\alpha^2 - \rho\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\rho^2 \ge 0$ for all $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1]$. Since $\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\alpha^2 - \rho\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\rho^2$ is concave in α , the claim must hold if $\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\alpha^2 - \rho\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\rho^2 \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \{0, 1\}$ and $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$. For $\alpha = 0$, $\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\alpha^2 - \rho\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\rho^2 = \frac{1}{2}\rho^2 \ge 0$ for all $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$, while for $\alpha = 1$, $\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\alpha^2 - \rho\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\rho^2 = \frac{1}{2}\rho^2 - \rho + \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2}(\rho - 1)^2 \ge 0$. Hence,

$$1 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha - \rho + \frac{\rho^2}{2\alpha} = \frac{\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\alpha^2 - \rho\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\rho^2}{\alpha} \ge 0.$$
 (10.22)

Moreover, the bounds (10.19) and (10.20) are tight in the simple case where $\alpha = \rho = 1$: one can verify that the bounds are then both equal to zero, indicating that Δx^{pred} and Δs^{pred} are both zero.

To compress the notation of the upper bounds (10.19) and (10.20) somewhat, we define

$$\Pi \coloneqq \left[\vartheta_f \left(1 - 2\varrho + \frac{\varrho^2}{\alpha}\right) + 1 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha - \varrho + \frac{\varrho^2}{2\alpha}\right], \quad (10.23)$$

such that $\|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_W^2 + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^2 \le \mu' \Pi$ and $l^P \|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_x^2 + (\|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_s^*)^2/u^D \le \Pi/\alpha$.

With Theorem 10.5, we can derive values for γ such that x_+ and s_+ lie in the Dikin ellipsoids around x and s respectively, which implies $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$. This would show that (A1) is satisfied after the predictor step. We now move on to what happens to (A2) and (A3) after the predictor step.

Lemma 10.6 ([7, Lemma 7]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z = (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ such that (A1) to (A5) hold for some $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [0, 1)$. Let $\gamma \leq 1$ and $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}$. Then,

$$\tau_{+}\kappa_{+} \leq -\frac{\mu_{+}'}{1-\gamma(1-\varrho)} \Big[\alpha(1-\gamma) + \gamma \varrho - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{2}\Pi \Big].$$
(10.24)

If $\alpha < 1$ or $\varrho < 1$, and

$$0 \le \gamma < \frac{\alpha - \rho + \sqrt{(\alpha - \rho)^2 + 2\alpha \Pi}}{\Pi}, \tag{10.25}$$

then $\tau_+ > 0$ and $\kappa_+ < 0$.

Proof. See Appendix C.

One may wonder what happens to assumption (A4) after the predictor step. However, we did not find a satisfying way to bound $\mu'_+\tilde{\mu}_+$. This is the main reason we introduced a corrector in this analysis, which we consider in more detail in Section 10.5.

To complete the analysis of the predictor, we consider (A5). Compared to [7, Lemma 8], we use a somewhat more elegant bound on (C.13) in the proof of this result.

Lemma 10.7. Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z = (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ such that (A1) to (A5) hold for some $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [0, 1)$. Assume (10.17) holds with $u^{\mathbb{D}} = (1 + \epsilon)/r$ and $l^{\mathbb{D}} = r(1 - \epsilon)$ for some $r \in (0, 1]$ and $\epsilon \ge 0$. Let $\gamma \in [0, \sqrt{\alpha \min\{l^P, 1/u^P\}/\Pi})$ and $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x_{+}} &\leq \frac{1}{1 - \gamma \sqrt{\Pi/(l^{\mathbf{P}}\alpha)}} \bigg[(1 - \gamma) \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x} + \frac{\gamma^{2}\Pi}{2\alpha \sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x})} \\ &+ \frac{\gamma \sqrt{\Pi}}{\sqrt{l^{\mathbf{P}}\alpha}} \bigg(\frac{u^{\mathbf{D}}(1 + \varsigma)}{1 - \gamma \sqrt{u^{\mathbf{D}}\Pi/\alpha}} - 1 \bigg) \bigg], \end{split}$$

where

$$\varsigma := \frac{\gamma^2 \Pi}{2\alpha \vartheta_f} + \gamma \max\left\{1 - \frac{\varrho}{2 - \alpha}, \frac{\varrho}{\alpha} - 1\right\}.$$

Proof. See Appendix C.

10.5 Properties of the Corrector

We have analyzed what happens to the assumptions (A1) to (A3) and (A5) after the predictor step, but we have not investigated (A4). Moreover, it is not clear from Lemma 10.7 that we can pick values for γ , δ , α , and ϱ such that $\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}} \leq \|\zeta^{P}\|_{x}$. As we will see, the corrector introduced in this work fixes both these problems.

We start with some simple properties of the corrector (10.16a) to (10.16c). These will allow us – among other things – to argue that (A1) to (A3) hold after the corrector step.

Lemma 10.8 ([7, Lemma 9]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z_+ = (y_+, x_+, \tau_+, \kappa_+)$ such that $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$, $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, $\tau_+ > 0$, and $\kappa_+ < 0$. Then,

- (*i*) $G(z_+ + \Delta z_+^{cor}) = G(z_+)$
- (*ii*) $\langle x_+, \Delta s_+^{cor} \rangle + \langle \Delta x_+^{cor}, s_+ \rangle = 0$
- (*iii*) $\langle \Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}, \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \rangle + \Delta \tau_{+}^{\text{cor}} \Delta \kappa_{+}^{\text{cor}} = 0$
- (iv) $\langle x_+ + \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}}, s_+ + \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} \rangle + (\tau_+ + \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}})(\kappa_+ + \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}}) = \langle x_+, s_+ \rangle + \tau_+ \kappa_+$. In other words, $\mu'_{++} = \mu'_+$
- (v) $\|\Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} + \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2} \le \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}^{2}$
- (vi) $|\langle \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}}, \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} \rangle| \leq \frac{1}{2} ||\zeta_+^{\text{P}}||_{W_+}^2$
- (vii) $(\tau_+ + \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}})(\kappa_+ + \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}}) \le \tau_+ \kappa_+ + \frac{1}{2} \|\zeta_+^P\|_{W_+}^2$. If $\tau_+ \kappa_+ + \frac{1}{2} \|\zeta_+^P\|_{W_+}^2 < 0$, then $\tau_{++} > 0$ and $\kappa_{++} < 0$.

Proof. See Appendix C.

Moving on to (A4), the following result will show that the corrector step leads to a small $\mu_+\tilde{\mu}_{++}$. In Section 10.6, we will show that a small $\mu_+\tilde{\mu}_{++}$ implies a small value of $\mu'_{++}\tilde{\mu}_{++}$.

Lemma 10.9 ([7, Lemma 10]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z_+ = (y_+, x_+, \tau_+, s_+, \kappa_+)$ such that $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$, $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, $\tau_+ > 0$, and $\kappa_+ < 0$. Assume (10.18) holds with $u_+^{\mathrm{D}} = (1 + \epsilon)/r$ and $l_+^{\mathrm{D}} = r(1 - \epsilon)$ for some $r \in (0, 1]$ and $\epsilon \ge 0$. Suppose $\|\zeta_+^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_+}/\sqrt{\mu_+} < \sqrt{\min\{l_+^{\mathrm{D}}, 1/u_+^{\mathrm{D}}\}}$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \mu_{+} \tilde{\mu}_{++} &\leq 1 + \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}} \left[\frac{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}}{\sqrt{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f}}} \left(\frac{1}{1 - \sqrt{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}/\mu_{+}}} \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}} - 1 \right) \\ &+ \frac{\|\tilde{x}_{+}\|_{W_{+}}}{\vartheta_{f}} \left(\frac{1}{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}(1 - \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}\mu_{+}})} - 1 \right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}}{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f} l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}(1 - \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}\mu_{+}})(1 - \sqrt{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}/\mu_{+}}} \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}})}. \end{split}$$

Proof. See Appendix C.

Note that the bound in the lemma above still depends on $\|\tilde{x}_+\|_{W_+}/\vartheta_f$. Although we chose not to analyze $\langle \tilde{x}_+, \tilde{s}_+ \rangle$, we can still crudely bound this quantity as

$$\frac{\|\tilde{x}_{+}\|_{W_{+}}}{\vartheta_{f}} = \frac{\|\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} - x_{+} + x_{+}\|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f}} \le \frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}} + \|x_{+}\|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f}} = \frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f}}}.$$
(10.26)

Of course, better bounds could be found through a thorough analysis of $\langle \tilde{x}_+, \tilde{s}_+ \rangle$.

We end this section by considering (A5). The corrector (10.16a) to (10.16c) was designed with the goal of reducing the distance $\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}}$. The following lemma shows that this goal is indeed attained, provided $\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}$ is itself not too large (in which case, u_{+}^{D} is close to one).

Lemma 10.10 ([7, Lemma 11]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z_+ = (y_+, x_+, \tau_+, s_+, \kappa_+)$ such that $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$, $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, $\tau_+ > 0$, and $\kappa_+ < 0$. Assume (10.18) holds with $u_+^{\mathrm{D}} = (1 + \epsilon)/r$ and $l_+^{\mathrm{D}} = r(1 - \epsilon)$ for some $r \in (0, 1]$ and $\epsilon \ge 0$. Suppose $\|\zeta_+^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_+}/\sqrt{\mu_+} < \sqrt{\min\{l_+^{\mathrm{P}}, 1/u_+^{\mathrm{P}}\}}$. Then, $\|\zeta_{++}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x_{++}}$

is at most

$$\frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}}{(1-\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{P}})\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{P}}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{D}}{1-\sqrt{u_{+}^{D}/\mu_{+}}}\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}}-1\right) + \frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}}{2\mu_{+}\sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}} \left[1-\frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}}{(1-\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{P}})\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{P}}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{D}}{1-\sqrt{u_{+}^{D}/\mu_{+}}}\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}}-1\right)\right]^{-1}.$$

Proof. See Appendix C.

Proof. See Appendix C.

10.6 **Complexity Analysis**

In the previous two sections, we saw how the predictor and corrector step impacted the starting assumptions (A1) to (A5) for general values of the parameters γ , α , ρ , and δ . Below, we will fix

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{100\vartheta_f}, \quad \alpha = 0.9, \quad \varrho = 0.9, \quad \text{and} \quad \delta = \frac{1}{400\sqrt{\vartheta_f}}.$$
 (10.27)

It follows from (10.23) and Theorem 10.3 that

$$\Pi = 0.1(\vartheta_f + 1), \quad l^{P} \ge 0.97966, \text{ and } u^{D} \le 1.02546.$$

Moreover, Lemma 10.7 shows that

$$\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x_{+}} \le \frac{0.00268}{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}},$$
 (10.28)

and consequently Theorem 10.3 implies that

 $l_{+}^{P} \ge 0.97819, \quad l_{+}^{D} \ge 0.97296, \quad u_{+}^{P} \le 1.02181, \text{ and } u_{+}^{D} \le 1.02731.$

With these values fixed, we can show that Algorithm 10.1 converges to a nearoptimal solution of the homogeneous model in $O(\vartheta_f \log(1/\varepsilon))$ iterations.

Theorem 10.11 ([7, Theorem 3]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LH-SCB. Assume we start Algorithm 10.1 from a starting point satisfying (10.4), with parameter values as in (10.27). For any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, the algorithm produces a solution z satisfying

 $\mu' \leq \varepsilon$ and $||G(z)|| \leq \varepsilon ||G(z_0)||$,

in $O(\vartheta_f \log(1/\varepsilon))$ iterations.

Proof. We will show that for the parameter values in (10.27), the point z_{++} satisfies (A1) to (A5) if z satisfies them, and that some progress is made in moving from z to z_{++} .

(A1): Assumption (A1) states that $x \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and $s \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$. By Theorem 10.5, we have $\|\gamma \Delta x^{\operatorname{pred}}\|_x \leq \gamma \sqrt{\Pi/(\alpha l^{\mathrm{p}})}$, which, for the parameter values in (10.27) and $\vartheta_f \geq 1$, is at most $0.01\sqrt{0.1(\vartheta_f + 1)/0.88169}/\vartheta_f \leq 0.00477 < 1$. Hence, $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$. Similarly, $\|\gamma \Delta s^{\operatorname{pred}}\|_s^* \leq \gamma \sqrt{\Pi u^{\mathrm{D}}/\alpha} \leq 0.01\sqrt{0.1(\vartheta_f + 1)1.1394}/\vartheta_f \leq 0.00478 < 1$, implying that $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$. Having established that $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, we consider the corrector step. It follows from (10.18) and Lemma 10.8(v) that

$$\begin{split} l_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\mu_{+} \|\Delta x_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{x_{+}}^{2} + \frac{\mu_{+}}{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}} (\|\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{s_{+}}^{*})^{2} &\leq \|\Delta x_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} + \|\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} \leq u_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\mu_{+}\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x_{+}}^{2} \leq u_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\mu_{+}(0.00268)^{2}, \end{split}$$

where the final inequality is due to (10.28). We therefore have $\|\Delta x_{+}^{cor}\|_{x_{+}} \leq \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}} \sqrt{u_{+}^{P}/l_{+}^{P}} \leq 0.00274 < 1$ and $\|\Delta s_{+}^{cor}\|_{s_{+}}^{*} \leq \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}} \sqrt{u_{+}^{P}u_{+}^{D}} \leq 0.00275 < 1$. In conclusion, $x_{++} \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and $s_{++} \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^{\circ}$.

(A2): By Lemma 10.6 and Lemma 10.8(vii),

$$\tau_{++}\kappa_{++} \le -\frac{\mu'_{+}}{1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho)} \left(\alpha(1 - \gamma) + \gamma \varrho - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{2}\Pi \right) + \frac{1}{2} \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}^{2}.$$
(10.29)

Since $\mu'_{+} = \mu'_{++}$ by Lemma 10.8(iv), our next step is to bound $\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}^{2}$ in terms of μ'_{++} . To this end, note that Corollary C.4 shows

$$\frac{\mu_+}{\mu} \leq 1 + \frac{\gamma^2 \Pi}{2\alpha \vartheta_f} + \gamma \left(\frac{\varrho}{\alpha} - 1\right) = 1 + \frac{\vartheta_f + 1}{180000 \vartheta_f^3} \leq 1 + \frac{1}{90000}.$$

By (10.18), we can therefore write

$$\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} \leq u_{+}^{P}\mu_{+}\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}}^{2} \leq u_{+}^{P}\mu\left(1+\frac{1}{90000}\right)\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}}^{2}.$$

Now Lemma 10.1 and Lemma 10.4(iii) show

$$\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} \leq u_{+}^{P}(2-\alpha)\mu'\left(1+\frac{1}{90000}\right)\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}}^{2} = \frac{u_{+}^{P}(2-\alpha)\left(1+\frac{1}{90000}\right)}{1-\gamma(1-\varrho)}\mu'_{+}\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}}^{2}$$

Plugging the above into (10.29) yields

$$\tau_{++}\kappa_{++} \leq \frac{\mu'_{+}}{1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho)} \Big[\frac{1}{2}\gamma^{2}\Pi - \alpha + \gamma(\alpha - \varrho) + \frac{1}{2}u_{+}^{P}(2 - \alpha) \Big(1 + \frac{1}{90000} \Big) \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}}^{2} \Big].$$

This bound is at most $-\alpha \mu'_{++} = -\alpha \mu'_{+}$ if and only if

$$\frac{1}{2}\gamma^{2}\Pi - \alpha + \gamma(\alpha - \varrho) + \frac{1}{2}u_{+}^{P}(2 - \alpha)\left(1 + \frac{1}{90000}\right) \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}}^{2} \leq -\alpha[1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho)].$$

Eliminating $-\alpha$ from both sides, and multiplying by ϑ_f yields the sufficient condition

$$\frac{\vartheta_f + 1}{200000\vartheta_f} + \frac{1}{2}1.02181 \times 1.1\left(1 + \frac{1}{90000}\right)(0.00268)^2 \le \frac{9}{10000},$$

which is true for all $\vartheta_f \ge 1$. Hence, (A2) is satisfied for z_{++} .

(A3): To verify that (A3) holds for z_{++} , we first turn to Lemma 10.6. It is not hard to verify that for the values in (10.27),

$$\frac{\varrho - \alpha + \sqrt{(\alpha - \varrho)^2 + 2\alpha \Pi}}{\Pi} = \sqrt{\frac{2\alpha}{\Pi}} = \sqrt{\frac{18}{\vartheta_f + 1}} > \frac{1}{100\vartheta_f} = \gamma_f$$

so $\tau_+ > 0$ and $\kappa_+ < 0$. Lemma 10.8(vii) shows that $\tau_{++} > 0$ and $\kappa_{++} < 0$ as well, since it was shown above that $\tau_{++}\kappa_{++} \le -\alpha \mu'_{++} < 0$.

(A4): Lemma 10.9 gives us an upper bound on $\mu_+\tilde{\mu}_{++}$, while we want an upper bound on $\alpha \mu'_{++}\tilde{\mu}_{++}$. Note that Lemma 10.8(iv) and Lemma 10.4(iii) show

$$\alpha \mu'_{++} \tilde{\mu}_{++} = \alpha (1 - \gamma (1 - \varrho)) \mu' \tilde{\mu}_{++} = \alpha (1 - \gamma (1 - \varrho)) \frac{\mu'}{\mu_{+}} \mu_{+} \tilde{\mu}_{++}.$$
 (10.30)

To find an upper bound on μ'/μ_+ , note that by definition (10.14),

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mu'}{\mu_{+}} &= \frac{\mu' \vartheta_{f}}{-\langle x + \gamma \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s + \gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle} \\ &= \frac{\mu' \vartheta_{f}}{\mu \vartheta_{f} + \gamma \langle x, W \Delta x^{\text{pred}} - \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle - \gamma^{2} \langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle}. \end{aligned}$$

It follows from (10.11c), (10.12c), and (10.13) that $W \Delta x^{\text{pred}} - \Delta s^{\text{pred}} = s - \rho \mu' \tilde{s}$. Hence, by Corollary C.3 and Lemma 10.1,

$$\frac{\mu'}{\mu_{+}} \leq \frac{\mu'\vartheta_{f}}{\mu\vartheta_{f} + \gamma(-\mu\vartheta_{f} + \varrho\mu'\vartheta_{f}) - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{2}\mu'\Pi} \leq \frac{\mu'\vartheta_{f}}{(1-\gamma)\alpha\mu'\vartheta_{f} + \gamma\varrho\mu'\vartheta_{f} - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{2}\mu'\Pi} = \frac{1}{(1-\gamma)\alpha + \gamma\varrho - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{2}\Pi/\vartheta_{f}}.$$
(10.31)

Next, note that $\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}} \leq \sqrt{u_{+}^{P}\mu_{+}} \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{x_{+}} \leq 0.00271 \sqrt{\mu_{+}/\vartheta_{f}}$ by (10.18). Consequently, by Lemma 10.9 and (10.26),

$$\alpha(1-\gamma(1-\varrho))(\mu_{+}\tilde{\mu}_{++}-1) \leq \frac{0.0001}{\vartheta_{f}} \leq \frac{0.9}{1000\vartheta_{f}} - \frac{\vartheta_{f}+1}{200000\vartheta_{f}^{3}} = \gamma \varrho(1-\alpha) - \frac{\gamma^{2}\Pi}{2\vartheta_{f}}.$$
(10.32)

Plugging (10.31) and (10.32) into (10.30) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha \mu_{++}' \tilde{\mu}_{++} &\leq \frac{\alpha (1 - \gamma (1 - \varrho))}{(1 - \gamma)\alpha + \gamma \varrho - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 \Pi/\vartheta_f} [(\mu_+ \tilde{\mu}_{++} - 1) + 1] \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha (1 - \gamma (1 - \varrho)) + \gamma \varrho (1 - \alpha) - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 \Pi/\vartheta_f}{(1 - \gamma)\alpha + \gamma \varrho - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 \Pi/\vartheta_f} = 1. \end{aligned}$$

(A5): It follows from Lemma 10.10 that for the parameter values in (10.27),

$$\|\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{++}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{\boldsymbol{x}_{++}} \leq \frac{0.00009}{\sqrt{\vartheta_f}} < \frac{0.0025}{\sqrt{\vartheta_f}} = \frac{1}{400\sqrt{\vartheta_f}} = \delta.$$

The discussion above demonstrated that for the parameter values (10.27), an iteration of Algorithm 10.1 starting at a solution z satisfying (A1) to (A5) ends at a solution z_{++} for which (A1) to (A5) also hold. By Lemmas 10.4(i), 10.4(iii), 10.8(i), and 10.8(iv), the residuals and complementarity reduce at a rate of $1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho)$ per iteration. If we start at an initial point z_0 as in (10.4), then $\mu' = 1$ and (A1) to (A5) all hold. Thus, after k iterations of Algorithm 10.1, the complementarity gap is exactly $(1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho))^k$, and the residuals are $G(z_0)(1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho))^k$. This completes the proof.

Conclusions and Future Work

Let us highlight the main insights that we gained throughout this thesis, and point out possible improvements that future research could focus on. This thesis covered four approaches to convex programming: the sampling-based interior point method from Chapter 6, the simulated annealing algorithm by Kalai and Vempala [56] in Chapter 7, the analytic center cutting plane method in Chapter 8, and the nonsymmetric conic algorithm in Chapter 10. We will briefly discuss each of these.

To analyze the first two methods, we needed the prerequisites from Chapters 2 to 5. Where Chapters 2 and 3 contained mostly well-known background material on interior point theory, Chapters 4 and 5 concerned the quality of approximations of the mean and covariance of Boltzmann distributions, based on hit-and-run sampling. The bounds we derived there are likely not tight though.

The first reason is that we cited Theorem 1.1 from Lovász and Vempala [71], which states a walk length that ensures a hit-and-run sample's distribution is close to the target distribution. This number of steps contains an astronomical constant 10^{30} , which makes this walk length, and the walk length in our Theorem 4.14, far

too big to be used in practice. However, experiments show that hit-and-run does seem like a viable strategy to generate samples, which suggests the theoretical analysis is overly pessimistic.

As a second reason, Theorem 5.11 uses $O(n^2)$ samples to approximate a covariance matrix, which may be too conservative. Results such as Theorem 4.1 in Adamczak et al. [2] suggest that a covariance matrix may be approximated with O(n) samples. However, their result depends on the assumption that all samples are drawn independently from the target distribution. Whether this result can be extended to near-independent samples from distributions close to the target distribution is left for future research.

Even with these (possibly) non-tight bounds on the walk length and sample size, it was shown in Chapter 5 that we can approximate the mean and covariance of a Boltzmann distribution within polynomial time. Chapter 6 then proposed a sampling-based interior point method to compute a solution that is near-optimal with probability at least $1 - q^*$, where the number of oracle calls is $O^*(n^{8.5}/q^*)$. The same complexity was found in Chapter 7 for Kalai and Vempala's simulated annealing algorithm [56]. It might be that both these complexity results can be strengthened for the reasons also discussed in Section 7.3. The first reason was already raised above: the number of samples required to approximate a covariance may be linear in *n*, not quadratic. It was moreover described in Section 7.3 that a lower bound on the spectrum of Boltzmann covariance matrices which is not exponential in *n* would improve the algorithms' complexity.

But such theoretical improvements would not change these methods' practical perspectives. As we saw in Chapter 9, approximating the mean and covariance of a Boltzmann distribution to high accuracy with hit-and-run sampling takes an impractically long time. This raises concerns about the applicability of the sampling-based interior point method, since it depends heavily on these approximations. The simulated annealing algorithm performs worse than the ellipsoid method, even after applying some improvements and taking a heuristic number of steps and samples. It seems massive parallelization would be necessary to make these approaches competitive. This does not appear to be an attractive strategy, especially since there are viable alternatives.

The analytic center cutting plane method that was introduced in Chapter 8 is such an alternative. Even if we did not formally analyze the number of oracle calls this method makes, this quantity seems to scale well in practice (see Section 9.3). The method was successfully applied to copositive programming, using the copositivity oracle from Section 8.2. This oracle solves a mixed integer linear program, which is theoretically NP-hard, but quite fast in practice. Our implementation is available online.

Besides the lack of theoretical guarantees, there is another downside to this method of solving copositive optimization problems: it requires an upper bound on the norm of an optimal solution. This was easy for our testing problem, since the entire feasible set was contained in a unit ball. However, it is not clear how such a bound could be determined ex-ante in general.

The last algorithm we discussed focused on a slightly more structured problem: convex programming on proper cones that admit a readily computable logarithmically homogeneous barrier. In Chapter 10, we analyzed an algorithm that is closely related to that of Dahl and Andersen [30], which was implemented in MOSEK 9 [78]. We showed that our algorithm returns a near-optimal solution to the homogeneous model in $O(\vartheta_f \log(1/\varepsilon))$ iterations. Future work could focus on improving this bound, or analyzing an algorithm that has fewer differences with the method by Dahl and Andersen [30]. For instance, we disregarded the higher-order corrector in their work, and introduced a corrector of our own for the sake of simplicity.

We have thus covered four algorithms for convex programming – two randomized, two deterministic. The randomized algorithms do not appear attractive in practice, because they call the membership oracle of the feasible set too many times. This seems to be caused by their consisting of many layers, as depicted in Figures 6.1 and 7.1. The randomized methods use the oracle calls to find the end points of line segments, which yield one hit-and-run step. After many such steps, we have a hit-and-run sample. With many samples, we can create an estimate of a covariance matrix, and with many of these estimated covariances, we can run our randomized methods. By contrast, the analytic center cutting plane method from Chapter 8 uses each and every oracle call to shrink the outer approximation of the optimal set. We therefore argue that a practically competitive randomized method for convex programming would use fewer layers than the methods from this thesis.



Fréchet Derivatives for Self-Concordance

The definitions of the gradient, Hessian, and third derivative of a function, as stated in Section 2.1, are all based on Fréchet derivatives. In this appendix, we provide more details on this type of derivative. This will allow us to fill in some details in the proof of Theorem 2.6.

Following Dieudonné [39], we adopt the notation that the Fréchet derivative of a function f is Df, the second Fréchet derivative is D^2f , etcetera. The reader will find that Definitions 2.1, 2.2, and 2.5 can be recovered by identifying g with Df, H with D^2f , and T with D^3f .

After providing the formal definition of Fréchet derivatives in Appendix A.1, we provide the analogues of the well-known chain rule, product rule, and quotient rule in Appendix A.2. Appendix A.3 will then show that the first two Fréchet derivatives correspond to vectors and linear operators, respectively (in the simplest case, these linear operators are just square matrices). To prove Theorem 2.6, we will also need to understand the third Fréchet derivative; this topic is covered in Appendix A.4. We conclude this appendix with a proof of Theorem 2.6 in Appendix A.5.

A.1 Definition of Fréchet Derivatives

Recall that $\mathcal{L}(V; W)$ denotes the space of bounded linear operators from *V* to *W*, where *V* and *W* are Banach spaces. Moreover, below $\mathcal{L}(V_1, ..., V_m; W)$ will denote the space of bounded multilinear operators from $V_1 \times \cdots \times V_m$ to *W*.

The formal definition of Fréchet derivatives is phrased in terms of Banach spaces, i.e. complete normed vector spaces.

Definition A.1. Let *V*, *W* be Banach spaces, and let $V' \subseteq V$ be an open (with respect to the norm topology) subset of *V*. Then $f : V' \to W$ is *Fréchet differentiable* at $\theta \in V'$ if there exists a bounded linear operator $Df(\theta) : V \to W$ with

$$\lim_{\|w\|\downarrow 0} \frac{\|f(\theta+w) - f(\theta) - Df(\theta)[w]\|}{\|w\|} = 0,$$

where we use the brackets to emphasize that we are applying a linear operator to a vector. If such an operator exists, it is unique. f is said to be *continuously differentiable* if the function $Df : V' \to \mathcal{L}(V; W)$, that is $\theta \mapsto Df(\theta)$, is continuous.

One should note that $\mathcal{L}(V; W)$ is also a Banach space (whose norm is the operator norm), so we could define the derivative of the function $Df : V' \to \mathcal{L}(V, W)$ at $\theta \in V'$, if it exists. We denote this derivative by $D^2f : V' \to \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; W))$. However, the space $\mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V, W))$ can be identified with the space of bounded bilinear operators $\mathcal{L}(V, V; W)$: this can be done by identifying with each $\phi \in \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; W))$ the bilinear operator $(v, w) \mapsto (\phi[v])[w]$, where $v, w \in V$. In particular, we let $D^2f(\theta)[v, w] \equiv (D^2f(\theta)[v])[w]$.

We can apply this argument once more. The third derivative is denoted by $D^3f: V' \to \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; W)))$. The space $\mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; W)))$ can be identified with the space of bounded trilinear operators $\mathcal{L}(V, V, V; W)$ by identifying each $\phi \in \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; W)))$ with $(u, v, w) \mapsto ((\phi(\theta)[u])[v])[w]$, where $u, v, w \in V$. In particular, we let $D^3f(\theta)[u, v, w] \equiv ((D^3f(\theta)[u])[v])[w]$.

Generally, the *n*-th Fréchet derivative can be identified with the unique multilinear operator $D^n f(\theta)$ such that, for all $w_1, ..., w_{n-1} \in V$,

$$\frac{\|D^{n-1}f(\theta+w_n)[w_{n-1},...,w_1] - D^{n-1}f(\theta)[w_{n-1},...,w_1] - D^nf(\theta)[w_n,...,w_1]\|}{\|w_n\|}$$

tends to zero when $||w_n|| \downarrow 0$.

A.2 Calculus Rules for Fréchet Derivatives

We will need the analogues of the chain rule, product rule, and quotient rule for Fréchet derivatives. We start by citing the chain rule from Dieudonné [39].

Theorem A.2 ([39, Theorem 8.2.1]). Let U, V, W be three Banach spaces, U' an open neighborhood of $\theta \in U$, f a continuous function from U' into V, V' an open neighborhood of $f(\theta) \in V$, and \tilde{f} a continuous function from V into W. Then, if f is differentiable at θ and \tilde{f} is differentiable at $f(\theta)$, the function $\phi : U' \to W$ defined by $\phi(y) = \tilde{f}(f(y))$ is differentiable at θ and

$$D\phi(\theta) = D\tilde{f}(f(\theta)) \circ Df(\theta),$$

that is, $D\phi(\theta)[w] = D\tilde{f}(f(\theta))[Df(\theta)[w]]$ for all $w \in U$.

Note that within the setting of the theorem, $Df(\theta)$ is defined as a linear operator from U to V, and $D\tilde{f}(f(\theta))$ is a linear operator from V to W. Hence their composition is a linear operator from U to W, as one would expect from $D\phi(\theta)$.

Next, we prove the product rule for Fréchet derivatives.

Theorem A.3. Let V and W be Banach spaces, V' an open neighborhood of $\theta \in V$, $f: V' \to W$ and $\tilde{f}: V' \to \mathbb{R}$ continuous functions. If f and \tilde{f} are differentiable at θ , then the function $\phi: V' \to W$ defined by $\phi(y) = \tilde{f}(y)f(y)$ is differentiable at θ and for all $w \in V$,

$$D\phi(\theta)[w] = \tilde{f}(\theta)Df(\theta)[w] + D\tilde{f}(\theta)[w]f(\theta).$$
(A.1)

Proof. The proof runs along the lines of well-known calculus. If we substitute (A.1),

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{f}(\theta+w)f(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta)f(\theta) - D\phi(\theta)[w]\| \\ &= \|\tilde{f}(\theta+w)(f(\theta+w) - f(\theta)) + (\tilde{f}(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta))f(\theta) - D\phi(\theta)[w]\| \\ &\leq \|\tilde{f}(\theta+w)(f(\theta+w) - f(\theta)) - \tilde{f}(\theta)Df(\theta)[w]\| \\ &+ \|(\tilde{f}(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta) - D\tilde{f}(\theta)[w])f(\theta)\| \\ &\leq \|\tilde{f}(\theta)(f(\theta+w) - f(\theta) - Df(\theta)[w])\| \\ &+ \|(\tilde{f}(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta))(f(\theta+w) - f(\theta))\| \\ &+ \|(\tilde{f}(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta) - D\tilde{f}(\theta)[w])f(\theta)\|. \end{split}$$

Thus, the algebraic limit theorem shows

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \lim_{\|w\|\downarrow 0} \frac{\|\tilde{f}(\theta+w)f(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta)f(\theta) - D\phi(\theta)[w]\|}{\|w\|} \\ &\leq |\tilde{f}(\theta)| \lim_{\|w\|\downarrow 0} \frac{\|f(\theta+w) - f(\theta) - Df(\theta)[w]\|}{\|w\|} \\ &+ \lim_{\|w\|\downarrow 0} \frac{|\tilde{f}(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta)|}{\|w\|} \|f(\theta+w) - f(\theta)\| \\ &+ \|f(\theta)\| \lim_{\|w\|\downarrow 0} \frac{|\tilde{f}(\theta+w) - \tilde{f}(\theta) - D\tilde{f}(\theta)[w]|}{\|w\|} = 0. \end{split}$$

where the final equality holds because $D\tilde{f}(\theta)$ is a bounded linear operator. \Box

Finally, we prove the quotient rule.

Theorem A.4. Let V and W be Banach spaces, V' an open neighborhood of $\theta \in V$, $f: V' \to W$ and $\tilde{f}: V' \to \mathbb{R}$ continuous functions such that $\tilde{f}(\theta) \neq 0$. If f and \tilde{f} are differentiable at θ , the function $\phi: V' \to W$ defined by $\phi(y) = f(y)/\tilde{f}(y)$ is differentiable at θ and for all $w \in V$,

$$D\phi(\theta)[w] = \frac{1}{\tilde{f}(\theta)^2} \left(\tilde{f}(\theta) Df(\theta)[w] - D\tilde{f}(\theta)[w] f(\theta) \right)$$

Proof. We apply the product and chain rule to $\phi(\theta) = (\tilde{f}(\theta))^{-1} f(\theta)$ to find

$$D\phi(\theta)[w] = (\tilde{f}(\theta))^{-1} Df(\theta)[w] + \left(-\tilde{f}(\theta)^{-2} D\tilde{f}(\theta)[w]\right) f(\theta). \qquad \Box$$

A.3 Associations of Fréchet Derivatives

In this section, we will assume that *V* is a finite-dimensional Hilbert space, and $W = \mathbb{R}$. We saw in Appendix A.1 that $Df(\theta)$ is formally a linear operator from *V* to \mathbb{R} , and $D^2f(\theta)$ is formally a linear operator from *V* to $\mathcal{L}(V;\mathbb{R})$. However, Definitions 2.1 and 2.2 defined the gradient and Hessian as a vector and a linear operator from *V* to *V*, respectively. In this section, we argue that these interpretations can be used interchangeably.

Depending on the context, we would like to interpret the Fréchet derivative $Df(\theta)$ as either a vector in *V*, or as a linear operator from *V* to \mathbb{R} . The following

result demonstrates that every vector corresponds to a unique linear operator, and vice versa.

Proposition A.5. Let V be a finite-dimensional inner product space.

- (i) For every $a \in \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R})$ and inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on V, there exists a unique $\overline{a} \in V$ such that $\langle \overline{a}, x \rangle = a[x]$ for all $x \in V$.
- (ii) For every $\overline{a} \in V$ and inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on V, the $a \in \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R})$ defined by $a[x] = \langle \overline{a}, x \rangle$ for all $x \in V$ is the only operator in $\mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R})$ with this property.

Moreover, the pairings between $\mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R})$ and V in (i) and (ii) are each other's inverses.

Proof. Let $\{e_1, ..., e_n\}$ be an orthonormal basis for *V* with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

(i): Define $\overline{a} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a[e_i]e_i$, and note

$$\langle \overline{a}, x \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a[e_i] \langle e_i, x \rangle = a \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle e_i, x \rangle e_i \right] = a[x].$$
(A.2)

Suppose there is some other $\overline{b} \in V$ such that $\langle \overline{b}, x \rangle = a[x]$. Then $\langle \overline{a} - \overline{b}, x \rangle = 0$ for all $x \in V$. Hence $\overline{a} - \overline{b} = 0$, which proves uniqueness of \overline{a} .

(ii): The argument for uniqueness is similar to (i).

Finally, it is clear from (ii) and (A.2) that if we start with an $a \in \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R})$ and find its associated vector $\overline{a} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a[e_i]e_i$, then the linear operator induced by \overline{a} is again a.

We would like to do something similar for the second derivative $D^2 f(\theta)$. It will be shown below that this linear operator from *V* to $\mathcal{L}(V;\mathbb{R})$ can be identified with a linear operator from *V* to *V*.

Proposition A.6. Let V be a finite-dimensional inner product space.

- (i) For every $A \in \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R}))$ and inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on V, there exists a unique $\overline{A} \in \mathcal{L}(V; V)$ such that $\langle \overline{A}[x], y \rangle = (A[x])[y]$ for all $x, y \in V$.
- (ii) For every $\overline{A} \in \mathcal{L}(V; V)$ and inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, the $A \in \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R}))$ defined by $(A[x])[y] = \langle \overline{A}[x], y \rangle$ for all $x, y \in V$ is the only operator in $\mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R}))$ with this property.

Moreover, the pairings between $\mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R}))$ and $\mathcal{L}(V; V)$ in (i) and (ii) are each other's inverses.

Proof. Let $\{e_1, ..., e_n\}$ be an orthonormal basis for *V* with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

(i): Define $\overline{A}[x] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A[x])[e_i]e_i$, and note

$$\langle \overline{A}[x], y \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A[x])[e_i] \langle e_i, y \rangle = (A[x]) \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle e_i, y \rangle e_i \right] = (A[x])[y].$$
(A.3)

Suppose there is some other $\overline{B} : V \to V$ such that $\langle \overline{B}[x], y \rangle = (A[x])[y]$. Then $\langle (\overline{A} - \overline{B})[x], y \rangle = 0$ for all $x, y \in V$. Hence $\overline{A} - \overline{B} = 0$, which proves uniqueness of \overline{A} .

(ii): The argument for uniqueness is similar to (i).

Finally, it is clear from (ii) and (A.3) that if we start with an $A \in \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R}))$ and find its associated $\overline{A} \in \mathcal{L}(V; V)$ with $\overline{A}[x] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A[x])[e_i]e_i$, then the linear operator induced by \overline{A} is again A.

Propositions A.5 and A.6 show that, given an inner product on V, the space $\mathcal{L}(V;\mathbb{R})$ is isomorphic to V, and $\mathcal{L}(V;\mathcal{L}(V;\mathbb{R}))$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{L}(V;V)$. Hence, if $V = \mathbb{R}^n$, we can think of $Df(\theta)$ as a vector in \mathbb{R}^n , and of $D^2f(\theta)$ as a linear operator from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R}^n . If moreover $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the Euclidean inner product, the gradient is the usual vector of partial derivatives, and the Hessian is the usual matrix of second order partial derivatives.

A.4 Computing the Third Derivative

While we now have some feeling for the gradient and Hessian, the third derivative $D^3 f : \mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; \mathbb{R})) \to \mathbb{R}$ remains a bit mysterious. We will rephrase its definition in terms of Renegar's notation [95] of the Hessian (cf. Definition 2.2) below, and provide its elements explicitly when $V = \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the Euclidean inner product.

According to Definition A.1, $D^3 f$ is the unique linear operator such that

$$0 = \lim_{\|u\| \downarrow 0} \frac{\|D^2 f(\theta + u) - D^2 f(\theta) - D^3 f(\theta)[u]\|}{\|u\|},$$
 (A.4)

where the norm in the numerator is the operator norm on $\mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; W))$. By the definition of the operator norm,

$$\begin{split} \|D^{2}f(\theta + u) - D^{2}f(\theta) - D^{3}f(\theta)[u]\| \\ &= \max_{v:\|v\|=1} \|(D^{2}f(\theta + u) - D^{2}f(\theta) - D^{3}f(\theta)[u])[v]\| \\ &= \max_{v:\|v\|=1} \max_{w:\|w\|=1} \|((D^{2}f(\theta + u) - D^{2}f(\theta) - D^{3}f(\theta)[u])[v])[w]\| \end{split}$$

If $W = \mathbb{R}$, then the norm on W in the last expression is equal to the absolute value up to scaling. Recall that we can think of every linear operator in $\mathcal{L}(V; \mathcal{L}(V; W))$ as an operator in $\mathcal{L}(V, V; W)$ such that $(D^2 f(\theta)[v])[w] \equiv D^2 f(\theta)[v, w]$, and similar for $D^3 f(\theta)$. It follows that we may rewrite (A.4) as the condition that for all $v, w \in V$ with ||v||, ||w|| = 1,

$$0 = \lim_{\|u\| \to 0} \frac{|D^2 f(\theta + u)[v, w] - D^2 f(\theta)[v, w] - D^3 f(\theta)[u, v, w]|}{\|u\|}$$

=
$$\lim_{\|u\| \to 0} \frac{|\langle w, (H(\theta + u) - H(\theta))v \rangle - D^3 f(\theta)[u, v, w]|}{\|u\|}.$$

In other words, $D^3 f$ is the unique trilinear operator such that for each $u, v, w \in V$, it holds that

$$D^{3}f(\theta)[u,v,w] = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\langle w, (H(\theta + tu) - H(\theta))v \rangle}{t}.$$
 (A.5)

Thus (A.5) establishes the relationship between the Fréchet definition of $D^3 f$ and Renegar's notation of the Hessian as in Definition 2.2. Still, it is not immediately clear how to compute (A.5), even in the simple case where $V = \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the Euclidean inner product. The key lemma is the following.

Lemma A.7. Let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the Euclidean inner product on \mathbb{R}^n , which induces the Euclidean norm $\|\cdot\|$, and let $e_i \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be the *i*-th standard basis vector. Let $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a three times Fréchet differentiable functional, and $\theta \in \text{dom } f$. Then,

$$D^{3}f(\theta)[e_{i},e_{j},e_{k}] = \frac{\partial^{3}f(\theta)}{\partial x_{i}\partial x_{j}\partial x_{k}} \qquad \forall i,j,k \in \{1,...,n\}.$$

Proof. From (A.5), it follows that

$$D^{3}f(\theta)[e_{i}, e_{j}, e_{k}] = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\langle e_{k}, (H(\theta + te_{i}) - H(\theta))e_{j} \rangle}{t}$$
$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}f(\theta + te_{i})}{\partial x_{j}\partial x_{k}} - \frac{\partial^{2}f(\theta)}{\partial x_{j}\partial x_{k}} \right) = \frac{\partial^{3}f(\theta)}{\partial x_{i}\partial x_{j}\partial x_{k}}. \quad \Box$$

Because $D^3 f(\theta)$ is (identified with) a tri-linear operator, we can compute (A.5) easily for arbitrary $u, v, w \in \mathbb{R}^n$:

$$D^{3}f(\theta)[u,v,w] = D^{3}f(\theta) \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}e_{i}, \sum_{j=1}^{n} v_{j}e_{j}, \sum_{k=1}^{n} w_{k}e_{k} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} u_{i}v_{j}w_{k}D^{3}f(\theta)[e_{i},e_{j},e_{k}]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} u_{i}v_{j}w_{k}\frac{\partial^{3}f(\theta)}{\partial x_{i}\partial x_{j}\partial x_{k}}.$$

A.5 Proof of Theorem 2.6

We end this appendix with the proof of Theorem 2.6, which shows that Renegar's definition of self-concordance coincides with that of Nesterov and Nemirovskii [85] for three times continuously differentiable functionals. We follow Renegar's proof [95], but we provide some details in separate lemmas. For the reader's convenience, we restate the theorem first.

Theorem 2.6 ([95, Theorem 2.5.3]). Let f be a three times continuously differentiable, strictly convex functional such that dom f is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, f is self-concordant if and only if the following two properties hold:

- (i) For any sequence $\{\theta_k\} \subset \text{dom } f$ that converges to a point on the boundary of dom f, we have $f(\theta_k) \to \infty$.
- (ii) For any $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and $\Delta \theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the function $\phi(t) := f(\theta + t\Delta \theta)$ satisfies $\phi'''(t) \le 2\phi''(t)^{3/2}$ for all $t \in \text{dom } \phi$.

Proof. The "only if" part follows from Theorem 2.2.9 and page 61 in Renegar [95]. To show the "if" part, it suffices to prove conditions (1c) and (2c) in Theorem 2.5.2 in Renegar [95]. Since (2c) is the same as (i), it remains to show

$$\limsup_{\Delta\theta\to 0} \frac{\|I - H_{\theta}(\theta + \Delta\theta)\|_{\theta}}{\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}} \le 2,$$
(A.6)

for all $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ whenever (i) and (ii) hold.

By Lemma A.8, Condition (ii) is equivalent to

$$|D^{3}f(\theta)[u, u, u]| \le 2 \qquad \forall \theta \in \operatorname{dom} f, u \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : ||u||_{\theta} \le 1.$$

Since Lemma A.9 shows that for any $\theta \in \text{dom } f$,

$$\max_{\substack{u,v,w:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta},\|w\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u,v,w]| = \max_{\substack{u:\\\|u\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u,u,u]|,$$

it follows that $|D^3 f(\theta)[u, v, w]| \le 2$ for all $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and $u, v, w \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $||u||_{\theta}, ||v||_{\theta}, ||w||_{\theta} \le 1$ (and in particular for v = w). Then, Lemma A.10 shows (A.6), completing the proof.

We now state the remaining lemmas that were used in the proof of Theorem 2.6.

Lemma A.8. Let f be a three times continuously differentiable, strictly convex functional such that dom f is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then, the following are equivalent:

- (i) For any $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and $\Delta \theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the function $\phi(t) = f(\theta + t\Delta \theta)$ satisfies $\phi'''(t) \le 2\phi''(t)^{3/2}$ for all $t \in \text{dom } \phi$.
- (ii) For any $\theta \in \text{dom } f$ and $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $||u||_{\theta} \leq 1$, $|D^3 f(\theta)[u, u, u]| \leq 2$.

Proof. We can assume without loss of generality that t = 0: the given inequality should hold for t = 0 in particular, and if we want to evaluate f at some $\theta + t\Delta\theta$ with $t \neq 0$, we can always change θ to the desired point. By Definitions 2.1 and A.1,

$$\phi'(0) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} f(\theta + t\Delta\theta) \Big|_{t=0} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{f(\theta + t\Delta\theta) - f(\theta)}{t}$$
$$= \langle \Delta\theta, g(\theta) \rangle = Df(\theta) [\Delta\theta]$$

Moreover, by Definition 2.2,

$$\phi''(0) = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\langle \Delta \theta, g(\theta + t\Delta \theta) - g(\theta) \rangle}{t} = \langle \Delta \theta, H(\theta) \Delta \theta \rangle = D^2 f(\theta) [\Delta \theta, \Delta \theta],$$

and finally it follows from (A.5) that

$$\phi^{\prime\prime\prime}(0) = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\langle \Delta\theta, (H(\theta + t\Delta\theta) - H(\theta))\Delta\theta \rangle}{t} = D^3 f(\theta) [\Delta\theta, \Delta\theta, \Delta\theta].$$

Hence (i) is equivalent to f satisfying the following for all $\theta \in \text{dom } f, \Delta \theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$:

$$D^{3}f(\theta)[\Delta\theta, \Delta\theta, \Delta\theta] \leq 2(D^{2}f(\theta)[\Delta\theta, \Delta\theta])^{3/2} = 2\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}^{3}.$$

This condition should also hold for $-\Delta\theta$, so by the multilinearity of $D^3 f(\theta)$, it follows that $-D^3 f(\theta)[\Delta\theta, \Delta\theta, \Delta\theta] \le 2\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}^3$ as well. We may therefore also write $|D^3 f(\theta)[\Delta\theta, \Delta\theta, \Delta\theta]|$ on the left hand side of the equation above. Finally, we divide by $\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}^3$ on both sides, and get our desired result:

$$2 \ge \frac{1}{\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}^{3}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[\Delta\theta, \Delta\theta, \Delta\theta]|$$

= $\left| D^{3}f(\theta) \left[\frac{\Delta\theta}{\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}}, \frac{\Delta\theta}{\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}}, \frac{\Delta\theta}{\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}} \right] \right| = |D^{3}f(\theta)[u, u, u]|,$

where $||u||_{\theta} = 1$.

In his proof of [95, Theorem 2.5.3], Renegar claims that for any three times continuously differentiable function f, any $\theta \in \text{dom } f$, and any inner product norm $\|\cdot\| = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle^{1/2}$,

$$\max_{\substack{u,v,w:\\\|u\|,\|v\|,\|w\|=1}} |D^3 f(\theta)[u,v,w]| = \max_{\substack{u:\\\|u\|=1}} |D^3 f(\theta)[u,u,u]|.$$

The next lemma is less general than this result used by Renegar. We restrict ourselves to the local inner product to clearly distinguish the reference inner product.

Lemma A.9. Let f be a three times continuously differentiable, strictly convex functional such that dom f is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n , and fix $\theta \in \text{dom } f$. Then,

$$\max_{\substack{u,v,w:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta},\|w\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u,v,w]| = \max_{\substack{u:\\\|u\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u,u,u]|$$
(A.7)

Proof. Let us first show that we can take v = w in (A.7). Pick $t \neq 0$. The Cauchy-Schwarz inequality shows

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle w, (H(\theta + tu) - H(\theta))v\rangle| &= |\langle w, (H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta))v\rangle_{\theta}| \\ &\leq ||w||_{\theta} ||(H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta))v||_{\theta}, \end{aligned}$$

with equality attained when *w* is collinear with $(H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta))v$. In other words,

$$\max_{\substack{\nu,w:\\\|\nu\|_{\theta},\|w\|_{\theta}=1}} |\langle w, (H(\theta+tu)-H(\theta))\nu\rangle| = \max_{\substack{\nu:\\\|\nu\|_{\theta}=1}} ||(H_{\theta}(\theta+tu)-H_{\theta}(\theta))\nu||_{\theta}.$$
(A.8)

Because $H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta)$ is a self-adjoint operator with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta}$, it has a spectral decomposition: $(H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta))v = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \langle y_i, v \rangle_{\theta} y_i$, where the y_i are orthonormal eigenvectors with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\theta}$. If $v = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i y_i$, then $\|v\|_{\theta}^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i^2$. It can also be shown that $\langle v, (H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta))v \rangle_{\theta} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i^2 \lambda_i$. Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \max_{\substack{\nu:\\ \|\nu\|=1}} |\langle \nu, (H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta))\nu\rangle_{\theta}| &= \max_{\substack{\alpha_{1},...,\alpha_{n}:\\ \sum_{i}\alpha_{i}^{2}=1}} \left|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i}^{2}\lambda_{i}\right| = \max_{i\in\{1,...,n\}} |\lambda_{i}| \\ &= \max_{\substack{\nu:\\ \|\nu\|_{\theta}=1}} |(H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta))\nu||_{\theta} \\ &= \max_{\substack{\nu,w:\\ \|\nu\|_{\theta},\|w\|_{\theta}=1}} |\langle w, (H(\theta + tu) - H(\theta))\nu\rangle|,\end{aligned}$$

where the final equality is due to (A.8). Since the relation above holds for all $t \neq 0$, it also holds in the limit as $t \rightarrow 0$. Thus, we can show that one may take v = w in (A.7) as follows:

$$\max_{\substack{u,v,w:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta},\|w\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u,v,w]| = \max_{\substack{u,v,w:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta},\|w\|_{\theta}=1}} \lim_{t\to 0} \frac{|\langle w,(H(\theta+tu)-H(\theta))v\rangle|}{|t|}$$
$$= \max_{\substack{u,v:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta}=1}} \lim_{t\to 0} \frac{|\langle v,(H(\theta+tu)-H(\theta))v\rangle|}{|t|}$$
$$= \max_{\substack{u,v:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u,v,v]|.$$
(A.9)

By Theorem 8.12.4 in Dieudonné [39], $D^3 f(\theta)[u, v, v] = D^3 f(\theta)[v, u, v]$. Hence,

$$\max_{\substack{u,v:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u,v,v]| = \max_{\substack{u,v:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[v,u,v]|$$
$$= \max_{\substack{u:\\\|u\|_{\theta}=1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u,u,u]|,$$

where the final equality follows from applying (A.9) again.

The final lemma needed for the proof of Theorem 2.6 is the following.

Lemma A.10. Let f be a three times continuously differentiable, strictly convex functional such that dom f is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n , and fix $\theta \in \text{dom } f$. Then,

$$\limsup_{\Delta\theta\to 0} \frac{\|I - H_{\theta}(\theta + \Delta\theta)\|_{\theta}}{\|\Delta\theta\|_{\theta}} \le 2, \tag{A.10}$$

if and only if $|D^3 f(\theta)[u, v, v]| \le 2$ for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $||u||_{\theta}, ||v||_{\theta} \le 1$. *Proof.* Since $H_{\theta}(\theta) = I$,

$$\frac{\|I - H_{\theta}(\theta + \Delta \theta)\|_{\theta}}{\|\Delta \theta\|_{\theta}} = \frac{\|H_{\theta}(\theta + \Delta \theta) - H_{\theta}(\theta)\|_{\theta}}{\|\Delta \theta\|_{\theta}} \\ = \sup_{\nu: \|\nu\|_{\theta} = 1} \frac{|\langle \nu, (H_{\theta}(\theta + \Delta \theta) - H_{\theta}(\theta))\nu\rangle_{\theta}|}{\|\Delta \theta\|_{\theta}}.$$

If (A.10) holds, we have by the max-min inequality

$$2 \ge \inf_{\epsilon > 0} \sup_{\substack{t:|t| \le \epsilon \\ ||u||_{\theta}, ||v||_{\theta} = 1}} \sup_{\substack{u,v: \\ ||u||_{\theta}, ||v||_{\theta} = 1}} \frac{|\langle v, (H_{\theta}(\theta + tu) - H_{\theta}(\theta))v \rangle_{\theta}|}{|t|}$$
$$\ge \sup_{\substack{u,v: \\ ||u||_{\theta}, ||v||_{\theta} = 1}} \inf_{\epsilon > 0} \sup_{\substack{t:|t| \le \epsilon \\ t:|t| \le \epsilon}} \frac{|\langle v, (H(\theta + tu) - H(\theta))v \rangle|}{|t|}$$
$$= \sup_{\substack{u,v: \\ ||u||_{\theta}, ||v||_{\theta} = 1}} |D^{3}f(\theta)[u, v, v]|.$$

Conversely, if (A.10) does not hold, there exists some $\delta > 0$ such that for every $\epsilon > 0$,

$$\sup_{t:|t|\leq\epsilon}\sup_{\substack{u,v:\\\|u\|_{\theta},\|v\|_{\theta}=1}}\frac{|\langle v,(H(\theta+tu)-H(\theta))v\rangle|}{|t|}\geq 2+\delta,$$

which shows there exist $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $||u||_{\theta}, ||v||_{\theta} \le 1$ and

$$|D^{3}f(\theta)[u,v,v]| = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{|\langle v, (H(\theta + tu) - H(\theta))v \rangle|}{|t|} > 2.$$

B

Spectra of Boltzmann Covariance Matrices

As it turns out, we can use interior point theory to derive bounds on the spectra of covariance matrices of the Boltzmann distribution. Of course, covariance matrices have nonnegative eigenvalues, but for our analysis we need a strictly positive lower bound on the eigenvalues of $\Sigma(\theta)$ for $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$. (Recall that we use $\Sigma(\theta)$ to denote the covariance operator of the Boltzmann distribution with parameter θ , see Table 3.1 on page 32.) The analysis below has appeared as Section 3.1 in Badenbroek and De Klerk [8], with only minor differences.

We will denote the smallest and largest eigenvalue of a self-adjoint linear operator *A* by $\lambda_{\min}(A)$ and $\lambda_{\max}(A)$, respectively. Note that these quantities are independent of the inner product. Recall that for self-adjoint linear operators *A*, we have $\lambda_{\min}(A) = \min_{\nu: ||\nu||=1} \langle \nu, A\nu \rangle$ and $\lambda_{\max}(A) = \max_{\nu: ||\nu||=1} \langle \nu, A\nu \rangle$. Moreover, we remind the reader that when we discuss balls, they are presumed to be balls with respect to the reference inner product.

One should note that an upper bound of the spectrum of $\Sigma(\theta)$ is trivial to derive for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$. If the distribution's support S is contained in a ball with

radius R, i.e. the diameter of S is at most 2R,

$$\lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(\theta)) = \max_{\nu: \|\nu\|=1} \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\langle X - \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X], \nu \rangle^2] \le (2R)^2, \tag{B.1}$$

where the equality uses Proposition 3.3(ii). Thus, we will focus on bounding the smallest eigenvalue of $\Sigma(\theta)$ from below. Our starting point is the following result from Kannan et al. [57].

Lemma B.1 ([57, Theorem 4.1]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the Euclidean inner product. If the covariance matrix $\Sigma(0)$ of the uniform distribution over S satisfies $\Sigma(0) = I$, then S is contained in a ball with radius n + 1.

Through a transformation, we can use this lemma to bound the spectrum of $\Sigma(0)$ from below.

Lemma B.2 ([8, Lemma 3.2]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the Euclidean inner product. Assume S contains a ball with radius r > 0. Then, $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)) \geq \frac{1}{4}(\frac{r}{n+1})^2$.

Proof. The convex body $S' = \Sigma(0)^{-1/2}S$ has the property that the uniform distribution over S' has identity covariance. By Lemma B.1, S' is contained in a ball of radius n + 1.

Let $x \in S$ be the center of the ball with radius r contained in S, and let v be a unit vector such that $\Sigma(0)^{-1/2}v = \lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(0)^{-1/2})v$. Since v is a unit vector, the point x + rv lies in S. Because $\Sigma(0)^{-1/2}x$ and $\Sigma(0)^{-1/2}(x + rv)$ lie in S', we find $\|\Sigma(0)^{-1/2}((x + rv) - x)\| \le 2(n+1)$, where 2(n+1) is the diameter of a ball containing S'. In conclusion,

$$2(n+1) \ge \|r\Sigma(0)^{-1/2}v\| = r\,\lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(0)^{-1/2}) = \frac{r}{\sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))}}.$$

With the spectrum of the uniform covariance matrix bounded, we can continue to analyze the smallest eigenvalue of $\Sigma(\theta)$, where $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$. To clarify the dependence on the smallest eigenvalue of $\Sigma(0)$, we derive this result for general inner products. This was first done for the Euclidean inner product in [8], where the exponent of the lower bound was slightly worse $(4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}+1 \text{ instead of } 4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}})$. **Theorem B.3** (Based on [8, Theorem 3.3]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let f and f^* be its associated log-partition function and entropic barrier, respectively. Assume S is contained in a ball of radius R > 0. Then, for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\|\theta\| \leq \frac{1}{4R}$,

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta)) \ge \frac{1}{4} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)),$$

and for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\|\theta\| > \frac{1}{4R}$,

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta)) \ge \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{4R\|\theta\|}\right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)).$$

Proof. We want to find a lower bound on $||v||_{\theta}$, where $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is an arbitrary unit vector. The main idea is to move θ to 0, and use the self-concordance of the log-partition function to bound the change in $\Sigma(\theta)$ during this shift.

If $\|\theta\| \leq \frac{1}{4R}$, then (B.1) shows

$$\|\theta - 0\|_0 \le \sqrt{\lambda_{\max}(\Sigma(0))} \|\theta\| \le 2R \|\theta\| \le \frac{1}{2} < 1,$$

and thus we may apply the first inequality in (2.1) to show that

$$\|v\|_{\theta} \ge \|v\|_{0}(1 - \|\theta - 0\|_{0}) \ge \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))}\|v\|.$$
(B.2)

It then follows from (B.2) that

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta)) = \min_{\nu: \|\nu\|=1} \|\nu\|_{\theta}^2 \ge \frac{1}{4} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)).$$

Next, suppose that $\|\theta\| > \frac{1}{4R}$. Let $\theta_0 := \theta$ and recursively define

$$\theta_k := \left(1 - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}}\right) \theta_{k-1}.$$

Observe that by (3.1), for all k,

$$\|\theta_{k-1} - \theta_k\|_{\theta_{k-1}} = \frac{\|\theta_{k-1}\|_{\theta_{k-1}}}{2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \le \frac{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}}{2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} = \frac{1}{2} < 1.$$

Since θ_k and θ_{k-1} are close in the sense above, we can apply self-concordance. By the second inequality of (2.1), for all k, $\|v\|_{\theta_{k-1}} \ge (1 - \|\theta_{k-1} - \theta_k\|_{\theta_{k-1}}) \|v\|_{\theta_k} \ge \frac{1}{2} \|v\|_{\theta_k}$. Thus, after m steps, we have

$$\|v\|_{\theta} = \|v\|_{\theta_0} \ge 2^{-m} \|v\|_{\theta_m}.$$
(B.3)

Setting

$$m = \left\lceil \frac{\log_2(\frac{1}{4R||\theta||})}{\log_2(1 - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}})} \right\rceil,$$

we obtain

$$\|\theta_m\| = \left(1 - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}}\right)^m \|\theta_0\| \le \frac{1}{4R\|\theta\|} \|\theta_0\| = \frac{1}{4R}.$$

We may now apply (B.2) to see that $\|v\|_{\theta_m} \ge \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))}\|v\|$. Combined with (B.3), it follows that

$$\|v\|_{\theta} \ge 2^{-m} \|v\|_{\theta_m} \ge \frac{2^{-m}}{2} \sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))} \|v\| = 2^{-m-1} \sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))} \|v\|.$$
(B.4)

Because *m* is an integer, we arrive at the following lower bound for 2^{-m-1} :

$$2^{-m-1} \ge \frac{1}{4} (4R \|\theta\|)^{1/\log_2(1-1/(2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}))}.$$

Since $4R\|\theta\| > 1$ by assumption, and $1/\log_2(1-t) \ge -1/t$ for all $t \in (0, 1)$, this bound can be developed to

$$2^{-m-1} \geq \frac{1}{4} \left(4R \|\theta\| \right)^{1/\log_2(1-1/(2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}))} \geq \frac{1}{4} \left(4R \|\theta\| \right)^{-2\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}},$$

and we can conclude from (B.4) that

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta)) = \min_{\nu: \|\nu\|=1} \|\nu\|_{\theta}^2 \ge \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{1}{4R\|\theta\|}\right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0)). \qquad \Box$$

For the Euclidean inner product, we can then plug in our lower bound on $\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))$ from Lemma B.2 to obtain the following.

Corollary B.4 (Based on [8, Theorem 3.3]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the Euclidean inner product. Let f and f^* be the log-partition function and entropic barrier associated with S, respectively. Assume S contains a ball with radius r > 0 and is contained in a ball of radius R. Then, for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\|\theta\| \leq \frac{1}{4R}$,

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta)) \geq \frac{1}{16} \left(\frac{r}{n+1}\right)^2,$$

and for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\|\theta\| > \frac{1}{4R}$,

$$\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(\theta)) \geq \frac{1}{64} \left(\frac{1}{4R\|\theta\|}\right)^{4\sqrt{\vartheta_{f^*}}} \left(\frac{r}{n+1}\right)^2.$$

Note that the lower bounds from Theorem B.3 and Corollary B.4 are exponential in $\vartheta_{f^*} = n + o(n)$ (see Theorem 3.4). We can in fact derive a stronger lower bound on $\|\theta\|_{\theta} = \sqrt{\langle \theta, \Sigma(\theta)\theta \rangle}$ than the one obtained from Theorem B.3 by setting $v = \theta/\|\theta\|$. The following result gives such a lower bound that is not exponential in *n*.

Theorem B.5 (Based on [8, Lemma 3.4]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let f be its associated log-partition function. Then, for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|\theta\|_{\theta} \ge \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))} \|\theta\|}{1 + \sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))} \|\theta\|}$$
(B.5)

Proof. Note that the right hand side of (B.5) is always strictly smaller than one. The claim therefore holds automatically for all θ with $\|\theta\|_{\theta} \ge 1$, and we can assume in the remainder that $\|\theta\|_{\theta} < 1$. The second inequality in (2.1) gives us

$$\sqrt{\lambda_{\min}(\Sigma(0))} \|\theta\| \le \|\theta\|_0 \le \frac{\|\theta\|_{\theta}}{1 - \|\theta\|_{\theta}},$$

which can be rewritten as (B.5).

Again, we can find a more explicit bound for the Euclidean inner product by applying Lemma B.2.

Corollary B.6 ([8, Lemma 3.4]). Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a convex body, and let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ be the Euclidean inner product. Assume S contains a ball with radius r > 0. Let f be the log-partition function associated with S. Then, for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|\theta\|_{\theta} \ge \frac{r\|\theta\|}{2(n+1)+r\|\theta\|}$$
Proofs for the Nonsymmetric Conic Algorithm

In this appendix, we collect the more technical proofs that we omitted in Chapter 10 for the sake of brevity. The results in Section 10.3 are proven in Appendix C.1, the results from Section 10.4 are proven in Appendix C.2, and the results from Section 10.5 are proven in Appendix C.3. Like Chapter 10, this appendix is based on Badenbroek and Dahl [7], but changes various signs without fundamentally changing the results.

C.1 Scaling Matrix

The following lemma from Myklebust and Tunçel [82] is crucial to our proof of Theorem 10.3. Some minor details are different in our setting.

Lemma C.1 ([82, Theorem B.1(4)]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a

self-concordant barrier f. Let $x \in int \mathcal{K}$ and $s \in int \mathcal{K}^{\circ}$. If $\|\zeta^{P}\|_{x} < 1$, then

$$\|\mu H(x)\zeta^{P} + \zeta^{D}\|_{x}^{-1} \le \frac{\mu \|\zeta^{P}\|_{x}^{2}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{P}\|_{x})^{3}}.$$
(C.1)

Proof. Let $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be an arbitrary vector, and consider the function $\phi : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as

$$\phi(t) \coloneqq \langle v, g(x - t\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}) \rangle.$$

By Taylor's theorem, we have $\phi(1) = \phi(0) + \phi'(0) + \frac{1}{2}\phi''(r)$ for some $r \in [0, 1]$. We first derive an upper bound on $\phi''(r)$. Note that by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$\begin{split} \phi''(r) &= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\langle v, [H(x - (r+t)\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}) - H(x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}})]\zeta^{\mathbf{P}} \rangle}{t} \\ &\leq \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\|v\|_{x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}} \|[H_{x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}}(x - (r+t)\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}) - I]\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}}}{t} \\ &\leq \|v\|_{x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}} \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}} \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\|H_{x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}}(x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}} - t\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}) - I\|_{x - r\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}}}{t} \end{split}$$

Using Theorem 2.2.1 in Renegar [95], it follows that

$$\begin{split} \phi''(r) &\leq \|v\|_{x-r\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}} \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x-r\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}} \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{1}{(1-t\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x-r\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}})^2} - 1 \right) \\ &= 2\|v\|_{x-r\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}} \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x-r\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}}^2 \\ &\leq \frac{2\|v\|_x \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1-\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3}, \end{split}$$

where the final inequality uses self-concordance and $r \leq 1$. Hence,

$$\langle v, H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + s/\mu - \tilde{s} \rangle = -\phi'(0) + \phi(1) - \phi(0) = \frac{1}{2}\phi''(r) \le \frac{\|v\|_x \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_x)^3}$$

With this upper bound, we can show

$$\|\mu H(x)\zeta^{P} + \zeta^{D}\|_{x}^{-1} = \sup_{\nu: \|\nu\|_{x} \leq 1} \langle \nu, \mu H(x)\zeta^{P} + \zeta^{D} \rangle \leq \sup_{\nu: \|\nu\|_{x} \leq 1} \mu \|\nu\|_{x} \frac{\|\zeta^{P}\|_{x}^{2}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{P}\|_{x})^{3}},$$

which proves the claim.

To prove Theorem 10.3, we will use Proposition 10.2 to relate the desired Löwner orderings to operator norms. We first establish some straightforward properties of the operator norm. For any vectors v, w and invertible linear operator P, we have

$$\|P^{-1}vw^{\top}\|_{P} = \sup_{\|u\|_{P} \le 1} \|P^{-1}v\langle w, u\rangle\|_{P} = \|v\|_{P^{-1}} \sup_{\|u\|_{P} \le 1} \langle w, u\rangle = \|v\|_{P^{-1}} \|w\|_{P^{-1}}$$

and therefore, as Myklebust and Tunçel [82] showed,

$$\|P^{-1} \left[vv^{\top} - ww^{\top} \right]\|_{p} = \left\| P^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{2} (v+w)(v-w)^{\top} + \frac{1}{2} (v-w)(v+w)^{\top} \right] \right\|_{p} \\ \leq \|P^{-1} (v+w)(v-w)^{\top}\|_{p} = \|v+w\|_{p-1} \|v-w\|_{p-1}.$$
(C.2)

Moreover, for any t > 0 and $Q \in \mathbb{S}^n$,

$$\|(tP)^{-1}Q\|_{tP} = \sup_{\|\sqrt{t}u\|_{P} \le 1} \frac{\|\sqrt{t}P^{-1}Qu\|_{P}}{t} = \sup_{\|\nu\|_{P} \le 1} \frac{\|P^{-1}Q\nu\|_{P}}{t} = \frac{\|P^{-1}Q\|_{P}}{t}.$$
 (C.3)

We are now ready to prove Theorem 10.3.

Theorem 10.3 ([7, Theorem 1]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Let $x \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$ and $s \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, and assume $\|\zeta^p\|_x \leq 0.18226$. Let W be defined as in (10.10). Then, the assumptions (10.17) are satisfied with values

$$l^{\mathrm{P}} = 1 - \epsilon - \xi, \quad u^{\mathrm{P}} = 1 + \epsilon + \xi, \quad l^{\mathrm{D}} = l^{\mathrm{P}} (1 - \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x})^{2}, \quad u^{\mathrm{D}} = \frac{u^{\mathrm{P}}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x})^{2}}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \epsilon &\coloneqq \frac{1}{\vartheta_f} \bigg(\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x + \frac{\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3} \bigg) \bigg(\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x + \frac{\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3} + 2\sqrt{\vartheta_f} \bigg) \\ \xi &\coloneqq \frac{2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x} \left(\frac{4\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3} + 2\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x + \frac{\left(\frac{3\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x^2}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3} + \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x\right)^2}{\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x \left(1 - \frac{3\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)^3}\right) \bigg). \end{split}$$

Proof. We will try to bound $W - \mu H(x)$ in two steps, each considering two terms from (10.10). First, observe that by (C.2),

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| H(x)^{-1} \left[\frac{ss^{\top}}{\vartheta_f \mu} - \frac{\mu \tilde{s} \tilde{s}^{\top}}{\vartheta_f} \right] \right\|_x &\leq \frac{\|s - \mu \tilde{s}\|_x^{-1} \|s + \mu \tilde{s}\|_x^{-1}}{\mu \vartheta_f} \\ &\leq \frac{\|\zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_x^{-1} (\|\zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_x^{-1} + 2\mu \|\tilde{s}\|_x^{-1})}{\mu \vartheta_f}, \qquad (C.4) \end{aligned}$$

where it can be shown that $\|\tilde{s}\|_x^{-1} = \|\tilde{s}\|_{\tilde{s}}^* = \sqrt{\vartheta_f}$ by Theorem 2.12 and (10.5). Moreover, by Lemma C.1,

$$\|\zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1} \le \|\mu H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x}^{-1} + \|\mu H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} - \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1} \le \mu \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x} + \frac{\mu \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x}^{2}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x})^{3}}, \quad (C.5)$$

and therefore, by using (C.3) and (C.4), we can show

$$\left\| \left[\mu H(x) \right]^{-1} \left[\frac{ss^{\top}}{\vartheta_f \mu} - \frac{\mu \tilde{s} \tilde{s}^{\top}}{\vartheta_f} \right] \right\|_{\mu H(x)} \le \frac{\| \zeta^{\mathsf{D}} \|_x^{-1} (\| \zeta^{\mathsf{D}} \|_x^{-1} + 2\mu \| \tilde{s} \|_x^{-1})}{\mu^2 \vartheta_f} \le \epsilon.$$
 (C.6)

For the second step, let

$$R \coloneqq \mu H(x) + \frac{ss^{\top}}{\vartheta_f \mu} - \frac{\mu \tilde{s} \tilde{s}^{\top}}{\vartheta_f},$$

be a rank-two update to $\mu H(x)$ such that Rx = -s but $R\tilde{x} \neq -\tilde{s}$ in general. Then, as was noted in Myklebust and Tunçel [82, Theorem 6.6], we can write

$$\frac{\zeta^{\mathrm{D}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{D}})^{\mathrm{T}}}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle} + \frac{\mu[H(x)\tilde{x} + \tilde{\mu}\tilde{s}][H(x)\tilde{x} + \tilde{\mu}\tilde{s}]^{\mathrm{T}}}{\|\tilde{x}\|_{x}^{2} - \vartheta_{f}\tilde{\mu}^{2}} \\
= \frac{\zeta^{\mathrm{D}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{D}})^{\mathrm{T}} - R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{P}})^{\mathrm{T}}R}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle} + \left(\frac{1}{\|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{R}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle}\right)R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{P}})^{\mathrm{T}}R. \quad (C.7)$$

Since

$$\left|\frac{1}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle} + \frac{1}{\|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{R}^{2}}\right| = \left|\frac{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{R}^{2}}\right| \le \frac{\|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{X} \|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{X}^{-1}}{|\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle |\|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{R}^{2}},$$

it will suffice to know upper bounds on $\|\zeta^{D} - R\zeta^{P}\|_{x}^{-1}$, $\|\zeta^{D} + R\zeta^{P}\|_{x}^{-1}$, $\|R\zeta^{P}\|_{x}^{-1}$, and $\langle \zeta^{P}, \zeta^{D} \rangle = \mu \vartheta (1 - \mu \tilde{\mu}) \leq 0$, as well as a lower bound on $\|\zeta^{P}\|_{R}^{2}$. We derive these bounds in a manner similar to [82, Lemma B.4], although minor details again differ.

Using Lemma C.1, is it easy to show, similar to [82, Lemma B.4(3)],

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle &= \langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, -\mu H(x) \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \mu H(x) \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle \\ &\leq -\mu \| \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} \|_{x}^{2} + \| \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} \|_{x} \| \mu H(x) \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \|_{x}^{-1} \\ &\leq -\mu \| \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} \|_{x}^{2} \left(1 - \frac{\| \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} \|_{x}}{(1 - \| \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} \|_{x})^{3}} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(C.8)

Moreover, as in [82, Lemma B.4(7)],

$$\begin{split} |\langle x, \mu H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\rangle| &\leq |\langle x, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\rangle| + \|x\|_{x} \|\mu H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1} = 0 + \sqrt{\vartheta_{f}} \|\mu H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1}, \\ \text{where we used } \langle x, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\rangle &= \langle x, s - \mu \tilde{s}\rangle = -\mu \vartheta_{f} + \mu \vartheta_{f} \text{ and (10.5). Thus, Lemma C.1} \\ \text{shows (cf. [82, Lemma B.4(8)])} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1} &= \left\|\mu H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} - \frac{\mu\langle \tilde{s}, \zeta^{\mathrm{P}} \rangle}{\vartheta_{f}} \tilde{s} \right\|_{x}^{-1} \\ &\leq \|\mu H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1} + \frac{|\langle x, \mu H(x)\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} \rangle|}{\vartheta_{f}} \|\tilde{s}\|_{\tilde{s}}^{*} \\ &\leq \frac{2\mu \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x}^{2}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x})^{3}}. \end{aligned}$$
(C.9)

Combining (C.8) and (C.9) as in [82, Lemma B.4(11)],

$$\begin{split} \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{R}^{2} &= \langle \zeta^{\mathbf{P}}, \zeta^{\mathbf{D}} \rangle + \langle \zeta^{\mathbf{P}}, R\zeta^{\mathbf{P}} - \zeta^{\mathbf{D}} \rangle \\ &\geq \mu \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x}^{2} \left(1 - \frac{\|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x})^{3}} \right) - \frac{2\mu \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x}^{3}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x})^{3}} \\ &= \mu \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x}^{2} \left(1 - \frac{3\|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x})^{3}} \right). \end{split}$$

Finally, as in [82, Lemma B.4(9-10)], it follows from (C.5) and (C.9) that

$$\|R\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x}^{-1} \leq \|R\zeta^{\mathsf{P}} + \zeta^{\mathsf{D}}\|_{x}^{-1} + \|\zeta^{\mathsf{D}}\|_{x}^{-1} \leq \frac{3\mu\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x}^{2}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x})^{3}} + \mu\|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x},$$

and similarly,

$$\|R\zeta^{P} - \zeta^{D}\|_{x}^{*} \le \|R\zeta^{P} + \zeta^{D}\|_{x}^{-1} + 2\|\zeta^{D}\|_{x}^{-1} \le \frac{4\mu\|\zeta^{P}\|_{x}^{2}}{(1 - \|\zeta^{P}\|_{x})^{3}} + 2\mu\|\zeta^{P}\|_{x}.$$

We now have the tools to bound the operator norm of (C.7). By (C.2),

$$\begin{split} & \left\| H(x)^{-1} \left[\frac{\zeta^{\mathrm{D}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{D}})^{\top} - R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{P}})^{\top}R}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle} + \left(\frac{1}{\|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{R}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle} \right) R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{P}})^{\top}R \right] \right\|_{x} \\ & \leq \frac{\|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} - \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1}\|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1}}{|\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle|} + \frac{\|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x}\|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1}}{|\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle|\||\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{R}^{2}} (\|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x}^{-1})^{2} \\ & = \frac{\|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} + \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1}}{|\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle|} \left(\|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}} - \zeta^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{x}^{-1} + \|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x} \frac{(\|R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x}^{-1})^{2}}{\|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{R}^{2}} \right) \leq \xi\mu. \end{split}$$

Therefore, (C.3) shows that

$$\left\| [\mu H(x)]^{-1} \left[\frac{\zeta^{\mathrm{D}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{D}})^{\top} - R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{P}})^{\top}R}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle} + \left(\frac{1}{\|\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{R}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\langle \zeta^{\mathrm{P}}, \zeta^{\mathrm{D}} \rangle} \right) R\zeta^{\mathrm{P}}(\zeta^{\mathrm{P}})^{\top}R \right] \right\|_{\mu H(x)}$$

is at most ξ . Hence, we see from the triangle inequality and (C.6) that

 $\|[\mu H(x)]^{-1}[W - \mu H(x)]\|_{\mu H(x)} \le \epsilon + \xi.$

Proposition 10.2 thus shows

$$(1 - \epsilon - \xi)\mu H(x) \preceq W \preceq (1 + \epsilon + \xi)\mu H(x).$$

Finally, we can use (2.2) to bound $\frac{1}{\mu}H^*(s)^{-1} = \mu H(\mu \tilde{x})$ as

$$(1 - \epsilon - \xi)(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x})^{2} \frac{1}{\mu} H^{*}(s)^{-1} \leq W \leq \frac{1 + \epsilon + \xi}{(1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_{x})^{2}} \frac{1}{\mu} H^{*}(s)^{-1},$$

similar to [82, Theorem 6.8].

C.2 Properties of the Predictor

The simple properties of the predictor can be derived mostly through substitution of various definitions.

Lemma 10.4 ([7, Lemma 5]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z = (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ such that (A1) and (A3) hold, and let $\gamma, \varrho \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, the following properties hold:

- (i) $G(z + \gamma \Delta z^{\text{pred}}) = (1 \gamma (1 \varrho))G(z)$
- (*ii*) $\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} = 0$
- (iii) $\mu'_{+} = (1 \gamma(1 \varrho))\mu'$, or equivalently, $\langle x + \gamma \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s + \gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + (\tau + \gamma \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}})(\kappa + \gamma \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}}) = (1 \gamma(1 \varrho))[\langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa].$

Proof. (i): Follows directly from (10.11a), (10.12a), and the fact that *G* is a linear operator.

(ii): Using (i) and the linearity of *G*, we have

$$0 = G(z + \gamma \Delta z^{\text{pred}} - (1 - \gamma(1 - \varrho))z) = \gamma G(\Delta z^{\text{pred}} + (1 - \varrho)z).$$

A skew-symmetry argument shows

$$0 = \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} \Delta y^{\text{pred}} + (1-\varrho)y \\ \Delta x^{\text{pred}} + (1-\varrho)x \\ \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} + (1-\varrho)\tau \end{bmatrix}, G(\Delta z^{\text{pred}} + (1-\varrho)z) \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}} + (1-\varrho)x, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} + (1-\varrho)s \right\rangle$$
$$+ (\Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} + (1-\varrho)\tau)(\Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} + (1-\varrho)\kappa).$$

Therefore, we can write

$$\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} = -(1-\varrho)^2 [\langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa] - (1-\varrho) [\langle x, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s \rangle + \tau \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \kappa].$$
(C.10)

From (10.11c) and (10.12c), we can see that

$$\begin{split} \langle x, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s \rangle &= \langle x, \Delta s^{\text{aff}} + \varrho \Delta s^{\text{cen}} \rangle - \langle \Delta x^{\text{aff}} + \varrho \Delta x^{\text{cen}}, Wx \rangle \\ &= \langle x, \Delta s^{\text{aff}} - W \Delta x^{\text{aff}} \rangle + \varrho \langle x, \Delta s^{\text{cen}} - W \Delta x^{\text{cen}} \rangle \\ &= \langle x, -s \rangle + \varrho \langle x, \mu' \tilde{s} \rangle = -\varrho \mu' \vartheta_f - \langle x, s \rangle. \end{split}$$

Moreover, (10.11b) and (10.12b) show that

$$\tau \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \kappa = \tau (\Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \varrho \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}}) + (\Delta \tau^{\text{aff}} + \varrho \Delta \tau^{\text{cen}}) \kappa$$
$$= \tau \Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \Delta \tau^{\text{aff}} \kappa + \varrho (\tau \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}} + \Delta \tau^{\text{cen}} \kappa)$$
$$= -\tau \kappa - \varrho \mu'.$$

Combining the above, we get

$$\langle x, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s \rangle + \tau \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \kappa = -\varrho \mu' \vartheta_f - \langle x, s \rangle - \tau \kappa - \varrho \mu'$$

= $(\varrho - 1)[\langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa],$
(C.11)

by definition of μ' . Hence, (C.10) must be zero.

(iii): Using (ii) to substitute
$$\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}}$$
, we get
 $\langle x + \gamma \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s + \gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + (\tau + \gamma \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}})(\kappa + \gamma \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}})$
 $= \langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa + \gamma [\langle x, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle + \langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s \rangle + \tau \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} + \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \kappa] + \gamma^2 0$
 $= (1 - \gamma (1 - \varrho))[\langle x, s \rangle + \tau \kappa],$

where the final equality is due to (C.11).

As we will see, the norms of the predictors depend on $\Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}}$. We first show that $\Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} \ge (\tau \kappa + \rho \mu')^2 / (4\tau \kappa)$.

Lemma C.2 ([7, Lemma 6]). Let $\tau, \mu' > 0$, $\kappa < 0$, and $\varrho \ge 0$. Then, the optimization problem

$$\begin{split} \min_{\Delta\kappa^{\rm aff},\Delta\kappa^{\rm cen},\Delta\tau^{\rm aff},\Delta\tau^{\rm cen}} (\Delta\tau^{\rm aff} + \varrho\Delta\tau^{\rm cen}) (\Delta\kappa^{\rm aff} + \varrho\Delta\kappa^{\rm cen}) \\ \text{subject to } \tau\Delta\kappa^{\rm aff} + \kappa\Delta\tau^{\rm aff} = -\tau\kappa \\ \tau\Delta\kappa^{\rm cen} + \kappa\Delta\tau^{\rm cen} = -\mu', \end{split}$$

has optimal value $(\tau \kappa + \rho \mu')^2/(4\tau \kappa)$.

Proof. The constraints show that $\Delta \tau^{\text{aff}} = -\tau - \frac{\tau}{\kappa} \Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}}$ and $\Delta \tau^{\text{cen}} = -\frac{\mu'}{\kappa} - \frac{\tau}{\kappa} \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}}$. Then, the objective is equal to

$$(\Delta \tau^{\text{aff}} + \rho \Delta \tau^{\text{cen}})(\Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \rho \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}})$$

= $\left(-\tau - \frac{\tau}{\kappa} \Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \rho \left(-\frac{\mu'}{\kappa} - \frac{\tau}{\kappa} \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}}\right)\right)(\Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \rho \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}})$
= $-\frac{\tau}{\kappa} (\Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \rho \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}})^2 - (\Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \rho \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}})\left(\tau + \rho \frac{\mu'}{\kappa}\right).$

This expression is minimized if and only if the first order condition

$$-\frac{2\tau}{\kappa}(\Delta\kappa^{\rm aff} + \rho\Delta\kappa^{\rm cen}) - \left(\tau + \rho\frac{\mu'}{\kappa}\right) = 0$$

holds. Hence, all minimizers satisfy $\Delta \kappa^{\text{aff}} + \rho \Delta \kappa^{\text{cen}} = -\frac{1}{2}(\rho \mu' / \tau + \kappa)$. Therefore, the optimal value is

$$-\frac{\tau}{\kappa}(\Delta\kappa^{\mathrm{aff}} + \varrho\Delta\kappa^{\mathrm{cen}})^{2} - (\Delta\kappa^{\mathrm{aff}} + \varrho\Delta\kappa^{\mathrm{cen}})\left(\tau + \varrho\frac{\mu'}{\kappa}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{\tau}{4\kappa}\left(\frac{\varrho\mu'}{\tau} + \kappa\right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\varrho\mu'}{\tau} + \kappa\right)\left(\tau + \varrho\frac{\mu'}{\kappa}\right) = \frac{(\tau\kappa + \varrho\mu')^{2}}{4\tau\kappa}.$$

We are now ready to bound the norm of the predictor.

Theorem 10.5 ([7, Theorem 2]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z = (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ such that (A1) to (A5) hold for some $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [0, 1)$. Let $l^P, u^D > 0$ be bounds such that (10.17) holds, and let $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, the primal and dual predictors Δx^{pred} and Δs^{pred} satisfy

$$\|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_{W}^{2} + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^{2} \leq \mu' \left[\vartheta_{f}\left(1 - 2\varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{\alpha}\right) + 1 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha - \varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{2\alpha}\right], \tag{10.19}$$

and

$$l^{p} \|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_{x}^{2} + \frac{1}{u^{D}} (\|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{s}^{*})^{2} \leq \frac{1}{\alpha} \left[\vartheta_{f} \left(1 - 2\varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{\alpha} \right) + 1 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha - \varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{2\alpha} \right].$$
(10.20)

Proof. Note that for any $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\langle v, w \rangle = 0$, we have $||v-w||^2 = ||v||^2 + ||w||^2$. As shown by Lemma 10.4(ii), $\langle (W^{1/2}\Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}}), (W^{-1/2}\Delta s^{\text{pred}}, \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}}) \rangle = 0$, so

$$\begin{aligned} \|W\Delta x^{\text{pred}} - \Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^2 + (\Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} - \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}})^2 \\ &= \|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_W^2 + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^2 + (\Delta \tau^{\text{pred}})^2 + (\Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}})^2. \end{aligned}$$

By (10.11c), (10.12c), and (10.13), $W \Delta x^{\text{pred}} - \Delta s^{\text{pred}} = s - \rho \mu' \tilde{s}$. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_{W}^{2} + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^{2} &= \|s - \rho\mu'\tilde{s}\|_{W^{-1}}^{2} - 2\Delta\tau^{\text{pred}}\Delta\kappa^{\text{pred}} \\ &= -\langle x, s \rangle - 2\rho\mu'\vartheta_{f} + \rho^{2}(\mu')^{2}\tilde{\mu}\vartheta_{f} - 2\Delta\tau^{\text{pred}}\Delta\kappa^{\text{pred}}, \end{split}$$

where the final equality used $\langle x, \tilde{s} \rangle = \langle x, g(x) \rangle = -\vartheta_f$ and the definition of $\tilde{\mu}$. By Lemma C.2,

$$\begin{split} \|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_{W}^{2} + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^{2} \\ \leq -\langle x, s \rangle - 2\varrho \mu' \vartheta_{f} + \varrho^{2} (\mu')^{2} \tilde{\mu} \vartheta_{f} - \frac{(\tau \kappa + \varrho \mu')^{2}}{2\tau \kappa} \\ = -\langle x, s \rangle - 2\varrho \mu' \vartheta_{f} + \varrho^{2} (\mu')^{2} \tilde{\mu} \vartheta_{f} - \frac{1}{2} \tau \kappa - \varrho \mu' - \frac{\varrho^{2} (\mu')^{2}}{2\tau \kappa} \end{split}$$

To bound all the above in terms of μ' , we use (A2) and (A4):

$$\begin{split} \|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_{W}^{2} + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^{2} \\ &\leq -(\langle x,s\rangle + \tau\kappa) + \frac{1}{2}\tau\kappa - 2\varrho\mu'\vartheta_{f} + \varrho^{2}\mu'\frac{\vartheta_{f}}{\alpha} - \varrho\mu' + \frac{\varrho^{2}\mu'}{2\alpha} \\ &\leq \mu' \bigg[(\vartheta_{f} + 1) - \frac{1}{2}\alpha - 2\varrho\vartheta_{f} + \varrho^{2}\frac{\vartheta_{f}}{\alpha} - \varrho + \frac{\varrho^{2}}{2\alpha} \bigg], \end{split}$$

which proves (10.19). Towards proving (10.20), we note that by (10.17) and Lemma 2.4,

$$l^{p} \|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_{x}^{2} + \frac{1}{u^{D}} (\|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{s}^{*})^{2} \leq \frac{\|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_{W}^{2} + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^{2}}{\mu}$$

The claim now follows from Lemma 10.1 and (10.19).

The following is a straightforward consequence of Theorem 10.5.

Corollary C.3 ([7, Corollary 2]). Under the conditions of Theorem 10.5,

$$|\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle| \le \frac{1}{2}\mu'\Pi \le \frac{\Pi\mu}{2\alpha}$$

Proof. Note that

$$0 \le \|W\Delta x^{\text{pred}} + \Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^2 = \|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_W^2 + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^2 + 2\langle\Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}}\rangle,$$

which implies $-\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle \leq \frac{1}{2} [\|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_W^2 + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^2]$. The bound then follows from (10.19). By considering $\|W\Delta x^{\text{pred}} - \Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^2$, one can show similarly that $\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle \leq \frac{1}{2} [\|\Delta x^{\text{pred}}\|_W^2 + \|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_{W^{-1}}^2]$. The final inequality is due to Lemma 10.1.

As a second consequence, we can bound the difference between μ_+ and μ , in the following sense.

Corollary C.4 ([7, Corollary 3]). Under the conditions of Theorem 10.5,

$$\left|1 - \frac{\mu_+}{\mu} + \gamma \left(\varrho \frac{\mu'}{\mu} - 1\right)\right| = \left|\frac{\gamma^2}{\mu \vartheta_f} \langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle\right| \le \frac{\gamma^2 \Pi}{2\alpha \vartheta_f}.$$

Proof. By the definition (10.13),

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mu_{+}}{\mu} &= -\frac{\langle x + \gamma \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, s + \gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle}{\mu \vartheta_{f}} \\ &= 1 + \frac{\gamma}{\mu \vartheta_{f}} \langle x, W \Delta x^{\text{pred}} - \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle - \frac{\gamma^{2}}{\mu \vartheta_{f}} \langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle \end{split}$$

It follows from (10.11c), (10.12c), and (10.13) that $W \Delta x^{\text{pred}} - \Delta s^{\text{pred}} = s - \rho \mu' \tilde{s}$. This proves the desired equality. The inequality follows from Corollary C.3.

We now analyze τ_+ and κ_+ , which covers assumptions (A2) and (A3).

Lemma 10.6 ([7, Lemma 7]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z = (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ such that (A1) to (A5) hold for some $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [0, 1)$. Let $\gamma \leq 1$ and $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}$. Then,

$$\tau_{+}\kappa_{+} \leq -\frac{\mu_{+}'}{1-\gamma(1-\varrho)} \Big[\alpha(1-\gamma) + \gamma \varrho - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{2}\Pi \Big].$$
(10.24)

If $\alpha < 1$ or $\rho < 1$, and

$$0 \le \gamma < \frac{\alpha - \rho + \sqrt{(\alpha - \rho)^2 + 2\alpha \Pi}}{\Pi}, \tag{10.25}$$

then $\tau_+ > 0$ and $\kappa_+ < 0$.

Proof. Recall that $z_{+} = z + \gamma \Delta z^{\text{pred}}$. By (10.11b), (10.12b), and (10.13),

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{+}\kappa_{+} &= \tau\kappa + \gamma(\tau\Delta\kappa^{\text{pred}} + \kappa\Delta\tau^{\text{pred}}) + \gamma^{2}\Delta\tau^{\text{pred}}\Delta\kappa^{\text{pred}} \\ &= \tau\kappa + \gamma(-\tau\kappa - \varrho\mu') + \gamma^{2}\Delta\tau^{\text{pred}}\Delta\kappa^{\text{pred}} \\ &\leq -(1-\gamma)\alpha\mu' - \gamma\varrho\mu' + \gamma^{2}\Delta\tau^{\text{pred}}\Delta\kappa^{\text{pred}}, \end{aligned}$$

where the inequality is due to (A2). Hence, the main remaining task is to upper bound $\Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}}$. By Lemma 10.4(ii), $\Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}} = -\langle \Delta x^{\text{pred}}, \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \rangle$. It therefore follows from Corollary C.3 that $\tau_+ \kappa_+ \leq -\mu' [\alpha(1-\gamma) + \gamma \varrho - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 \Pi]$. Lemma 10.4(iii) then proves the bound (10.24).

It can be seen from (10.21) that $1 - 2\rho + \rho^2/\alpha \le 0$ only if $\alpha = \rho = 1$. To avoid trivial difficulties, we therefore assume that $\alpha < 1$ or $\rho < 1$. Then, $\Pi = \vartheta_f \left(1 - 2\varrho + \varrho^2 / \alpha \right) + 1 - \frac{1}{2}\alpha - \varrho + \frac{1}{2}\varrho^2 / \alpha \text{ is positive by (10.22). The zeros of the right hand side of (10.24) in <math>\gamma$ are

$$\frac{\alpha - \varrho \pm \sqrt{(\alpha - \varrho)^2 + 2\alpha \Pi}}{\Pi}$$

We see that the square root above is greater than $|\alpha - \varrho|$, and the denominator is positive. Thus, for all γ satisfying (10.25), the upper bound (10.24) on $\tau_+\kappa_+$ is negative.

If $\tau_+\kappa_+ < 0$, then $\tau_+ > 0$ and $\kappa_+ < 0$, or $\tau_+ < 0$ and $\kappa_+ > 0$. For the sake of contradiction, suppose that $\tau_+ < 0$ and $\kappa_+ > 0$. Since $\gamma_0 \mapsto \tau + \gamma_0 \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}}$ is continuous and $\tau > 0$, the intermediate value theorem implies that there exists some $\gamma_0 \in (0, \gamma)$ where $\tau + \gamma_0 \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}} = 0$. But for this γ_0 , we have $(\tau + \gamma_0 \Delta \tau^{\text{pred}})(\kappa + \gamma_0 \Delta \kappa^{\text{pred}}) = 0$, while the upper bound (10.24) is negative for all $\gamma_0 \in (0, \gamma)$. Thus, we have a contradiction, and therefore $\tau_+ > 0$ and $\kappa_+ < 0$.

We close this section with the upper bound on $\|\zeta_{+}^{p}\|_{x_{+}}$, which relates to assumption (A5).

Lemma 10.7. Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z = (y, x, \tau, s, \kappa)$ such that (A1) to (A5) hold for some $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and $\delta \in [0, 1)$. Assume (10.17) holds with $u^{\mathbb{D}} = (1 + \epsilon)/r$ and $l^{\mathbb{D}} = r(1 - \epsilon)$ for some $r \in (0, 1]$ and $\epsilon \ge 0$. Let $\gamma \in [0, \sqrt{\alpha \min\{l^{\mathbb{P}}, 1/u^{\mathbb{P}}\}/\Pi})$ and $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \|\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{+}^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x_{+}} &\leq \frac{1}{1 - \gamma \sqrt{\Pi/(l^{\mathbf{P}} \alpha)}} \bigg[(1 - \gamma) \|\boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x} + \frac{\gamma^{2} \Pi}{2\alpha \sqrt{\vartheta_{f}} (1 - \|\boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\mathbf{P}}\|_{x})} \\ &+ \frac{\gamma \sqrt{\Pi}}{\sqrt{l^{\mathbf{P}} \alpha}} \bigg(\frac{u^{\mathbf{D}} (1 + \varsigma)}{1 - \gamma \sqrt{u^{\mathbf{D}} \Pi/\alpha}} - 1 \bigg) \bigg], \end{split}$$

where

$$\varsigma := \frac{\gamma^2 \Pi}{2\alpha \vartheta_f} + \gamma \max\left\{1 - \frac{\varrho}{2-\alpha}, \frac{\varrho}{\alpha} - 1\right\}.$$

Proof. By definition, we have

$$\zeta_+^{\mathrm{P}} = x_+ - \mu_+ \tilde{x}_+ = x + \gamma \Delta x^{\mathrm{pred}} - \mu_+ g^* \left(s + \gamma \Delta s^{\mathrm{pred}} \right).$$

It can be shown using (10.11c), (10.12c), and (10.13) that $\Delta x^{\text{pred}} = \rho \mu' \tilde{x} - x + W^{-1} \Delta s^{\text{pred}}$. Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} x + \gamma \Delta x^{\text{pred}} &= x + \gamma \left(\varrho \mu' \tilde{x} - x \right) + \gamma W^{-1} \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \\ &= (1 - \gamma) (x - \mu \tilde{x}) + \left((1 - \gamma) \mu + \gamma \varrho \mu' \right) \tilde{x} + \gamma W^{-1} \Delta s^{\text{pred}}. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, the fundamental theorem of calculus (see e.g. Renegar [95, Theorem 1.5.6]) implies

$$\begin{split} & \mu_{+}g^{*}\left(s+\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\right) \\ &= \mu_{+}\left[g^{*}(s) + \int_{0}^{1}H^{*}\left(s+t\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\right)\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\,\mathrm{d}t\right] \\ &= \mu_{+}\tilde{x} + \gamma\int_{0}^{1}\left[\mu_{+}H^{*}\left(s+t\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\right) - W^{-1}\right]\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\,\mathrm{d}t + \gamma W^{-1}\Delta s^{\text{pred}}. \end{split}$$

Combining the above observations yields

$$\zeta_{+}^{P} = (1 - \gamma)(x - \mu \tilde{x}) + ((1 - \gamma)\mu + \gamma \varrho \mu' - \mu_{+})\tilde{x}$$
$$-\gamma \int_{0}^{1} \left[\mu_{+}H^{*} \left(s + t\gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \right) - W^{-1} \right] \Delta s^{\text{pred}} dt$$
$$= (1 - \gamma)\zeta^{P} + \left(1 - \gamma + \gamma \varrho \frac{\mu'}{\mu} - \frac{\mu_{+}}{\mu} \right) \mu \tilde{x}$$
(C.12)

$$-\gamma \int_0^1 \left[\mu_+ H^* \left(s + t\gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \right) - W^{-1} \right] \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \, \mathrm{d}t. \tag{C.13}$$

We will bound each of the three terms in (C.12) and (C.13) separately in $\|\cdot\|_x$. Of course, $\|\zeta^P\|_x$ is known to be bounded by assumption (A5).

To bound the second term of (C.12), note that by Corollary C.4,

$$\left|1 - \gamma + \gamma \varrho \frac{\mu'}{\mu} - \frac{\mu_+}{\mu}\right| \leq \frac{\gamma^2 \Pi}{2\alpha \vartheta_f}$$

Since $\|\mu \tilde{x}\|_x \leq \|\mu \tilde{x}\|_{\mu \tilde{x}}/(1 - \|\zeta^P\|_x) = \sqrt{\vartheta_f}/(1 - \|\zeta^P\|_x)$ by self-concordance and logarithmic homogeneity,

$$\left\| \left(1 - \gamma + \gamma \varrho \frac{\mu'}{\mu} - \frac{\mu_+}{\mu} \right) \mu \tilde{x} \right\|_x \le \frac{\gamma^2 \Pi}{2\alpha \sqrt{\vartheta_f} (1 - \|\zeta^{\mathsf{P}}\|_x)}. \tag{C.14}$$

To bound (C.13), we will bound $\mu_+ H^*(s + t\gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}})$ in terms of W^{-1} to invoke Proposition 10.2. First, note that by Corollary C.4 and Lemma 10.1,

$$\left|\frac{\mu_{+}}{\mu}-1\right| \leq \frac{\gamma^{2}\Pi}{2\alpha\vartheta_{f}}+\gamma\left|\varrho\frac{\mu'}{\mu}-1\right| \leq \frac{\gamma^{2}\Pi}{2\alpha\vartheta_{f}}+\gamma\max\left\{1-\frac{\varrho}{2-\alpha},\frac{\varrho}{\alpha}-1\right\}=\varsigma.$$

Hence, we have

$$(1-\varsigma)\mu H^*\left(s+t\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\right) \preceq \mu_+ H^*\left(s+t\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\right) \preceq (1+\varsigma)\mu H^*\left(s+t\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\right).$$

Next, we apply self-concordance as in (2.2) to see that

$$H^*\left(s+t\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\right) \leq \frac{1}{(1-t\gamma\|\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\|_s^*)^2}H^*(s) \leq \frac{1}{(1-t\gamma\sqrt{u^{\text{D}}\Pi/\alpha})^2}H^*(s),$$

by Theorem 10.5, and similarly $H^*(s + t\gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}}) \succeq (1 - t\gamma \sqrt{u^{\text{D}}\Pi/\alpha})^2 H^*(s)$. Combined with (10.17), we thus get

$$(1-\varsigma) \left(1-t\gamma \sqrt{u^{\mathrm{D}}\Pi/\alpha}\right)^{2} l^{\mathrm{D}} W^{-1} \leq \mu_{+} H^{*} \left(s+t\gamma \Delta s^{\mathrm{pred}}\right)$$
$$\leq \frac{u^{\mathrm{D}}(1+\varsigma)}{(1-t\gamma \sqrt{u^{\mathrm{D}}\Pi/\alpha})^{2}} W^{-1}.$$

With these bounds, it follows from Proposition 10.2 that

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \mu_{+}WH^{*}\left(s+t\gamma\Delta s^{\text{pred}}\right)-I \right\|_{W^{-1}} \\ & \leq \max\left\{ 1-(1-\varsigma)\left(1-t\gamma\sqrt{u^{\text{D}}\Pi/\alpha}\right)^{2}l^{\text{D}}, \frac{u^{\text{D}}(1+\varsigma)}{(1-t\gamma\sqrt{u^{\text{D}}\Pi/\alpha})^{2}}-1 \right\} \\ & = \frac{u^{\text{D}}(1+\varsigma)}{(1-t\gamma\sqrt{u^{\text{D}}\Pi/\alpha})^{2}}-1, \end{split}$$

where the value of the maximization is determined by the fact that for all $\epsilon, \varsigma \ge 0$ and $r \in (0, 1]$,

$$1-r(1-\varsigma)(1-\epsilon) \le \frac{(1+\varsigma)(1+\epsilon)}{r} - 1.$$

Using (10.17) and Theorem 10.5, we can thus bound the local norm of (C.13) as

follows:

$$\begin{split} \left\| \gamma \int_{0}^{1} \left[\mu_{+} H^{*} \left(s + t \gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \right) - W^{-1} \right] \Delta s^{\text{pred}} dt \right\|_{x} \\ &\leq \frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{l^{P} \mu}} \int_{0}^{1} \left\| \left[\mu_{+} H^{*} \left(s + t \gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \right) - W^{-1} \right] \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \right\|_{W} dt \\ &\leq \frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{l^{P} \mu}} \int_{0}^{1} \left\| \mu_{+} W H^{*} \left(s + t \gamma \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \right) - I \right\|_{W^{-1}} \left\| \Delta s^{\text{pred}} \right\|_{W^{-1}} dt \\ &\leq \frac{\gamma \sqrt{\mu' \Pi}}{\sqrt{l^{P} \mu}} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{u^{D} (1 + \varsigma)}{(1 - t \gamma \sqrt{u^{D} \Pi / \alpha})^{2}} - 1 \right) dt \leq \frac{\gamma \sqrt{\Pi}}{\sqrt{l^{P} \alpha}} \left(\frac{u^{D} (1 + \varsigma)}{1 - \gamma \sqrt{u^{D} \Pi / \alpha}} - 1 \right), \end{split}$$

where the final inequality uses Lemma 10.1.

If we combine the above with the bound (C.14), it can be seen from (C.12) and (C.13) that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x} \leq (1-\gamma)\|\boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x} + \frac{\gamma^{2}\Pi}{2\alpha\sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}(1-\|\boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{x})} + \frac{\gamma\sqrt{\Pi}}{\sqrt{l^{\mathrm{P}}\alpha}} \left(\frac{u^{\mathrm{D}}(1+\varsigma)}{1-\gamma\sqrt{u^{\mathrm{D}}\Pi/\alpha}} - 1\right).$$

Since $||x - x_+||_x = \gamma ||\Delta x^{\text{pred}}||_x \le \gamma \sqrt{\Pi/(l^p \alpha)}$ by Theorem 10.5, the proof is completed by applying self-concordance.

C.3 Properties of the Corrector

As for the predictor, some properties of the corrector can be derived directly from the definitions.

Lemma 10.8 ([7, Lemma 9]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z_+ = (y_+, x_+, \tau_+, \kappa_+, \kappa_+)$ such that $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$, $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, $\tau_+ > 0$, and $\kappa_+ < 0$. Then,

- (*i*) $G(z_+ + \Delta z_+^{cor}) = G(z_+)$
- (*ii*) $\langle x_+, \Delta s_+^{cor} \rangle + \langle \Delta x_+^{cor}, s_+ \rangle = 0$
- (*iii*) $\langle \Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}, \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \rangle + \Delta \tau_{+}^{\text{cor}} \Delta \kappa_{+}^{\text{cor}} = 0$

- (iv) $\langle x_+ + \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}}, s_+ + \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} \rangle + (\tau_+ + \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}})(\kappa_+ + \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}}) = \langle x_+, s_+ \rangle + \tau_+ \kappa_+$. In other words, $\mu'_{++} = \mu'_+$
- (v) $\|\Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} + \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2} \le \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}^{2}$
- (vi) $|\langle \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}}, \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} \rangle| \le \frac{1}{2} ||\zeta_+^{\text{P}}||_{W_+}^2$
- (vii) $(\tau_+ + \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}})(\kappa_+ + \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}}) \le \tau_+ \kappa_+ + \frac{1}{2} \|\zeta_+^P\|_{W_+}^2$. If $\tau_+ \kappa_+ + \frac{1}{2} \|\zeta_+^P\|_{W_+}^2 < 0$, then $\tau_{++} > 0$ and $\kappa_{++} < 0$.
- *Proof.* (i): Follows directly from (10.16a) and the fact that *G* is a linear operator. (ii): By (10.16c) and the fact that $W_+x_+ = -s_+$,

$$\begin{split} \langle x_+, \Delta s_+^{\rm cor} \rangle + \langle \Delta x_+^{\rm cor}, s_+ \rangle &= \langle x_+, W_+ \Delta x_+^{\rm cor} + \mu_+ \tilde{s}_+ - s_+ \rangle + \langle \Delta x_+^{\rm cor}, s_+ \rangle \\ &= \langle x_+, \mu_+ \tilde{s}_+ - s_+ \rangle, \end{split}$$

which is zero because $\langle x_+, \tilde{s}_+ \rangle = -\vartheta_f$.

(iii): From (10.16a) and skew-symmetry, it can be seen that

$$0 = \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} \Delta y_{+}^{cor} \\ \Delta x_{+}^{cor} \\ \Delta \tau_{+}^{cor} \end{bmatrix}, G(\Delta z_{+}^{cor}) \right\rangle = \left\langle \Delta x_{+}^{cor}, \Delta s_{+}^{cor} \right\rangle + \Delta \tau_{+}^{cor} \Delta \kappa_{+}^{cor}.$$

(iv): A simple expansion shows

$$\langle x_+ + \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}}, s_+ + \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} \rangle + (\tau_+ + \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}})(\kappa_+ + \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}}) - [\langle x_+, s_+ \rangle + \tau_+ \kappa_+]$$

equals

$$[\langle x_+, \Delta s_+^{\rm cor} \rangle + \langle \Delta x_+^{\rm cor}, s_+ \rangle] + [\tau_+ \Delta \kappa_+^{\rm cor} + \kappa_+ \Delta \tau_+^{\rm cor}] + [\langle \Delta x_+^{\rm cor}, \Delta s_+^{\rm cor} \rangle + \Delta \tau_+^{\rm cor} \Delta \kappa_+^{\rm cor}],$$

where the first term is zero by (ii), the second term is zero by (10.16b), and the third term is zero by (iii).

(v): Recall that for any $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\langle v, w \rangle = 0$, we have $||v - w||^2 = ||v||^2 + ||w||^2$. By (iii), we have $\langle (W_+^{1/2} \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}}, \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}}), (W_+^{-1/2} \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}}, \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}}) \rangle = 0$, so

$$\begin{aligned} \|W_{+}\Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}} - \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2} + (\Delta \tau_{+}^{\text{cor}} - \Delta \kappa_{+}^{\text{cor}})^{2} \\ &= \|\Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} + \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2} + (\Delta \tau_{+}^{\text{cor}})^{2} + (\Delta \kappa_{+}^{\text{cor}})^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Subtracting $(\Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}})^2 + (\Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}})^2$ from both sides and using $W_+ \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}} - \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} = -\zeta_+^{\text{D}}$, we get

$$\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2} - 2\Delta\tau_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\Delta\kappa_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}} = \|\Delta x_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} + \|\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2}.$$
(C.15)

Since $\tau_+ \Delta \kappa_+^{cor} + \kappa_+ \Delta \tau_+^{cor} = 0$ by (10.16b), we can derive the upper bound

$$-\Delta \kappa_{+}^{\rm cor} \Delta \tau_{+}^{\rm cor} = \Delta \tau_{+}^{\rm cor} \frac{\kappa_{+} \Delta \tau_{+}^{\rm cor}}{\tau_{+}} \le 0.$$

Hence, (v) follows from (C.15) and the observation $\|\zeta_{+}^{D}\|_{W^{-1}}^{2} = \|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}^{2}$.

(vi): Can be proven similar to Corollary C.3 using (v).

(vii): From (10.16b) and (iii), we get

$$(\tau_+ + \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}})(\kappa_+ + \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}}) = \tau_+ \kappa_+ + \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}} \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}} = \tau_+ \kappa_+ - \langle \Delta x_+^{\text{cor}}, \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} \rangle.$$

The upper bound now follows from (vi). If this upper bound on $(\tau_+ + \Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}})(\kappa_+ + \Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}})$ is negative, then either $\tau_{++} > 0$ and $\kappa_{++} < 0$, or $\tau_{++} < 0$ and $\kappa_{++} > 0$. Suppose for the sake of contradiction that $\tau_{++} < 0$ and $\kappa_{++} > 0$. Then, $\Delta \tau_+^{\text{cor}} < 0$ and $\Delta \kappa_+^{\text{cor}} > 0$. However, it follows from (10.16b) that these cannot hold at the same time if $\tau_+ > 0$ and $\kappa_+ < 0$. Hence, $\tau_{++} > 0$ and $\kappa_{++} < 0$.

We move on to an analysis of (A4) after the corrector step.

Lemma 10.9 ([7, Lemma 10]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z_+ = (y_+, x_+, \tau_+, s_+, \kappa_+)$ such that $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$, $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, $\tau_+ > 0$, and $\kappa_+ < 0$. Assume (10.18) holds with $u_+^{\mathrm{D}} = (1 + \epsilon)/r$ and $l_+^{\mathrm{D}} = r(1 - \epsilon)$ for some $r \in (0, 1]$ and $\epsilon \ge 0$. Suppose $\|\zeta_+^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_+}/\sqrt{\mu_+} < \sqrt{\min\{l_+^{\mathrm{D}}, 1/u_+^{\mathrm{D}}\}}$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \mu_{+} \tilde{\mu}_{++} &\leq 1 + \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}} \left[\frac{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}}{\sqrt{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f}}} \left(\frac{1}{1 - \sqrt{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}/\mu_{+}}} \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}} - 1 \right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{\|\tilde{x}_{+}\|_{W_{+}}}{\vartheta_{f}} \left(\frac{1}{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}(1 - \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}\mu_{+}})} - 1 \right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}^{2} u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}}{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f} l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}(1 - \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}\mu_{+}})(1 - \sqrt{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}/\mu_{+}}\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}})} \end{split}$$

Proof. We are interested in finding a lower bound on $\langle g(x_+ + \Delta x_+^{cor}), g^*(s_+ + \Delta s_+^{cor}) \rangle$. It follows from (10.16c) that $x_+ + \Delta x_+^{cor} = \mu_+ \tilde{x}_+ + W_+^{-1} \Delta s_+^{cor}$. By the fundamental theorem of calculus,

$$g(x_{+} + \Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}) = g(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})$$

= $g(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}) + \int_{0}^{1} H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} dt$
= $\frac{1}{\mu_{+}}s_{+} + \int_{0}^{1} H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} dt$,

where the final equality uses (2.20) and Theorem 2.12 to see that $g(\mu_+ \tilde{x}_+) = g(g^*(s_+))/\mu_+ = s_+/\mu_+$. Another application of the fundamental theorem of calculus yields

$$g^*(s_+ + \Delta s_+^{\text{cor}}) = g^*(s_+) + \int_0^1 H^*(s_+ + t\Delta s_+^{\text{cor}})\Delta s_+^{\text{cor}} dt.$$

Consequently, it can be seen that

$$\langle g(x_{+} + \Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}), g^{*}(s_{+} + \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) \rangle$$

$$= -\frac{\vartheta_{f}}{\mu_{+}} + \int_{0}^{1} \left\langle \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}, \frac{1}{\mu_{+}} H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})s_{+} + W_{+}^{-1}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})\tilde{x}_{+} \right\rangle dt$$

$$(C.16)$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \left\langle \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}, W_{+}^{-1}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})H^{*}(s_{+} + r\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \right\rangle dt dr.$$

$$(C.17)$$

Using the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, it follows that the inner product in (C.16) is at least

$$-\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}\left\|\frac{1}{\mu_{+}}H^{*}(s_{+}+t\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor})s_{+}+W_{+}^{-1}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}+tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor})\tilde{x}_{+}\right\|_{W_{+}}.$$

The latter norm can be further bounded by the triangle inequality and the fact

that $-H^*(s_+)s_+ = g^*(s_+) = \tilde{x}_+$:

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \frac{1}{\mu_{+}} H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})s_{+} + W_{+}^{-1}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})\tilde{x}_{+} \right\|_{W_{+}} \\ &\leq \left\| \frac{1}{\mu_{+}} [H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - H^{*}(s_{+})]s_{+} \right\|_{W_{+}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\mu_{+}} \left\| W_{+}^{-1}[\mu_{+}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - W_{+}]\tilde{x}_{+} \right\|_{W_{+}}. \end{aligned}$$
(C.18)

Starting with the norm in (C.18), note that by (10.18) and Lemma 2.4,

$$\mu_{+}[H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - H^{*}(s_{+})] \leq \left(\frac{1}{(1 - t \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}})^{2}} - 1\right)\mu_{+}H^{*}(s_{+})$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\text{D}}}{(1 - t \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}})^{2}} - u_{+}^{\text{D}}\right)W_{+}^{-1}.$$
(C.20)

Similarly,

$$\mu_{+}[H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - H^{*}(s_{+})] \succeq \left((1 - t \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}})^{2} - 1 \right) \mu_{+}H^{*}(s_{+}) \\ \succeq \left(l_{+}^{D} (1 - t \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}})^{2} - l_{+}^{D} \right) W_{+}^{-1}.$$
(C.21)

Hence, by Proposition 10.2,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\mu_{+}^{2}} \left\| \mu_{+} [H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - H^{*}(s_{+})]s_{+} \right\|_{W_{+}} \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu_{+}^{2}} \left\| \left[W_{+} \left(\mu_{+} [H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - H^{*}(s_{+})] + W_{+}^{-1} \right) - I \right]s_{+} \right\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \\ &\leq \frac{\|s_{+}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}}{\mu_{+}^{2}} \left\| W_{+} \left(\mu_{+} [H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - H^{*}(s_{+})] + W_{+}^{-1} \right) - I \right\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \\ &\leq \frac{\|s_{+}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}}{\mu_{+}^{2}} \max \left\{ \frac{u_{+}^{D}}{(1 - t \| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{s_{+}})^{2}} - u_{+}^{D}, l_{+}^{D} - l_{+}^{D} (1 - t \| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{s_{+}})^{2} \right\} \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}}{\mu_{+}\sqrt{\mu_{+}}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{D}}{(1 - t \| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{s_{+}})^{2}} - u_{+}^{D} \right), \end{split}$$
(C.22)

since $1/(1-r)^2 - 1 \ge 1 - (1-r)^2$ for all $r \in [0, 1)$.

To bound the norm in (C.19) with Proposition 10.2, we first note that by selfconcordance and the observation that $\mu_+H(\mu_+\tilde{x}_+) = H^*(s_+)^{-1}/\mu_+$,

$$\mu_{+}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) \leq \frac{1}{(1 - t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}}\mu_{+}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+})$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{l_{+}^{D}(1 - t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}}W_{+},$$
(C.23)

where the last step used (10.18). Similarly,

$$\mu_{+}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}) \succeq (1 - t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}\mu_{+}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+})$$

$$\succeq \frac{(1 - t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}}{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}}W_{+}, \qquad (C.24)$$

such that Proposition 10.2 shows

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\mu_{+}} \left\| W_{+}^{-1} [\mu_{+} H(\mu_{+} \tilde{x}_{+} + t W_{+}^{-1} \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - W_{+}] \tilde{x}_{+} \right\|_{W_{+}} \\ &\leq \frac{\| \tilde{x}_{+} \|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}} \left\| \mu_{+} W_{+}^{-1} H(\mu_{+} \tilde{x}_{+} + t W_{+}^{-1} \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - I \right\|_{W_{+}} \\ &\leq \frac{\| \tilde{x}_{+} \|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}} \max \left\{ \frac{1}{l_{+}^{D} (1 - t \| W_{+}^{-1} \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{\mu_{+} \tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}} - 1, 1 - \frac{(1 - t \| W_{+}^{-1} \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{\mu_{+} \tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}}{u_{+}^{D}} \right\} \\ &= \frac{\| \tilde{x}_{+} \|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}} \left(\frac{1}{l_{+}^{D} (1 - t \| W_{+}^{-1} \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{\mu_{+} \tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}} - 1 \right), \end{split}$$
(C.25)

since $1/[(1-\epsilon)r] - 1 \ge 1 - r/(1+\epsilon)$ for all $r \in (0,1]$ and $\epsilon \ge 0$.

In summary, the inner product in (C.16) is, using the bounds (C.22) and (C.25) on (C.18) and (C.19), at least

$$-\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \left[\frac{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}}{\mu_{+}\sqrt{\mu_{+}}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\rm D}}{(1-t\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{s_{+}})^{2}} - u_{+}^{\rm D} \right) + \frac{\|\tilde{x}_{+}\|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}} \left(\frac{1}{l_{+}^{\rm D}(1-t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}} - 1 \right) \right].$$
(C.26)

By the properties of the operator norm, the inner product in (C.17) is at least

$$-\frac{\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2}}{\mu_{+}^{2}}\|H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}+tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor})H^{*}(s_{+}+r\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor})\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}$$

$$\geq -\frac{\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2}}{\mu_{+}^{2}}\|H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}+tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor})W_{+}^{-1}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}\|W_{+}H^{*}(s_{+}+r\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor})\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}.$$
(C.27)

To bound the first norm in (C.27), we note that for any linear operator P,

$$\|PW_{+}^{-1}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} = \sup_{\|u\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \le 1} \|PW_{+}^{-1}u\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} = \sup_{\|\nu\|_{W_{+}} \le 1} \|P\nu\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} = \|W_{+}^{-1}P\|_{W_{+}}.$$

Therefore, $||H(\mu_+ \tilde{x}_+ + tW_+^{-1}\Delta s_+^{cor})W_+^{-1}||_{W_+^{-1}}$ equals

$$\frac{\|W_{+}^{-1}[\mu_{+}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}+tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}})+W_{+}]-I\|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}}$$

Using the bounds (C.23) and (C.24), it can be shown that

$$\left(\frac{(1-t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\operatorname{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}}{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}} + 1 \right) W_{+} \leq \mu_{+} H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\operatorname{cor}}) + W_{+} \\ \leq \left(\frac{1}{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}(1-t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\operatorname{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}} + 1 \right) W_{+}$$

Hence, Proposition 10.2 shows

$$\begin{split} \|H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}})W_{+}^{-1}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \\ &= \frac{\|W_{+}^{-1}[\mu_{+}H(\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + tW_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}) + W_{+}] - I\|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}(1 - t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}}. \end{split}$$
(C.28)

Similarly, one can show along the lines of (C.20) and (C.21) that

$$\left(l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}} (1 - r \| \Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}} \|_{s_{+}})^{2} + 1 \right) W_{+}^{-1} \leq \mu_{+} H^{*} (s_{+} + r \Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}}) + W_{+}^{-1}$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}}{(1 - r \| \Delta s_{+}^{\mathrm{cor}} \|_{s_{+}})^{2}} + 1 \right) W_{+}^{-1},$$
(C.29)

such that Proposition 10.2 shows

$$\|\mu_{+}H^{*}(s_{+}+r\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \leq \frac{u_{+}^{D}}{(1-r\|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}})^{2}}.$$
 (C.30)

In summary, the inner product in (C.17) is, using the bounds (C.27), (C.28), and (C.30), at least

$$-\frac{\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2}u_{+}^{\rm D}}{\mu_{+}^{2}l_{+}^{\rm D}(1-t\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})^{2}(1-r\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{s_{+}})^{2}}.$$
(C.31)

Combining the bounds (C.26) and (C.31) on the inner products in (C.16) and (C.17) respectively yields

$$\begin{split} &\langle g(x_{+} + \Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}), g^{*}(s_{+} + \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) \rangle \\ &\geq -\frac{\vartheta_{f}}{\mu_{+}} - \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \left[\frac{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}}{\mu_{+}\sqrt{\mu_{+}}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\text{D}}}{1 - \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}}} - u_{+}^{\text{D}} \right) \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{\|\tilde{x}_{+}\|_{W_{+}}}{\mu_{+}} \left(\frac{1}{l_{+}^{\text{D}}(1 - \|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})} - 1 \right) \right] \\ &\left. - \frac{\|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}}^{2} u_{+}^{\text{D}}}{\mu_{+}^{2} l_{+}^{\text{D}}(1 - \|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}})(1 - \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}})} \right] \end{split}$$

The proof is complete after a multiplication by $-\mu_+/\vartheta_f$ and bounding the remaining norms. Lemma 10.8(v) shows $\|\Delta s_+^{cor}\|_{W_+^{-1}} \le \|\zeta_+^{P}\|_{W_+}$. Moreover, $H(\mu_+\tilde{x}_+) = H^*(s_+)^{-1}/\mu_+^2$, so

$$\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+}} = \frac{\|W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}}^{-1}}{\mu_{+}} \le \frac{\|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}}^{-1}}{\sqrt{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}\mu_{+}}} \le \frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}}{\sqrt{l_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}\mu_{+}}},$$

by (10.18). Finally, $\|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{s_{+}} \le \sqrt{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}/\mu_{+}} \|\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}}^{-1} \le \sqrt{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}/\mu_{+}} \|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}.$

We end this section with an analysis of (A5) after the corrector step.

Lemma 10.10 ([7, Lemma 11]). Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a proper cone admitting a LHSCB f. Pick $z_+ = (y_+, x_+, \tau_+, \kappa_+)$ such that $x_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}$, $s_+ \in \operatorname{int} \mathcal{K}^\circ$, $\tau_+ > 0$, and $\kappa_+ < 0$. Assume (10.18) holds with $u_+^{\mathrm{D}} = (1 + \epsilon)/r$ and $l_+^{\mathrm{D}} = r(1 - \epsilon)$ for some

 $r \in (0,1] \text{ and } \epsilon \ge 0.$ Suppose $\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{\mu_{+}} < \sqrt{\min\{l_{+}^{P}, 1/u_{+}^{P}\}}$. Then, $\|\zeta_{++}^{P}\|_{x_{++}}$ is at most

$$\frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}}{(1-\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}})\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}}{1-\sqrt{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}/\mu_{+}}}\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}}-1\right) + \frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}}{2\mu_{+}\sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}} \left[1-\frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}}{(1-\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}/\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}})\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}}{1-\sqrt{u_{+}^{\mathrm{D}}/\mu_{+}}}\|\zeta_{+}^{\mathrm{P}}\|_{W_{+}}}-1\right)\right]^{-1}$$

Proof. By the triangle inequality, self-concordance, and (10.18),

$$\begin{split} \|\zeta_{++}^{p}\|_{x_{++}} &= \|x_{++} - \mu_{++}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{x_{++}} \\ &\leq \|x_{++} - \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{x_{++}} + \left|\frac{\mu_{++}}{\mu_{+}} - 1\right| \|\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{x_{++}} \\ &\leq \frac{\|x_{++} - \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{x_{+}}}{1 - \|\Delta x_{+}^{\operatorname{cor}}\|_{x_{+}}} + \left|\frac{\mu_{++}}{\mu_{+}} - 1\right| \frac{\|\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{\mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}}}{1 - \|x_{++} - \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{x_{++}}} \\ &\leq \frac{\|x_{++} - \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{W_{+}}}{(1 - \|\Delta x_{+}^{\operatorname{cor}}\|_{x_{+}})\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{p}}} + \left|\frac{\mu_{++}}{\mu_{+}} - 1\right| \frac{\sqrt{\vartheta_{f}}}{1 - \frac{\|x_{++} - \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{W_{+}}}}. \quad (C.32) \end{split}$$

We continue by bounding $||x_{++} - \mu_+ \tilde{x}_{++}||_{W_+}$. Note that by the fundamental theorem of calculus and (10.16c),

$$\begin{aligned} x_{++} - \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++} &= (x_{+} + \Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - \mu_{+}g^{*}(s_{+} + \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) \\ &= x_{+} + \Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}} - \mu_{+} \left(g^{*}(s_{+}) + \int_{0}^{1} H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \, \mathrm{d}t\right) \\ &= \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} + W_{+}^{-1}\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} - \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{+} - \int_{0}^{1} \mu_{+}H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \left(W_{+}^{-1} - \mu_{+}H^{*}(s_{+} + t\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}})\right)\Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \, \mathrm{d}t. \end{aligned}$$
(C.33)

To bound the integrand of (C.33) in the norm induced by W_+ , we will bound the operator norm of $W_+^{-1} - \mu_+ H^*(s_+ + t\Delta s_+^{cor})$. One can show similarly to (C.29) that

$$(1-t\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{s_{+}})^{2}l_{+}^{\rm D}W_{+}^{-1} \leq \mu_{+}H^{*}(s_{+}+t\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}) \leq \frac{u_{+}^{\rm D}}{(1-t\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{s_{+}})^{2}}W_{+}^{-1}.$$

It then follows from Proposition 10.2 that

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left(W_{+}^{-1} - \mu_{+} H^{*}(s_{+} + t \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) \right) \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \right\|_{W_{+}} \\ &= \left\| W_{+} \left(W_{+}^{-1} - \mu_{+} H^{*}(s_{+} + t \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) \right) \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \right\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \\ &\leq \left\| \mu_{+} W_{+} H^{*}(s_{+} + t \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}) - I \right\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \left\| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \right\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \\ &\leq \left\| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \right\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \max \left\{ \frac{u_{+}^{D}}{(1 - t \| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{s_{+}})^{2}} - 1, 1 - (1 - t \| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{s_{+}})^{2} l_{+}^{D} \right\} \\ &= \left\| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \right\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{D}}{(1 - t \| \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}} \|_{s_{+}})^{2}} - 1 \right), \end{split}$$

where the final equality uses $1/[(1-\epsilon)r] - 1 \ge 1 - r/(1+\epsilon)$ for all $r \in (0, 1]$ and $\epsilon \ge 0$. We can therefore bound the W_+ -norm of (C.33) by

$$\begin{split} \|x_{++} - \mu_{+}\tilde{x}_{++}\|_{W_{+}} &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\rm D}}{(1 - t\|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{s_{+}})^{2}} - 1\right) dt \\ &= \|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{W_{+}^{-1}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\rm D}}{1 - \|\Delta s_{+}^{\rm cor}\|_{s_{+}}} - 1\right) \\ &\leq \|\zeta_{+}^{\rm P}\|_{W_{+}} \left(\frac{u_{+}^{\rm D}}{1 - \sqrt{u_{+}^{\rm D}/\mu_{+}}} \|\zeta_{+}^{\rm P}\|_{W_{+}}} - 1\right), \tag{C.34}$$

where the final inequality uses Lemma 10.8(v) and (10.18).

The next factor from (C.32) we look at is $|\mu_{++}/\mu_{+}-1|$. Lemma 10.8(ii) implies that $\langle x_{+} + \Delta x_{+}^{cor}, s_{+} + \Delta s_{+}^{cor} \rangle = \langle x_{+}, s_{+} \rangle + \langle \Delta x_{+}^{cor}, \Delta s_{+}^{cor} \rangle$. Therefore, it follows from Lemma 10.8(vi) that

$$\left|\frac{\mu_{++}}{\mu_{+}} - 1\right| = \frac{\left|\left\langle\Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}, \Delta s_{+}^{\text{cor}}\right\rangle\right|}{\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f}} \le \frac{\left\|\zeta_{+}^{P}\right\|_{W_{+}}^{2}}{2\mu_{+}\vartheta_{f}}.$$
(C.35)

The last quantity in (C.32) that we have yet to bound is $\|\Delta x_+^{cor}\|_{x_+}$. By (10.18) and Lemma 10.8(v),

$$\|\Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{x_{+}} \le \frac{\|\Delta x_{+}^{\text{cor}}\|_{W_{+}}}{\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{\text{P}}}} \le \frac{\|\zeta_{+}^{\text{P}}\|_{W_{+}}}{\sqrt{\mu_{+}l_{+}^{\text{P}}}}.$$
(C.36)

The proof can be completed by using (C.34), (C.35), and (C.36) to develop (C.32). $\hfill \Box$

Index

 L_2 -norm, 49 σ -finite, 48 absolutely continuous, 48 analytic center, 8, 123 analytic center cutting plane method, 8, 122 ball, 18 in local norm, 18, 21 barrier, see self-concordant barrier Boltzmann distribution, 28 central path, 3, 37 chain rule, 179 completely positive cone, 110 complexity parameter, 17 entropic barrier, see entropic barrier, complexity parameter conjugate, 18 domain, 18 gradient, 20 Hessian, 20 self-concordance, 21 convex programming, 1, 2

copositive cone, 121 differentiable, 14 continuously, 178 three times, 16 twice, 14 Dikin ellipsoid, 131 doubly nonnegative cone, 111 entropic barrier, 6, 27 complexity parameter, 32 exponential cone, 4, 152 Fréchet derivative, 19, 177 functional, 14 gradient, 14 heat path, 6 Hessian, 14 hit-and-run sampling, 5, 46 homogeneous model, 153 inner product induced, 14, 18 local, 14, 186 Löwner ordering, 14

level set, 50 LHSCB, 23 linear operators, 16 linear programming, 1 log-concave, 50 log-partition function, 27 gradient, 29 Hessian, 30 third derivative, 30 logarithmically homogeneous, 23 Markov kernel, 60 membership oracle, 5 MILP, 122

mixing time, 45

near-independent, 60 norm induced, 13, 18 local, 14 operator norm, 14 power cone, 4, 152 product rule, 179 proper cone, 23 quotient rule, 180 Radon-Nikodym derivative, 48 self-concordant, 15 barrier, 17 self-concordant barrier, 2 shadow iterates, 155 simulated annealing, 6, 101 symmetric cone, 4, 131

Bibliography

- J. Abernethy and E. Hazan. Faster convex optimization: Simulated annealing with an efficient universal barrier. In *Proceedings of the 33rd International Conference on Machine Learning*, volume 48, pages 2520–2528, 2016.
- [2] R. Adamczak, A. Litvak, A. Pajor, and N. Tomczak-Jaegermann. Quantitative estimates of the convergence of the empirical covariance matrix in log-concave ensembles. *Journal of the American Mathematical Society*, 23 (2):535–561, 2010.
- [3] E. D. Andersen and Y. Ye. On a homogeneous algorithm for the monotone complementarity problem. *Mathematical Programming*, 84(2):375–399, 1999.
- [4] K. Anstreicher, S. Burer, and P. Dickinson. An algorithm to compute the CP-factorization of a completely positive matrix. In *Oberwolfach Report*, volume 52, pages 3079–3081, 2017.
- [5] K. M. Anstreicher. Testing copositivity via mixed-integer linear programming. Optimization Online preprint, 2020. URL http://www. optimization-online.org/DB_HTML/2020/03/7659.html.
- [6] D. S. Atkinson and P. M. Vaidya. A cutting plane algorithm for convex programming that uses analytic centers. *Mathematical Programming*, 69 (1-3):1–43, 1995.
- [7] R. Badenbroek and J. Dahl. An algorithm for nonsymmetric conic optimization inspired by mosek. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2003.01546*, 2020.

- [8] R. Badenbroek and E. de Klerk. Complexity analysis of a samplingbased interior point method for convex optimization. arXiv preprint arXiv:1811.07677, 2018.
- [9] R. Badenbroek and E. de Klerk. Simulated annealing with hit-and-run for convex optimization: rigorous complexity analysis and practical perspectives for copositive programming. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.02368*, 2019.
- [10] R. Badenbroek and E. de Klerk. An analytic center cutting plane method to determine complete positivity of a matrix. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2006.05319*, 2020.
- [11] C. J. Bélisle, H. E. Romeijn, and R. L. Smith. Hit-and-run algorithms for generating multivariate distributions. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 18(2):255–266, 1993.
- [12] A. Berman and N. Shaked-Monderer. Completely positive matrices. World Scientific, 2003.
- [13] A. Berman, M. Dür, and N. Shaked-Monderer. Open problems in the theory of completely positive and copositive matrices. *Electronic Journal of Linear Algebra*, 29(1):46–58, 2015.
- [14] D. Bertsimas, J. Tsitsiklis, et al. Simulated annealing. *Statistical Science*, 8 (1):10–15, 1993.
- [15] P. Billingsley. Probability and Measure. John Wiley & Sons, 1995.
- [16] I. M. Bomze. Building a completely positive factorization. Central European Journal of Operations Research, 26(2):287–305, 2018.
- [17] I. M. Bomze and E. de Klerk. Solving standard quadratic optimization problems via linear, semidefinite and copositive programming. *Journal of Global Optimization*, 24(2):163–185, 2002.
- [18] I. M. Bomze, F. Jarre, and F. Rendl. Quadratic factorization heuristics for copositive programming. *Mathematical Programming Computation*, 3(1): 37–57, 2011.

- [19] S. Boyd and L. Vandenberghe. *Convex Optimization*. Cambridge university press, 2004.
- [20] S. Boyd, L. Vandenberghe, and J. Skaf. Analytic center cuttingplane method. Lecture Notes, April 2011. URL https://api. semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:5915628.
- [21] S. Bubeck and R. Eldan. The entropic barrier: Exponential families, logconcave geometry, and self-concordance. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 44(1):264–276, 2018.
- [22] S. Bundfuss and M. Dür. Algorithmic copositivity detection by simplicial partition. *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, 428(7):1511–1523, 2008.
- [23] S. Bundfuss and M. Dür. An adaptive linear approximation algorithm for copositive programs. SIAM Journal on Optimization, 20(1):30–53, 2009.
- [24] S. Burer. On the copositive representation of binary and continuous nonconvex quadratic programs. *Mathematical Programming*, 120(2):479–495, 2009.
- [25] S. Burer. Optimizing a polyhedral-semidefinite relaxation of completely positive programs. *Mathematical Programming Computation*, 2(1):1–19, 2010.
- [26] S. Burer and H. Dong. Separation and relaxation for cones of quadratic forms. *Mathematical Programming*, 137(1-2):343–370, 2013.
- [27] C. B. Chua. Relating homogeneous cones and positive definite cones via *T*-algebras. *SIAM Journal on Optimization*, 14(2):500–506, 2003.
- [28] C. B. Chua. A *T*-algebraic approach to primal-dual interior-point algorithms. *SIAM Journal on Optimization*, 20(1):503–523, 2009.
- [29] J.-P. Crouzeix. A relationship between the second derivatives of a convex function and of its conjugate. *Mathematical Programming*, 13(1):364–365, 1977.

- [30] J. Dahl and E. D. Andersen. A primal-dual interior-point algorithm for nonsymmetric exponential-cone optimization. *Preprint*, 2019.
- [31] G. B. Dantzig. Reminiscences about the origins of linear programming. *Operations Research Letters*, 1982.
- [32] E. de Klerk and M. Laurent. Comparison of Laserre's measure-based bounds for polynomial optimization to the bounds obtained by simulated annealing. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 43(4):1317–1325, 2018.
- [33] E. de Klerk and D. V. Pasechnik. Approximation of the stability number of a graph via copositive programming. *SIAM Journal on Optimization*, 12(4): 875–892, 2002.
- [34] E. de Klerk, C. Roos, and T. Terlaky. Initialization in semidefinite programming via a self-dual skew-symmetric embedding. *Operations Research Letters*, 20(5):213–221, 1997.
- [35] E. de Klerk, F. Glineur, and A. Taylor. Worst-case convergence analysis of inexact gradient and newton methods through semidefinite programming performance estimation. *SIAM Journal on Optimization*, 2020.
- [36] P. J. Dickinson. A new certificate for copositivity. *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, 569:15–37, 2019.
- [37] P. J. Dickinson and M. Dür. Linear-time complete positivity detection and decomposition of sparse matrices. SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications, 33(3):701–720, 2012.
- [38] P. J. Dickinson and L. Gijben. On the computational complexity of membership problems for the completely positive cone and its dual. *Computational Optimization and Applications*, 57(2):403–415, 2014.
- [39] J. Dieudonné. Foundations of Modern Analysis. Read Books Ltd, 1960.
- [40] V. Elser. Matrix product constraints by projection methods. *Journal of Global Optimization*, 68(2):329–355, 2017.

- [41] M. Fazel, H. Hindi, and S. P. Boyd. A rank minimization heuristic with application to minimum order system approximation. In *Proceedings of the 2001 American Control Conference*, volume 6, pages 4734–4739. IEEE, 2001.
- [42] J. W. Gaddum. Linear inequalities and quadratic forms. Pacific Journal of Mathematics, 8(3):411–414, 1958.
- [43] J.-L. Goffin and J.-P. Vial. On the computation of weighted analytic centers and dual ellipsoids with the projective algorithm. *Mathematical Programming*, 60(1-3):81–92, 1993.
- [44] J.-L. Goffin and J.-P. Vial. Convex nondifferentiable optimization: A survey focused on the analytic center cutting plane method. *Optimization Methods* and Software, 17(5):805–867, 2002.
- [45] J.-L. Goffin, Z.-Q. Luo, and Y. Ye. Complexity analysis of an interior cutting plane method for convex feasibility problems. *SIAM Journal on Optimization*, 6(3):638–652, 1996.
- [46] P. Groetzner and M. Dür. A factorization method for completely positive matrices. *Optimization Online*, 2018.
- [47] O. Güler. Barrier functions in interior point methods. Mathematics of Operations Research, 21(4):860–885, 1996.
- [48] O. Güler. Hyperbolic polynomials and interior point methods for convex programming. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 22(2):350–377, 1997.
- [49] B. Hajek. Cooling schedules for optimal annealing. Mathematics of Operations Research, 13(2):311–329, 1988.
- [50] B. Heidergott and A. Hordijk. Taylor series expansions for stationary Markov chains. *Advances in Applied Probability*, 35(04):1046–1070, 2003.
- [51] J.-B. Hiriart-Urruty and A. Seeger. A variational approach to copositive matrices. *SIAM Review*, 52(4):593–629, 2010.

- [52] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson. *Topics in matrix analysis*. Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- [53] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson. *Matrix analysis*. Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- [54] F. Jarre and K. Schmallowsky. On the computation of C* certificates. Journal of Global Optimization, 45(2):281, 2009.
- [55] P. Jordan, J. von Neumann, and E. Wigner. On an algebraic generalization of the quantum mechanic formalism. *Annals of Mathematics*, 35:29–64, 1934.
- [56] A. T. Kalai and S. Vempala. Simulated annealing for convex optimization. Mathematics of Operations Research, 31(2):253–266, 2006.
- [57] R. Kannan, L. Lovász, and M. Simonovits. Isoperimetric problems for convex bodies and a localization lemma. *Discrete & Computational Geometry*, 13(1):541–559, 1995.
- [58] R. Kannan, L. Lovász, and M. Simonovits. Random walks and an $O^*(n^5)$ volume algorithm for convex bodies. *Random Structures and Algorithms*, 11(1):1–50, 1997.
- [59] N. Karmarkar. A new polynomial-time algorithm for linear programming. *Combinatorica*, 4:373–395, 1984.
- [60] J. Kemperman and M. Skibinsky. Covariance spaces for measures on polyhedral sets. *Lecture Notes-Monograph Series*, pages 182–195, 1992.
- [61] L. G. Khachiyan. A polynomial algorithm in linear programming. *Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR*, 244(5):1093–1096, 1979.
- [62] S. Kirkpatrick. Optimization by simulated annealing: Quantitative studies. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 34(5):975–986, 1984.
- [63] S. Kirkpatrick, C. D. Gelatt, M. P. Vecchi, et al. Optimization by simulated annealing. *Science*, 220(4598):671–680, 1983.

- [64] B. Klartag. On convex perturbations with a bounded isotropic constant. *Geometric & Functional Analysis GAFA*, 16(6):1274–1290, 2006.
- [65] Q. Kong, C.-Y. Lee, C.-P. Teo, and Z. Zheng. Scheduling arrivals to a stochastic service delivery system using copositive cones. *Operations Research*, 61 (3):711–726, 2013.
- [66] S. Lang. *Introduction to differentiable manifolds*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2006.
- [67] J. B. Lasserre. New approximations for the cone of copositive matrices and its dual. *Mathematical Programming*, 144(1-2):265–276, 2014.
- [68] D. A. Levin, Y. Peres, and E. L. Wilmer. *Markov Chains and Mixing Times*, volume 107. American Mathematical Society, 2017.
- [69] X. Li, K. Natarajan, C.-P. Teo, and Z. Zheng. Distributionally robust mixed integer linear programs: Persistency models with applications. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 233(3):459–473, 2014.
- [70] L. Lovász. Hit-and-run mixes fast. *Mathematical Programming*, 86(3):443–461, 1999.
- [71] L. Lovász and S. Vempala. Fast algorithms for logconcave functions: Sampling, rounding, integration and optimization. In *Foundations of Computer Science, 2006. FOCS'06. 47th Annual IEEE Symposium on*, pages 57–68. IEEE, 2006.
- [72] L. Lovász and S. Vempala. Hit-and-run from a corner. SIAM Journal on Computing, 35(4):985–1005, 2006.
- [73] L. Lovász and S. Vempala. Simulated annealing in convex bodies and an $O^*(n^4)$ volume algorithm. *Journal of Computer and System Sciences*, 72(2): 392–417, 2006.
- [74] L. Lovász and S. Vempala. The geometry of logconcave functions and sampling algorithms. *Random Structures & Algorithms*, 30(3):307–358, 2007.

- [75] M. Lubin, E. Yamangil, R. Bent, and J. P. Vielma. Extended formulations in mixed-integer convex programming. In *International Conference on Integer Programming and Combinatorial Optimization*, pages 102–113. Springer, 2016.
- [76] Z.-Q. Luo, J. F. Sturm, S. Zhang, et al. Duality and self-duality for conic convex programming. Technical report, Citeseer, 1996.
- [77] J. E. Maxfield and H. Minc. On the matrix equation X'X = A. Proceedings of the Edinburgh Mathematical Society, 13(2):125–129, 1962.
- [78] MOSEK ApS. MOSEK Optimizer API for C manual. Version 9.1.8, 2019. URL https://docs.mosek.com/9.1/capi/index.html.
- [79] T. Motzkin. Copositive quadratic forms. National Bureau of Standards Report, 1818:11–22, 1952.
- [80] T. S. Motzkin and E. G. Straus. Maxima for graphs and a new proof of a theorem of turán. *Canadian Journal of Mathematics*, 17:533–540, 1965.
- [81] K. G. Murty and S. N. Kabadi. Some NP-complete problems in quadratic and nonlinear programming. *Mathematical Programming*, 39(2):117–129, 1987.
- [82] T. Myklebust and L. Tunçel. Interior-point algorithms for convex optimization based on primal-dual metrics. *Preprint*, 2016.
- [83] K. Natarajan, C. P. Teo, and Z. Zheng. Mixed 0-1 linear programs under objective uncertainty: A completely positive representation. *Operations Research*, 59(3):713–728, 2011.
- [84] Y. Nesterov. Towards non-symmetric conic optimization. *Optimization Methods and Software*, 27(4-5):893–917, 2012.
- [85] Y. Nesterov and A. Nemirovskii. Interior-Point Polynomial Algorithms in Convex Programming. SIAM, 1994.

- [86] Y. Nesterov, M. J. Todd, and Y. Ye. Infeasible-start primal-dual methods and infeasibility detectors for nonlinear programming problems. *Mathematical Programming*, 84(2):227–267, 1999.
- [87] Y. E. Nesterov and M. J. Todd. Self-scaled barriers and interior-point methods for convex programming. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 22(1): 1–42, 1997.
- [88] Y. E. Nesterov and M. J. Todd. Primal-dual interior-point methods for selfscaled cones. SIAM Journal on Optimization, 8(2):324–364, 1998.
- [89] J. Nie. The A-truncated K-moment problem. Foundations of Computational Mathematics, 14(6):1243–1276, 2014.
- [90] J. Nie, Z. Yang, and X. Zhang. A complete semidefinite algorithm for detecting copositive matrices and tensors. *SIAM Journal on Optimization*, 28 (4):2902–2921, 2018.
- [91] O. Nikodym. Sur une généralisation des intégrales de M. J. Radon. Fundamenta Mathematicae, 15(1):131–179, 1930.
- [92] P. A. Parrilo. Structured semidefinite programs and semialgebraic geometry methods in robustness and optimization. PhD thesis, California Institute of Technology, 2000.
- [93] J. Peña, J. Vera, and L. F. Zuluaga. Computing the stability number of a graph via linear and semidefinite programming. *SIAM Journal on Optimization*, 18(1):87–105, 2007.
- [94] F. A. Potra and R. Sheng. On homogeneous interrior-point algorithms for semidefinite programming. *Optimization Methods and Software*, 9(1-3): 161–184, 1998.
- [95] J. Renegar. A Mathematical View of Interior-Point Methods in Convex Optimization. SIAM, 2001.
- [96] R. T. Rockafellar. *Convex Analysis*. Princeton University Press, 1970.

- [97] M. Rudelson. Random vectors in the isotropic position. Journal of Functional Analysis, 164(1):60–72, 1999.
- [98] A. Saumard and J. A. Wellner. Log-concavity and strong log-concavity: a review. *Statistics surveys*, 8:45, 2014.
- [99] S. A. Serrano. Algorithms for unsymmetric cone optimization and an implementation for problems with the exponential cone. PhD thesis, Stanford University, 2015.
- [100] M. D. Sikirić, A. Schürmann, and F. Vallentin. A simplex algorithm for rational cp-factorization. *Mathematical Programming*, 2020.
- [101] A. Skajaa and Y. Ye. A homogeneous interior-point algorithm for nonsymmetric convex conic optimization. *Mathematical Programming*, 150(2): 391–422, 2015.
- [102] R. L. Smith. Efficient Monte Carlo procedures for generating points uniformly distributed over bounded regions. *Operations Research*, 32(6): 1296–1308, 1984.
- [103] J. Sponsel and M. Dür. Factorization and cutting planes for completely positive matrices by copositive projection. *Mathematical Programming*, 143 (1-2):211–229, 2014.
- [104] J. F. Sturm. Using SeDuMi 1.02, a MATLAB toolbox for optimization over symmetric cones. Optimization Methods and Software, 11(1-4):625–653, 1999.
- [105] M. Tawarmalani and N. V. Sahinidis. A polyhedral branch-and-cut approach to global optimization. *Mathematical Programming*, 103(2):225– 249, 2005.
- [106] L. Tunçel. Generalization of primal—dual interior-point methods to convex optimization problems in conic form. *Foundations of Computational Mathematics*, 1(3):229–254, 2001.
- [107] S. Vempala. Geometric random walks: a survey. *Combinatorial and computational geometry*, 52(2):573–612, 2005.
- [108] E. B. Vinberg. Homogeneous cones. In Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR, volume 133, pages 9–12, 1960.
- [109] M. J. Wainwright and M. I. Jordan. Graphical models, exponential families, and variational inference. *Foundations and Trends in Machine Learning*, 1 (1–2):1–305, 2008.
- [110] W. Xia, J. C. Vera, and L. F. Zuluaga. Globally solving non-convex quadratic programs via linear integer programming techniques. *INFORMS Journal* on Computing, 2018. ISSN 1091-9856.
- [111] B. Ycart. Extrémales du cône des matrices de type non négatif, à coefficients positifs ou nuls. *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, 48:317–330, 1982.
- [112] Y. Ye, M. J. Todd, and S. Mizuno. An $O(\sqrt{nL})$ -iteration homogeneous and self-dual linear programming algorithm. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, 19(1):53–67, 1994.
- [113] E. A. Yıldırım. On the accuracy of uniform polyhedral approximations of the copositive cone. *Optimization Methods and Software*, 27(1):155–173, 2012.
- [114] D. Yudin and A. Nemirovski. Informational complexity and effective methods of solution of convex extremal problems. *Economics and Mathematical Methods*, 12:357–369, 1976.

CENTER DISSERTATION SERIES

CentER for Economic Research, Tilburg University, the Netherlands

No.	Author	Title	ISBN	Published	
579	Julius Rüschenpöhler	Behavioural Perspectives on Subsistence Entrepreneurship in Emerging Markets	978 90 5668 580 5	January 2019	
580	Khulan Altangerel	an Altangerel Essays on Immigration Policy 978 90 5668 581 2		January 2019	
581	Kun Zheng	Kun ZhengEssays on Duration Analysis and Labour Economics978 90 5 582 9		January 2019	
582	Tatiana Zabara	Evolution of Entrepreneurial Teams in Technology-Based New Ventures	978 90 5668 583 6	February 2019	
583	Yifan Yu	Essays on Mixed Hitting-Time Models	978 90 5668 584 3	April 2019	
584	Daniel Martinez Martin	Unpacking Product Modularity, Innovation in Distributed Innovation Teams	978 90 5668 585 0	April 2019	
585	Katalin Katona	Managed Competition in Practice Lessons for Healthcare Policy	978 90 5668 586 7	April 2019	
586	Serhan Sadikoglu	Essays in Econometric Theory	978 90 5668 587 4	May 2019	
587	Hoang Yen Nguyen	Emotions and Strategic Interactions	978 90 5668 588 1	May 2019	
588	Ties de Kok	Essays on reporting and information processing	978 90 5668 589 8	May 2019	
589	Yusiyu Wang	Regulation, Protest, and Spatial Economics	978 90 5668 590 4	June 2019	
590	Ekaterina Neretina	rina Neretina Essays in Corporate Finance, Political 978 90 5668 Economy, and Competition 591 1		June 2019	
591	Ruth Wandhöfer	Technology innovation in Financial Markets: Implications for Money, Payments and Settlement Finality	978 90 5668 592 8	June 2019	

No.	Author	Title	ISBN	Published
592	Andinet Worku Gebreselassie	On communicating about taboo social issues in least developed countries: The case of Ethiopia	978 90 5668 593 5	June 2019
593	Filip Bekjarovski	Active Investing	978 90 5668 594 2	June 2019
594	Miguel Sarmiento	Essays on Banking, Financial Intermediation and Financial Markets	978 90 5668 595 9	June 2019
595	Xiaoyin Ma	Essays on Alternative Investements	978 90 5668 596 6	June 2019
596	Victor van Pelt	A Dynamic View of Management Accounting Systems	978 90 5668 597 3	June 2019
597	Shuai Chen	Marriage, Minorities, and Mass Movements	978 90 5668 598 0	July 2019
598	Ben Gans	Stabilisation operations as complex systems: order and chaos in the interoperability continuum	978 90 5668 599 7	July 2019
599	Mulu Hundera	Role Conflict, Coping Strategies and Female Entrepreneurial Success in Sub- Saharan Africa	978 90 5668 600 0	August 2019
600	Hao Hu	The Quadratic Shortest Path Problem – Theory and Computations	978 90 5668 601 7	September 2019
601	Emerson Erik Schmitz	Essays on Banking and International Trade	978 90 5668 602 4	September 2019
602	Olga Kuryatnikova	The many faces of positivity to approximate structured optimization problems	978 90 5668 603 1	September 2019
603	Sander Gribling	Applications of optimization to factorization ranks and quantum information theory	978 90 5668 604 8	September 2019
604	Camille Hebert	Essays on Corporate Ownership and Human Capital	978 90 5668 605 5	October 2019
605	Gabor Neszveda	Essays on Behavioral Finance	978 90 5668 606 2	October 2019

No.	Author	Title	ISBN	Published
606	Ad van Geesbergen	Duurzame schaarste - Een kritische analyse van twee economische duurzaamheids-paradigma's geïnspireerd door de filosofie van Dooyeweerd	978 90 5668 607 9	October 2019
607	Richard T. Mason	Digital Enrollment Architecture and Retirement Savings Decisions: Evidence from the Field	978 90 5668 608 6	November 2019
608	Ron Triepels	Anomaly Detection in the Shipping and Banking Industry	978 90 5668 609 3	November 2019
609	Feng Fang	When performance shortfall arises, contract or trust? A multi-method study of the impact of contractual and relation governances on performance in Public- Private Partnerships	978 90 5668 610 9	November 2019
610	Yasir Dewan	Corporate Crime and Punishment: The Role of Status and Ideology	978 90 5668 611 6	November 2019
611	Mart van Hulten	Aiming for Well-Being through Taxation: A Framework of Caution and Restraint for States	978 90 5668 612 3	December 2019
612	Carlos Sandoval Moreno	Three essays on poverty measurement and risk protection	978 90 5668 613 0	December 2019
613	Harmke de Groot	Core strength or Achilles' heel: Organizational competencies and the performance of R&D collaborations	978 90 5668 614 7	December 2019
614	Peter Brok	Essays in Corporate Finance and Corporate Taxation	978 90 5668 615 4	December 2019
615	Pascal Böni	On the Pricing, Wealth Effects and Return of Private Market Debt	978 90 5668 616 1	December 2019
616	Ana Martinovici	Revealing Attention: How Eye Movements Predict Brand Choice and Moment of Choice	978 90 5668 617 8	December 2019
617	Matjaz Maletic	Essays on international finance and empirical asset pricing	978 90 5668 618 5	January 2020
618	Zilong Niu	Essays on Asset Pricing and International Finance	978 90 5668 619 2	January 2020

No.	Author	Title	ISBN	Published
619	Bjorn Lous	On free markets, income inequality, happiness and trust	978 90 5668 620 8	January 2020
620	Clemens Fiedler	Innovation in the Digital Age: Competition, Cooperation, and Standardization	978 90 5668 621 5	October 2020
621	Andreea Popescu	Essays in Asset Pricing and Auctions	978 90 5668 622 2	June 2020
622	Miranda Stienstra	The Determinants and Performance Implications of Alliance Partner Acquisition	978 90 5668 623 9	June 2020
623	Lei Lei	Essays on Labor and Family Economics in China	978 90 5668 624 6	May 2020
624	Farah Arshad	Performance Management Systems in Modern Organizations	978 90 5668 625 3	June 2020
625	Yi Zhang	Topics in Economics of Labor, Health, and Education	978 90 5668 626 0	June 2020
626	Emiel Jerphanion	Essays in Economic and Financial decisions of Households	978 90 5668 627 7	July 2020
627	Richard Heuver	Applications of liquidity risk discovery using financial market infrastructures transaction archives	978 90 5668 628 4	September 2020
628	Mohammad Nasir Nasiri	Essays on the Impact of Different Forms of Collaborative R&D on Innovation and Technological Change	978 90 5668 629 1	August 2020
629	Dorothee Hillrichs	On inequality and international trade	978 90 5668 630 7	September 2020
630	Roland van de Kerkhof	It's about time: Managing implementation dynamics of condition- based maintenance	978 90 5668 631 4	October 2020
631	Constant Pieters	Process Analysis for Marketing Research	978 90 5668 632 1	December 2020
632	Richard Jaimes	Essays in Macroeconomic Theory and Natural Resources	978 90 5668 633 8	November 2020

No.	Author	Title	ISBN	Published
633	Olivier David Armand Zerbib	Asset pricing and impact investing with pro-environmental preferences	978 90 5668 634 5	November 2020
634	Laura Capera Romero	Essays on Competition, Regulation and Innovation in the Banking Industry	978 90 5668 635 2	December 2020
635	Elisabeth Beusch	Essays on the Self-Employed in the Netherlands and Europe	978 90 5668 636 9	December 2020
636	Sophie Zhou	Essays on the Self-Employed in the Netherlands and Europe	978 90 5668 637 6	November 2020
637	Vincent Peters	Turning modularity upside down: Patient-centered Down syndrome care from a service modularity perspective	978 90 5668 638 3	December 2020
638	Pranav Desai	Essays in Corporate Finance and Innovation	978 90 5668 639 0	January 2021
639	Kristy Jansen	Essays on Institutional Investors, Asset Allocation Decisions, and Asset Prices	978 90 5668 640 6	January 2021
640	Riley Badenbroek	Interior Point Methods and Simulated Annealing for Nonsymmetric Conic Optimization	978 90 5668 641 3	February 2021

RILEY BADENBROEK (Rheden, the Netherlands, 1994) received his Bachelor's degree from Tilburg University in 2015, followed by a Master's degree (2016) and a Research Master degree (2017), both in Operations Research. He became a PhD candidate in Operations Research at Tilburg University in 2017. During the PhD period, he spent two weeks at Mosek ApS as a visiting scholar.

This thesis explores four methods for convex optimization. The first two are an interior point method and a simulated annealing algorithm that share a theoretical foundation. This connection is due to the interior point method's use of the so-called entropic barrier, whose derivatives can be approximated through sampling. Here, the sampling will be carried out with a technique known as hit-and-run. By carefully analyzing the properties of hit-and-run sampling, it is shown that both the interior point method and the simulated annealing algorithm can solve a convex optimization problem in the membership oracle setting. The number of oracle calls made by these methods is bounded by a polynomial in the input size.

The third method is an analytic center cutting plane method that shows promising performance for copositive optimization. It outperforms the first two methods by a significant margin on the problem of separating a matrix from the completely positive cone.

The final method is based on Mosek's algorithm for nonsymmetric conic optimization. With their scaling matrix, search direction, and neighborhood, we define a method that converges to a near-optimal solution in polynomial time.

ISBN: 978 90 5668 641 3 DOI: 10.26116/center-lis-2018

